LECTURE NOTES ON THE PARABOLIC GLUING METHOD

JUNCHENG WEI, QIDI ZHANG, AND YIFU ZHOU

ABSTRACT. Singularity formation for evolution equations has attracted much attention in recent years. In this lecture note, we will introduce some recent progress on the *parabolic gluing method* and its applications in investigating the mechanism of singularity formation for parabolic flows. Several model problems will be revisited to illustrate the ideas.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Fujita equation: a brief introduction	3
2.1. L^2 case: critical Fujita equation in \mathbb{R}^5	4
2.2. Non- L^2 case: critical Fujita equation in \mathbb{R}^4	13
3. Harmonic map heat flow and Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation	25
3.1. Harmonic map heat flow	27
3.2. Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation	56
4. Long-time dynamics for 1-equivariant harmonic map flow, critical heat equation in \mathbb{R}^4 , Keller-Segel	
system in \mathbb{R}^2	59
4.1. Approximation and corrections	61
4.1.1. Non-local corrections	63
4.2. Elliptic improvement and the leading dynamics of $\mu(t)$	66
4.3. Gluing system	70
4.4. Solving the orthogonal equation and Hölder estimate about $\dot{\mu}_1$	73
4.4.1. Solving the orthogonal equation	73
4.4.2. Estimate about the Hölder semi-norm of $\dot{\mu}_1$	77
4.5. Solving the inner problem and the proof of Theorem 5	77
Appendix A. Convolution estimates	78
Appendix B. Linear theory via blow-up argument	79
Appendix C. Linear theory via distorted Fourier transform	85
Appendix D. Linear theory via re-gluing	87
Acknowledgements	97
References	97

1. INTRODUCTION

Singularity formation for evolution equations has attracted much attention in recent years, probably because of the connection to the possible singularity or global regularity for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equation in \mathbb{R}^3 , a Clay Millennium Problem, as well as the motivations from geometric flows (Ricci flow and mean curvature flow). As a matter of fact, the resolution of Poincare's conjecture (another Clay Millennium problem) by G. Perelman [78, 79] is a manifesto of the importance of the analysis of singularity formulation in evolution equations. Many equations, such as Fujita equations and harmonic map heat flows, which certainly have their own interest and significance, might be regarded as testing fields for the analysis of singularity formation in evolution equations. In this survey, we shall report some recent development on the *parabolic gluing method* and its applications in constructing finite- and infinite-time blow-up solutions to various evolution equations. In the elliptic context, the *inner-outer gluing method* was developed by del Pino, Kowalczyk, and Wei [23, 24] to investigate concentration on higher dimensional sets such as curves and surfaces. The climax of this method is the resolution of De Giorgi's Conjecture in dimensions greater than 8 [24]. Since then, many new phenomena and features have been found in the Allen-Cahn equations, critical or supercritical elliptic problems, and other settings. Its parabolic analogue, motivated by a recent surge of interests in the singularity formation in evolution settings, was developed by Dávila, del Pino, Musso, and Wei to investigate finite- and infinite-time blow-up solutions for energy critical heat equations and heat flow of harmonic maps [17, 22]. Later, the gluing method was generalized and applied to a wider class of evolution equations. Without being exhaustive, these include Euler equations and related fluid equations, geometric flows, parabolic equations, and systems arising from mathematical biology and physics such as Keller-Segel systems, nematic liquid crystal flow, the LLG equation, and others. We refer the reader to [19, 20, 21, 26, 27, 63, 88, 99] and the references therein.

Let us first explain some of the ideas and recent progress in the development of the gluing method in an abstract fashion and then give two specific examples to better illustrate the ideas. Roughly speaking, the parabolic gluing method is a refined type of perturbative argument. Our aim is to construct solutions exhibiting singular asymptotic behavior near some concentration points as $t \to T$ or $t \to +\infty$. The construction starts with a well-chosen blow-up profile, usually driven by energy concentration. Then one looks for a perturbation that consists of inner and outer parts, where the inner part captures the heart of the singularity formation and the outer part handles all the external noises. This leads to a coupled inner-outer gluing system involving the inner and outer solutions and the (typically scaling and translation) parameter functions. The full system is then solved by a fixed point argument provided that one can obtain suitable linear theories for inner and outer problems as well as the reduced problems that determine the dynamics of parameters. The linear theories are designed such that the full system is decoupled or less coupled, namely the gluing procedure can be implemented, and it usually involves careful and rather precise choices of weighted topologies in a pointwise sense for solution spaces. On the other hand, the linearization for the inner problem is surely not invertible in the presence of an infinitesimal generator of rigid motions, and thus for an inner solution with sufficient decay to exist, orthogonality conditions are required ensuring the development of the linear theory. These orthogonalities in turn determine the dynamics of parameters, yielding the desired blow-up speed and location.

A typical first approximate solution is the steady state invariant under rescaling and translation. These invariances naturally imply kernels in the linearized operator. We call the case where all the kernels decay sufficiently fast the L^2 case, while the case with slowly decaying kernels ($\notin L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$) is called the non- L^2 case. Usually the non- L^2 case happens in lower dimensions, and under such circumstances, well chosen nonlocal corrections are needed in order to improve the spatial decay. The new error terms introduced by nonlocal corrections enter the orthogonality condition (at the corresponding mode) as leading order, leading to a certain integro-differential operator in the reduced equation. This global feature has been observed, for instance, in [18, 22, 26, 100]. Techniques such as the Laplace transform and Riemann-Liouville type can be applied for certain cases, but for the other threshold cases, one has to take advantage of the Hölder regularity inherited from the outer problem to control the nonlocal operator.

In general, the development of the linear theory for the outer problem is more straightforward compared to the one for the inner problem. In parabolic settings, the maximum principle, or the direct and careful use of Duhamel's formula, can be employed. However, the design of the weighted space can be more delicate in the absence of the maximum principle. The gluing method in such set-ups has been developed and applied equally well. See [19, 20, 21, 99] for recent progress on the incompressible Euler equations and LLG equation.

For the inner problem, solutions with sufficient decay in space-time can only be expected with orthogonality conditions imposed, and careful choice of initial data might be needed if instability is present for the corresponding linearized operator, resulting in codimension stability. There are various techniques and tools available, and the spectral information plays a key role. A refined version, that gets less deteriorated in the innermost region, can be achieved by the re-gluing process, namely another inner–outer gluing procedure. The distorted Fourier transform also turns out to be a powerful tool in the gluing method and is present in [99]. This is motivated by [42] on the spectral analysis of the Schrödinger operator and [59, 60, 61, 62] on the singularity formation for wave equations and wave maps.

In the rest of this lecture note, to illustrate the ideas and techniques in the parabolic gluing method, we plan to revisit several models

- finite time blow-up for the Fujita equation with critical exponent in \mathbb{R}^5 (L^2 case) and in \mathbb{R}^4 (non- L^2 case);
- finite time blow-up for the harmonic map heat flow and the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation in \mathbb{R}^2 ;
- long-term dynamics for the 1-equivariant harmonic map heat flow, Fujita equation in \mathbb{R}^4 , and the Keller-Segel system in \mathbb{R}^2 .

In the appendices, different methods for linear theories will be presented.

2. FUJITA EQUATION: A BRIEF INTRODUCTION

Let us start with a brief introduction to singularity formation for the Fujita equation,

$$u_t = \Delta u + |u|^{p-1} u \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega \times (0, T), \tag{2.1}$$

where Ω is the entire space \mathbb{R}^n or a smooth domain in \mathbb{R}^n and $0 < T \leq +\infty$. This semilinear heat equation with p > 1 has been widely studied since Fujita's celebrated work [39]. The Fujita equation might be the one of the most simple-looking semilinear parabolic equations. However, rich and sophisticated phenomena arise, and those are intimately related to the power nonlinearity in a rather precise manner. Much literature has been devoted to studying this problem concerning the singularity formation. For a comprehensive survey in the literature, we refer the readers to the book of Quittner and Souplet [82].

For the finite time blow-up, the solution u is said to be type I if

$$\limsup_{t \to T} (T-t)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} \|u(\cdot,t)\|_{\infty} < +\infty,$$

and type II if

$$\limsup_{t \to T} (T-t)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} \|u(\cdot,t)\|_{\infty} = +\infty.$$

Type I blow-up is more generic and similar to that of the ODE $u_t = u^p$, while type II blow-up, where the Laplacian dominates, is much more difficult to detect. In particular, two different types of blow-up phenomena in problem (4.6) depend sensitively on the power nonlinearity. For instance, it is known after a series of works, including [43, 44], that type I is the only way possible if $p < p_s$ in the case that Ω is \mathbb{R}^n or a convex domain, where p_s is the critical Sobolev exponent

$$p_s := \begin{cases} \frac{n+2}{n-2} & \text{if } n \ge 3, \\ +\infty & \text{if } n = 1, 2 \end{cases}$$

The critical exponent p_s is special in various ways. For the energy critical case $p = p_s$, in the positive radial and monotonically decreasing class, Filippas, Herrero and Velázquez [36] excluded the possibility of type II blow-up for $n \ge 3$, and Matano and Merle [70, Theorem 1.7] removed the monotone assumption and obtained the same result. Wang and Wei [98] generalized the result to the non-radial positive class in higher dimensions $n \ge 7$. For $p < p_s$, finite time type I blow-up solution was found and its stability was studied in [74]. For the critical case $p = p_s$ in \mathbb{R}^n with $n \ge 7$, classification results were proved near the ground state of the energy critical heat equation in [14]. In the aspect of type II blow-ups, the first example was discovered by Herrero-Velázquez [54, 55], for $p > p_{JL}$ where p_{JL} is the Joseph-Lundgren exponent [57]

$$p_{JL} = \begin{cases} 1 + \frac{4}{n-4-2\sqrt{n-1}} & \text{if } n \ge 11, \\ +\infty, & \text{if } n \le 10. \end{cases}$$

See, for instance, [12, 15, 28, 75, 87] and references therein for more results on existence and construction of type II blow-ups. For the critical case $p = p_s$ in dimensions n = 3, 4, 5, 6, sign-changing type II blow-up solutions were conjectured to exist, via formal matched asymptotic analysis, by Filippas, Herrero and Velazquez [36] and have been rigorously constructed recently in [25, 29, 31, 51, 52, 65, 86].

In view of the results mentioned above, regarding finite-time blow-up for positive solutions to the Fujita equation (4.6), we mention three interesting open questions/Conjectures.

Conjecture 1. For $3 \le n \le 6$ and $p = \frac{n+2}{n-2}$, all positive finite time blow-ups to (4.6) are Type I. **Conjecture 2.** For $n \ge 7$ and $p = \frac{n+2}{n-2}$, all (sign-changing) finite time blow-ups to (4.6) are Type I. **Conjecture 3.** For $\frac{n+2}{n-2} and <math>p \ne \frac{n-m+2}{n-m-2}$, all finite time blow-ups to (4.6) are Type I.

J. WEI, Q. ZHANG, AND Y. ZHOU

On the other hand, infinite time blow-ups for $p = p_s$ have also received some attention recently. In dimensions $n \ge 3$, Galaktionov and King [40] investigated positive, radially symmetric, infinite time blow-up solutions for problem (4.6) in the case of the unit ball with Dirichlet boundary condition. See also [92, Theorem 1.4] for the case that the domain is convex and symmetric. In the non-radial setting, the positive infinite time blow-up solutions for problem (4.6) with zero Dirichlet boundary condition and $n \ge 5$ was constructed in [17], where the role of the Green's function in the bubbling phenomenon was studied, in parallel to the seminal works [3] and [4] in elliptic settings. See also [30] for the construction based on non-degenerate sign-changing profile and [27, 91] for the bubble towers in higher dimensions at forward and backward time infinity. Infinite time blow-ups for the lower dimensions n = 3, 4 have been constructed in [26, 100] confirming a conjecture by Fila and King [35].

2.1. L^2 case: critical Fujita equation in \mathbb{R}^5 . The first example is the type II singularity for Fujita equation with critical exponent in \mathbb{R}^5 .

The first step is to find a suitable blow-up profile whose natural choice is the steady state. We recall that all positive entire solutions of the equation

$$\Delta u + |u|^{\frac{4}{n-2}}u = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n$$

are given by the family of Aubin-Talenti bubbles

$$U_{\mu,\xi}(x) = \mu^{-\frac{n-2}{2}} U\left(\frac{x-\xi}{\mu}\right)$$
(2.2)

where

$$U(y) = \alpha_n \left(\frac{1}{1+|y|^2}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{2}}, \quad \alpha_n = (n(n-2))^{\frac{n-2}{4}}.$$

The solutions we construct do change sign, and look at main order near the blow-up points as one of the bubbles (2.2) with time dependent parameters and $\mu(t) \to 0$ as $t \to T$. Thus we consider the equation

$$\begin{cases} u_t = \Delta u + |u|^{\frac{4}{n-2}} u & \text{in } \Omega \times (0,T), \\ u(\cdot,0) = u_0 & \text{in } \Omega \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

in the case n = 5, p = 7/3. Let us fix arbitrary points $q_1, q_2, \ldots q_k \in \Omega$. We consider a smooth function $Z_0^* \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ with the property that

$$Z_0^*(q_j) < 0$$
 for all $j = 1, \dots, k$

The sign condition is required to ensure the existence of desired blow-up dynamics.

Theorem 1 ([25]). Let n = 5. For each T > 0 sufficiently small there exists an initial condition u_0 such that the solution of problem (2.3) blows up at time T exactly at the k points q_1, \ldots, q_k . It looks at main order as

$$u(x,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} U_{\mu_j(t),\xi_j(t)}(x) + Z_0^*(x) + \theta(x,t)$$

where

$$\mu_j(t) \to 0, \quad \xi_j(t) \to q_j \quad as \quad t \to T,$$

and $\|\theta\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq T^a$ for some a > 0. More precisely, for numbers $\beta_j > 0$ we have

$$\mu_j(t) = \beta_j(T-t)^2 (1+o(1))$$

We observe that in particular, the solution constructed in Theorem 7 is type II since

$$||u(\cdot,t)||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^5)} \sim (T-t)^{-3} \gg (T-t)^{-3/4}.$$

For notational simplicity we shall only sketch the proof in the single-bubble case k = 1. The general case requires relatively minor changes.

• Ansatzes and error estimates.

We fix a point $q \in \Omega$. Let us consider a function Z_0^* smooth in $\overline{\Omega}$ with $Z_0^* = 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. We assume in addition that

$$Z_0^*(q) < 0. (2.4)$$

GLUING METHOD

We let $Z^*(x,t)$ be the unique solution of the initial-boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t Z^* = \Delta Z^* & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, \infty), \\ Z^* = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, \infty), \quad Z^*(\cdot, 0) = Z_0^* & \text{in } \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

We consider functions $\xi(t) \to q$, and parameters $\mu(t) \to 0$ as $t \to T$. We look for a solution of the form

$$u(x,t) = U_{\mu(t),\xi(t)}(x) + Z^*(x,t) + \varphi(x,t)$$
(2.6)

with a remainder φ consisting of inner and outer parts

$$\varphi(x,t) = \mu^{-\frac{n-2}{2}} \phi(y,t) \eta_R(y) + \psi(x,t), \quad y = \frac{x - \xi(t)}{\mu(t)}$$
(2.7)

where

$$\eta_R(y) = \eta_0\left(\frac{|y|}{R}\right)$$

and $\eta_0(s)$ is a smooth cut-off function with $\eta_0(s) = 1$ for s < 1 and = 0 for s > 1.

Let us define the error of u as

$$S(u) = -u_t + \Delta u + u^p.$$

Then

$$S(U_{\lambda,\xi} + Z^* + \varphi) = -\varphi_t + \Delta \varphi + pU_{\mu,\xi}^{p-1}(\varphi + Z^*) + \mu^{-\frac{n+2}{2}}E + N(Z^* + \varphi)$$

= $\eta_R \mu^{-\frac{n+2}{2}} \left[-\mu^2 \phi_t + \Delta_y \phi + pU(y)^{p-1} [\phi + \mu^{\frac{n-2}{2}}(Z^* + \psi)] + E \right]$
 $-\psi_t + \Delta_x \psi + p\mu^{-2}(1 - \eta_R)U(y)^{p-1}(Z^* + \psi) + A[\phi]$
 $+ B[\phi] + \mu^{-\frac{n+2}{2}}E(1 - \eta_R) + N(Z^* + \varphi)$

where

$$E(y,t) := \mu \dot{\mu} [y \cdot \nabla U(y) + \frac{n-2}{2} U(y)] + \mu \dot{\xi} \cdot \nabla U(y), \qquad (2.8)$$

$$N_{\mu,\xi}(Z) := |U_{\mu,\xi} + Z|^{p-1} (U_{\mu,\xi} + Z) - U_{\mu,\xi}^p - p U_{\mu,\xi}^{p-1} Z, \qquad A[\phi] := \mu^{-\frac{n+2}{2}} \{ \Delta_y \eta_R \phi + 2 \nabla_y \eta_R \nabla_y \phi \}, \qquad B[\phi] := \mu^{-\frac{n}{2}} \left\{ \dot{\mu} [y \cdot \nabla_y \phi + \frac{n-2}{2} \phi] \eta_R + \dot{\xi} \cdot \nabla_y \phi \eta_R + [\dot{\mu} y \cdot \nabla_y \eta_R + \dot{\xi} \cdot \nabla_y \eta_R] \phi \right\}$$

and we have used $U_{\mu,\xi}^{p-1}\varphi = \mu^{-2}U(y)^{p-1}\varphi$. Thus, we will have a solution if the pair $(\phi(y,t),\psi(x,t))$ solves the following inner-outer gluing system

$$\mu^{2}\phi_{t} = \Delta_{y}\phi + pU(y)^{p-1}\phi + H(\psi,\mu,\xi) \quad \text{in } B_{2R}(0) \times (0,T)$$
(2.9)

$$\begin{cases} \psi_t = \Delta_x \psi + G(\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi) & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T) \\ \psi = -U_{\mu,\xi} & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T), \\ \psi(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

where

$$H(\psi,\mu,\xi)(y,t) := \mu^{\frac{n-2}{2}} p U(y)^{p-1} (Z^*(\xi+\mu y,t)+\psi(\xi+\mu y,t)) + E(y,t),$$

$$G(\phi,\psi,\mu,\xi)(x,t) := p \mu^{-2} (1-\eta_R) U(y)^{p-1} (Z^*+\psi) + A[\phi] + B[\phi] + \mu^{-\frac{n+2}{2}} E(1-\eta_R) + N(Z^*+\varphi), \quad y = \frac{x-\xi}{\mu}.$$
(2.11)

• Formal derivation of μ and ξ .

Next we do a formal consideration that allows us to identify the parameters $\mu(t)$ and $\xi(t)$ at main order. Leaving aside smaller order terms, the inner problem (2.9) is approximately an equation of the form

$$\mu^{2}\phi_{t} = \Delta_{y}\phi + pU(y)^{p-1}\phi + h(y,t) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{n} \times (0,T)$$

$$\phi(y,t) \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |y| \to \infty$$
(2.12)

with

$$h(y,t) = \mu \dot{\mu} \left(U(y) + y \cdot \nabla U(y) \right) + p \mu^{\frac{n-2}{2}} U(y)^{p-1} Z_0^*(q) + \mu \dot{\xi} \cdot \nabla U(y) + p \mu^{\frac{n}{2}} U(y)^{p-1} \nabla Z_0^*(q) \cdot y.$$
(2.13)

The condition of spatial decay in y for the inner problem solution ϕ mitigates the effect of ϕ in the outer problem (2.10), making at main order (2.9) and (2.10) decoupled.

Roughly speaking, for $n \geq 5$, the elliptic equation

$$\begin{split} L[\phi] &:= \Delta_y \phi + p U(y)^{p-1} \phi = g(y) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \\ \phi(y) \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |y| \to \infty, \end{split}$$

with $g(y) = O((1 + |y|)^{-2-a})$ and 0 < a < 1, is solved by $\phi = O((1 + |y|)^{-a})$ provided that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(y) Z_i(y) \, dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad i = 1, \dots, n+1,$$

where

$$Z_i(y) = \partial_i U(y), \quad i = 1, ..., n, \quad Z_{n+1}(y) = \frac{n-2}{2}U(y) + y \cdot \nabla U(y).$$

These are in fact all bounded solutions of the linearized equation L[Z] = 0.

It seems reasonable to get an approximation to a solution of equation (2.12) (valid up to large |y|) by solving the elliptic equation

$$\begin{split} \Delta_y \phi + p U(y)^{p-1} \phi + h(y,t) &= 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (0,T) \\ \phi(y,t) &\to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |y| \to \infty, \end{split}$$

which we can indeed do under the orthogonality conditions

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(y,t) Z_i(y) \, dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad i = 1, \dots, n+1, \quad t \in [0,T).$$
(2.14)

These orthogonalities imply the dynamics of the parameters. Indeed, integrating against $Z_{n+1}(y)$ we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(y,t) Z_{n+1}(y) \, dy = \mu \dot{\mu}(t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} Z_{n+1}^2 dy - \frac{n-2}{2} \mu(t)^{\frac{n-2}{2}} Z_0^*(q) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U^p dy.$$

Clearly, one sees from above that integrability issues arise for lower dimensional cases, yielding nonlocal/global features, which we shall discuss in next Section for the case n = 4. This quantity is zero if and only if for a certain explicit constant $\beta_n > 0$

$$\dot{\mu}(t) = -\beta_n |Z_0^*(q)| \mu(t)^{\frac{n-4}{2}}, \quad \mu(T) = 0,$$

and thus for n = 5

$$\mu_*(t) = \alpha (T-t)^2, \quad \alpha = \frac{1}{4} \beta_n^2 |Z_0^*(q)|^2.$$
(2.15)

In a similar way, the remaining n relations in (2.14) lead us to $\dot{\xi}(t) = \mu(t)^{\frac{n-2}{2}}b$ for a certain vector b. Hence $\dot{\xi}(t) = O(T-t)^3$ and

$$\xi(t) = q + O(T-t)^2.$$

To solve the actual inner problem (2.12), even assuming orthogonalities (2.14) is not sufficient, and further constraints are needed. Indeed, let us recall that the operator L has a positive radially symmetric bounded eigenfunction Z_0 associated to the only positive eigenvalue λ_0 to the problem

$$L[\phi] = \lambda_0 \phi, \quad \phi \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

It is known that λ_0 is a simple eigenvalue and

$$Z_0(y) \sim |y|^{-\frac{n-1}{2}} e^{-\sqrt{\lambda_0}|y|}$$
 as $|y| \to \infty$

Let us write

$$p(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(y, t) Z_0(y) \, dy, \quad q(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(y, t) Z_0(y) \, dy$$

One expects instability produced by Z_0 along the flow without restriction on the initial data. Then we compute

$$\mu(t)^2 \dot{p}(t) - \lambda_0 p(t) = q(t).$$

GLUING METHOD

Since $\mu(t) \sim (T-t)^{-2}$, then p(t) will have exponential growth in time $p(t) \sim e^{\frac{c}{T-t}}$ unless

$$p(t) = e^{\int_0^t \frac{d\tau}{\mu^2(\tau)}} \int_t^T e^{-\int_0^s \frac{d\tau}{\mu^2(\tau)}} \mu(s)^{-2} q(s) ds$$

This relation imposes a linear constraint on the initial data $\phi(y,0)$ to the desired solution $\phi(y,t)$ to (2.9)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(y,0) Z_0(y) \, dy = \int_0^T e^{-\int_0^s \frac{d\tau}{\mu^2(\tau)}} \, \mu(s)^{-2} \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(y,s) Z_0(y) \, dy \, ds.$$
(2.16)

For this reason, we impose an initial data for the inner problem along Z_0 -direction to get rid of such instability.

• The linear theories.

The outer problem (2.10) in linear version is actually simpler than its counterpart (2.19), corresponding just to the standard heat equation with nearly singular right hand sides and zero initial and boundary conditions. Thus we consider the problem

$$\psi_t = \Delta_x \psi + g(x,t) \quad \text{in } \Omega \times (0,T)$$

$$\psi = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0,T),$$

$$\psi(\cdot,0) = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega.$$
(2.17)

The class of right hand sides g that we want to take are naturally controlled by the following norms. Let 0 < a < 1, $q \in \Omega$ and $\mu_0(t) = (T - t)^2$. We define the norms $||g||_{o*}$ and $||\psi||_o$ to be respectively the least numbers K_1 and K_2 such that for all $(x, t) \in \Omega \times [0, T)$,

$$\begin{aligned} |g(x,t)| &\leq K_1 \left[\frac{1}{\mu_0(t)^2} \frac{1}{1+|y|^{2+a}} + 1 \right] \\ |\psi(x,t)| &\leq K_2 \left[\frac{1}{1+|y|^a} + T^{\frac{3}{2}a} \right] \end{aligned}, \qquad y = \frac{x-q}{\mu_0(t)}. \end{aligned}$$

Then the following estimate holds.

Lemma 2.1. ([25, Lemma 4.2]) There exists a constant C such that for all sufficiently small T > 0 and any g with $||g||_o < +\infty$, the unique solution $\psi = \mathcal{T}^{out}[g]$ of problem (3.34) satisfies the estimate

$$\|\psi\|_{o*} \le C \|g\|_{o}. \tag{2.18}$$

The proof can be carried out either by barriers or Duhamel's representation.

The inner problem (2.19) in linear version is actually harder and more delicate than its counterpart (2.10). In order to deal with the inner problem (2.9), we need to solve a linear problem like (2.12) restricted to a large ball B_{2R} where orthogonality conditions like (2.14) are assumed and the initial condition of the solution depends on a scalar parameter which is part of the unknown, connected with constraint (2.16). We construct a solution (ϕ, ℓ) which defines a linear operator of functions h(y, t) defined on

$$\mathcal{D}_{2R} = B_{2R} \times (0, T)$$

to the initial value problem

$$\mu^{2}\phi_{t} = \Delta_{y}\phi + pU(y)^{p-1}\phi + h(y,t) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}$$

$$\phi(y,0) = \ell Z_{0}(y) \quad \text{in } B_{2R},$$
(2.19)

for some constant ℓ , under the orthogonality conditions

$$\int_{B_{2R}} h(y,t) Z_i(y) \, dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad i = 1, \dots, Z_{n+1}, \ t \in [0,T).$$
(2.20)

We impose on the parameter function μ the following constraints, which are motivated on the discussion earlier: let us write

 $\mu_0(t) = (T - t)^2.$

For some positive constants α and β (to be fixed later), we impose

 $\alpha \mu_0(t) \leq \mu(t) \leq \beta \mu_0(t)$ for all $t \in [0, T]$.

Let us fix numbers 0 < a < 1 and $\nu > 0$. We will consider functions h satisfying

$$|h(y,t)| \lesssim \frac{\mu_0(t)^{\nu}}{1+|y|^{2+a}}$$
 in \mathcal{D}_{2R} .

The formal analysis of the previous section would make us hope to find a solution to (2.19) such that

$$|\phi(y,t)| \lesssim \frac{\mu_0(t)^{\nu}}{1+|y|^a}$$
 in \mathcal{D}_{2R}

We will find a solution so that a somewhat worse bound for $\phi(y,t)$ in space variable is found but coinciding with the expected behavior in the gluing regime $|y| \sim R$. Let us define the following norms. We let $||h||_{2+a,\nu}$ be the least number K such that

$$|h(y,t)| \leq K \frac{\mu_0(t)^{\nu}}{1+|y|^{2+a}} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}$$
 (2.21)

and let $\|\phi\|_{*a,\nu}$ be the least number K with

$$|\phi(y,t)| \leq K\mu_0(t)^{\nu} \frac{R^{n+1-a}}{1+|y|^{n+1}}$$
 in \mathcal{D}_{2R} . (2.22)

We observe that $\|\phi\|_{*a,\nu} \leq \|\phi\|_{a,\nu}$.

The following is the key linear result associated to the inner problem.

Lemma 2.2. ([17, Proposition 7.1],[25, Lemma 4.1]) There is a C > 0 such For all sufficiently large R > 0and any h with $\|h\|_{2+a,\nu} < +\infty$ that satisfies relations (2.20) there exist linear operators

$$\phi = \mathcal{T}^{in}_{\mu}[h], \quad \ell = \ell[h]$$

which solve Problem (2.19) and define linear operators of h with

$$|\ell[h]| + ||(1+|y|)\nabla_y \phi||_{*a,\nu} + ||\phi||_{*a,\nu} \le C ||h||_{\nu,2+a}$$

The proof is by using the self-similar variables (y, τ) with

$$\tau = \tau_0 + \int_0^t \mu(s)^{-2} ds.$$

Expressing $\phi = \phi(y, \tau)$, problem (2.19) becomes

$$\phi_{\tau} = \Delta_y \phi + pU(y)^{p-1} \phi + h(y,\tau) \quad \text{in } B_{2R} \times (\tau_0,\infty),$$

$$\phi(y,0) = \ell Z_0(y) \quad \text{in } B_{2R}.$$

Then finding solution with sufficient decay in space-time consisting of three steps:

Step 1: solving an elliptic equation by orthogonality;

Step 2: solving a parabolic equation with slower decay by a spectrum gap estimate (see Lemma 2.3) and energy estimates, then improving the pointwise estimate;

Step 3: acting the linearized operator on both sides of the parabolic equation in Step 2 yields a desired solution.

In fact, for the higher dimensional case $n \ge 5$, blow-up argument can be employed to show a more refined version of the linear theory for the inner problem. The result obtained via blow-up argument turns out to be exactly what we have discussed formally before, and there is no loss of R's in the innermost region. We give a detailed proof in Appendix **B**. Since we do not use maximum principle in the blow-up argument, this argument is rather general and flexible and can be applied to a larger class of equations.

• Proof of Theorem 7: fixed point argument.

With the above preliminaries we are now ready to carry out the proof of Theorem 7 for the case k = 1. We want to find a tuple $\vec{p} = (\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi)$ solving the inner-outer gluing system (2.9)-(2.10) so that a desired blow-up solution u is constructed. This is achieved by formulating the problem as a fixed point problem for \vec{p} in a small region of a suitable Banach space.

We first set up inner problem. For a function h(y,t) defined in \mathcal{D}_{2R} , we write

$$c_j[h](t) = \frac{\int_{B_{2R}} h(y,t) Z_j(y) \, dy}{\int_{B_{2R}} |Z_j(y)|^2 dy}$$

so that the function

$$\bar{h}(y,t) = h(y,t) - \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} c_j[h](t) Z_j(y)$$

satisfies

$$\int_{B_{2R}} \bar{h}(y,t) Z_j(y) \, dy = 0 \text{ for all } j = 1, \dots, n+1, \quad t \in [0,T)$$

which makes the result of Lemma 2.2 applicable to the equation

$$\begin{cases} \mu^2 \phi_t = \Delta_y \phi + p U(y)^{p-1} \phi + \bar{H}(\psi, \mu, \xi) & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi(\cdot, 0) = \ell Z_0 & \text{in } B_{2R} \end{cases}$$
(2.23)

where

$$\bar{H}(\psi,\mu,\xi) = H(\psi,\mu,\xi) - \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} c_j [H(\psi,\mu,\xi)] Z_j$$

and $H(\psi, \mu, \xi)$ is defined in (2.11). Using Lemma 2.2, we find a solution to (2.23) if the following equation is satisfied

$$\phi = \mathcal{T}_{\mu}^{in}[\bar{H}(\psi,\mu,\xi)] =: \mathcal{F}_{1}(\phi,\psi,\mu,\xi).$$
(2.24)

Then the inner equation (2.9) is satisfied if in addition we have

$$c_j[H(\psi,\mu,\xi)] = 0$$
 for all $j = 1, \dots, n+1.$ (2.25)

In addition, the outer equation (2.10) is satisfied provided

$$\psi = \mathcal{T}^{out}[G(\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi)] =: \mathcal{F}_2(\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi).$$
(2.26)

where the operator $G(\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi)$ is defined in (2.11). We will solve system (2.23)-(2.25)-(2.26) using a degree-theoretical argument.

For $\lambda \in [0, 1]$, we define the homotopy

$$H_{\lambda}(\psi,\mu,\xi)(y,t) = \mu^{\frac{n-2}{2}} p U(y)^{p-1} Z_0^*(q) + \mu \dot{\mu} Z_{n+1}(y) + \mu \sum_{j=1}^n \dot{\xi}_j Z_j(y) + \lambda \mu^{\frac{n-2}{2}} p U(y)^{p-1} (Z^*(\xi+\mu y,t) - Z_0^*(q) + \psi(\xi+\mu y,t)),$$

and consider the system of equations

$$\begin{cases} \phi = \mathcal{T}_{\mu}^{in} [H_{\lambda}(\psi, \mu, \xi) - \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} c_j [H_{\lambda}(\psi, \mu, \xi)] Z_j] \\ c_j [H_{\lambda}(\psi, \mu, \xi)] = 0 \text{ for all } j = 1, \dots, n+1, \\ \psi = \mathcal{T}^{out} [\lambda G(\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi)]. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.27)$$

We observe that for $\lambda = 1$ this problem precisely corresponds to the system (2.23)-(2.25)-(2.26) that we want to solve.

It is convenient to write

$$\mu(t) = \mu_*(t) + \mu^{(1)}(t), \quad \xi(t) = q + \xi^{(1)}(t), \quad t \in [0, T]$$

where $\mu_*(t)$ is defined in (2.15), and $\mu^{(1)}(T) = 0$, $\xi^{(1)}(t) = 0$.

We assume that we have a solution $(\phi, \psi, \mu^{(1)}, \xi^{(1)})$ to system (2.27) with

$$\begin{cases} |\dot{\mu}^{(1)}(t)| + |\dot{\xi}^{(1)}(t)| \leq \delta_0 \\ \|\phi\|_{*a,\nu} + \|\psi\|_{\infty} \leq \delta_1 \end{cases}$$
(2.28)

where δ_0, δ_1 are small positive constants to be adjusted later. We will also assume that Z^* is sufficiently small but fixed independently of T, i.e., $||Z^*||_{\infty} \ll 1$.

The function $\mu_*(t)$ solves the equation

$$\dot{\mu}_{*}(t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} Z_{n+1}^{2} dy + \mu_{*}(t)^{\frac{n-4}{2}} Z_{0}^{*}(q) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} p U^{p-1} Z_{n+1} dy = 0.$$
(2.29)

The equation

$$c_{n+1}(H_{\lambda}(\psi,\mu_*+\mu_1,\xi))(t) = 0, \quad t \in [0,T)$$
(2.30)

which corresponds to

$$0 = \dot{\mu}(t) \Big(\int_{B_{2R}} Z_{n+1}^2 dy \Big) + \mu(t)^{\frac{n-4}{2}} Z_0^*(q) \int_{B_{2R}} p U^{p-1} Z_{n+1} dy \\ + \lambda \mu(t)^{\frac{n-4}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} p U(y)^{p-1} (Z^*(\xi(t) + \mu(t)y, t) - Z_0^*(q) + \psi(\xi(t) + \mu(t)y, t)) Z_{n+1}(y) dy$$

can be written as

$$\dot{\mu}(t) + \beta \mu(t)^{\frac{n-4}{2}} = \mu(t)^{\frac{n-4}{2}} (\delta_R + \lambda \theta(\psi, \xi, \mu_1))$$
for a suitable number $\beta > 0$, $\delta_R = O(R^{-2})$ and the operator θ satisfies

$$|\theta(\psi, \xi, \mu_1)| \leq C (T + ||\psi||_{\infty})$$

for some constant C. From (2.29), the equation for μ_1 can then be written, in the "linearized" form, as

$$\dot{\mu}_1 + \frac{\gamma}{T-t}\mu_1 = (T-t)g_0(\psi,\mu,\xi)$$

for a suitable $\gamma > 0$, where

$$|g_0(\psi,\xi,\mu^{(1)},\lambda)(t)| \leq C (||\psi||_{\infty} + T + R^{-2}).$$

The linear problem

$$\dot{\mu} + \frac{\gamma}{T-t}\mu = (T-t)g(t), \quad \mu_1(T) = 0$$

can be uniquely solved by the following operator in g

$$\mu(t) = \mathcal{T}^0[g](t) := -(T-t)^{-\gamma} \int_t^T (T-s)^{\gamma+1} g_0(s) \, ds.$$

It defines a linear operator on g with estimates

$$||(T-t)^{-1}\dot{\mu}||_{\infty} + ||(T-t)^{-2}\mu||_{\infty} \le C||g_0||_{\infty}.$$

Equation (2.30) then becomes

$$\mu^{(1)}(t) = \mathcal{T}^{(0)}[g_0(\psi, \xi, \mu^{(1)}, \lambda)](t) \text{ for all } t \in [0, T)$$

and we get

$$\|(T-t)^{-1}\dot{\mu}^{(1)}\|_{\infty} + \|(T-t)^{-2}\mu^{(1)}\|_{\infty} \leq C(\|\psi\|_{\infty} + T + R^{-2}).$$
(2.31)

Similarly, equations

$$c_j[H_\lambda(\psi,\mu,\xi)] = 0$$
 for all $j = 1, \dots, n$

can be written in vector form as

$$\xi^{(1)}(t) = \mathcal{T}^{(1)}[g_1(\psi, \mu_1, \xi_1)](t) \text{ for all } t \in [0, T),$$
(2.32)

where

$$\mathcal{T}^{(1)}[g] := \int_t^T (T-s)g(s)\,ds$$

and

$$|g_1(\psi,\xi,\mu^{(1)},\lambda)(t)| \le C (||\psi||_{\infty} + T).$$

From equation (2.32), we thus find

$$\|(T-t)^{-1}\dot{\xi}^{(1)}\|_{\infty} + \|(T-t)^{-2}\xi^{(1)}\|_{\infty} \leq C(\|\psi\|_{\infty} + T).$$
(2.33)

On the other hand, we have

$$|H(\psi,\mu,\xi)(y,t)| \leq C \frac{\mu(t)^{\frac{n-2}{2}}}{1+|y|^4} (\|\psi\|_{\infty} + \|Z^*\|_{\infty}) + \frac{\mu\dot{\mu}}{1+|y|^{n-2}} + \frac{\mu|\dot{\xi}|}{1+|y|^{n-1}}$$

and thus

$$|H(\psi,\mu,\xi)(y,t)| \leq C \frac{\mu_0(t)^{\frac{n-2}{2}}}{1+|y|^{2+a}} \left(\|\psi\|_{\infty} + \|Z^*\|_{\infty} \right)$$

GLUING METHOD

for 0 < a < 1. From the first equation in (2.27) and Lemma 2.2, we obtain

$$\|\phi\|_{*a,\nu} \leq C(\|\psi\|_{\infty} + \|Z^*\|_{\infty}), \quad \nu = \frac{n-2}{2}.$$
(2.34)

with the $\|\cdot\|_{*a,\nu}$ -norm defined in (2.22). Next we consider the last equation in (2.27). We recall that

$$\begin{split} G(\phi,\psi,\mu,\xi)(x,t) &= p\mu^{-2}(1-\eta_R)U(y)^{p-1}(Z^*+\psi) + A[\phi] + B[\phi] \\ &+ \mu^{-\frac{n+2}{2}}E(1-\eta_R) + N(Z^*+\mu^{-\frac{n-2}{2}}\eta_R\phi + Z^*+\psi), \\ E(y,t) &= \mu\dot{\mu}[y\cdot\nabla U(y) + \frac{n-2}{2}U(y)] + \mu\dot{\xi}\cdot\nabla U(y), \\ A[\phi] &= \mu^{-\frac{n+2}{2}}\left\{\Delta_y\eta_R\phi + 2\nabla_y\eta_R\nabla_y\phi\right\}, \\ B[\phi] &= \mu^{-\frac{n}{2}}\left\{\dot{\mu}[y\cdot\nabla_y\phi + \frac{n-2}{2}\phi]\eta_R + \dot{\xi}\cdot\nabla_y\phi\eta_R + \left[\dot{\mu}y\cdot\nabla_y\eta_R + \dot{\xi}\cdot\nabla_y\eta_R\right]\phi\right\}. \end{split}$$

Let us consider for example the error terms

$$g_1(x,t) = \mu^{-2}(1-\eta_R)U^{p-1}(Z^*+\psi), \quad g_2(x,t) = \mu^{-\frac{n+2}{2}}E(1-\eta_R).$$

We see that

$$|g_1(x,t)| \leq \frac{1}{R^{2-\sigma}} \mu^{-2} \frac{C}{1+|y|^{2+\sigma}} (||Z^*||_{\infty} + ||\psi||_{\infty})$$

and

$$|g_2(x,t)| \leq \frac{1}{\mu^2} \Big[\frac{1}{|y|^{n-2}} \mu^{-\frac{n-2}{2}} (|\mu\dot{\mu}| + |\mu\dot{\xi}|) \leq \frac{1}{R^{3-\sigma}} \mu^{-2} \frac{C}{1+|y|^{2+\sigma}}.$$

Let us now estimate the term $A[\phi]$. Let us choose $\sigma = \frac{a}{2}$, where *a* is the number in the definition of $\|\phi\|_{*a,\nu}$. We have

$$\begin{split} \left| A[\phi](x,t) \right| &\leq \mu^{-2} \frac{1}{R^2} \frac{1}{1+R^{-2-\sigma} |y|^{2+\sigma}} \, \mu^{-\frac{n-2}{2}} \sup_{R < |y| < 2R} (|\phi| + |y| |\nabla \phi|) \\ &\leq \mu^{-2} \frac{R^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{1+|y|^{2+\sigma}} \|\phi\|_{*a,\frac{n-2}{2}} \end{split}$$

and similarly,

$$\left| B[\phi](x,t) \right| \leq C\mu^{-2} [\mu\dot{\mu} + \mu |\dot{\xi}|] \frac{R^{n+1-a}}{1+|y|^{n+1}} \|\phi\|_{*a,\frac{n-2}{2}} \leq C\mu^{-2} \frac{\mu^{\frac{3}{2}} R^{n+1-a}}{1+|y|^{2+\sigma}} \|\phi\|_{*a,\frac{n-2}{2}}.$$

Now for some $\sigma > 0$ we have

$$|N(Z^* + \mu^{-\frac{n-2}{2}} \eta_R \phi + Z^* + \psi)| \le C \mu^{-2} \frac{\mu^{\sigma}}{1 + |y|^{2+\sigma}} (\|\phi\|_{*a,\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{n+1-a} + \|Z_*\|_{\infty} + \|\psi\|_{\infty})^2 + C (\|Z_*\|_{\infty} + \|\psi\|_{\infty})^p.$$

According to the above estimates, it follows by Lemma 2.1 that

$$\|\psi\|_{\infty} \leq CT^{\sigma'} \|Z_*\|_{\infty} + R^{-\sigma'} \|\phi\|_{*a,\frac{n-2}{2}}.$$
(2.35)

Combining (2.34) and (2.35) and then using (2.31)-(2.33), we finally get

$$\begin{cases} \|\psi\|_{\infty} \leq CT^{\sigma'} \|Z_*\|_{\infty} \\ \|\phi\|_{*a,\frac{n-2}{2}} \leq C \|Z_*\|_{\infty} \\ \|(T-t)^{-1}\dot{\xi}^{(1)}\|_{\infty} + \|(T-t)^{-2}\xi^{(1)}\|_{\infty} \leq C \left(T^{\sigma'} (\|Z_*\|_{\infty} + 1) + R^{-2}\right) \\ \|(T-t)^{-1}\dot{\mu}^{(1)}\|_{\infty} + \|(T-t)^{-2}\mu^{(1)}\|_{\infty} \leq C T^{\sigma'} (\|Z_*\|_{\infty} + 1). \end{cases}$$

$$(2.36)$$

We write System (2.27) in the form

$$\begin{cases} \phi = \mathcal{T}_{\mu}^{in} [\bar{H}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{T}^{out}[\lambda G(\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi), \mu, \xi)] \\ \psi = \mathcal{T}^{out}[\lambda G(\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi)] \\ \mu^{(1)} = \mathcal{T}^{(0)} [\tilde{g}_{0}(\psi, \xi^{(1)}, \mu^{(1)}, \lambda)] \\ \xi^{(1)} = \mathcal{T}^{(1)} [\tilde{g}_{1}(\psi, \mu^{(1)}, \xi^{(1)}, \lambda)]. \end{cases}$$
(2.37)

Here, we can write

$$\tilde{g}_{0}(\psi,\xi^{(1)},\mu^{(1)},\lambda) = c_{R}^{1} \int_{B_{2R}} H_{\lambda}(\mathcal{T}^{out}[\lambda G(\phi,\psi,\mu,\xi)],\mu,\xi) Z_{n+1}(y) dy$$

$$\tilde{g}_{1}(\psi,\xi^{(1)},\mu^{(1)},\lambda) = c_{R}^{2} \int_{B_{2R}} H_{\lambda}(\mathcal{T}^{out}[\lambda G(\phi,\psi,\mu,\xi)],\mu,\xi) \nabla U(y) dy$$

for suitable positive constants c_R^{ℓ} , $\ell = 0, 1$. We fix an arbitrarily small $\varepsilon > 0$ and consider the problem defined only up to time $t = T - \varepsilon$.

$$\begin{cases} \phi = \mathcal{T}_{\mu}^{in} [\bar{H}_{\lambda}(\mathcal{T}^{out}[\lambda G(\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi), \mu, \xi)], \quad (y, t) \in \bar{B}_{2R} \times [0, T - \varepsilon] \\ \psi = \mathcal{T}^{out}[\lambda G(\phi, \psi, \mu, \xi)], \quad (x, t) \in \bar{\Omega} \times [0, T - \varepsilon] \\ \mu^{(1)} = \mathcal{T}_{\varepsilon}^{(0)} [\tilde{g}_{0}(\psi, \xi^{(1)}, \mu^{(1)}, \lambda)], \quad t \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \\ \xi^{(1)} = \mathcal{T}_{\varepsilon}^{(1)} [\tilde{g}_{1}(\psi, \mu^{(1)}, \xi^{(1)}, \lambda)], \quad t \in [0, T - \varepsilon] \end{cases}$$

$$(2.38)$$

where

$$\mathcal{T}^0_{\varepsilon}[g](t) := -(T-t)^{-\gamma} \int_t^{T-\varepsilon} (T-s)^{\gamma+1} g_0(s) \, ds, \quad \mathcal{T}^{(1)}_{\varepsilon}[g] := \int_t^{T-\varepsilon} (T-s)g(s) \, ds$$

The key is that the operators in the right hand side of (2.38) are compact when we regard them as defined in the space of functions

$$(\phi, \psi, \mu^{(1)}, \xi^{(1)}) \in X_1 \times X_2 \times X_3 \times X_4$$

with their respective norms defined as

$$\begin{aligned} X^{1} = &\{\phi \mid \phi \in C(B_{2R} \times [0, T - \varepsilon]), \ \nabla_{y}\phi \in C(B_{2R} \times [0, T - \varepsilon])\}, \ \|\phi\|_{X_{1}} = \|\phi\|_{\infty} + \|\nabla_{y}\phi\|_{\infty} \\ X^{2} = &\{\psi \mid \phi \in C(\bar{\Omega} \times [0, T - ve])\}, \ \|\psi\|_{X_{2}} = \|\psi\|_{\infty} \\ X^{3} = &\{\mu^{(1)} \mid \mu^{(1)} \in C^{1}[0, T - \varepsilon]\}, \ \|\mu^{(1)}\|_{X_{3}} = \|\mu^{(1)}\|_{\infty} + \|\dot{\mu}^{(1)}\|_{\infty} \\ X^{4} = &\{\xi^{(1)} \mid \xi^{(1)} \in C^{1}[0, T - \varepsilon]\}, \ \|\xi^{(1)}\|_{X_{4}} = \|\xi^{(1)}\|_{\infty} + \|\dot{\xi}^{(1)}\|_{\infty}. \end{aligned}$$

Compactness on bounded sets of all the operators involved in the above expression is a direct consequence of the Hölder estimate for the operator \mathcal{T}^{out} and Arzela-Ascoli's theorem. On the other hand, the a priori estimate we obtained for $\varepsilon = 0$ holds equally well, uniformly on arbitrary small $\varepsilon > 0$.

Leray Schauder degree applies in a suitable ball \mathcal{B} that contains the origin in this space: essentially one slightly bigger than that defined by relations (2.36), which amounts to a choice of the parameters δ_0 and δ_1 in (2.28). In fact, the homotopy connects with the identity at $\lambda = 0$, and hence the total degree in the region defined by relations (2.36) is equal to 1. The existence of a solution to the approximate problem satisfying bounds (2.36) then follows. Finally, a standard diagonal argument yields a solution to the original problem with the desired asymptotics. The proof of Theorem 7 for the case k = 1 is concluded.

The general case of k distinct points q_1, \ldots, q_k is actually identical: in that case we have k inner problems and one outer problem with analogous properties. We look for a solution of the form

$$u(x,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} U_{\mu_j,\xi_j}(x) + Z^*(x,t) + \mu_j^{-\frac{n-2}{2}} \phi(y_j,t) \eta_R(y_j) + \psi(x,t), \quad y_j = \frac{x-\xi_j}{\mu_j},$$
(2.39)

where Z^* solves heat equation with initial condition Z_0^* which is chosen so that (2.4) holds at all concentration points, namely $Z_0^*(q_j) < 0$, and $\xi_j(T) = q_j$, $\mu_j(T) = 0$.

A string of fixed point problems (with essentially decoupled equations associated at each point) then appears and can be solved in the same way. We omit the details. \Box

2.2. Non- L^2 case: critical Fujita equation in \mathbb{R}^4 . In this section, we consider the finite time blow-up for case n = 4 and p = 3. In what follows we let Ω be a smooth bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^4 or $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^4$ and consider the equation

$$\begin{aligned} u_t &= \Delta u + u^3 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega \times (0, T), \\ u &= 0 \quad \text{on} \; \partial\Omega \times (0, T), \\ (2.40) \\ u(\cdot, 0) &= u_0 \quad \text{in} \; \Omega. \end{aligned}$$

Let us fix arbitrary points $q_1, q_2, \ldots, q_k \in \Omega$. We consider a smooth function $Z_0^* \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ with the property that

 $Z_0^*(q_i) < 0$ for all $j = 1, \dots, k$.

Theorem 2 ([31]). For each T > 0 sufficiently small, there exists an initial condition u_0 such that the solution to problem (4.3) blows up at time T exactly at the k points q_1, \ldots, q_k . The solution is of the sharply scaled form

$$u(x,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} U_{\lambda_j(t),\xi_j(t)}(x) + Z_0^*(x) + \theta(x,t)$$

where

 $\lambda_j(t) \to 0, \quad \xi_j(t) \to q_j \quad as \quad t \to T,$

and $\|\theta\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq T^a$ for some a > 0. More precisely,

$$\lambda_j(t) \sim \frac{T-t}{|\log(T-t)|^2}$$
 as $t \to T$.

We observe that the solution constructed in Theorem 2 is type II. The result in Theorem 2 is the exact analog of Theorem 7 in dimension 5. We follow the same general approach of the *parabolic gluing method*. However, substantial differences and difficulties arise, due to the fact that the equation that determines $\lambda(t)$ involves a delicate nonlocal integro-differential operator. In dimension 5, the dynamics of $\lambda(t)$ is found in a much more direct way by just solving an ODE. This nonlocal effect is related to the slower decay of the linear generator of dilations of the Aubin-Talenti bubbles in lower dimensions, i.e., $Z_5 \notin L^2(\mathbb{R}^4)$ (see (2.43)). A very similar difficulty was already encountered in the work [22] on blow-up in the harmonic map flow, where such nonlocal operator appeared in the reduced complex system at mode 0. The similarity between these problems in the presence of symmetries had already been noticed in [83, 86].

• Approximation and correction.

We first choose a proper approximate solution to (4.3) and compute its error. We consider the case k = 1 for simplicity and mention the minor changes for the general multi-bubble case when needed. We define the error operator

$$\mathcal{S}(u) := -u_t + \Delta u + u^3.$$

Recall that the Aubin-Talenti bubble

$$U(y) = \frac{\alpha_0}{1 + |y|^2} \tag{2.41}$$

solves the Yamabe problem

$$\Delta_y U + U^3 = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^4,$$

where $\alpha_0 = 2\sqrt{2}$. It is well-known that the linearized operator around the bubble

$$L_0(\phi) := \Delta \phi + 3U^2 \phi \tag{2.42}$$

is non-degenerate in the sense that all bounded solutions to $L_0(\phi) = 0$ are the linear combination of

$$Z_i(y) := \partial_{y_i} U(y), \ i = 1, 2, 3, 4, \ Z_5(y) := U(y) + \nabla U(y) \cdot y.$$

$$(2.43)$$

Our first approximation is chosen as

$$U_{\lambda(t),\xi(t)} = \lambda^{-1}(t)U\left(\frac{x-\xi(t)}{\lambda(t)}\right)$$

where $\lambda(t)$ and $\xi(t)$ are scaling and translation parameter functions to be adjusted later. Direct computations yield

$$S(U_{\lambda(t),\xi(t)}) = -\partial_t U_{\lambda(t),\xi(t)} = \lambda^{-2}(t)\dot{\lambda}(t) \left(-\frac{\alpha_0}{1+|y|^2} + \frac{2\alpha_0}{(1+|y|^2)^2} \right) + \lambda^{-2}(t)\nabla_y U(y) \cdot \dot{\xi}(t),$$
(2.44)

where $y = \frac{x - \xi(t)}{\lambda(t)}$. Observe that the slow decaying error in (4.9) is

$$\mathcal{E}_0 = -\frac{\alpha_0 \lambda(t)}{\lambda^2(t) + \rho^2} \approx -\frac{\alpha_0 \lambda(t)}{\rho^2} \notin L^2(\mathbb{R}^4),$$

where $\rho := |x - \xi(t)|$. In order to improve the approximation, we consider

$$\partial_t u_1 = \Delta u_1 + \mathcal{E}_0 \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^4 \times (0, T).$$
 (2.45)

By similar computations as in $[22]^1$, a solution to (2.45) is given explicitly by

$$u_1 = -\alpha_0 \int_{-T}^t \dot{\lambda}(s)k(\rho, t-s)ds$$

where

$$k(\rho,t) := \frac{1 - e^{-\frac{\rho^2}{4t}}}{\rho^2}.$$
(2.46)

We regularize the above u_1 and choose a correction Ψ_0 to be

$$\Psi_0(x,t) = -\alpha_0 \int_{-T}^t \dot{\lambda}(s) k(\zeta(\rho,t), t-s) ds, \qquad (2.47)$$

where

$$\zeta(\rho,t) = \sqrt{\rho^2 + \lambda^2(t)}$$

Then the new error produced by Ψ_0 is given by

$$\partial_t \Psi_0 - \Delta \Psi_0 - \mathcal{E}_0$$

$$= \alpha_0 \left[\frac{y \cdot \dot{\xi} - \dot{\lambda}(t)}{(1+|y|^2)^{1/2}} \right] \int_{-T}^t \dot{\lambda}(s) k_{\zeta}(\zeta, t-s) ds$$

$$+ \frac{\alpha_0}{\lambda(t)(1+|y|^2)^{3/2}} \int_{-T}^t \dot{\lambda}(s) \left[-\zeta k_{\zeta\zeta}(\zeta, t-s) + k_{\zeta}(\zeta, t-s) \right] ds$$

$$:= \mathcal{R}[\lambda].$$
(2.48)

It is thus reasonable to choose the corrected approximation as

$$u^* = U_{\lambda(t),\xi(t)} + \Psi_0$$

and its error is

$$S(u^*) = S(U_{\lambda(t),\xi(t)}) - \mathcal{E}_0 + (U_{\lambda(t),\xi(t)} + \Psi_0)^3 - U^3_{\lambda(t),\xi(t)}$$

= $\mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi] + (U_{\lambda(t),\xi(t)} + \Psi_0)^3 - U^3_{\lambda(t),\xi(t)},$

where $\mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi]$ is defined as

$$\mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi] := \frac{2\alpha_0 \lambda^{-2}(t)\dot{\lambda}(t)}{(1+|y|^2)^2} + \lambda^{-2}(t)\nabla U(y) \cdot \dot{\xi}(t) - \mathcal{R}[\lambda]$$
(2.49)

with $\mathcal{R}[\lambda]$ given in (2.48).

• Formulating the inner-outer gluing system.

We look for solution of the following form

$$u = u^* + w,$$

where w is a small perturbation consisting of inner and outer parts

$$\mathbf{w} = \varphi_{\text{in}} + \varphi_{\text{out}}, \ \varphi_{\text{in}} = \lambda^{-1}(t)\eta_R\phi(y,t), \ \varphi_{\text{out}} = \psi(x,t) + Z^*(x,t).$$

Here the cut-off function is defined by

$$\eta_R = \eta_{R(t)}(x,t) = \eta \left(\frac{|x - \xi(t)|}{\lambda(t)R(t)} \right)$$

¹See Section 17 in the full version available at https://personal.math.ubc.ca/~jcwei/hmf-2018-08-16.pdf

where the smooth cut-off function $\eta(s) = 1$ for s < 1 and $\eta(s) = 0$ for s > 2, and Z^* satisfies

$$\begin{cases} Z_t^* = \Delta_x Z^* & \text{ in } \Omega \times (0, T), \\ Z^*(\cdot, t) = 0 & \text{ on } \partial \Omega \times (0, T), \\ Z^*(\cdot, 0) = Z_0^* & \text{ in } \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Denote

$$B_{2R} = \{x \in \Omega : |x - \xi(t)| \le 2\lambda R\}, \ \mathcal{D}_{2R} = B_{2R} \times (0, T)$$

and $\Psi^* = \psi + Z^*$. Then u is a solution to the original problem (4.3) if

• ϕ solves the inner problem

$$\lambda^2 \phi_t = \Delta_y \phi + 3U^2(y)\phi + \mathcal{H}(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}$$
(2.50)

where

$$\mathcal{H}(\phi,\psi,\lambda,\xi)(y,t) := 3\lambda U^2(y)[\Psi_0 + \psi + Z^*](\lambda y + \xi,t) + \lambda \left[\dot{\lambda}(\nabla_y \phi \cdot y + \phi) + \nabla_y \phi \cdot \dot{\xi}\right] + \lambda^3 \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{w}) + \lambda^3 \mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi]$$
(2.51)

with $\mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi]$ defined in (2.49), and

$$\mathcal{N}(\mathbf{w}) := (U_{\lambda,\xi} + \Psi_0 + \mathbf{w})^3 - U_{\lambda,\xi}^3 - 3U_{\lambda,\xi}^2(\Psi_0 + \mathbf{w}).$$
(2.52)

• ψ solves the **outer problem**

$$\psi_t = \Delta \psi + \mathcal{G}(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi) \quad \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T)$$
(2.53)

with

$$\mathcal{G}(\phi,\psi,\lambda,\xi) := 3\lambda^{-2}(1-\eta_R)U^2(y)(\Psi_0+\psi+Z^*) +\lambda^{-3}\left[(\Delta_y\eta_R)\phi+2\nabla_y\eta_R\cdot\nabla_y\phi-\lambda^2\phi\partial_t\eta_R\right] +(1-\eta_R)\mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi]+(1-\eta_R)\mathcal{N}(\mathbf{w}).$$
(2.54)

• The choices of parameters.

We choose the leading orders $\lambda_*(t)$, $\xi_*(t)$ of the parameter functions $\lambda(t)$ and $\xi(t)$. As mentioned earlier, a good inner solution can be found provided approximately the following orthogonality conditions

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \mathcal{H}(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi) Z_j(y) dy = 0 \quad \text{for all } j = 1, \cdots, 5, \ t \in (0, T)$$
(2.55)

are satisfied. Here Z_j are the kernel functions (c.f. (2.43)) of the linearized operator L_0 defined in (2.42). Basically, the scaling and translation parameters $\lambda(t)$ and $\xi(t)$ at main order will be derived from the orthogonality conditions (2.55).

Singling out the leading term \mathcal{H}_* of \mathcal{H} and computing

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \mathcal{H}_*[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^*] Z_\ell(y) dy = 0 \text{ for } \ell = 1, \cdots, 4$$

with

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{H}_*[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^*] &:= 3\lambda U^2(y)[\Psi_0 + \Psi^*](\lambda y + \xi, t) + \lambda^3 \mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi] \\ &= 3\lambda U^2(y)[\Psi_0 + \Psi^*](\lambda y + \xi, t) + \frac{2\alpha_0\lambda(t)\dot{\lambda}(t)}{(1+|y|^2)^2} + \lambda(t)\nabla U(y) \cdot \dot{\xi}(t) \\ &- \frac{\alpha_0\lambda^2(t)}{(1+|y|^2)^{3/2}} \int_{-T}^t \dot{\lambda}(s) \left[-\zeta k_{\zeta\zeta}(\zeta, t-s) + k_{\zeta}(\zeta, t-s) \right] ds \\ &- \alpha_0\lambda^3(t) \left[\frac{y \cdot \dot{\xi} - \dot{\lambda}(t)}{(1+|y|^2)^{1/2}} \right] \int_{-T}^t \dot{\lambda}(s)k_{\zeta}(\zeta, t-s) ds \end{split}$$

imply that

$$\dot{\xi}_{\ell} = o(1),$$

where $\Psi^* = \psi + Z^*$ and $o(1) \to 0$ as $t \nearrow T$. So the choice of $\xi(t)$ at main order is

$$\xi(t) = q$$

where q is a prescribed point in Ω .

The dynamics for $\lambda(t)$ from

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \mathcal{H}_*[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^*] Z_5(y) dy = 0$$

turns out to be more involved due to the non-local/global correction, and the reduced problem involves the following integro-differential operator

$$c_* \int_{-T}^{t-\lambda^2(t)} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds = -3c_0 [Z_0^*(q) + \psi(q,0)] + o(1), \qquad (2.56)$$

where

$$c_0 := \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} U^2(y) Z_5(y) dy < 0$$

Here careful calculations are needed for nonlocal terms, and detailed derivation can be found in [31, Section 4]. Since $\lambda(t)$ decreases to 0 as $t \nearrow T$, we impose

$$a_* := Z_0^*(q) + \psi(q, 0) < 0$$

Now we claim that a good choice of $\lambda(t)$ at main order is

$$\dot{\lambda}(t) = -\frac{c}{|\log(T-t)|^2},$$
(2.57)

where c > 0 is a constant to be determined later. Indeed, we get by substituting

$$\begin{split} \int_{-T}^{t-\lambda^2(t)} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds &= \int_{-T}^{t-(T-t)} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds + \int_{t-(T-t)}^{t-\lambda^2(t)} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(t)}{t-s} ds - \int_{t-(T-t)}^{t-\lambda^2(t)} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(t) - \dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds \\ &= \int_{-T}^{t-(T-t)} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds + \dot{\lambda}(t) (\log(T-t) - 2\log\lambda(t)) \\ &\quad - \int_{t-(T-t)}^{t-\lambda^2(t)} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(t) - \dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds \\ &\approx \int_{-T}^{t} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{T-s} ds - \dot{\lambda}(t) \log(T-t) := \beta(t). \end{split}$$

By (2.57), we then get

$$\log(T-t)\frac{d\beta}{dt}(t) = \frac{d}{dt}\left(-\log^2(T-t)\dot{\lambda}(t)\right) = 0,$$

which means $\beta(t)$ is a constant. Thus, equation (2.56) can be approximately solved for

$$\dot{\lambda}(t) = -\frac{c}{|\log(T-t)|^2}$$

with the constant c chosen as

$$-c \int_{-T}^{T} \frac{ds}{(T-s)|\log(T-s)|^2} = \kappa_*,$$

where $\kappa_* := -\frac{3c_0a_*}{c_*}$. At main order, we obtain

$$\dot{\lambda}(t) = \kappa_* \dot{\lambda}_*(t)$$

with

$$\dot{\lambda}_*(t) = -\frac{|\log T|}{|\log(T-t)|^2}$$

By imposing $\lambda_*(T) = 0$, we obtain

$$\lambda_*(t) = \frac{|\log T|(T-t)|}{|\log(T-t)|^2} (1+o(1)) \text{ as } t \nearrow T.$$

• Linear theories.

We start from the the outer problem (2.53) and consider

$$\begin{cases} \psi_t = \Delta \psi + f, & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T), \\ \psi = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega \times (0, T), \\ \psi(x, 0) = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.58)

where the non-homogeneous term f in (2.58) is assumed to be bounded with respect to the weights appearing in the outer problem (2.53). Define the weights

$$\begin{cases} \varrho_1 := \lambda_*^{\nu-3}(t) R^{-2-\alpha}(t) \chi_{\{|x-\xi(t)| \le 2\lambda_* R\}} \\ \varrho_2 := \frac{\lambda_*^{\nu_2}}{|x-\xi(t)|^2} \chi_{\{|x-\xi(t)| \ge \lambda_* R\}} \\ \varrho_3 := 1 \end{cases}$$
(2.59)

where we choose $R(t) = \lambda_*^{-\beta}(t)$ for $\beta \in (0, 1/2)$. We define the norms

$$||f||_{**} := \sup_{(x,t)\in\Omega\times(0,T)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \varrho_i(x,t)\right)^{-1} |f(x,t)|,$$
(2.60)

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi\|_{*} &:= \frac{\lambda_{*}^{1-\nu}(0)R^{\alpha}(0)}{|\log T|} \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega\times(0,T))} + \frac{\lambda_{*}^{2-\nu}(0)R^{1+\alpha}(0)}{|\log T|} \|\nabla\psi\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega\times(0,T))} \\ &+ \sup_{(x,t)\in\Omega\times(0,T)} \left[\frac{\lambda_{*}^{1-\nu}(t)R^{\alpha}(t)}{|\log(T-t)|} |\psi(x,t) - \psi(x,T)| \right] \\ &+ \sup_{(x,t)\in\Omega\times(0,T)} \left[\frac{\lambda_{*}^{2-\nu}(t)R^{1+\alpha}(t)|}{|\log(T-t)|} |\nabla\psi(x,t) - \nabla\psi(x,T)| \right] \\ &+ \sup_{\Omega\times I_{T}} \frac{\lambda_{*}^{2\gamma+1-\nu}(t_{2})R^{2\gamma+\alpha}(t_{2})}{(t_{2}-t_{1})^{\gamma}} |\psi(x,t_{2}) - \psi(x,t_{1})|, \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.61)$$

where $\nu, \alpha, \gamma \in (0, 1)$, and the last supremum is taken over

$$\Omega \times I_T = \left\{ (x, t_1, t_2) : \ x \in \Omega, \ 0 \le t_1 \le t_2 \le T, \ t_2 - t_1 \le \frac{1}{10} (T - t_2) \right\}$$

For problem (2.58), we have the following estimates.

Proposition 2.1. ([22, Appendix A],[31, Proposition 1]) Let ψ be the solution to problem (2.58) with $||f||_{**} < +\infty$. Then it holds that

$$\|\psi\|_* \lesssim \|f\|_{**}$$

Proposition 2.1 is established by estimating carefully Duhamel's formula with different right hand sides.

To solve the inner problem (2.50), we consider the associated linear problem

$$\lambda^2 \phi_t = \Delta_y \phi + 3U^2(y)\phi + h(y,t) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}.$$
(2.62)

Recall that the linearized operator $L_0 = \Delta + 3U^2$ has only one positive eigenvalue μ_0 such that

$$L_0(Z_0) = \mu_0 Z_0, \ Z_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^4)$$

where the corresponding eigenfunction Z_0 is radially symmetric with the asymptotic behavior

$$Z_0(y) \sim |y|^{-3/2} e^{-\sqrt{\mu_0}|y|}$$
 as $|y| \to +\infty$.

Similar to the discussion in previous section, such instability reflects in a careful choice of the initial data to ensure a well-behaved solution. Therefore, we consider the associated linear Cauchy problem of the inner problem (2.50)

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \phi_t = \Delta_y \phi + 3U^2(y)\phi + h(y,t), & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \\ \phi(y,0) = e_0 Z_0(y), & \text{in } B_{2R(0)}, \end{cases}$$
(2.63)

where $R = R(t) = \lambda_*^{-\beta}(t)$ for $\beta \in (0, 1/2)$. On the other hand, the parabolic operator $-\lambda^2 \partial_t + L_0$ is certainly not invertible since all the time independent elements in the 5 dimensional kernel of L_0 (see (2.43)) also belong to the kernel of $-\lambda^2 \partial_t + L_0$. In order to construct solution to (2.63) with suitable space-time decay, we expect some orthogonality conditions to hold. We shall construct a solution (ϕ , e_0) to problem (2.63) under the orthogonality conditions

$$\int_{B_{2R}} h(y,t) Z_{\ell}(y) dy = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \ell = 1, \cdots, 5, \ t \in (0,T).$$
(2.64)

Define

$$\|h\|_{\nu,2+a} := \sup_{(y,t)\in\mathcal{D}_{2R}} \lambda_*^{-\nu}(t)(1+|y|^{2+a}) \left[|h(y,t)| + (1+|y|)|\nabla h(y,t)|\right].$$
(2.65)

The construction of such solution is achieved by decomposing the equation into different spherical harmonic modes. Consider an orthonormal basis $\{\Theta_i\}_{i=0}^{\infty}$ made up of spherical harmonics in $L^2(\mathbb{S}^3)$, i.e.

$$\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^3}\Theta_i + \lambda_i\Theta_i = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{S}^3$$

with $0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 = \cdots = \lambda_4 = 3 < \lambda_5 \leq \cdots$. More precisely, $\Theta_0(y) = a_0$, $\Theta_i(y) = a_1 y_i$, $i = 1, \cdots, 4$ for two constants a_0, a_1 and

$$\lambda_i = i(2+i)$$
 with multiplicity $\frac{(3+i)!}{6i!}$ for $i \ge 0$.

For $h \in L^2(\mathcal{D}_{2R})$, we decompose

$$h(y,t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} h_j(r,t)\Theta_j(y/r), \ r = |y|, \ h_j(r,t) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^3} h(r\theta,t)\Theta_j(\theta)d\theta$$

and write $h = h^0 + h^1 + h^{\perp}$ with

$$h^0 = h_0(r,t), \ h^1 = \sum_{j=1}^4 h_j(r,t)\Theta_j, \ h^\perp = \sum_{j=5}^\infty h_j(r,t)\Theta_j.$$

Also, we decompose $\phi = \phi^0 + \phi^1 + \phi^{\perp}$ in a similar form. Then looking for a solution to problem (2.63) is equivalent to finding the pairs (ϕ^0, h^0) , (ϕ^1, h^1) , $(\phi^{\perp}, h^{\perp})$ in each mode.

The key linear result for the inner problem is stated as follows.

Proposition 2.2. Let the constants $a, \nu, \nu_1 \in (0, 1)$, $a_1 \in (1, 2)$. For T > 0 sufficiently small and any h(y, t) satisfying $\|h\|_{\nu,2+a} < +\infty$, $\|h^1\|_{\nu_1,2+a_1} < +\infty$ and the orthogonality conditions (2.64), there exists a pair (ϕ, e_0) solving (2.63), and $(\phi, e_0) = (\phi[h], e_0[h])$ defines a linear operator of h(y, t) that satisfies the estimates

$$\begin{aligned} &|\phi(y,t)| + (1+|y|)|\nabla\phi(y,t)| \\ \lesssim \ \frac{\lambda_*^{\nu}(t)R^{\delta}}{1+|y|^a} \|h^0\|_{\nu,2+a} + \frac{\lambda_*^{\nu_1}(t)}{1+|y|^{a_1}} \|h^1\|_{\nu_1,2+a_1} + \frac{\lambda_*^{\nu}(t)}{1+|y|^a} \|h^{\perp}\|_{\nu,2+a} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$|e_0[h]| \lesssim ||h||_{\nu,2+a}$$

where $0 \leq \delta < 1$ is small.

In the proof of Proposition 2.2, mode 0 and higher modes can be carried out in a similar manner as in [100, Proposition 7.1] via a careful re-gluing process. The rougher version can be found in [17, Proposition 7.1]. Mode 1 is obtinted by blow-up argument. The restriction $a_1 \in (1, 2)$ is required to guarantee the integrability in the blow up argument at translation mode 1.

If we define the norm

$$\|\phi^0\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} := \sup_{(y,t)\in\mathcal{D}_{2R}} \lambda_*^{-\nu}(t) R^{-\delta} (1+|y|^a) \left[|\phi^0(y,t)| + (1+|y|) |\nabla\phi^0(y,t)| \right],$$
(2.66)

then Proposition 2.2 implies that

$$\|\phi^0\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} \lesssim \|h^0\|_{\nu,2+a}.$$

We shall use the norm (2.66) when we solve the inner-outer gluing system.

The following spectrum gap plays a crucial role in the proof of the above Proposition, In fact, we have

Lemma 2.3. For all sufficiently large R and all radially symmetric $\varphi \in H_0^1(B_R)$ with $\int_{B_{2R}} \varphi Z_0 = 0$, there exists a positive constant γ independent of R such that

$$\int_{B_{2R}} \left(|\nabla \varphi|^2 - pU^{p-1}\varphi^2 \right) \ge \gamma \begin{cases} \frac{1}{R^2} \int_{B_{2R}} \varphi^2, & \text{for } n = 3, \\ \frac{1}{R^2 \log R} \int_{B_{2R}} \varphi^2, & \text{for } n = 4, \\ \frac{1}{R^{n-2}} \int_{B_{2R}} \varphi^2, & \text{for } n \ge 5. \end{cases}$$

Similar estimates for the linearization of harmonic map equation around degree 1 bubble are derived in [99, Lemma 9.2].

• Solving the inner–outer gluing system.

Our aim now is to find a solution $(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi)$ to the inner-outer gluing system such that the desired blow-up solution is constructed. We shall solve the inner-outer gluing system in the function space \mathcal{X} defined in (2.97). We first make some assumptions about the parameter functions. Write

$$\lambda_*(t) = \frac{|\log T|(T-t)|}{|\log(T-t)|^2}$$

and assume that for some numbers $c_1, c_2 > 0$,

$$c_1|\lambda_*(t)| \le |\lambda(t)| \le c_2|\lambda_*(t)|$$
 for all $t \in (0,T)$

For given $\|\phi^0\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta}$, $\|\phi^1\|_{\nu_1,a_1}$, $\|\phi^{\perp}\|_{\nu,a}$, $\|\psi\|_{*}$, $\|Z^*\|_{\infty}$, $\|\lambda\|_F$, $\|\xi\|_G$ bounded, we first estimate right hand sides $\mathcal{G}(\phi,\psi,\lambda,\xi)$ and $\mathcal{H}(\phi,\psi,\lambda,\xi)$ in the inner and outer problems. Here the above norms are defined in (2.66), (2.65), (2.61), (2.95) and (2.96).

The outer problem: estimates of \mathcal{G} .

Consider the outer problem

$$\psi_t = \Delta \psi + \mathcal{G}(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi) \text{ in } \Omega \times (0, T)$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}(\phi,\psi,\lambda,\xi) &:= 3\lambda^{-2}(1-\eta_R)U^2(y)(\Psi_0+\psi+Z^*) \\ &+ \lambda^{-3}\left[(\Delta_y\eta_R)\phi + 2\nabla_y\eta_R\cdot\nabla_y\phi - \lambda^2\phi\partial_t\eta_R\right] \\ &+ (1-\eta_R)\mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi] + (1-\eta_R)\mathcal{N}(\mathbf{w}) \end{aligned}$$

with $\mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi]$ and $\mathcal{N}(w)$ defined in (2.49) and (2.52) respectively.

In order to apply the linear theory Proposition 2.1, we estimate all the terms in $\mathcal{G}(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi)$ in the $\|\cdot\|_{**}$ -norm, defined in (2.60). Direct computations imply that for a fixed number $\epsilon_0 > 0$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{G}\|_{**} \lesssim T^{\epsilon_0} (\|\psi\|_* + \|Z^*\|_{\infty} + \|\phi^0\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} + \|\phi^1\|_{\nu_1,a_1} + \|\phi^{\perp}\|_{\nu,a} \\ &+ \|\lambda\|_{\infty} + \|\xi\|_G + 1) \end{aligned}$$
(2.67)

if the parameters are chosen in the following range

$$\nu - 1 + \beta(2 + \alpha) - \nu_2 > 0, \quad 2\beta - \nu_2 > 0, \quad 0 < \alpha + \delta < a < 1,$$

$$\beta + \nu - \nu_2 > 0, \quad 2\nu_1 - \nu + \beta(2a_1 - \alpha) > 0, \quad \nu_2 < 1,$$

$$2\nu - \nu_2 - 1 + 2\alpha\beta > 0, \quad \nu - \beta(\alpha + 2\delta - 2a) > 0.$$

(2.68)

The inner problem: Estimate of \mathcal{H} .

Consider the inner problem

$$\lambda^2 \phi_t = \Delta_u \phi + 3U^2(y)\phi + \mathcal{H}(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi)$$
 in \mathcal{D}_{2R}

where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{H}(\phi,\psi,\lambda,\xi)(y,t) &:= 3\lambda U^2(y)[\Psi_0 + \psi + Z^*](\lambda y + \xi,t) \\ &+ \lambda \left[\dot{\lambda}(\nabla_y \phi \cdot y + \phi) + \nabla_y \phi \cdot \dot{\xi}\right] \\ &+ \lambda^3 \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{w}) + \lambda^3 \mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi] \end{split}$$

with $\mathcal{N}(\mathbf{w})$ and $\mathcal{K}[\lambda,\xi]$ defined in (2.52) and (2.49).

From the linear theory, we know that for $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^0 + \mathcal{H}^1 + \mathcal{H}^\perp$ satisfying

$$\|\mathcal{H}^0\|_{\nu,2+a}, \|\mathcal{H}^1\|_{\nu_1,2+a_1}, \|\mathcal{H}^\perp\|_{\nu,2+a} < +\infty$$

there exists a solution $(\phi^0, \phi^1, \phi^\perp, c^0, c^\ell)$ $(\ell = 1, \dots, 4)$ solving the projected inner problems

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \phi_t^0 = \Delta_y \phi^0 + 3U^2(y) \phi^0 + \mathcal{H}^0(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi) + c^0 Z_5 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \\ \phi^0(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R}, \end{cases}$$
(2.69)

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \phi_t^1 = \Delta_y \phi^1 + 3U^2(y) \phi^1 + \mathcal{H}^1(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi) + \sum_{\ell=1}^4 c^\ell Z_\ell & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \\ \phi^1(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R}, \end{cases}$$
(2.70)

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \phi_t^{\perp} = \Delta_y \phi^{\perp} + 3U^2(y) \phi^{\perp} + \mathcal{H}^{\perp}(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi) & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \\ \phi^{\perp}(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R}, \end{cases}$$
(2.71)

and the inner solution $\phi[\mathcal{H}] = \phi^0[\mathcal{H}^0] + \phi^1[\mathcal{H}^1] + \phi^\perp[\mathcal{H}^\perp]$ with proper space-time decay can be obtained for the inner-outer gluing to be carried out. We have the following estimate for some fixed $\epsilon_0 > 0$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{H}\|_{\nu,2+a} &\lesssim T^{\epsilon_0} \left(\|\phi^0\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} + \|\phi^1\|_{\nu_1,a_1} + \|\phi^{\perp}\|_{\nu,a} + \|\psi\|_{*} + \|Z^{*}\|_{\infty} \\ &+ \|\lambda\|_{\infty} + \|\xi\|_{G} + 1 \right) \end{aligned}$$
(2.72)

provided

$$0 < \nu < 1, \quad 1 - \beta(2 + \frac{a}{2}) > 0, \quad 1 + \nu_1 - \nu - \beta(2 + a - a_1) > 0,$$

$$1 - 2\beta > 0, \quad \nu - \beta(4 - a) > 0, \quad 2\nu_1 - \nu > 0,$$

$$2 - \nu - a\beta > 0, \quad \nu - \beta(a - 2\alpha) > 0, \quad 2 - \nu - \beta(1 + a) > 0,$$

(2.73)

$$1 - \beta(\delta + 2) > 0, \quad \nu - 2\delta\beta > 0.$$

Similar computations give that for some fixed $\epsilon_0 > 0$

$$\|\mathcal{H}^1\|_{\nu_1,2+a_1} \lesssim T^{\epsilon_0} \left(\|\phi^1\|_{\nu_1,a_1} + \|\psi\|_* + \|Z^*\|_{\infty} + \|\lambda\|_{\infty} + \|\xi\|_G + 1 \right)$$
(2.74)

provided

$$0 < \nu_1 < 1, \quad \nu - \nu_1 + \alpha\beta > 0, \quad 2 - \nu_1 - a_1\beta > 0, 2\nu - \nu_1 + 2\alpha\beta - a_1\beta > 0, \quad 1 - \nu_1 - \beta(a_1 - 1) > 0.$$

• The parameter problems.

From (2.69)–(2.71), it remains to adjust the parameter functions $\lambda(t)$, $\xi(t)$ such that

$$c^{0}[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^{*}] = 0, \ c^{\ell}[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^{*}] = 0, \ \ell = 1,\cdots,4, \ \forall \ t \in (0,T),$$

where

$$c^{0}[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^{*}] = -\frac{\int_{B_{2R}} \mathcal{H}Z_{5} dy}{\int_{B_{2R}} |Z_{5}|^{2} dy},$$
(2.75)

$$c^{\ell}[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^*] = -\frac{\int_{B_{2R}} \mathcal{H}Z_{\ell} dy}{\int_{B_{2R}} |Z_{\ell}|^2 dy} \quad \text{for} \quad \ell = 1, \cdots, 4.$$
(2.76)

It turns out that we can easily achieve at the translation mode (2.76), but the scaling mode (2.75) is more delicate.

We first consider the reduced equation for $\xi(t)$. Observe that (2.76) is equivalent to

$$\int_{B_{2R}} \mathcal{H}(\phi,\psi,\lambda,\xi)(y,t) Z_{\ell}(y) dy = 0, \text{ for all } t \in (0,T), \ \ell = 1,\cdots, 4.$$

and $\xi(t) = (\xi_1(t),\cdots,\xi_4(t)).$ Then for $\ell = 1,\cdots, 4,$

$$\int_{B_{2R}} \mathcal{H}(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi)(y, t) Z_{\ell}(y) dy = 0$$

give that

Write $\Psi^* = \psi + Z^*$

where

$$b_{\ell}[\lambda,\xi,\phi,\Psi^*] = \int_{B_{2R}} \left(\mathcal{H}[\lambda,\xi,\phi,\Psi^*](y,t) - \lambda U_{y\ell}(y)\dot{\xi}_{\ell} \right) Z_{\ell}(y) dy.$$

 $\dot{\xi}_{\ell} = b_{\ell}[\lambda, \xi, \phi, \Psi^*],$

Furthermore, the size of $b_{\ell}[\lambda, \xi, \phi, \Psi^*]$ can be controlled by similarly estimating \mathcal{H} . Next, we analyze the reduced problem (2.77), which defines operators Ξ_{ℓ} ($\ell = 1, \dots, 4$) that return the solutions ξ_{ℓ} ($\ell = 1, \dots, 4$) respectively. Here we write

$$\Xi = (\Xi_1, \Xi_2, \Xi_3, \Xi_4) \tag{2.78}$$

(2.77)

and $\xi(t) = q + \xi^1(t)$ where $q = (q_1, \dots, q_4)$ is a prescribed point in Ω . We shall solve $\xi^1(t)$ under the norm

$$\|\xi\|_G = \|\xi\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T)} + \sup_{t \in (0,T)} \lambda_*^{-\nu}(t)|\dot{\xi}(t)$$

for some fixed $v \in (0, 1)$. From (2.77), we have

$$|\xi_{\ell}(t)| \le |q_{\ell}| + ||b_{\ell}[\lambda,\xi,\phi,\Psi^*]||_{L^{\infty}(0,T)} (T-t).$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$\|\Xi_{\ell}\|_{G} \le |q_{\ell}| + (T-t)^{-\upsilon} \|b_{\ell}[\lambda,\xi,\phi,\Psi^{*}]\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T)}.$$
(2.79)

Since the reduced problem of $\lambda(t)$ is essentially the same as the real part of the reduced problem at mode 0 in [22], we shall follow the strategy and logic in [22, Section 8].

Direct computations show that (2.75) gives a non-local integro-differential equation

$$\int_{-T}^{t} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} \Gamma\left(\frac{\lambda^{2}(t)}{t-s}\right) ds + \mathbf{c_{0}}\dot{\lambda} = a[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^{*}](t) + \mathbf{a}_{r}[\lambda,\xi,\phi,\Psi^{*}](t), \qquad (2.80)$$

where $\mathbf{c_0} = 2\alpha_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \frac{Z_5(y)}{(1+|y|^2)^2} dy$,

$$a[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^*] = -\int_{B_{2R}} 3U^2(y) \left(\Psi_0 + \Psi^*\right) Z_5(y) dy, \qquad (2.81)$$

and the remainder term $\mathbf{a}_r[\lambda, \xi, \phi, \Psi^*](t)$ turns out to be of smaller order and is controlled by

$$\begin{split} &|\mathbf{a}_{r}[\lambda,\xi,\phi,\Psi^{*}](t)|\\ \lesssim \lambda_{*}^{\nu}R^{\delta}\left(|\dot{\lambda}_{*}||\log(T-t)|+|\dot{\xi}|\right)\|\phi^{0}\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} \\ &+\lambda_{*}^{\nu}\left(|\dot{\lambda}_{*}|R^{2-a_{1}}+|\dot{\xi}|\right)\|\phi^{1}\|_{\nu_{1},a_{1}}+\lambda_{*}^{\nu}\left(|\dot{\lambda}_{*}|R^{2-a}+|\dot{\xi}|R^{1-a}\right)\|\phi^{\perp}\|_{\nu,a} \\ &+\lambda_{*}^{2\nu-1}R^{2\delta}\|\phi^{0}\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta}^{2}+\lambda_{*}^{2\nu_{1}-1}\|\phi^{1}\|_{\nu_{1},a_{1}}^{2} \\ &+\lambda_{*}^{2\nu-1}R^{2-2a}\|\phi^{\perp}\|_{\nu,a}^{2}+\lambda_{*}|\dot{\lambda}_{*}|^{2}|\log(T-t)|^{3}+\lambda_{*}|\log(T-t)|\|Z^{*}\|_{\infty}^{2} \\ &+\lambda_{*}(t)|\log(T-t)|\lambda_{*}^{2\nu-2}(0)R^{-2\alpha}(0)|\log T|^{2}\|\psi\|_{*}^{2}. \end{split}$$

To solve $\lambda(t)$, we introduce the following norms

• $\|\cdot\|_{\Theta,l}$ -norm

$$||f||_{\Theta,l} := \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \frac{|\log(T-t)|^l}{(T-t)^{\Theta}} |f(t)|,$$

where $f \in C([-T, T]; \mathbb{R})$ with f(T) = 0, and $\Theta \in (0, 1)$, $l \in \mathbb{R}$. • $[\cdot]_{\gamma,m,l}$ -seminorm

$$[g]_{\gamma,m,l} := \sup_{I_T} \frac{|\log(T-t)|^l}{(T-t)^m (t-s)^{\gamma}} |g(t) - g(s)|$$

where
$$I_T = \{-T \le s \le t \le T : t - s \le \frac{1}{10}(T - t)\}, g \in C([-T, T]; \mathbb{R}) \text{ with } g(T) = 0 \text{ and } 0 < \gamma < 1, m > 0, l \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Also, we define

$$\mathcal{B}_{0}[\lambda](t) := \int_{-T}^{t} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} \Gamma\left(\frac{\lambda^{2}(t)}{t-s}\right) ds + \mathbf{c_{0}}\dot{\lambda}$$
(2.82)

and write

$$c^{0}[\mathcal{H}] = \frac{\mathcal{B}_{0}[\lambda] - (a[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^{*}] + \mathbf{a}_{r}[\lambda,\xi,\phi,\Psi^{*}])}{\int_{B_{2R}} |Z_{5}(y)|^{2} dy}.$$
(2.83)

We invoke a key proposition proved in [22, Proposition 6.5] concerning the solvability of $\lambda(t)$.

Proposition 2.3. Let $\omega, \Theta \in (0, \frac{1}{2}), \gamma \in (0, 1), m \leq \Theta - \gamma$ and $l \in \mathbb{R}$. If a(t) satisfies a(T) < 0 with $1/C \leq |a(T)| \leq C$ for some constant C > 1, and

$$T^{\Theta} |\log T|^{1+c-l} ||a(\cdot) - a(T)||_{\Theta, l-1} + [a]_{\gamma, m, l-1} \le C_1$$
(2.84)

for some c > 0, then there exist two operators \mathcal{P} and \mathcal{R}_0 such that $\lambda = \mathcal{P}[a] : [-T,T] \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies

$$\mathcal{B}_0[\lambda](t) = a(t) + \mathcal{R}_0[a](t) \tag{2.85}$$

with

$$|\mathcal{R}_0[a](t)| \lesssim \left(T^{\frac{1}{2}+c} + T^{\Theta} \frac{\log|\log T|}{|\log T|} \|a(\cdot) - a(T)\|_{\Theta, l-1} + [a]_{\gamma, m, l-1}\right) \frac{(T-t)^{m+(1+\omega)\gamma}}{|\log(T-t)|^l}$$

When applying Proposition 2.3, the Hölder property is essentially inherited from regularity of the outer solution, and this is one of the reasons that we work in the weighted space (2.61).

• The fixed point formulation.

We first transform the inner–outer problems (2.50), (2.53) into the problems of finding solutions $(\psi, \phi^0, \phi^1, \phi^\perp, \lambda, \xi)$ solving the following *inner–outer gluing system*

$$\begin{cases} \psi_t = \Delta \psi + \mathcal{G}(\phi^0 + \phi^1 + \phi^\perp, \psi + Z^*, \lambda, \xi), & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T), \\ \psi = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T), \\ \psi(x, 0) = 0, & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.86)

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \phi_t^0 = \Delta_y \phi^0 + 3U^2(y)\phi^0 + \mathcal{H}^0(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi) + \tilde{c}^0[\mathcal{H}^0] Z_5 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \\ \phi^0(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R}, \end{cases}$$
(2.87)

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^{2}\phi_{t}^{1} = \Delta_{y}\phi^{1} + 3U^{2}(y)\phi^{1} + \mathcal{H}^{1}(\phi,\psi,\lambda,\xi) + \sum_{\ell=1}^{4} c^{\ell}[\mathcal{H}^{1}]Z_{\ell} & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \\ \phi^{1}(\cdot,0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R}, \end{cases}$$
(2.88)

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \phi_t^{\perp} = \Delta_y \phi^{\perp} + 3U^2(y) \phi^{\perp} + \mathcal{H}^{\perp}(\phi, \psi, \lambda, \xi) + c^0_* [\lambda, \xi, \Psi^*] Z_5 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \\ \phi^{\perp}(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R}, \end{cases}$$
(2.89)

$$c^{0}[\mathcal{H}](t) - \tilde{c}^{0}[\lambda, \xi, \Psi^{*}](t) = 0 \text{ for all } t \in (0, T),$$
(2.90)

$$c^{1}[\mathcal{H}](t) = 0 \text{ for all } t \in (0,T),$$
 (2.91)

where \mathcal{G} is defined in (2.54), \mathcal{H}^0 , \mathcal{H}^1 , \mathcal{H}^{\perp} are the projections of \mathcal{H} (see (2.51)) on different modes. It is direct to see that if $(\psi, \phi^0, \phi^1, \phi^{\perp}, \lambda, \xi)$ satisfies the system (2.86)–(2.91), then

$$\Psi^* = \psi + Z^*, \ \phi = \phi^0 + \phi^1 + \phi^{\perp}$$

solve the inner-outer problems (2.50), (2.53) and thus the desired blow-up solution is obtained.

The inner-outer gluing system (2.86)-(2.91) can be then formulated as a fixed point problem for operators we will describe below.

We first define the following function spaces

$$X_{\phi^{0}} := \left\{ \phi^{0} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}) : \nabla_{y} \phi^{0} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}), \|\phi^{0}\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} < +\infty \right\}, X_{\phi^{1}} := \left\{ \phi^{1} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}) : \nabla_{y} \phi^{1} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}), \|\phi^{1}\|_{\nu_{1},a_{1}} < +\infty \right\}, X_{\phi^{\perp}} := \left\{ \phi^{\perp} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}) : \nabla_{y} \phi^{\perp} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}), \|\phi^{\perp}\|_{\nu,a} < +\infty \right\}, X_{\psi} := \left\{ \psi \in L^{\infty}(\Omega \times (0,T)) : \|\psi\|_{*} < +\infty \right\}.$$

$$(2.92)$$

In order to introduce the space for the parameter function $\lambda(t)$, we recall from (2.82) that the integral operator \mathcal{B}_0 takes the following approximate form

$$\mathcal{B}_0[\lambda] = \int_{-T}^{t-\lambda_*^2(t)} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds + O(\|\dot{\lambda}\|_{\infty}).$$

Proposition 2.3 defines an approximate inverse operator \mathcal{P} of the integral operator \mathcal{B}_0 such that for a satisfying (2.84), $\lambda := \mathcal{P}[a]$ satisfies

$$\mathcal{B}_0[\lambda] = a + \mathcal{R}_0[a] \quad \text{in} \quad [-T, T],$$

where $\mathcal{R}_0[a]$ is a small remainder. Also, the proof as in [22, Proposition 6.6] implies a refined decomposition

$$\mathcal{P}[a] = \lambda_{0,\kappa} + \mathcal{P}_1[a] \tag{2.93}$$

with

$$\lambda_{0,\kappa} := \kappa |\log T| \int_t^T \frac{1}{|\log(T-s)|^2} ds, \ t \le T,$$

 $\kappa = \kappa[a] \in \mathbb{R}$, and the function $\lambda_1 = \mathcal{P}_1[a]$ satisfies

$$\|\lambda_1\|_{*,3-\iota} \lesssim |\log T|^{1-\iota} \log^2(|\log T|)$$
(2.94)

for $0 < \iota < 1$, where the $\|\cdot\|_{*,3-\iota}$ -norm is defined by

$$||f||_{*,k} := \sup_{t \in [-T,T]} |\log(T-t)|^k |\dot{f}(t)|.$$

Therefore, we define

$$X_{\lambda} := \{\lambda_1 \in C^1([-T,T]) : \lambda_1(T) = 0, \|\lambda_1\|_{*,3-\iota} < \infty\}$$

Here by (κ, λ_1) we represent λ in the form

$$\lambda = \lambda_{0,\kappa} + \lambda_1$$

and from [22, Proposition 6.6], one can write the norm

$$\|\lambda\|_F = |\kappa| + \|\lambda_1\|_{*,3-\iota}.$$
(2.95)

For the translation parameter function $\xi(t)$, we write $\xi(t) = q + \xi^1(t)$ and define the following space for $\xi^1(t)$

$$X_{\xi} = \left\{ \xi \in C^1((0,T); \mathbb{R}^4), \ \dot{\xi}(T) = 0, \ \|\xi\|_G < +\infty \right\}$$

with

$$\|\xi\|_G = \|\xi\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T)} + \sup_{t \in (0,T)} \lambda_*^{-\nu}(t) |\dot{\xi}(t)|$$
(2.96)

for some fixed $v \in (0, 1)$.

Define

$$\mathcal{X} = X_{\phi^0} \times X_{\phi^1} \times X_{\phi^\perp} \times X_{\psi} \times \mathbb{R} \times X_{\lambda} \times X_{\xi}.$$
(2.97)

We will solve the inner–outer gluing system in a closed ball $\mathcal B$ in which

$$(\phi^0, \phi^1, \phi^\perp, \psi, \kappa, \lambda_1, \xi^1) \in \mathcal{X}$$

satisfies

with

$$\begin{cases} \|\phi^{0}\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} + \|\phi^{1}\|_{\nu_{1},a_{1}} + \|\phi^{\perp}\|_{\nu,a} \leq 1 \\ \|\psi\|_{*} \leq 1 \\ |\kappa - \kappa_{0}| \leq |\log T|^{-1/2} \\ \|\lambda_{1}\|_{*,3-\iota} \leq C |\log T|^{1-\iota} \log^{2}(|\log T|) \\ \|\xi\|_{G} \leq 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(2.98)$$

for some large and fixed constant C, where $\kappa_0 = Z_0^*(0)$. The inner-outer gluing system (2.86)–(2.91) can be formulated as the following fixed point problem. We define an operator \mathcal{F} which returns the solution from \mathcal{B} to \mathcal{X}

$$\mathcal{F}:\mathcal{B}\subset\mathcal{X}\ \rightarrow\mathcal{X}$$

$$v \mapsto \mathcal{F}(v) = (\mathcal{F}_{\phi^0}(v), \mathcal{F}_{\phi^1}(v), \mathcal{F}_{\phi^\perp}(v), \mathcal{F}_{\psi}(v), \mathcal{F}_{\kappa}(v), \mathcal{F}_{\lambda_1}(v), \mathcal{F}_{\xi}(v))$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\phi^0}(\phi^0, \phi^1, \phi^\perp, \psi, \kappa, \lambda_1, \xi^1) = \mathcal{T}_0(\mathcal{H}^0[\lambda, \xi, \Psi^*])$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\phi^\perp}(\phi^0, \phi^1, \phi^\perp, \psi, \kappa, \lambda_1, \xi^1) = \mathcal{T}_1(\mathcal{H}^1[\lambda, \xi, \Psi^*])$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\phi^\perp}(\phi^0, \phi^1, \phi^\perp, \psi, \kappa, \lambda_1, \xi^1) = \mathcal{T}_{\perp} \left(\mathcal{H}^\perp[\lambda, \xi, \Psi^*] + c^0_*[\lambda, \xi, \Psi^*]Z_5\right)$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\psi}(\phi^0, \phi^1, \phi^\perp, \psi, \kappa, \lambda_1, \xi^1) = \mathcal{T}_{\psi} \left(\mathcal{G}(\phi^0 + \phi^1 + \phi^\perp, \Psi^*, \lambda, \xi)\right)$$
(2.99)

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\kappa}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1}) &= \kappa \left[a^{0}[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^{*}] \right] \\ \mathcal{F}_{\lambda_{1}}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1}) &= \mathcal{P}_{1} \left[a^{0}[\lambda,\xi,\Psi^{*}] \right] \\ \mathcal{F}_{\xi}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1}) &= \Xi(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\lambda,\xi). \end{aligned}$$

Here \mathcal{T}_0 , \mathcal{T}_1 and \mathcal{T}_{\perp} are the operators given in Proposition 2.2 which solve different modes of the inner problems (2.87)–(2.89). The operator \mathcal{T}_{ψ} defined by Proposition 2.1 deals with the outer problem (2.86). Operators $\kappa[a]$, \mathcal{P}_1 and Ξ handle the equations for λ and ξ which are defined in Proposition 2.3, (2.93) and (2.78), respectively.

• Choices of constants.

We list all the constraints of the constants β , α , a, a_1 , ν , ν_1 , ν_2 , δ which are sufficient for the inner-outer gluing scheme to work.

First, we indicate all the parameters used in different norms.

• $R(t) = \lambda_*^{-\beta}(t)$ with $\beta \in (0, 1/2)$.

- The norm for ϕ^0 solving mode 0 of the inner problem (2.87) is $\|\cdot\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta}$ which is defined in (2.66), where we require that $\nu, a \in (0, 1)$ and $\delta \geq 0$ small enough.
- The norm for ϕ^1 solving modes 1 to 4 of the inner problem (2.88) is $\|\cdot\|_{\nu_1,a_1}$ which is defined in (2.65), where we require that $\nu_1 \in (0,1)$ and $a_1 \in (1,2)$.
- The norm for ϕ^{\perp} solving higher modes $(j \ge 5)$ of the inner problem (2.89) is $\|\cdot\|_{\nu,a}$ which is defined in (2.65), where $\nu, a \in (0, 1)$.
- The norm for ψ solving the outer problem (2.86) is $\|\cdot\|_*$ which is defined in (2.61), while the $\|\cdot\|_{**}$ norm for the right hand side of the outer problem (2.86) is defined in (2.60). Here we require that $\nu, \alpha, \nu_2, \gamma \in (0, 1)$.
- In Proposition 2.3, we have the parameters $\omega, \Theta, m, l, \gamma$. Here ω is the parameter used to describe the remainder \mathcal{R}_{ω} and $\omega \in (0, 1/2)$. To apply Proposition 2.3 in our setting, we let

$$\Theta=\nu-1+\alpha\beta,\ m=\nu-2-\gamma+\beta(2+\alpha),\ l<1+2m,$$

and require that $\beta > \frac{1-\omega}{2}$ such that $m + (1+\omega)\gamma > \Theta$ is guaranteed.

In order to get the desired estimates for the outer problem (2.86), we need

$$\begin{split} \nu &-1 + \beta(2+\alpha) - \nu_2 > 0, \quad 2\beta - \nu_2 > 0, \quad 0 < \alpha < a < 1, \\ \beta + \nu - \nu_2 > 0, \quad 2\nu_1 - \nu + \beta(2a_1 - \alpha) > 0, \quad \nu_2 < 1, \\ 2\nu - \nu_2 - 1 + 2\alpha\beta > 0, \quad \nu - \beta(\alpha + 2\delta - 2a) > 0. \end{split}$$

In order to get the desired estimates for the inner problems at different modes (2.87)-(2.89), we require

$$\begin{array}{ll} 0<\nu<1, & 1-\beta(2+\frac{a}{2})>0, & 1+\nu_1-\nu-\beta(2+a-a_1)>\\ 1-2\beta>0, & \nu-\beta(4-a)>0, & 2\nu_1-\nu>0,\\ 2-\nu-a\beta>0, & \nu-\beta(a-2\alpha)>0, & 2-\nu-\beta(1+a)>0,\\ 1-\beta(\delta+2)>0, & \nu-2\delta\beta>0,\\ 0<\nu_1<1, & \nu-\nu_1+\alpha\beta>0, & 2-\nu_1-a_1\beta>0,\\ 2\nu-\nu_1+2\alpha\beta-a_1\beta>0, & 1-\nu_1-\beta(a_1-1)>0. \end{array}$$

It turns out that suitable choices of the parameters satisfying all the restrictions in this section can be found. Here we give a specific example:

$$\beta \approx \frac{1}{4} \ (\beta > \frac{1}{4}), \ \alpha \approx a \approx a_1 \approx 1, \ \nu \approx \nu_1 \approx 1, \ \nu_2 \approx 0, \ \delta \approx 0.$$

• Proof of Theorem 2.

Consider the operator

$$\mathcal{F} = (\mathcal{F}_{\phi^0}, \mathcal{F}_{\phi^1}, \mathcal{F}_{\phi^\perp}, \mathcal{F}_{\psi}, \mathcal{F}_{\kappa}, \mathcal{F}_{\lambda_1}, \mathcal{F}_{\xi}) \tag{2.100}$$

0,

given in (2.99). To prove Theorem 2, our strategy is to show the existence of a fixed point for the operator \mathcal{F} in \mathcal{B} by the Schauder fixed point theorem, where the closed ball \mathcal{B} is defined in (2.98). By collecting the estimates (2.67), (2.72), (2.74), (2.79), (2.94), and using Proposition 2.1, Proposition 2.2, Proposition 2.3, we conclude that for $(\phi^0, \phi^1, \phi^\perp, \psi, \kappa, \lambda_1, \xi^1) \in \mathcal{B}$

$$\begin{cases} \|\mathcal{F}_{\phi^{0}}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1})\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} \leq CT^{\epsilon} \\ \|\mathcal{F}_{\phi^{1}}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1})\|_{\nu_{1},a_{1}} \leq CT^{\epsilon} \\ \|\mathcal{F}_{\phi^{\perp}}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1})\|_{\nu,a} \leq CT^{\epsilon} \\ \|\mathcal{F}_{\psi}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1})\|_{*} \leq CT^{\epsilon} \\ |\mathcal{F}_{\kappa}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1})-\kappa_{0}| \leq C|\log T|^{-1} \\ \|\mathcal{F}_{\lambda_{1}}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1})\|_{*,3-\iota} \leq C|\log T|^{1-\iota}\log^{2}(|\log T|) \\ \|\mathcal{F}_{\xi}(\phi^{0},\phi^{1},\phi^{\perp},\psi,\kappa,\lambda_{1},\xi^{1})\|_{G} \leq CT^{\epsilon} \end{cases}$$

$$(2.101)$$

where C > 0 is a constant independent of T, and $\epsilon > 0$ is a small fixed number. On the other hand, compactness of the operator \mathcal{F} defined in (2.100) can be proved by proper variants of (2.101). Therefore, the existence of the desired blow-up solution for k = 1 is concluded from the Schauder fixed point theorem.

The proof of multi-bubble case follows similarly by taking the ansatz (2.39) with nonlocal corrections supported around each concentration zone added.

3. HARMONIC MAP HEAT FLOW AND LANDAU-LIFSHITZ-GILBERT EQUATION

In this section, we are going to revisit the finite-time singularity formation for the harmonic map heat flow (HMF) and the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation (LLG). We now briefly introduce the models and background.

Let \mathcal{M} be a *m*-dimensional Riemannian manifold of the metric g and S^2 be the 2-sphere embedded in \mathbb{R}^3 . The Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation (LLG) on \mathcal{M} is given by

$$\begin{cases} u_t = -au \wedge (u \wedge \Delta_{\mathcal{M}} u) - bu \wedge \Delta_{\mathcal{M}} u & \text{in } \mathcal{M} \times (0, T) \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 \in S^2 & \text{in } \mathcal{M}, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where $a^2 + b^2 = 1$, $a \ge 0$, $b \in \mathbb{R}$, $\Delta_{\mathcal{M}} u = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \partial_{x_\beta} (g^{\alpha\beta} \sqrt{g} \partial_{x_\alpha} u)$ is the Laplace-Beltrami operator and $u = [u_1, u_2, u_3]^{\text{tr}}$ is a 3-vector with normalized length which is a mapping $u(x, t) : \mathcal{M} \times (0, T) \to S^2$. First formulated by Landau and Lifshitz [64] in 1935, LLG (3.1) is an important system modeling the effects of a magnetic field on ferromagnetic materials in micromagnetics, and it describes the evolution of spin fields in continuum ferromagnetism. See also Gilbert [45]. LLG (3.1) can be viewed as a bridge between the harmonic map flow (HMF) when a = 1, b = 0 and the Schrödinger map flow (SMF) when a = 0, b = -1.

In the context of HMF, Struwe [89] proved the existence and uniqueness of weak solution with at most finitely many singular points when \mathcal{M} is a Riemann surface. See [37] for further generalizations and [11, 90] for higher dimensional cases. Chang, Ding and Ye [9] first proved the existence of finite time blow-up solutions for HMF from disk into S^2 . See also [10, 16, 33, 66, 80, 81, 93, 96] and the references therein. In [94], van den Berg, Hulshof and King used formal analysis to predict the existence of blow-up solutions with quantized rates

$$\lambda_k(t) \sim \frac{|T - t|^k}{|\ln(T - t)|^{\frac{2k}{2k - 1}}}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}^+$$
(3.2)

for the two-dimensional HMF into S^2 . For the case $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^2$ and the target manifold is a revolution surface, using degree 1 harmonic map Q_1 as the building block, Raphaël and Schweyer [83, 84] constructed finite time blow-up solutions with rates (3.2) for all $k \geq 1$ in the equivariant class, where the initial data can be taken arbitrarily close to Q_1 in the energy-critical topology. For the case that $\mathcal{M} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is a general bounded domain, Dávila, del Pino and Wei [22] constructed solutions which blow up at finite many points with the type II rate (3.2) for k = 1, and they further investigated the stability and reverse bubbling phenomena. The construction in [22] can be generalized to the case $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^2$.

On the other hand, for SMF with $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^2$, Merle, Raphaël and Rodnianski [73] constructed the finite time blow-up solution with the rate (3.2) for k = 1 in the 1-equivariant class. Analogous to the results in Krieger-Schlag-Tataru [59] for wave maps, Perelman [77] constructed finite time blow-up solutions with continuous rates. See also [5, 6, 7, 8, 56] and the references therein for the global well-posedness results and the dynamics of SMF near ground state.

For LLG, in the case $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^3$, a > 0, Alouges and Soyeur [1] proved the existence of weak solutions for (3.1) and constructed infinitely many weak solutions. The existence for the weak solution to LLG has been established by Guo and Hong [46, Theorem 4.2] when \mathcal{M} is a closed Riemannian manifold with $m \geq 3$, while for the case that \mathcal{M} is a closed Riemannian surface, the weak solution was shown to be unique and regular except for at most finitely many points [46, Theorem 3.13]. When $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^2$ and the target manifold is a smooth closed surface embedded in \mathbb{R}^3 , approximation by discretization was used in [58] to construct a solution of LLG which is smooth away from a two-dimensional locally finite Hausdorff measure. In general, one cannot expect good partial regularity results for weak solutions in the higher dimensional case $m \geq 3$ without further regularity or energy minimizing assumptions. See the famous example by Rivière [85], where weakly harmonic maps from the ball $B^3 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ into S^2 were constructed for which the singular set Sing u is the closed ball $\overline{B^3}$, and this result can be generalized to higher dimensions. In a similar spirit to the existence results for partially regular solution for HMF in higher dimensions of Chen and Struwe [11], Melcher [71] proved that for $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^m$ (m = 3)

there exists a global weak solution whose singular set has finite 3-dimensional parabolic Hausdorff measure. Later, this result was generalized to $m \leq 4$ by Wang [97]. With the additional stability assumption for the weak solution, for $m \leq 4$, Moser [76] proved better estimate for the singular set. The partial regularity of LLG (3.1) for $m \geq 5$ still remains open.

For $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^m$, the global existence, uniqueness and decay properties for the solution of (3.1) were established by Melcher [72] for $m \geq 3$ with initial data u_0 close to a fixed point in S^2 in the L^m norm. Lin, Lai and Wang [67] generalized the result to Morrey space and $m \geq 2$. For u_0 away from a fixed point in S^2 with BMO semi-norm sufficiently small, Gutiérrez and de Laire [50] proved the global existence, uniqueness and regularity results for LLG.

The study of the dynamics for LLG with initial data close to harmonic maps is of special significance and can provide hints on the mechanism of singularity formation. A series of works by Gustafson, Kang, Nakanishi and Tsai [47, 48, 49] are devoted to the behavior of the solutions to LLG with $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^2$ with initial data u_0 close to the harmonic map in the *n*-equivariant class. They found, among other things, that there is no finite time blow-up for LLG and HMF with u_0 close to *n*-equivariant harmonic maps for $n \geq 3$ and n = 2, respectively. See [49, Theorem 1.1], [49, Theorem 1.2].

The singularity formation for LLG is an important and challenging topic. For the case that \mathcal{M} is a compact manifold with or without boundary in dimensions m = 3, 4, Ding and Wang [32] obtained the existence of a smooth finite time blow-up solution for LLG. For $\mathcal{M} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, as an analogue of Qing [80] for HMF, Harpes [53] gave descriptions of solutions to LLG (3.1) near the singular points. For the energy critical case that \mathcal{M} is a disk in \mathbb{R}^2 , in an interesting paper [95], van den Berg and Williams predicted the existence of finite time blow-up by formal asymptotic analysis supported with numerical simulations. For $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^2$, Xu and Zhao [101] rigorously constructed a finite time blow-up solution to (3.1) in the 1-equivariant class.

One of the versatilities of the systematic gluing method is that it does not rely on any symmetry assumptions, and thus the construction can be done in a general non-radially symmetric setting. Our main theorems for multi-bubble blow-ups for HMF and LLG are given as below.

Theorem 3. Given points $q = (q_1, \ldots, q_k) \in \Omega^k$ and any sufficiently small T > 0, there exist u_0 such the solution $u_a(x,t)$ of problem

$$u_t = \Delta u + |\nabla u|^2 u \quad in \ \Omega \times (0, T) \tag{3.3}$$

$$u = [0, 0, 1]^{\mathsf{tr}} \quad on \ \partial\Omega \times (0, T) \tag{3.4}$$

$$u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 \quad in \ \Omega \tag{3.5}$$

blows-up at exactly those k points as $t \uparrow T$. More precisely, there exist numbers $\kappa_i^* > 0$, α_i^* and a function $u_* \in H^1(\Omega) \cap C(\overline{\Omega})$ such that

$$u_q(x,t) - u_*(x) - \sum_{j=1}^k e^{J\alpha_i^*} \left[W\left(\frac{x-q_i}{\lambda_i}\right) - W(\infty) \right] \to 0 \quad as \quad t \to T,$$
(3.6)

in the H^1 and uniform senses in Ω where

$$\lambda_i(t) = \kappa_i^* \frac{T - t}{|\log(T - t)|^2} (1 + o(1)) \quad as \quad t \to T.$$
(3.7)

In particular, we have

$$|\nabla u(\cdot, t)|^2 \rightharpoonup |\nabla u_*|^2 + 8\pi \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} \delta_{q_j} \quad as \quad t \to T$$

as a weak-star convergence of Radon measure.

Remark 3.1. The same construction works for the Cauchy problem in the entire space \mathbb{R}^2 as well.

We consider the LLG equation with target manifold S^2 and domain $\mathcal{M} = \mathbb{R}^2$, and positive damping parameter a > 0

$$\begin{cases} u_t = a(\Delta u + |\nabla u|^2 u) - bu \wedge \Delta u & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2 \times (0, T), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 \in S^2 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2. \end{cases}$$
(3.8)

We are interested in the case of *multiple bubbles* to LLG (3.8) in the general *non-radially symmetric setting*. Our construction is based on the following degree 1 profile

$$W(y) = \frac{1}{|y|^2 + 1} \begin{bmatrix} 2y_1 \\ 2y_2 \\ |y|^2 - 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad y = (y_1, y_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2,$$

and clearly

$$Q_{\gamma}W\left(\frac{x-\xi}{\lambda}\right)$$

solves the stationary equation of LLG (3.8) for any $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $\lambda > 0$, and any γ -rotation matrix around z-axis

$$Q_{\gamma} := \begin{bmatrix} \cos \gamma & -\sin \gamma & 0\\ \sin \gamma & \cos \gamma & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Let us define $U_{\infty} = [0, 0, 1]^{\text{tr}}$, and $U_{\infty} = W(\infty)$. Our main result is stated as follows.

Theorem 4. For any prescribed N distinct points $q^{[j]} \in \mathbb{R}^2$, j = 1, 2, ..., N, $N \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and T sufficiently small, there exists a smooth initial data u_0 such that the gradient of the solution u to LLG (3.8) with a > 0 blows up at these N points at finite time t = T. More precisely, the solution u takes the sharply scaled degree 1 profile around each point $q^{[j]}$

$$u(x,t) = -(N-1)U_{\infty} + \sum_{j=1}^{N} Q_{\gamma_j} W\left(\frac{x-\xi^{[j]}}{\lambda_j}\right) + \Phi_{\text{per}}$$

with

$$\lambda_j(t) = \kappa_j^* \lambda_*(t)(1+o(1)), \quad \lambda_*(t) = \frac{|\ln T|(T-t)}{|\ln (T-t)|^2}, \quad \xi^{[j]}(t) = q^{[j]} + o(1), \quad \gamma_j(t) = \gamma_j^*(1+o(1))$$

where $o(1) \to 0$ as $t \to T$; $\kappa_j^* > 0$, $\gamma_j^* \in \mathbb{R}$; the leading part of κ_j^* is determined by ∇u_0 and independent of a, b; the leading part of γ_j^* is determined by ∇u_0 and a, b; $\|\Phi_{\mathrm{per}}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,T))} \ll 1$, and $\lambda_*(t) \|\nabla \Phi_{\mathrm{per}}(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)} \lesssim \lambda_*^{\epsilon}(t)$ for $\epsilon > 0$ small. Moreover,

$$u(x,t) - u_*(x) - \sum_{j=1}^N Q_{\gamma_j} \left[W\left(\frac{x - \xi^{[j]}}{\lambda_j}\right) - W(\infty) \right] \to 0 \quad as \quad t \to T$$

in $H^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^2) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ for some $u_*(x) \in H^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^2) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$, and in particular,

$$|\nabla u(\cdot,t)|^2 \, dx \rightharpoonup |\nabla u_*|^2 \, dx + 8\pi \sum_{j=1}^N \delta_{q^{[j]}} \quad as \quad t \to T$$

as weak-star convergence of Radon measure.

Remark 3.2.

- The positivity of the damping term (a) plays a crucial role in our construction.
- In fact, due to the method employed, the construction works equally well for the case of smooth, bounded domain Ω ⊂ ℝ² as long as the technical ingredient in [34] can be generalized to general domains with proper boundary conditions.

3.1. Harmonic map heat flow. We sketch the construction of Theorem 7.

• The 1-corrotational harmonic maps and their linearized operator.

The harmonic map equation for functions $U: \mathbb{R}^2 \to S^2$ is the elliptic problem

$$\Delta U + |\nabla U|^2 U \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2, \quad |U| = 1.$$
(3.9)

For $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$, $\lambda > 0$, we consider the family of solutions of (3.9) given by the following 1-corrotational harmonic maps

$$U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}(x) := Q_{\omega} W\left(\frac{x-\xi}{\lambda}\right),$$

where W is the canonical least energy harmonic map

$$W(y) = \frac{1}{1+|y|^2} \begin{pmatrix} 2y \\ |y|^2 - 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^2,$$

and Q_{ω} is the ω -rotation matrix

$$Q_{\omega} := \begin{bmatrix} \cos \omega & -\sin \omega & 0\\ \sin \omega & \cos \omega & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The linearized operator for (3.9) around $U = U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}$ is the elliptic operator

$$L_U[\varphi] = \Delta \varphi + |\nabla U|^2 \varphi + 2(\nabla \varphi \cdot \nabla U)U.$$

Differentiating U with respect to each of its parameters we obtain functions that annihilate this operator, namely solutions of $L_U[\varphi] = 0$. Setting $y = \frac{x-\xi}{\lambda}$, these functions are

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\lambda}U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}(x) &= \frac{1}{\lambda}Q_{\omega}\nabla W(y) \cdot y, \\ \partial_{\omega}U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}(x) &= (\partial_{\omega}Q_{\omega})W(y) \\ \partial_{\xi_j}U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}(x) &= \frac{1}{\lambda}Q_{\omega}\partial_{y_j}W(y). \end{split}$$

We observe that

$$(\partial_{\omega}Q_{\omega}) = Q_{\omega}J_0, \quad J_0 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

We can represent W(y) in polar coordinates,

$$W(y) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\theta} \sin w(\rho) \\ \cos w(\rho) \end{pmatrix}, \quad w(\rho) = \pi - 2\arctan(\rho), \quad y = \rho e^{i\theta}.$$

We notice that

$$w_{\rho} = -\frac{2}{1+\rho^2}, \quad \sin w = -\rho w_{\rho} = \frac{2\rho}{1+\rho^2}, \quad \cos w = \frac{\rho^2 - 1}{1+\rho^2},$$

and derive the alternative expressions

$$\partial_{\lambda}U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}(x) = \frac{1}{\lambda}Q_{\omega}Z_{01}(y), \qquad Z_{01}(y) = \rho w_{\rho}(\rho) E_{1}(y)$$

$$\partial_{\omega}U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}(x) = Q_{\omega}Z_{02}(y), \qquad Z_{02}(y) = \rho w_{\rho}(\rho) E_{2}(y)$$

$$\partial_{\xi_{j}}U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}(x) = \frac{1}{\lambda}Q_{\omega}Z_{11}(y), \qquad Z_{11}(y) = w_{\rho}(\rho) [\cos\theta E_{1}(y) + \sin\theta E_{2}(y)]$$

$$\partial_{\xi_{j}}U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}(x) = \frac{1}{\lambda}Q_{\omega}Z_{12}(y), \qquad Z_{12}(y) = w_{\rho}(\rho) [\sin\theta E_{1}(y) - \cos\theta E_{2}(y)], \qquad (3.10)$$

where

$$E_1(y) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\theta} \cos w(\rho) \\ -\sin w(\rho) \end{pmatrix}, \quad E_2(y) = \begin{pmatrix} ie^{i\theta} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The relation $|U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}| = 1$ implies that all the functions Z_{ij} are pointwise orthogonal to $U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega}$. In fact the vectors $E_1(y)$, $E_2(y)$ constitute an orthonormal basis of the tangent space to S^2 at the point W(y).

We have $L_W[Z_{lj}] = 0$ where for a function $\phi(y)$ we define

$$L_W[\phi] = \Delta_y \phi + |\nabla W(y)|^2 \phi + 2(\nabla W(y) \cdot \nabla \phi) W(y).$$

In addition to the elements (3.10) in the kernel of L_W there are also two other relevant functions in the kernel, namely

$$Z_{-1,1} = \rho^2 w_{\rho}(\rho) (\cos \theta E_1 - \sin \theta E_2)$$

$$Z_{-1,2} = \rho^2 w_{\rho}(\rho) (\sin \theta E_1 + \cos \theta E_2).$$
(3.11)

It is worth noticing the connection between this operator and L_U which is given by

$$L_U[\varphi] = \frac{1}{\lambda^2} Q_\omega L_W[\phi], \quad \varphi(x) = \phi(y), \quad y = \frac{x - \xi}{\lambda}.$$

• The linearized operator at functions orthogonal to U. It will be especially significant to compute the action of L_U on functions with values pointwise orthogonal to U. In what remains of this section we will derive various formulas that will be very useful later on.

For an arbitrary function $\Phi(x)$ with values in \mathbb{R}^3 we denote

$$\Pi_{U^{\perp}} \Phi := \Phi - (\Phi \cdot U)U$$

A direct computation shows the validity following:

$$L_U[\Pi_{U^{\perp}}\Phi] = \Pi_{U^{\perp}}\Delta\Phi + \tilde{L}_U[\Phi]$$

where

$$\tilde{L}_U[\Phi] := |\nabla U|^2 \Pi_{U^{\perp}} \Phi - 2\nabla (\Phi \cdot U) \nabla U,$$

and

$$\nabla (\Phi \cdot U) \nabla U = \partial_{x_i} (\Phi \cdot U) \, \partial_{x_i} U$$

A very convenient expression for $\tilde{L}_U[\Phi]$ is obtained if we use polar coordinates. Writing in complex notation

$$\Phi(x) = \Phi(r,\theta), \quad x = \xi + re^{i\theta},$$

we find

$$\tilde{L}_U[\Phi] = -\frac{2}{\lambda} w_\rho(\rho) \left[(\Phi_r \cdot U) Q_\omega E_1 - \frac{1}{r} (\Phi_\theta \cdot U) Q_\omega E_2 \right], \quad \rho = \frac{r}{\lambda}.$$
(3.12)

We single out two consequences of formula (3.12) which will be crucial for later purposes. Let us assume that $\Phi(x)$ is a C^1 function $\Phi: \Omega \to \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}$, which we express in the form

$$\Phi(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi_1(x) + i\varphi_2(x) \\ \varphi_3(x) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.13)

We also denote

$$\varphi = \varphi_1 + i\varphi_2, \quad \bar{\varphi} = \varphi_1 - i\varphi_2$$

and define the operators

div
$$\varphi = \partial_{x_1} \varphi_1 + \partial_{x_2} \varphi_2$$
, curl $\varphi = \partial_{x_1} \varphi_2 - \partial_{x_2} \varphi_1$.

We have the validity of the following formula

$$\tilde{L}_{U}[\Phi] = \tilde{L}_{U}[\Phi]_{0} + \tilde{L}_{U}[\Phi]_{1} + \tilde{L}_{U}[\Phi]_{2} , \qquad (3.14)$$

where

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{L}_{U}[\Phi]_{0} = \lambda^{-1}\rho w_{\rho}^{2} \left[\operatorname{div}(e^{-i\omega}\varphi) Q_{\omega}E_{1} + \operatorname{curl}(e^{-i\omega}\varphi) Q_{\omega}E_{2} \right] \\ \tilde{L}_{U}[\Phi]_{1} = -2\lambda^{-1}w_{\rho}\cos w \left[\left(\partial_{x_{1}}\varphi_{3}\right)\cos\theta + \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi_{3}\right)\sin\theta \right] Q_{\omega}E_{1} \\ -2\lambda^{-1}w_{\rho}\cos w \left[\left(\partial_{x_{1}}\varphi_{3}\right)\sin\theta - \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi_{3}\right)\cos\theta \right] Q_{\omega}E_{2} \right] \\ \tilde{L}_{U}[\Phi]_{2} = \lambda^{-1}\rho w_{\rho}^{2} \left[\operatorname{div}(e^{i\omega}\bar{\varphi})\cos 2\theta - \operatorname{curl}(e^{i\omega}\bar{\varphi})\sin 2\theta \right] Q_{\omega}E_{1} \\ + \lambda^{-1}\rho w_{\rho}^{2} \left[\operatorname{div}(e^{i\omega}\bar{\varphi})\sin 2\theta + \operatorname{curl}(e^{i\omega}\bar{\varphi})\cos 2\theta \right] Q_{\omega}E_{2}. \end{cases}$$
(3.15)

Another corollary of formula (3.12) that we single out is the following: assume that

$$\Phi(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \phi(r)e^{i\theta} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad x = \xi + re^{i\theta}, \quad \rho = \frac{r}{\lambda}$$

where $\phi(r)$ is complex valued. Then

$$\tilde{L}_{U}[\Phi] = \frac{2}{\lambda} w_{\rho}(\rho)^{2} \left[\operatorname{Re}\left(e^{-i\omega}\partial_{r}\phi(r)\right)Q_{\omega}E_{1} + \frac{1}{r}\operatorname{Im}\left(e^{-i\omega}\phi(r)\right)Q_{\omega}E_{2} \right].$$
(3.16)

A final result in this section is a computation (in polar coordinates) of the operator L_U acting on a function of the form

$$\Phi(x) = \varphi_1(\rho, \theta) Q_\omega E_1 + \varphi_2(\rho, \theta) Q_\omega E_2, \quad x = \xi + \lambda \rho e^{i\theta}.$$

We have:

$$\begin{split} L_U[\Phi] &= \lambda^{-2} \left(\partial_\rho^2 \varphi_1 + \frac{\partial_\rho \varphi_1}{\rho} + \frac{\partial_\theta^2 \varphi_1}{\rho^2} + (2w_\rho^2 - \frac{1}{\rho^2})\varphi_1 - \frac{2}{\rho^2} \partial_\theta \varphi_2 \cos w \right) \, Q_\omega E_1 \\ &+ \lambda^{-2} \left(\partial_\rho^2 \varphi_2 + \frac{\partial_\rho \varphi_2}{\rho} + \frac{\partial_\theta^2 \varphi_2}{\rho^2} + (2w_\rho^2 - \frac{1}{\rho^2})\varphi_2 + \frac{2}{\rho^2} \partial_\theta \varphi_1 \cos w \right) \, Q_\omega E_2. \end{split}$$

• The ansatz for a blowing-up solution.

In what follows we shall closely follow notation and computational formulas derived in the previous sections, here applied in a time-dependent framework. Thus we consider the semilinear parabolic equation

$$u_t = \Delta u + |\nabla u|^2 u \quad \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T) \tag{3.17}$$

$$u = u_{\partial\Omega} \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0,T)$$

$$(3.18)$$

$$(\cdot, 0) = u_0 \quad \text{in } \Omega \tag{3.19}$$

for a function $u: \bar{\Omega} \times [0,T) \to S^2$. Here $u_0: \bar{\Omega} \to S^2$ is a given smooth map and

11

$$u_{\partial\Omega} = u_0 \big|_{\partial\Omega} \equiv \mathbf{e_3} \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega.$$
 (3.20)

Here and in what follows we denote

$$\mathbf{e_1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0\\0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{e_2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1\\0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{e_3} = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\0\\1 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{3.21}$$

The constant boundary value $\mathbf{e_3}$ precisely corresponds to $W(\infty)$ where W is the standard degree 1 harmonic map. This choice of $u_{\partial\Omega}$ as a constant is made for convenience, in fact sufficiently small non-constant perturbations of it are also admissible in all arguments below.

In order to keep the notation to a minimum, we shall do this in the case k = 1 of a single bubbling point. We will later indicate the necessary changes in the general case. Given a fixed point $q \in \Omega$, and any sufficiently small number T > 0 we look for a solution u(x, t) of problem (3.17)-(3.19) which at main order looks like

$$U(x,t) := U_{\lambda(t),\xi(t),\omega(t)}(x) = Q_{\omega(t)} W\left(\frac{x-\xi(t)}{\lambda(t)}\right)$$

for certain functions $\xi(t)$, $\lambda(t)$ and $\omega(t)$ of class $C^1([0,T])$ such that

$$\xi(T) = q, \quad \lambda(T) = 0,$$

so that u(x,t) blows-up at time T and the point q. We shall find values for these functions so that for a small remainder v(x,t) we have that u = U + v solves (3.17)-(3.19) for $u_0(x) = U(x,0) + v(x,0)$. Let us denote

$$S(u) := -u_t + \Delta u + |\nabla u|^2 u$$

A useful observation that we make is that as long as the constraint |u| = 1 is kept at all times and u = U + vwith $|v| \le \frac{1}{2}$ uniformly, then for u to solve equation (3.17) it suffices that

$$S(U+v) = b(x,t)U$$
 (3.22)

for some scalar function b. Indeed, we observe that since $|u| \equiv 1$ we have

$$b(U \cdot u) = S(u) \cdot u = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}|u|^2 + \frac{1}{2}\Delta|u|^2 = 0,$$

and since $U \cdot u \ge \frac{1}{2}$, we find that $b \equiv 0$.

We can parametrize all small functions v(x,t) such that |U+v| = 1 in the form

$$\psi = \Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi + a(\Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi)U, \tag{3.23}$$

where φ is an arbitrary small function with values into \mathbb{R}^3 , and

$$\Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi := \varphi - (\varphi \cdot U)U, \quad a(\zeta) := \sqrt{1 - |\zeta|^2} - 1.$$

Using that

$$\Delta U + |\nabla U|^2 U = 0$$

we find the following expansion for S(U+v) with v given by (3.23):

$$S(U + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi + aU) = -U_t - \partial_t \Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi + L_U(\Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi) + N_U(\Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi) + c(\Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi)U$$

where for $\zeta = \prod_{U^{\perp}} \varphi$, $a = a(\zeta)$,

$$\begin{split} L_U(\zeta) &= \Delta \zeta + |\nabla U|^2 \zeta + 2(\nabla U \cdot \zeta) U\\ N_U(\zeta) &= \left[2\nabla (aU) \cdot \nabla (U+\zeta) + 2\nabla U \cdot \nabla \zeta + |\nabla \zeta|^2 + |\nabla (aU)|^2 \right] \zeta - aU_t \\ &+ 2\nabla a \nabla U, \\ c(\zeta) &= \Delta a - a_t + (|\nabla (U+\zeta+aU)|^2 - |\nabla U|^2)(1+a) - 2\nabla U \cdot \nabla \zeta \end{split}$$

Since we just need to have an equation of the form (3.22) satisfied, we find that

$$u = U + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi + a(\Pi_{U^{\perp}}\varphi)U$$

solves (3.17) if and only if φ satisfies

$$0 = -U_t - \partial_t \Pi_{U^\perp} \varphi + L_U(\Pi_{U^\perp} \varphi) + N_U(\Pi_{U^\perp} \varphi) + b(x, t)U, \qquad (3.24)$$

for some scalar function b. The logic of the construction goes like this: We decompose φ into the sum of two functions $\varphi = \varphi^i + \varphi^o$, the "inner" and "outer" solutions and reduce equation (3.24) to solving a system of two equations in (φ^i, φ^o) that we call the inner and outer problems.

The inner function $\varphi^i(x,t)$ will be assumed supported only near $x = \xi(t)$ and better read as a function of the scaled space variable $y = \frac{x - \xi(t)}{\lambda(t)}$ with zero initial condition and such that $\varphi^i \cdot U = 0$, so that $\prod_{U^{\perp}} \varphi^i = \varphi^i$. The outer function $\varphi^o(x,t)$ will be made out of several pieces and its role is essentially to satisfy (3.24) far away from the concentration point $x = \xi(t)$.

We write equation (3.24) in the following way:

$$0 = -\partial_t \varphi^i + L_U[\varphi^i] + \tilde{L}_U[\varphi^o] - \Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\partial_t \varphi^o - \Delta \varphi^o + U_t]$$

+ $N_U(\varphi^i + \Pi_{U^{\perp}} \varphi^o) + (\varphi^o \cdot U)U_t + bU.$ (3.25)

For the outer problem, we consider a function Φ^0 that depends explicitly on the parameter functions chosen in such a way that $\Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\partial_t \Phi^0 - \Delta \Phi^0 + U_t]$ gets concentrated near $x = \xi(t)$ by elimination of the terms in the first error U_t associated to dilation and rotation. Then we write

$$\varphi^{o}(x,t) = \Phi^{0}(x,t) + \Psi^{*}(x,t).$$
(3.26)

For the inner solution, we consider a smooth smooth cut-off function $\eta_0(s)$ with $\eta_0(s) = 1$ for s < 1 and = 0 for $s > \frac{3}{2}$. We also consider a positive, large smooth function $R(t) \to +\infty$ as $t \to T$ that we will later specify. We define

$$\eta(x,t) := \eta_0 \left(R(t)^{-1} |y| \right), \quad y = \frac{x - \xi(t)}{\lambda(t)}$$

and let

$$\varphi^{i}(x,t) = \eta(x,t)Q_{\omega}\phi(y,t), \quad y = \frac{x-\xi(t)}{\lambda(t)}$$

for a function $\phi(y,t)$ with initial condition $\phi(\cdot,0) = 0$ that satisfies $\phi(\cdot,t) \cdot W \equiv 0$, defined for $|y| \leq 2R(t)$ and that vanishes as $t \to T$. Then we have

$$Q_{-\omega}L_U[\varphi^i] = \lambda^{-2}\eta L_W[\phi] + (\Delta_x \eta)\phi + 2\lambda^{-1}\nabla_x \eta \nabla_y \phi$$
$$Q_{-\omega}\varphi^i_t = \eta \big(\phi_t - \lambda^{-1}\dot{\lambda}y \cdot \nabla_y \phi - \lambda^{-1}\dot{\xi} \cdot \nabla_y \phi + \dot{\omega}Q_{-\omega}\partial_\omega Q_\omega \phi\big) + \eta_t \phi.$$

Equation (3.25) then becomes

$$0 = \lambda^{-2} \eta Q_{\omega} [-\lambda^{2} \phi_{t} + L_{W}[\phi] + \lambda^{2} Q_{-\omega} \tilde{L}_{U}[\Psi^{*}]]$$

$$+ \eta Q_{\omega} (\lambda^{-1} \dot{\lambda} y \cdot \nabla_{y} \phi + \lambda^{-1} \dot{\xi} \cdot \nabla_{y} \phi - \dot{\omega} J \phi)$$

$$+ \tilde{L}_{U}[\Phi^{0}] + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\partial_{t} \Phi^{0} - \Delta_{x} \Phi^{0} + U_{t}]$$

$$- \partial_{t} \Psi^{*} + \Delta \Psi^{*} + (1 - \eta) \tilde{L}_{U}[\Psi^{*}] + Q_{\omega} [(\Delta_{x} \eta) \phi + 2 \nabla_{x} \eta \nabla_{x} \phi - \eta_{t} \phi]$$

$$+ N_{U} (\eta Q_{\omega} \phi + \Pi_{U^{\perp}} (\Phi^{0} + \Psi^{*})) + ((\Psi^{*} + \Phi^{0}) \cdot U) U_{t} + bU.$$

$$(3.27)$$

Next we will define precisely the operator Φ^0 and estimate the quantity

Ĩ

$${}_{U}[\Phi^{0}] + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\partial_{t}\Phi^{0} - \Delta_{x}\Phi^{0} + U_{t}].$$
(3.28)

The idea is to choose Φ^0 such that $\partial_t \Phi^0 - \Delta_x \Phi^0 + U_t \approx 0$ whenever $|x - \xi| \gg \lambda$, so that in particular the last error term in the outer equation (3.26) is of smaller order.

Invoking formulas (3.10) to compute U_t we get

$$U_t = \dot{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega} + \dot{\omega} \partial_{\omega} U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega} + \partial_{\xi} U_{\lambda,\xi,\omega} \cdot \dot{\xi} = \mathcal{E}_0 + \mathcal{E}_1$$

where, setting $y = \frac{x-\xi}{\lambda} = \rho e^{i\theta}$, we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}(x,t) = -Q_{\omega} \left[\frac{\lambda}{\lambda} \rho w_{\rho}(\rho) E_{1}(y) + \dot{\omega} \rho w_{\rho}(\rho) E_{2}(y)\right]$$
$$\mathcal{E}_{1}(x,t) = -\frac{\dot{\xi}_{1}}{\lambda} w_{\rho}(\rho) Q_{\omega} \left[\cos \theta E_{1}(y) + \sin \theta E_{2}(y)\right]$$
$$-\frac{\dot{\xi}_{2}}{\lambda} w_{\rho}(\rho) Q_{\omega} \left[\sin \theta E_{1}(y) - \cos \theta E_{2}(y)\right].$$

Since \mathcal{E}_1 has faster space decay in ρ than \mathcal{E}_0 we will choose Φ^0 to be an approximate solution of

$$\Phi_t^0 - \Delta_x \Phi^0 + \mathcal{E}_0 = 0. \tag{3.29}$$

For $x = \xi + re^{i\theta}$ and $r \gg \lambda$ we have

$$\mathcal{E}_0(x,t) = -\frac{2r}{r^2 + \lambda^2} \begin{bmatrix} \dot{\lambda} Q_\omega E_1 + \lambda \dot{\omega} Q_\omega E_2 \end{bmatrix} \approx -\frac{2r}{r^2 + \lambda^2} \begin{bmatrix} (\dot{\lambda} + i\lambda\dot{\omega})e^{i(\theta + \omega)} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Here and in what follows we let

$$p(t) = \lambda(t)e^{i\omega(t)}.$$

Then

$$-\frac{2r}{r^2+\lambda^2} \begin{bmatrix} (\dot{\lambda}+i\lambda\dot{\omega})e^{i(\theta+\omega)}\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{2r}{r^2+\lambda^2} \begin{bmatrix} \dot{p}(t)e^{i\theta}\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} =: \tilde{\mathcal{E}}_0(x,t) + \tilde{\mathcal{E}}_0(x,t) +$$

With the aid of Duhamel's formula for the standard heat equation, we find that the following function is a good approximate solution of $\Phi_t^0 - \Delta_x \Phi^0 + \tilde{\mathcal{E}}_0 = 0$ and hence of (3.29). We define

$$\begin{split} \Phi^0[\omega,\lambda,\xi] &:= \begin{bmatrix} \varphi^0(r,t)e^{i\theta} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \\ \varphi^0(r,t) &= -\int_{-T}^t \dot{p}(s)rk(z(r),t-s)\,ds \\ z(r) &= \sqrt{r^2 + \lambda^2}, \quad k(z,t) = 2\frac{1 - e^{-\frac{z^2}{4t}}}{z^2}, \end{split}$$

where for technical reasons that will be made clear later on, p(t) is also assumed to be defined for negative values of t.

A direct computations yields

$$\Phi_t^0 + \Delta_x \Phi^0 + \tilde{\mathcal{E}}_0 = \tilde{\mathbb{R}}_0 + \tilde{\mathbb{R}}_1, \quad \tilde{\mathbb{R}}_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{R}_0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\mathbb{R}}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{R}_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$\mathbb{R}_0 := -re^{i\theta} \frac{\lambda^2}{z^4} \int_{-T}^t \dot{p}(s)(zk_z - z^2k_{zz})(z(r), t-s) \, ds$$

and

$$\mathbb{R}_1 := -e^{i\theta} \operatorname{Re} \left(e^{-i\theta} \dot{\xi}(t) \right) \int_{-T}^t \dot{p}(s) \, k(z(r), t-s) \, ds + \frac{r}{z^2} e^{i\theta} \left(\lambda \dot{\lambda}(t) - \operatorname{Re} \left(r e^{i\theta} \dot{\xi}(t) \right) \right) \int_{-T}^t \dot{p}(s) \, z k_z(z(r), t-s) \, ds$$

We observe that \mathbb{R}_1 is actually a term of smaller order. Using formulas (3.14), (3.16) and the facts

$$\frac{\lambda^2 r}{z^4} = \frac{1}{4\lambda} \rho w_\rho^2, \quad \frac{r}{z^2} (1 - \cos w) = \frac{1}{2\lambda} \rho w_\rho^2,$$

we derive an expression for the quantity (3.28):

$$\begin{split} \tilde{L}_U[\Phi^0] &+ \Pi_{U^{\perp}}[-U_t + \Delta \Phi^0 - \Phi^0_t] \\ &= \tilde{L}_U[\Phi^0] - \mathcal{E}_1 + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_0] - \mathcal{E}_0 + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\tilde{\mathbb{R}}_0] + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\tilde{\mathbb{R}}_1] \\ &= \mathcal{K}_0[p,\xi] + \mathcal{K}_1[p,\xi] + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\tilde{\mathbb{R}}_1] \end{split}$$

where

$$\mathcal{K}_0[p,\xi] = \mathcal{K}_{01}[p,\xi] + \mathcal{K}_{02}[p,\xi]$$

with

$$\mathcal{K}_{01}[p,\xi] := -\frac{2}{\lambda} \rho w_{\rho}^{2} \int_{-T}^{t} \left[\operatorname{Re}\left(\dot{p}(s)e^{-i\omega(t)}\right) Q_{\omega} E_{1} + \operatorname{Im}\left(\dot{p}(s)e^{-i\omega(t)}\right) Q_{\omega} E_{2} \right] \\ \cdot k(z,t-s) \, ds \tag{3.30}$$

$$\mathcal{K}_{02}[p,\xi] := \frac{1}{\lambda} \rho w_{\rho}^{2} \left[\dot{\lambda} - \int_{-T}^{t} \operatorname{Re} \left(\dot{p}(s) e^{-i\omega(t)} \right) r k_{z}(z,t-s) z_{r} \, ds \right] Q_{\omega} E_{1}
- \frac{1}{4\lambda} \rho w_{\rho}^{2} \cos w \left[\int_{-T}^{t} \operatorname{Re} \left(\dot{p}(s) e^{-i\omega(t)} \right) (zk_{z} - z^{2}k_{zz})(z,t-s) \, ds \right] Q_{\omega} E_{1}
- \frac{1}{4\lambda} \rho w_{\rho}^{2} \left[\int_{-T}^{t} \operatorname{Im} \left(\dot{p}(s) e^{-i\omega(t)} \right) (zk_{z} - z^{2}k_{zz})(z,t-s) \, ds \right] Q_{\omega} E_{2},$$
(3.31)

$$\mathcal{K}_{1}[p,\xi] := \frac{1}{\lambda} w_{\rho} \left[\Re \left((\dot{\xi}_{1} - i\dot{\xi}_{2})e^{i\theta} \right) Q_{\omega} E_{1} + \Im \left((\dot{\xi}_{1} - i\dot{\xi}_{2})e^{i\theta} \right) Q_{\omega} E_{2} \right].$$
(3.32)

We insert this decomposition in equation (3.27) and see that we will have a solution to the equation if the pair (ϕ, Ψ^*) solves the *inner-outer gluing system*

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \phi_t = L_W[\phi] + \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} \left[\tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*] + \mathcal{K}_0[p,\xi] + \mathcal{K}_1[p,\xi] \right] & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi \cdot W = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi(\cdot,0) = 0 = \phi(\cdot,T), \end{cases}$$

$$(3.33)$$

$$\Psi_t^* = \Delta_x \Psi^* + g[p, \xi, \Psi^*, \phi] \quad \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T)$$
(3.34)

where

$$g[p,\xi,\Psi^*,\phi] := (1-\eta)\dot{L}_U[\Psi^*] + (\Psi^* \cdot U)U_t$$

$$+ Q_{\omega}((\Delta_x \eta)\phi + 2\nabla_x \eta \nabla_x \phi - \eta_t \phi)$$

$$+ \eta Q_{\omega}(-\dot{\omega}J\phi + \lambda^{-1}\dot{\lambda}y \cdot \nabla_y \phi + \lambda^{-1}\dot{\xi} \cdot \nabla_y \phi)$$

$$+ (1-\eta)[\mathcal{K}_0[p,\xi] + \mathcal{K}_1[p,\xi]] + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\tilde{\mathbb{R}}_1] + (\Phi^0 \cdot U)U_t$$

$$+ N_U(\eta Q_{\omega}\phi + \Pi_{U^{\perp}}(\Phi^0 + \Psi^*)),$$

$$(3.35)$$

and we denote

 $\mathcal{D}_{\gamma R} = \{ (y,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,T) / |y| < \gamma R(t) \}.$

Indeed if (ϕ,Ψ^*) solves this system, then we have that

$$u(x,t) = U + \Pi_{U^{\perp}} [\Phi^0 + \Psi^* + \eta Q_{\omega} \phi] + a (\Pi_{U^{\perp}} [\Phi^0 + \Psi^* + \eta Q_{\omega} \phi]) U$$
(3.36)

solves equation (3.17). The boundary condition (3.20) $u = \mathbf{e}_3$ amounts to

$$\Pi_{U^{\perp}}[\Phi^0 + \Psi^*] + a(\Pi_{U^{\perp}}[U + \Phi^0 + \Psi^*])U = (\mathbf{e}_3 - U)$$

and then it suffices that we take the boundary condition for (3.34)

$$\Psi^*|_{\partial\Omega} = \mathbf{e}_3 - U - \Phi^0. \tag{3.37}$$

Since we want that u(x,t) be a small perturbation of U(x,t) when we stand close to (q,T), it is natural to require that Ψ^* satisfies the final condition

$$\Psi^*(q,T) = 0.$$

This constraint amounts to three Lagrange multipliers when we solve the problem, which we choose to put in the initial condition. Then we assume

$$\Psi^*(x,0) = Z_0^*(x) + c_1 \mathbf{e}_1 + c_2 \mathbf{e}_2 + c_3 \mathbf{e}_3,$$

where c_1, c_2, c_3 are undetermined constants and $Z_0^*(x)$ is a small function for which specific assumptions will later be made.

• The reduced equations. In this section we will informally discuss the procedure to achieve our purpose in particular deriving the order of vanishing of the scaling parameter $\lambda(t)$ as $t \to T$.

The main term that couples equations (3.33) and (3.34) inside the second equation is the linear expression

$$Q_{\omega}[(\Delta_x \eta)\phi + 2\nabla_x \eta \nabla_x \phi + \eta_t \phi],$$

which is supported in |y| = O(R). This motivates the fact that we want ϕ to exhibit some type of space decay in |y| since in that way Ψ^* will eventually be smaller and in turn that would make the two equations at main order *uncoupled*. Equation (3.33) has the form

$$\lambda^2 \phi_t = L_W[\phi] + h[p, \xi, \Psi^*](y, t) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}$$

$$\phi \cdot W = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}$$

$$\phi(\cdot, 0) = 0 \quad \text{in } B_{2R(0)},$$

where, for convenience we assume that h(y,t) is defined for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^2$ extending outside \mathcal{D}_{2R} as

$$h[p,\xi,\Psi^*] = \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} L_U[\Psi^*] \chi_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}} + \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} \mathcal{K}_0[p,\xi] + \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} \mathcal{K}_1[p,\xi] \chi_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}},$$
(3.38)

where χ_A designates characteristic function of a set A, \mathcal{K}_0 is defined in (3.30), (3.31) and \mathcal{K}_1 in (3.32). If $\lambda(t)$ has a relatively smooth vanishing as $t \to T$ it seems natural that the term $\lambda^2 \phi_t$ be of smaller order and then the equation is approximately represented by the elliptic problem

$$L_W[\phi] + h[p,\xi,\Psi^*] = 0, \quad \phi \cdot W = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2.$$
(3.39)

Let us consider the decaying functions $Z_{lj}(y)$ defined in formula (3.10), which satisfy $L_W[Z_{lj}] = 0$. If $\phi(y,t)$ is a solution of (3.39) with sufficient decay, then necessarily

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h[p,\xi,\Psi^*](y,t) \cdot Z_{lj}(y) \, dy = 0 \qquad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0,T),$$
(3.40)

for l = 0, 1, j = 1, 2. These relations amount to an integro-differential system of equations for $p(t), \xi(t)$, which, as a matter of fact, *detemine* the correct values of the parameters so that the solution (ϕ, Ψ^*) with appropriate asymptotics exists.

We derive next useful expressions for relations (3.40). Let us first compute the quantities

$$\mathcal{B}_{0j}[p](t) := \frac{\lambda}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} Q_{-\omega}[\mathcal{K}_0[p,\xi] + \mathcal{K}_1[p,\xi]] \cdot Z_{0j}(y) \, dy.$$
(3.41)

Using (3.30), (3.31) the following expressions for \mathcal{B}_{01} , \mathcal{B}_{02} are readily obtained:

$$\mathcal{B}_{01}[p](t) = \int_{-T}^{t} \operatorname{Re}\left(\dot{p}(s)e^{-i\omega(t)}\right)\Gamma_{1}\left(\frac{\lambda(t)^{2}}{t-s}\right) \frac{ds}{t-s} - 2\dot{\lambda}(t)$$
$$\mathcal{B}_{02}[p](t) = \int_{-T}^{t} \operatorname{Im}\left(\dot{p}(s)e^{-i\omega(t)}\right)\Gamma_{2}\left(\frac{\lambda(t)^{2}}{t-s}\right) \frac{ds}{t-s}$$

where $\Gamma_j(\tau)$, j = 1, 2 are the smooth functions defined as follows:

$$\Gamma_{1}(\tau) = -\int_{0}^{\infty} \rho^{3} w_{\rho}^{3} \left[K(\zeta) + 2\zeta K_{\zeta}(\zeta) \frac{\rho^{2}}{1+\rho^{2}} - 4\cos(w)\zeta^{2} K_{\zeta\zeta}(\zeta) \right]_{\zeta=\tau(1+\rho^{2})} d\rho$$

$$\Gamma_{2}(\tau) = -\int_{0}^{\infty} \rho^{3} w_{\rho}^{3} \left[K(\zeta) - \zeta^{2} K_{\zeta\zeta}(\zeta) \right]_{\zeta=\tau(1+\rho^{2})} d\rho$$

where

$$K(\zeta) = 2\frac{1 - e^{-\frac{\zeta}{4}}}{\zeta},$$

GLUING METHOD

and we have used that $\int_0^\infty \rho^3 w_\rho^3 d\rho = -2$. Using these expressions we find that

$$|\Gamma_l(\tau) - 1| \le C\tau (1 + |\log \tau|) \quad \text{for } \tau < 1,$$

$$|\Gamma_l(\tau)| \le \frac{C}{\tau} \quad \text{for } \tau > 1.$$

$$(3.42)$$

Let us define

$$\mathcal{B}_{0}[p] := \frac{1}{2} e^{i\omega(t)} \left(\mathcal{B}_{01}[p] + i\mathcal{B}_{02}[p] \right)$$
(3.43)

and

$$a_{0j}[p,\xi,\Psi^*] := -\frac{\lambda}{2\pi} \int_{B_{2R}} Q_{-\omega} \tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*] \cdot Z_{0j}(y) \, dy$$

$$a_0[p,\xi,\Psi^*] := \frac{1}{2} e^{i\omega(t)} \left(a_{01}[p,\xi,\Psi^*] + ia_{02}[p,\xi,\Psi^*] \right).$$
(3.44)

Similarly, we let

$$\mathcal{B}_{1j}[\xi](t) := \frac{\lambda}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} Q_{-\omega}[\mathcal{K}_0[p,\xi] + \mathcal{K}_1[p,\xi]] \cdot Z_{1j}(y) \, dy,$$

$$\mathcal{B}_1[\xi](t) := \mathcal{B}_{11}[\xi](t) + i\mathcal{B}_{12}[\xi](t).$$

Using (3.32), (3.10) and the fact that $\int_0^\infty \rho w_\rho^2 d\rho = 2$ we get

$$\mathcal{B}_1[\xi](t) = 2[\dot{\xi}_1(t) + i\dot{\xi}_2(t)].$$

At last, we set

$$a_{1j}[p,\xi,\Psi^*] := \frac{\lambda}{2\pi} \int_{B_{2R}} Q_{-\omega} \tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*] \cdot Z_{1j}(y) \, dy$$
$$a_1[p,\xi,\Psi^*] := -e^{i\omega(t)} (a_{11}[p,\xi,\Psi^*] + ia_{12}[p,\xi,\Psi^*])$$

We get that the four conditions (3.40) reduce to the system of two complex equations

$$\mathcal{B}_0[p] = a_0[p,\xi,\Psi^*], \tag{3.45}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_1[\xi] = a_1[p,\xi,\Psi^*]. \tag{3.46}$$

At this point we will make some preliminary considerations on this system that will allow us to find a first guess of the parameters p(t) and $\xi(t)$. First, we observe that

$$\mathcal{B}_0[p] = \int_{-T}^{t-\lambda^2} \frac{\dot{p}(s)}{t-s} ds + O\left(\|\dot{p}\|_{\infty}\right)$$

To get an approximation for a_0 , we analyze the operator \tilde{L}_U in a_0 . For this let us write

$$\Psi^* = \begin{bmatrix} \psi^* \\ \psi^*_3 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \psi^* = \psi^*_1 + i\psi^*_2$$

From formula (3.14) we find that

$$\tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*](y) = [\tilde{L}_U]_0[\Psi^*] + [\tilde{L}_U]_1[\Psi^*] + [\tilde{L}_U]_2[\Psi^*],$$

where

$$\begin{split} \lambda Q_{-\omega}[\tilde{L}_U]_0[\Psi^*] &= \rho w_\rho^2 \left[\operatorname{div}(e^{-i\omega}\psi^*) E_1 + \operatorname{curl}(e^{-i\omega}\psi^*) E_2 \right] \\ \lambda Q_{-\omega}[\tilde{L}_U]_1[\Psi^*] &= -2w_\rho \cos w \left[\left(\partial_{x_1}\psi_3^*\right) \cos \theta + \left(\partial_{x_2}\psi_3^*\right) \sin \theta \right] E_1 \\ &- 2w_\rho \cos w \left[\left(\partial_{x_1}\psi_3^*\right) \sin \theta - \left(\partial_{x_2}\psi_3^*\right) \cos \theta \right] E_2 , \\ \lambda Q_{-\omega}[\tilde{L}_U]_2[\Psi^*] &= \rho w_\rho^2 \left[\operatorname{div}(e^{i\omega}\bar{\psi}^*) \cos 2\theta - \operatorname{curl}(e^{i\omega}\bar{\psi}^*) \sin 2\theta \right] E_1 \\ &+ \rho w_\rho^2 \left[\operatorname{div}(e^{i\omega}\bar{\psi}^*) \sin 2\theta + \operatorname{curl}(e^{i\omega}\bar{\psi}^*) \cos 2\theta \right] E_2 \end{split}$$

and the differential operators in Ψ^* on the right hand sides are evaluated at (x, t) with $x = \xi(t) + \lambda(t)y$, $y = \rho e^{i\theta}$ while $E_l = E_l(y)$, l = 1, 2.

From the above decomposition, assuming that Ψ^* is of class C^1 in space variable, we find that

$$a_0[p,\xi,\Psi^*] = [\operatorname{div}\psi^* + i\operatorname{curl}\psi^*](\xi,t) + o(1),$$

where $o(1) \to 0$ as $t \to T$.

Similarly, we have that

$$a_1(p,\xi) = 2(\partial_{x_1}\psi_3^* + i\partial_{x_2}\psi_3^*)(\xi,t) \int_0^\infty \cos w \, w_\rho^2 \rho \, d\rho + o(1)$$

= $o(1)$ as $t \to T$,

since $\int_0^\infty w_\rho^2 \cos w\rho \, d\rho = 0.$

Let us discuss informally how to handle (3.45)-(3.46). For this we simplify this system in the form

$$\int_{-T}^{t-\lambda^2} \frac{\dot{p}(s)}{t-s} ds = [\operatorname{div} \psi^* + i \operatorname{curl} \psi^*](\xi(t), t) + o(1) + O(\|\dot{p}\|_{\infty})$$
$$\dot{\xi}(t) = o(1) \quad \text{as} \quad t \to T.$$
(3.47)

We assume for the moment that the function $\Psi^*(x,t)$ is fixed, sufficiently regular, and we regard T as a parameter that will always be taken smaller if necessary. We recall that we want $\xi(T) = q$ where $q \in \Omega$ is given, and $\lambda(T) = 0$. Equation (3.47) immediately suggests us to take $\xi(t) \equiv q$ as a first approximation. Neglecting lower order terms, we arrive at the "clean" equation for $p(t) = \lambda(t)e^{i\omega(t)}$,

$$\int_{-T}^{t-\lambda(t)^2} \frac{\dot{p}(s)}{t-s} ds = \operatorname{div} \psi^*(q,0) + i \operatorname{curl} \psi^*(q,0) =: a_0^*$$
(3.48)

At this point we make the following assumption:

$$\operatorname{div}\psi^*(q,0) < 0. \tag{3.49}$$

This implies that $a_0^* = -|a_0^*|e^{i\omega_0}$ for a unique $\omega_0 \in (-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2})$. Let us take $\omega(t) \equiv \omega_0$. Then equation (3.48) becomes

$$\int_{-T}^{t-\lambda^2} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds = -|a_0^*|.$$
(3.50)

We claim that a good approximate solution of (3.50) as $t \to T$ is given by

$$\dot{\lambda}(t) = -\frac{\kappa}{\log^2(T-t)}$$

for a suitable $\kappa > 0$. In fact, substituting, we have

$$\int_{-T}^{t-\lambda^2} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds = \int_{-T}^{t-(T-t)} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{t-s} ds + \dot{\lambda}(t) \left[\log(T-t) - 2\log(\lambda(t)) \right] \\ + \int_{t-(T-t)}^{t-\lambda(t)^2} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s) - \dot{\lambda}(t)}{t-s} ds \\ \approx \int_{-T}^{t} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{T-s} ds - \dot{\lambda}(t) \log(T-t) =: \beta(t)$$
(3.51)

as $t \to T$. We see that

$$\log(T-t)\frac{d\beta}{dt}(t) = \frac{d}{dt}(\log^2(T-t)\dot{\lambda}(t)) = 0$$

from the explicit form of $\dot{\lambda}(t)$. Hence $\beta(t)$ is constant. As a conclusion, equation (3.50) is approximately satisfied if κ is such that

$$\kappa \int_{-T}^{T} \frac{\dot{\lambda}(s)}{T-s} = -|a_0^*|$$

And this finally gives us the approximate expression

$$\dot{\lambda}(t) = -|\operatorname{div}\psi^*(q,0) + i\operatorname{curl}\psi^*(q,0)|\,\dot{\lambda}_*(t),$$

where

$$\dot{\lambda}_*(t) = -\frac{|\log T|}{\log^2(T-t)}.$$
Naturally imposing $\lambda_*(T) = 0$ we then have

$$\lambda_*(t) = \frac{|\log T|}{\log^2(T-t)}(T-t)(1+o(1)) \text{ as } t \to T.$$

• Solving the inner-outer gluing system.

Our purpose is to determine, for a given $q \in \Omega$ and a sufficiently small T > 0, a solution (ϕ, Ψ^*) of system (3.33)-(3.34) with a boundary condition of the form (3.37) such that u(x,t) given by (3.36) blows up with U(x,t) as its main order profile. This will only be possible for adequate choices of the parameter functions $\xi(t)$ and $p(t) = \lambda(t)e^{i\omega(t)}$. These functions will eventually be found by fixed point arguments, but a priori we need to make some assumptions regarding their behavior. For some positive numbers a_1, a_2, σ independent of T we will assume that

$$a_1|\dot{\lambda}_*(t)| \le |\dot{p}(t)| \le a_2|\dot{\lambda}_*(t)|$$
 for all $t \in (0,T),$ (3.52)

$$|\dot{\xi}(t)| \le \lambda_*(t)^{\sigma} \qquad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0, T).$$
(3.53)

We also take

$$R(t) = \lambda_*(t)^{-\beta}, \tag{3.54}$$

where $\beta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$.

To solve the outer equation (3.34) we will decompose Ψ^* in the form

$$\Psi^* = Z^* + \psi$$

where we let $Z^* : \Omega \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^3$ satisfy

$$\begin{cases} Z_t^* = \Delta Z^* & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, \infty), \\ Z^*(\cdot, t) = 0 & \text{in } \partial \Omega \times (0, \infty), \\ Z^*(\cdot, 0) = Z_0^* & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.55)

with $Z_0^*(x)$ a function satisfying certain conditions to be described below. Since we would like that u(x,t) given by (3.36) has a blow-up behavior given at main order by that of U(x,t), we will require

$$\Psi^*(q,T) = 0$$

This constraint has three parameters. Therefore we need three "Lagrange multipliers" which we include in the initial datum.

• Assumptions on Z_0^* .

To describe the assumptions on Z_0^* , let us write

$$Z_0^*(x) = \begin{bmatrix} z_0^*(x) \\ z_{03}^*(x) \end{bmatrix}, \quad z_0^*(x) = z_{01}^*(x) + i z_{02}^*(x).$$
(3.56)

A first condition that we require, consistent with (3.49), is div $z_0^*(q) < 0$. In addition we require that $Z_0^*(q) \approx 0$ in a non-degenerate way.

We want also Z^* to be sufficiently small, but independently of T, so that the heat equation (3.55) is a good approximation of the linearized harmonic map flow far from the singularity. In order to achieve later the desired stability property, it is convenient split Z_0^* into two parts

$$Z_0^* = Z_0^{*0} + Z_0^{*1}$$

where Z_0^{*0} is sufficiently smooth and Z_0^{*1} allows more irregular perturbations. More precisely, for Z_0^{*0} we assume that for some $\alpha_0 > 0$ small and some $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 > 0$, all independent of T, we have

$$\begin{cases}
\|Z_0^{*0}\|_{C^3(\overline{\Omega})} \leq \alpha_0, \\
|Z_0^{*0}(q)| \leq 5T, \\
|(Dz_0^{*0}(q))^{-1}| \leq \alpha_1, \\
-\alpha_1 \leq \operatorname{div} z_0^{*0}(q) \leq -\alpha_2.
\end{cases}$$
(3.57)

(The notation here is analogous to (3.56).)

To describe Z_0^{*1} we introduce the following norm

$$\|Z_0^{*1}\|_* = \sup_{\Omega} |Z_0^{*1}(x)| + \frac{1}{|\log \varepsilon_*|} \sup_{\Omega} |\nabla_x Z_0^{*1}(x)| + \frac{1}{|\log \varepsilon_*|^{1/2}} \sup_{\Omega} (|x - q_0| + \varepsilon_*) |D_x^2 Z_0^{*1}(x)|,$$
(3.58)

where

$$\varepsilon_* = \lambda_*(0).$$

Then we assume that for some $\sigma > 0$ fixed we have

$$\|Z_0^{*1}\|_* \le T^{\sigma}.\tag{3.59}$$

In summary, the conditions on Z_0^* are the following:

$$Z_0^* = Z_0^{*0} + Z_0^{*1} \text{ with } Z_0^{*0}, \ Z_0^{*1} \text{ satisfying } (3.57) \text{ and } (3.59).$$
(3.60)

• Linear theory for the inner problem. The inner problem (3.33) is written as

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \partial_t \phi = L_W[\phi] + h[p, \xi, \Psi^*] & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi \cdot W = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R(0)} \end{cases}$$

where $h[p, \xi, \Psi^*]$ is given by (3.38). To find a good solution to this problem we would like that $h[p, \xi, \Psi^*]$ satisfies the orthogonality conditions (3.40).

We split the right hand side $h[p, \xi, \Psi^*]$ and the inner solution into components with different roles regarding these orthogonality conditions.

Recall that

$$h[p,\xi,\Psi^*] = \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} \tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*] \chi_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}} + \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} \mathcal{K}_0[p,\xi] + \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} \mathcal{K}_1[p,\xi] \chi_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}},$$

of \tilde{L}_U given in (3.14):

the decomposition of L_U given in (3.14):

$$L_U[\Psi^*] = L_U[\Psi^*]_0 + L_U[\Psi^*]_1 + L_U[\Psi^*]_2$$

with $L_U[\Phi]_j$ defined in (3.15). Using the notation (3.13), we then define

$$\begin{split} \dot{L}_{U}[\Phi]_{1}^{(0)} &= -2\lambda^{-1}w_{\rho}\cos w\left[\left(\partial_{x_{1}}\varphi_{3}(\xi(t),t)\right)\cos\theta + \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi_{3}(\xi(t),t)\right)\right)\sin\theta\right]Q_{\omega}E_{1} \\ &- 2\lambda^{-1}w_{\rho}\cos w\left[\left(\partial_{x_{1}}\varphi_{3}(\xi(t),t)\right)\sin\theta - \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi_{3}(\xi(t),t)\right)\right)\cos\theta\right]Q_{\omega}E_{2} \;. \end{split}$$

We then decompose

$$h = h_1 + h_2 + h_3$$

where

$$h_1[p,\xi,\Psi^*] = \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} (\tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*]_0 + \tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*]_2) \chi_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}} + \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} \mathcal{K}_0[p,\xi],$$

$$h_2[p,\xi,\Psi^*] = \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} \tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*]_1^{(0)} \chi_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}} + \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} \mathcal{K}_1[p,\xi] \chi_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}}$$

$$h_3[p,\xi,\Psi^*] = \lambda^2 Q_{-\omega} (\tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*]_1 - \tilde{L}_U[\Psi^*]_1^{(0)}) \chi_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}}.$$

Next we decompose $\phi = \phi_1 + \phi_2 + \phi_3 + \phi_4$. The function ϕ_1 will solve the inner problem with right hand side $h_1[p,\xi,\Psi^*]$ projected so that it satisfies essentially (3.40). The advantage of doing this is that h_1 has faster spatial decay, which gives better bounds for the solution. For this we let, for any function h(y,t) defined in $\mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,T)$ with sufficient decay,

$$c_{lj}[h](t) := \frac{1}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} w_{\rho}^2 |Z_{lj}|^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h(y,t) \cdot Z_{lj}(y) \, dy.$$
(3.61)

Note that $h[p,\xi,\Psi^*]$ is defined in $\mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,T)$, and for simplicity we will assume that the right hand sides appearing in the different linear equations are always defined in $\mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,T)$.

We would like that ϕ_1 solves

$$\lambda^2 \partial_t \phi_1 = L_W[\phi_1] + h_1[p,\xi,\Psi^*] - \sum_{l=-1}^1 \sum_{j=1}^2 c_{lj} [h_1(p,\xi,\Psi^*)] w_\rho^2 Z_{lj} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}$$

but the estimates for ϕ_1 are better if the projections $c_{0j}[h(p,\xi,\Psi^*)]$ are modified slightly.

Here is the precise result that we will use later. We define the norms

$$||h||_{\nu,a} = \sup_{\mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,T)} \frac{|h(y,t)|}{\lambda_*^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{-a}},$$
(3.62)

and

$$\|\phi\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} = \sup_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}} \frac{|\phi(y,\tau)| + (1+|y|)|\nabla_y \phi(y,\tau)|}{\lambda_*^{\nu} \max(\frac{R^{\delta(5-a)}}{(1+|y|)^3}, \frac{1}{(1+|y|)^{a-2}})}.$$
(3.63)

Proposition 3.1. Let $a \in (2,3)$, $\delta \in (0,1)$, $\nu > 0$. Assume $||h||_{\nu,a} < \infty$. Then there is a solution $\phi = \mathcal{T}_{\lambda,1}[h]$, $\tilde{c}_{0j}[h]$ of

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^{2} \partial_{t} \phi = L_{W}[\phi] + h - \sum_{j=1,2} \tilde{c}_{0j}[h] Z_{0j} \chi_{B_{1}} - \sum_{\substack{l=-1,1\\j=1,2}} c_{lj}[h] Z_{lj} \chi_{B_{1}} & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi \cdot W = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R(0)} \end{cases}$$

where c_{lj} is defined in (3.61), which is linear in h, such that

$$\|\phi\|_{*,\nu,a,\delta} \leq C \|h\|_{\nu,a,\delta}$$

and such that

$$|c_{0j}[h] - \tilde{c}_{0j}[h]| \le C\lambda_*^{\nu} R^{-\frac{1}{2}\delta(a-2)} \|h\|_{\nu,a}$$

The function ϕ_2 solves the equation with right hand side $h_2[p,\xi,\Psi^*]$, which is in *mode 1*, a notion that we define next (this is basically motivated by the analysis of section 3.1, where we consider the linearized parabolic equation and use a Fourier decomposition of the right hand side and the solution).

Let $h(y,t) \in \mathbb{R}^3$, be defined in $\mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,T)$ or \mathcal{D}_{2R} with $h \cdot W = 0$. We say that h is un mode $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ if h has the form

$$h(y,t) = \Re(\tilde{h}_k(|y|,t)e^{ik\theta})E_1 + \Re(\tilde{h}_k(|y|,t)e^{ik\theta})E_2,$$

for some complex valued function $h_k(\rho, t)$.

Consider then

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \partial_t \phi = L_W[\phi] + h - \sum_{j=1,2} c_{1j}[h] w_\rho^2 Z_{1j} & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi \cdot W = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R(0)} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.64)$$

Proposition 3.2. Let $a \in (2,3)$, $\delta \in (0,1)$, $\nu > 0$. Assume that h is in mode 1 and $||h||_{\nu,a} < \infty$. Then there is a solution $\phi = \mathcal{T}_{\lambda,2}[h]$ of (3.64), which is linear in h, such that

$$\|\phi\|_{\nu,a-2} \le C \|h\|_{\nu,a}.$$

In the above statemen the norm $\|\phi\|_{\nu,a-2}$ analogous to the one in (3.62), but the supremum is taken in \mathcal{D}_{2R} . Another piece of the inner solution, ϕ_3 , will handle $h_3[p,\xi,\Psi^*]$, which does not satisfy orthogonality conditions

Another piece of the inner solution, ϕ_3 , will handle $h_3[p,\xi,\Psi]$, which does not satisfy orthogonality conditions in mode 0. We will still project it to satisfy the orthogonality condition in mode 1. Let us consider then (3.64) without any orthogonality conditions on h in mode 0. We define

$$\|\phi\|_{**,\nu} = \sup_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}} \frac{|\phi(y,t)| + (1+|y|) |\nabla_y \phi(y,t)|}{\lambda_*(t)^{\nu} R(t)^2 (1+|y|)^{-1}}.$$
(3.65)

Proposition 3.3. Let 1 < a < 3 and $\nu > 0$. There exists a C > 0 such that if $||h||_{a,\nu} < +\infty$ there is a solution $\phi = \mathcal{T}_{\lambda,3}[h]$ of (3.64), which is linear in h and satisfies the estimate

$$\|\phi\|_{**,\nu} \leq C \|h\|_{a,\nu}$$

Note that we allow a to be less than 2 in the previous proposition.

Next we have a variant of Proposition 3.3 when h is in mode -1.

Proposition 3.4. Let 2 < a < 3 and $\nu > 0$. There exists a C > 0 such that for any h in mode -1 with $\|h\|_{a,\nu} < +\infty$, there is a solution $\phi = \mathcal{T}_{\lambda,4}[h]$ of problem (3.64), which is linear in h and satisfies the estimate

$$\|\phi\|_{***,\nu} \le C \|h\|_{a,\nu}$$

where

$$\|\phi\|_{***,\nu} = \sup_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}} \frac{|\phi(y,t)| + (1+|y|) |\nabla_y \phi(y,t)|}{\lambda_*(t)^{\nu} \log(R(t))}$$

All propositions stated here are corollaries of Proposition 3.11 and proved in section 3.1. • The equations for $p = \lambda e^{i\omega}$. We need to choose the free parameters p, ξ so that $c_{lj}[h(p,\xi,\Psi^*)] = 0$ for l = -1, 0, 1, j = 1, 2. This will be easy to do for $l = 1 \pmod{1}$, but mode l = 0 is more complicated. To bandle e_{lj} we note that by definitions (2.28) (2.41) (2.44)

To handle c_{0j} we note that by definitions (3.38), (3.41), (3.44)

$$c_{0,j}[h(p,\xi,\Psi^*)] = \frac{2\pi\lambda}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} w_{\rho}^2 |Z_{0j}|^2} \left(\mathcal{B}_{0j}[p] - a_{0j}[p,\xi,\Psi^*]\right)$$

where B_0 , a_0 are defined in (3.43), (3.44) and we recall that $p = \lambda e^{i\omega}$.

So to achieve $c_{0j}[h(p,\xi,\Psi^*)] = 0$ we should solve

$$\mathcal{B}_0[p](t) = a_0[p,\xi,\Psi^*](t), \quad t \in [0,T],$$
(3.66)

adjusting the parameters $\lambda(t)$ and $\omega(t)$. This equation is delicate and we will instead impose a modified version of this condition. The modification of (3.66) consists in introducing another term in the equation, essentially modifying the operator \mathcal{B}_0 .

To make this precise we define the following norms. Let I denote either the interval [0,T] or [-T,T]. For $\Theta \in (0,1), l \in \mathbb{R}$ and a continuous function $g: I \to \mathbb{C}$ we let

$$|g||_{\Theta,l} = \sup_{t \in I} (T-t)^{-\Theta} |\log(T-t)|^l |g(t)|,$$
(3.67)

and for $\gamma \in (0, 1)$, $m \in (0, \infty)$, and $l \in \mathbb{R}$ we let

$$[g]_{\gamma,m,l} = \sup \left(T - t \right)^{-m} \left| \log(T - t) \right|^l \frac{|g(t) - g(s)|}{(t - s)^{\gamma}}, \tag{3.68}$$

where the supremum is taken over $s \leq t$ in I such that $t - s \leq \frac{1}{10}(T - t)$.

We have then the following result.

Proposition 3.5. Let $\alpha, \gamma \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$, $l \in \mathbb{R}$, $C_1 > 1$. There is $\alpha_0 > 0$ such that if $\Theta \in (0, \alpha_0)$ and $m \leq \Theta - \gamma$, then for $a : [0, T] \to \mathbb{C}$ is such that

$$\operatorname{Re}(a(T)) < 0, \quad with \quad \frac{1}{C_1} \le \operatorname{Re}(a(T)) \le C_1$$

and

$$T^{\Theta} |\log T|^{1+\sigma-l} ||a(\cdot) - a(T)||_{\Theta,l-1} + [a]_{\gamma,m,l-1} \le C_1$$

for some $\sigma > 0$, then, for T > 0 small enough there are two operators \mathcal{P} and \mathcal{R}_0 so that $p = \mathcal{P}[a] : [-T,T] \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfies

$$\mathcal{B}_0[p](t) = a(t) + \mathcal{R}_0[a](t), \quad t \in [0, T],$$
(3.69)

with

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{R}_{0}[a](t)| \\ &\leq C \Big(T^{\sigma} + T^{\Theta} \frac{\log|\log T|}{|\log T|} \|a(\cdot) - a(T)\|_{\Theta, l-1} + [a]_{\gamma, m, l-1} \Big) \frac{(T-t)^{m+(1+\alpha)\gamma}}{|\log(T-t)|^{l}}, \end{aligned} (3.70)$$

for some $\sigma > 0$.

We have additional properties of the solution to this problem.

Proposition 3.6. Let us make the same assumptions as in Proposition 3.5. Then $\mathcal{P}[a]$ can be written as

$$\mathcal{P}[a] = p_{0,\kappa[a]} + \mathcal{P}_1[a] + \mathcal{P}_2[a]$$

where $p_{0,\kappa}$ is defined by

$$p_{0,\kappa}(t) = \kappa |\log T| \int_t^T \frac{1}{|\log(T-s)|^2} \, ds, \quad t \le T,$$
(3.71)

 $and \ each \ term$

$$\kappa = \kappa[a], \quad p_1 = \mathcal{P}_1[a], \quad p_2 = \mathcal{P}_2[a],$$

has the following bounds:

$$\begin{split} \kappa &= |a(T)|(1+O(\frac{1}{|\log T|}), \\ |\dot{p}_1(t) - \dot{p}_{0,\kappa}(t)| \leq C \frac{|\log T|^{1-\sigma} \log(|\log T|)^2}{|\log(T-t)|^{3-\sigma}}, \\ |\ddot{p}_1(t)| \leq C \frac{|\log T|}{|\log(T-t)|^3(T-t)}, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{p}_2\|_{\Theta,l} &\leq C\left(T^{\frac{1}{2}+\sigma-\Theta} + \|a(\cdot) - a(T)\|_{\Theta,l-1}\right), \\ [\dot{p}_2]_{\gamma,m,l} &\leq C(|\log T|^{l-3}T^{\alpha_0-m-\gamma} + T^{\Theta}\frac{\log|\log T|}{|\log T|}\|a(\cdot) - a(T)\|_{\Theta,l-1} + [a]_{\gamma,m,l-1}), \end{aligned}$$

where $\alpha_0 > 0$ is some fixed some constant and $\sigma > 0$ is arbitrary (with C depending on σ).

Roughly speaking, to obtain the modified equation (3.69) we notice that the main term in p in $\mathcal{B}_0[p]$ is the integral operator

$$\int_{-T}^{t-\lambda_*(t)^2} \frac{\dot{p}(s)}{t-s} ds.$$

Thus we define

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_0[p] = \mathcal{B}_0[p] - \int_{-T}^{t-\lambda_*(t)^2} \frac{\dot{p}(s)}{t-s} ds.$$

It will be sufficient to solve approximately equations (3.40) replacing in part this integral operator by a "regularized" version of it following the logic of the formal derivation of the rate (3.51). For $\alpha > 0$ let us write

$$\int_{-T}^{t-\lambda_*(t)^2} \frac{\dot{p}(s)}{t-s} ds = S_{\alpha}[\dot{p}] + R_{\alpha}[\dot{p}]$$

where

$$S_{\alpha}[g] := g(t)[-2\log\lambda_*(t) + (1+\alpha)\log(T-t)] + \int_{-T}^{t-(T-t)^{1+\alpha}} \frac{g(s)}{t-s} ds,$$
(3.72)

$$R_{\alpha}[g] := -\int_{t-(T-t)^{1+\alpha}}^{t-\lambda_{*}^{2}} \frac{g(t) - g(s)}{t-s} ds.$$
(3.73)

Thus equation (3.66) can be written in the form

 $S_{\alpha}[\dot{p}] + R_{\alpha}[\dot{p}] + \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_0[p] = a(t), \quad \text{in } [0,T],$

for some function a(t). The modified equation is

$$S_{\alpha}[\dot{p}] + \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_0[p] = a(t) \quad \text{in } [0, T],$$

and the remainder \mathcal{R}_0 is essentially $R_{\alpha}[\dot{p}]$. This is a sketch of how we obtain the modified equation and remainder.

Another modification to equations (3.66) that we introduce is to replace $a_0[p,\xi,\Psi^*]$ by its main term. To do this we write

$$a_0[p,\xi,\Psi] = a_0^{(0)}[p,\xi,\Psi] + a_0^{(1)}[p,\xi,\Psi] + a_0^{(2)}[p,\xi,\Psi]$$

where

$$a_0^{(l)}[p,\xi,\Psi] = -\frac{\lambda}{4\pi} e^{i\omega} \int_{B_{2R}} \left(Q_{-\omega} \tilde{L}_U[\Psi]_l \cdot Z_{01} + iQ_{-\omega} \tilde{L}_U[\Psi]_l \cdot Z_{02} \right) \, dy$$

for l = 0, 1, 2. We define

$$\begin{aligned} c_0^*[p,\xi,\Psi^*](t) &:= \frac{4\pi\lambda}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} w_\rho^2 |Z_{01}|^2} e^{-i\omega} \Big(\mathcal{R}_0 \left[a_0^{(0)}[p,\xi,\Psi^*] \right](t) + a_0^{(1)}[p,\xi,\Psi^*](t) \\ &+ a_0^{(2)}[p,\xi,\Psi^*](t) \Big) - (c_0[h[p,\xi,\Psi^*]] - \tilde{c}_0[h_1[p,\xi,\Psi^*]]), \end{aligned}$$

and

 $c_{01}^* := \operatorname{Re}(c_0^*), \quad c_{02}^* := \operatorname{Im}(c_0^*),$

where \mathcal{R}_0 is the operator given Proposition 3.5 and $\tilde{c}_0 = \tilde{c}_{01} + i\tilde{c}_{02}$ are the operators defined in Proposition 3.1. • The system of equations.

We transform the system (3.33)-(3.34) in the problem of finding functions $\psi(x,t)$, ϕ_1, \ldots, ϕ_4 , parameters $p(t) = \lambda(t)e^{i\omega(t)}$, $\xi(t)$ and constants c_1, c_2, c_3 such that the following system is satisfied:

$$\begin{cases} \psi_t = \Delta_x \psi + g(p, \xi, Z^* + \psi, \phi_1 + \phi_2 + \phi_3 + \phi_4) & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T) \\ \psi = (\mathbf{e}_3 - U) - \Phi^0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T) \\ \psi(\cdot, 0) = (c_1 \, \mathbf{e}_1 + c_2 \, \mathbf{e}_2 + c_3 \, \mathbf{e}_3)\chi + \ (1 - \chi)(\mathbf{e}_3 - U - \Phi^0) & \text{in } \Omega \\ \psi(q, T) = -Z^*(q, T) \end{cases}$$
(3.74)

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^{2} \partial_{t} \phi_{1} = L_{W}[\phi_{1}] + h_{1}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}] - \sum_{j=1,2} \tilde{c}_{0j}[h_{1}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}]] w_{\rho}^{2} Z_{0j} \\ - \sum_{\substack{l=-1,1\\j=1,2}} c_{lj}[h_{1}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}]] w_{\rho}^{2} Z_{lj} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi_{1} \cdot W = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \end{cases}$$
(3.75)

$$\phi_1(\cdot, 0) = 0$$
 in $B_{2R(0)}$

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^2 \partial_t \phi_2 = L_W[\phi_2] + h_2[p, \xi, \Psi^*] - \sum_{j=1,2} c_{1j}[h_2[p, \xi, \Psi^*]] w_\rho^2 Z_{1j} & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi_2 \cdot W = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi_2(\cdot, 0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R(0)} \end{cases}$$
(3.76)

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^{2} \partial_{t} \phi_{3} = L_{W}[\phi_{3}] + h_{3} - \sum_{j=1,2} c_{1j} [h_{3}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}]] w_{\rho}^{2} Z_{1j} \\ + \sum_{j=1,2} c_{0j}^{*}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}] w_{\rho}^{2} Z_{0j} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.77)$$

$$\phi_3 \cdot W = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}$$

$$\phi_3(\cdot, 0) = 0 \quad \text{in } B_{2R(0)}$$

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^{2} \partial_{t} \phi_{4} = L_{W}[\phi_{4}] + \sum_{j=1,2} c_{-1,j} [h_{1}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}]] w_{\rho}^{2} Z_{-1j} \\ \phi_{4} \cdot W = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \phi_{4}(\cdot,t) = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial B_{2R(t)} \\ \phi_{4}(\cdot,0) = 0 \quad \text{in } B_{2R(0)} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.78)$$

$$c_{0j}[h(p,\xi,\Psi^*)](t) - \tilde{c}_{0j}[p,\xi,\Psi^*](t) = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0,T), \quad j = 1,2,$$

$$c_{1j}[h(p,\xi,\Psi^*)](t) = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0,T), \quad j = 1,2.$$
(3.79)
(3.80)

In (3.74) χ is a smooth cut-off function with compact support in Ω which is identically 1 on a fixed neighborhood of q independent of T and the function $g(p,\xi,\Psi^*,\phi)$ is given by (3.35).

We see that if $(\phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3, \phi_4, \psi, p, \xi)$ satisfies system (3.74)–(3.80) then the functions

$$\phi = \phi_1 + \phi_2 + \phi_3 + \phi_4, \quad \Psi^* = Z^* + \psi$$

solve the outer-inner gluing system (3.33)-(3.34).

The way in which we will proceed to solve the full problem (3.74)–(3.80) is the following. For given functions ϕ_1, \ldots, ϕ_4 and parameters p, ξ in a suitable class, we solve first the outer problem (3.74) in the form of an operator $\psi = \Psi[\phi_1 + \phi_2 + \phi_3 + \phi_4, p, \xi]$ and denote $\Psi^*[\phi_1 + \phi_2 + \phi_3, p, \xi] = Z^* + \Psi[\phi_1 + \phi_2 + \phi_3 + \phi_4, p, \xi]$. Then we substitute $\Psi^*[\phi_1 + \phi_2 + \phi_3 + \phi_4, p, \xi]$ in (3.75)–(3.78) and solve for $\phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3, \phi_4$ as operators of the pair (p, ξ) . Finally, we solve for p and ξ the remaining equations. All this will be done by suitable control on the linear parts of the equation and contraction mapping principle.

• The outer problem. Our main result for problem (3.74) is the existence of a small solution for all small T, with certain precise absolute and Lipschitz estimates satisfied. To obtain this result we need a suitable norm that we define next.

Given $\Theta > 0, \gamma \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ we define

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi\|_{\sharp,\Theta,\gamma} &:= \lambda_*(0)^{-\Theta} \frac{1}{|\log T|\lambda_*(0)R(0)} \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega\times(0,T))} + \lambda_*(0)^{-\Theta} \|\nabla_x \psi\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega\times(0,T))} \\ &+ \sup_{\Omega\times(0,T)} \lambda_*(t)^{-\Theta-1} R(t)^{-1} \frac{1}{|\log(T-t)|} |\psi(x,t) - \psi(x,T)| \\ &+ \sup_{\Omega\times(0,T)} \lambda_*(t)^{-\Theta} |\nabla_x \psi(x,t) - \nabla_x \psi(x,T)| \\ &+ \sup_{\Omega\times(0,T)} \lambda_*(t)^{-\Theta} (\lambda_*(t)R(t))^{2\gamma} \frac{|\nabla_x \psi(x,t) - \nabla_x \psi(x',t')|}{(|x-x'|^2 + |t-t'|)^{\gamma}}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.81)

where the last supremum in taken in the region

$$x, x' \in \Omega, \quad t, t' \in (0, T), \quad |x - x'| \le 2\lambda_* R(t), \quad |t - t'| < \frac{1}{4}(T - t)$$

• Choice of constants. We explain here the constants used in the different norms and the values we choose for them.

- $\beta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ is so that $R(t) = \lambda_*(t)^{-\beta}$.
- $\alpha \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ appears in Proposition 3.5. It is the parameter used to define the remainder \mathcal{R}_{α} in (3.73).
- We use the norm $\|\|_{*,\nu_1,a_1,\delta}$ (3.63) to measure the solution ϕ_1 in (3.75). Here we will ask that $\nu_1 \in (0,1)$, $a_1 \in (2,3)$, and $\delta > 0$ small and fixed.
- We use the norm $\| \|_{\nu_{2,a_{2}-2}}$ (3.62) to measure the solution ϕ_{2} in (3.76), with $\nu_{2} \in (0,1), a_{2} \in (2,3)$.
- We use the norm $\| \|_{**,\nu_3}$ (3.65) for the solution ϕ_3 of (3.77), with $\nu_3 > 0$.
- We use the norm $\| \|_{***,\nu_4}$ for the solution ϕ_4 of (3.78), with $\nu_4 > 0$.
- We are going to use the norm $\| \|_{\sharp,\Theta,\gamma}$ with a parameters Θ, γ satisfying some restrictions given below.
- We have parameters m, l in Proposition 3.5. We work with m given by $m := \Theta 2\gamma(1 \beta)$ and l satisfying l < 1 + 2m.

We will need a series of additional inequalities satisfied by these parameters ensuring the gluing procedure. See [22].

• The outer problem. The next proposition gives a solution to the outer problem (3.74). To state this result we define the spaces

$$E_{1} = \{\phi_{1} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}) : \nabla_{y}\phi_{1} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}), \|\phi_{1}\|_{*,\nu_{1},a_{1},\delta} < \infty\}$$

$$E_{2} = \{\phi_{2} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}) : \nabla_{y}\phi_{2} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}), \|\phi_{2}\|_{\nu_{2},a_{2}} < \infty\}$$

$$E_{3} = \{\phi_{3} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}) : \nabla_{y}\phi_{3} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}), \|\phi_{3}\|_{**,\nu_{3}} < \infty\}$$

$$E_{4} = \{\phi_{4} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}) : \nabla_{y}\phi_{4} \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R}), \|\phi_{4}\|_{***,\nu_{4}} < \infty\}$$

and use the notation

$$E = E_1 \times E_2 \times E_3 \times E_4,$$

$$\begin{split} \Phi &= (\phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3, \phi_4) \in E \\ \|\Phi\|_E &= \|\phi_1\|_{*,\nu_1,a_1,\delta} + \|\phi_2\|_{\nu_2,a_2-2} + \|\phi_3\|_{**,\nu_3} + \|\phi_4\|_{***,\nu_4} \end{split}$$

We define the closed ball

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ \Phi \in X : \|\Phi\|_E \le 1 \}.$$

Proposition 3.7. Assume Z_0^* satisfies (3.60). Let $p(t) = \lambda(t)e^{i\omega(t)}$ and $\xi(t)$ satisfy estimates (3.52), (3.53), $\Phi \in \mathcal{B}$. Then there exists C > 0 such that if T > 0 is sufficiently small then there exists a solution $\psi = \Psi(p, \xi, \Phi, Z_0^*)$ to equation (3.74) such that

$$\|\Psi(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_0^*)\|_{\sharp,\Theta,\gamma} \le CT^{\sigma}(\|\Phi\|_E + \|\dot{p}\|_{L^{\infty}(-T,T)} + \|\dot{\xi}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T)} + \|Z_0^*\|_*)$$

The operator $\Psi(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_0^*)$ satisfies Lipschitz properties, which are consequence of its construction.

Corollary 3.1. Let $\Psi(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_0^*)$ be the solution to the outer problem constructed in Proposition 3.7. Let p_l,ξ satisfy (3.52), (3.53) and $p_l = \lambda e^{i\omega_l}$, $\|\Phi_l\|_E \leq 1$, and $\|Z_{0l}^*\|_* < \infty$, l = 1, 2. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Psi(p_1,\xi,\Phi_1,Z_{01}^*) - \Psi(p_2,\xi,\Phi_2,Z_{02}^*)\|_{\sharp,\Theta,\gamma} \\ &\leq CT^{\sigma}(\|\Phi_1 - \Phi_2\|_E + \|\lambda_*(\dot{\omega}_1 - \dot{\omega}_2)\|_{\infty} + \|Z_{01}^* - Z_{02}^*\|_*). \end{aligned}$$

Corollary 3.1 gives a partial Lipschitz property of the exterior solution $\Psi(p,\xi,\phi)$ with respect to p, namely it only considers variations of $p = \lambda e^{i\omega}$ with respect to ω . We will need Lipschitz estimates for variations of $p = \lambda e^{i\omega}$ in λ and also variations with respect to ξ . These estimates are obtained for $\Psi(p,\xi,\phi)$ when considered as a function of the inner variable $(y,t) \in \mathcal{D}_{2R}$.

For this let us introduce some notation. Suppose that $\psi(x,t)$ is defined in $\Omega \times (0,T)$. We let

$$\psi(y,t) = \psi(\xi(t) + \lambda(t)y, t), \quad (y,t) \in \mathcal{D}_{2R}.$$

The following expression is $\|\psi\|_{\sharp,\Theta,\gamma}$ expressed in terms of ψ (and restricted to \mathcal{D}_{2R}):

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{\psi}\|_{\sharp\sharp,\Theta,\gamma} &:= \lambda_*(0)^{-\Theta} \frac{1}{|\log T|\lambda_*(0)R(0)} \|\tilde{\psi}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R})} + \lambda_*(0)^{-\Theta-1} \|\nabla_y \psi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{D}_{2R})} \\ &+ \sup_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}} \lambda_*(t)^{-\Theta-1} R(t)^{-1} \frac{1}{|\log(T-t)|} |\tilde{\psi}(y,t) - \tilde{\psi}(y,T)| \\ &+ \sup_{(y,t)\in\mathcal{D}_{2R}} \lambda_*(t)^{-\Theta-1} |\nabla_y \tilde{\psi}(y,t) - \nabla_y \tilde{\psi}(y,T)| \\ &+ \sup_{(y,t),(y',t)\in\mathcal{D}_{2R}} \lambda_*(t)^{-\Theta-1} R(t)^{2\gamma} \frac{|\nabla_y \tilde{\psi}(y,t) - \nabla_y \tilde{\psi}(y',t)|}{|y-y'|^{2\gamma}} \\ &+ \sup_{\lambda_*(t)^{-\Theta-1} (\lambda_*(t)R(t))^{2\gamma} \frac{|\nabla_y \tilde{\psi}(y,t) - \nabla_y \tilde{\psi}(x',t')|}{|t-t'|^{\gamma}}, \end{split}$$

where the last supremum is taken in the region

$$(y,t), (y,t'), \in \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \quad |t-t'| \le \frac{1}{10}(T-t).$$

Corollary 3.2. Let $\Psi(p,\xi,\phi)$ be the outer solution in Proposition 3.7. Let $p_l = \lambda_l e^{i\omega}$, ξ_l satisfy (3.52), (3.53) and $\|\phi\|_{*,a,\nu} \leq 1$. Then for $\tilde{\Theta} \in (0,\Theta)$ we have

$$\begin{split} &\|\tilde{\Psi}(p_1,\xi_1,\phi)-\tilde{\Psi}(p_2,\xi_2,\phi)\|_{\sharp\sharp,\tilde{\Theta},\gamma} \\ &\leq C\Big[\left\|\frac{\lambda_1-\lambda_2}{\lambda_*}\right\|_{L^{\infty}}+\|\dot{\lambda}_1-\dot{\lambda}_2\|_{L^{\infty}}+\left\|\frac{\xi_1-\xi_2}{\lambda_*R}\right\|_{L^{\infty}}+\left\|\frac{\dot{\xi}_1-\dot{\xi}_2}{R}\right\|_{L^{\infty}}\Big]. \end{split}$$

What we do next is to take $\Phi \in E$ with $\|\Phi\|_E \leq 1$ and write $\Psi^*(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_0^*) = Z^* + \Psi(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_0^*)$. We can then write the inner problems as the fixed point problem

$$\Phi = \mathcal{F}(\Phi) \tag{3.82}$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}(\Phi) = (\mathcal{F}_1(\Phi), \mathcal{F}_2(\Phi), \mathcal{F}_3(\Phi)), \quad \mathcal{F} : \bar{\mathcal{B}}_1 \subset E \to E$$

is defined as

$$\mathcal{F}(\Phi) = (\mathcal{F}_1(\Phi), \mathcal{F}_2(\Phi), \mathcal{F}_3(\Phi), \mathcal{F}_4(\Phi))$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{1}(\Phi) &= \mathcal{T}_{\lambda,1}(h_{1}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_{0}^{*})]) \\ \mathcal{F}_{2}(\Phi) &= \mathcal{T}_{\lambda,2}(h_{2}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_{0}^{*})]) \\ \mathcal{F}_{3}(\Phi) &= \mathcal{T}_{\lambda,3}\Big(h_{3}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_{0}^{*})] + \sum_{j=1}^{2}c_{0j}^{*}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_{0}^{*})]w_{\rho}^{2}Z_{0j}\Big) \\ \mathcal{F}_{4}(\Phi) &= \mathcal{T}_{\lambda,4}\Big(\sum_{j=1}^{2}c_{-1,j}[h_{1}[p,\xi,\Psi^{*}(p,\xi,\Phi,Z_{0}^{*})]]w_{\rho}^{2}Z_{-1,j}\Big). \end{aligned}$$

Although \mathcal{F} also depends on p, ξ, Z_0^* we will omit this dependence from the notation for the moment.

Our next step is to solve problem (3.82).

• The inner problem.

Proposition 3.8. Assume that p and ξ satisfy estimates (3.52) and that Z_0^* satisfies (3.60). Then the system of equations (3.82) for $\Phi = (\phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3)$ has a solution $\Phi(p, \xi, Z_0^*)$ in $\overline{\mathcal{B}}_1 \subset E$.

Let $\Phi(p,\xi,Z_0^*)$ be the solution of (3.82) constructed in Proposition 3.8. Next we show that the solution $\Phi(p,\xi,Z_0^*)$ is Lipschitz in the parameters p,ξ,Z_0^* .

Proposition 3.9. Assume that p_1, p_2 and ξ_1, ξ_2 satisfy estimates (3.52) and that $Z_{0,1}^*, Z_{0,2}^*$ have the form

$$Z_{0,l}^* = Z_0^{*0} + Z_{0,l}^{*1}, \quad l = 1, 2,$$

with Z_0^{*0} satisfying (3.57) and

$$\|Z_{0,l}^{*1}\|_* \le T^{\sigma}$$

Let us write $p_j = \lambda_j e^{i\omega_j}$ for j = 1, 2. for some $\sigma > 0$. Then

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi(p_1,\xi_1,Z_{0,1}^*) - \Phi(p_2,\xi_2,Z_{0,2}^*)\|_E &\leq \lambda_*(0)^{\sigma} \Big[\|\lambda_*(\dot{\omega}_1 - \dot{\omega}_2)\|_{\infty} + \Big\| \frac{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}{\lambda_*} \Big\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ \|\dot{\lambda}_1 - \dot{\lambda}_2\|_{L^{\infty}} + \Big\| \frac{\xi_1 - \xi_2}{\lambda_*R} \Big\|_{L^{\infty}} + \Big\| \frac{\dot{\xi}_1 - \dot{\xi}_2}{R} \Big\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ \|Z_{0,1}^{*1} - Z_{0,2}^{*1}\|_* \Big], \end{split}$$

for some possibly smaller $\sigma > 0$.

With this we can now state the following result. Let $\Phi(p,\xi,Z_0^*)$ denote the solution of (3.82) constructed in Proposition 3.8.

Proposition 3.10. Given Z_0^* of the form (3.60) there exists $p = \lambda e^{i\omega}$ and ξ such that (3.79) and (3.80) are satisfied.

The proposition above yields the existence of a blow-up solution.

• Linear theory for the inner problem.

At the very heart of capturing the bubbling structure is the construction of an inverse for the linearized heat operator around the basic harmonic map. We consider the linear equation

$$\lambda^2 \partial_t \phi = L_W[\phi] + h(y,t) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}$$

$$\phi(\cdot,0) = 0 \quad \text{in } B_{2R(0)}$$

$$\phi \cdot W = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}$$

$$(3.83)$$

where

$$\mathcal{D}_{2R} = \{(y,t) \mid t \in (0,T), y \in B_{2R(t)}(0)\}$$

We assume that h(y,t) is defined for all $(y,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,T)$ and satisfies

$$h \cdot W = 0, \quad |h(y,t)| \le C \frac{\lambda_*^{\nu}}{(1+|y|)^a},$$

where $\nu > 0$ and $a \in (2,3)$ (so that $||h||_{a,\nu} < \infty$).

The parameter R is given by (3.54), that is $R(t) = \lambda_*(t)^{-\beta}$, $\beta \in (\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2})$. Also, we assume that the parameter function $\lambda(t)$ satisfies we have that

$$a\lambda_*(t) \le \lambda(t) \le b\lambda_*(t)$$
 for all $t \in (0,T)$

for some positive numbers a, b, c independent of T.

We observe that a priori we are not imposing boundary conditions in problem (3.83). Our purpose is to construct a solution ϕ that defines a linear operator of h and satisfies uniform bounds in terms of suitable norms.

All functions h(y,t) with $h(y,t) \cdot W(y) \equiv 0$ can be expressed in polar form as

$$h(y,t) = h^{1}(\rho,\theta,t)E_{1}(y) + h^{2}(\rho,\theta,t)E_{2}(y), \quad y = \rho e^{i\theta}.$$
(3.84)

We can also expand in Fourier series

$$\tilde{h}(\rho,\theta,t) := h^{1} + ih^{2} = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \tilde{h}_{k}(\rho,t)e^{ik\theta}, \quad \tilde{h}_{k} = \tilde{h}_{k1} + i\tilde{h}_{k2}$$
(3.85)

so that

$$h(y,t) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} h_k(y,t) =: h_0(y,t) + h_1(y,t) + h_{-1}(y,t) + h^{\perp}(y,t),$$
(3.86)

where

$$h_k(y,t) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\tilde{h}_k(\rho,t)e^{ik\theta}\right)E_1 + \operatorname{Im}\left(\tilde{h}_k(\rho,t)e^{ik\theta}\right)E_2.$$
(3.87)

$$\bar{h}_k(y,t) := \sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{\chi Z_{kj}(y)}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \chi |Z_{kj}|^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h(x,t) \cdot Z_{kj}(z) \, dz,$$

where

$$\chi(y,t) = \begin{cases} w_{\rho}^{2}(|y|) & \text{ if } |y| < 2R(t), \\ 0 & \text{ if } |y| \geq 2R(t). \end{cases}$$

The main result in this section is the following, where we use the norm $||h||_{a,\nu}$ defined in (3.62).

Proposition 3.11. Let 2 < a < 3, $\nu > 0$ and let h with $||h||_{a,\nu} < +\infty$. Let us write $h = h_0 + h_1 + h_{-1} + h^{\perp}$ with $h^{\perp} = \sum_{k \neq 0, \pm 1} h_k$. Then there exists a solution $\phi[h]$ of problem (3.83), which defines a linear operator of h, and satisfies the following estimate in \mathcal{D}_{2R} :

$$\begin{split} &(1+|y|) \left| \nabla_{y} \phi(y,t) \right| + \left| \phi(y,t) \right| \\ &\lesssim \frac{\lambda_{*}(t)^{\nu} R(t)^{\frac{5-a}{2}}}{1+|y|} \min\{1, R^{\frac{5-a}{2}} |y|^{-2}\} \left\| h_{0} - \bar{h}_{0} \right\|_{a,\nu} + \frac{\lambda_{*}(t)^{\nu} R(t)^{2}}{1+|y|} \left\| \bar{h}_{0} \right\|_{a,\nu} \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_{*}(t)^{\nu}}{1+|y|^{a-2}} \left\| h_{1} - \bar{h}_{1} \right\|_{a,\nu} + \frac{\lambda_{*}(t)^{\nu} R(t)^{4}}{1+|y|^{2}} \left\| \bar{h}_{1} \right\|_{a,\nu} \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_{*}(t)^{\nu} R(t)^{\frac{5-a}{2}}}{1+|y|} \min\{1, R^{\frac{5-a}{2}} |y|^{-2}\} \left\| h_{-1} - \bar{h}_{-1} \right\|_{a,\nu} + \lambda_{*}(t)^{\nu} \log R(t) \left\| \bar{h}_{-1} \right\|_{a,\nu} \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_{*}(t)^{\nu}}{1+|y|^{a-2}} \left\| h^{\perp} \right\|_{a,\nu}. \end{split}$$

The construction of the operator $\phi[h]$ as stated in the proposition will be carried out mode by mode in the Fourier series expansion. We shall use the convention that h(y,t) = 0 for |y| > 2R(t). Let us write

$$\phi = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi_k, \qquad \phi_k(y,t) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\varphi_k(\rho,t)e^{ik\theta}\right) E_1 + \operatorname{Im}\left(\varphi_k(\rho,t)e^{ik\theta}\right) E_2$$

We shall build a solution of (3.83) by solving separately each of the equations

$$\lambda^{2} \partial_{t} \phi_{k} = L_{W}[\phi_{k}] + h_{k}(y, t) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{4R},$$

$$\phi_{k}(y, 0) = 0 \quad \text{in } B_{4R(0)}(0),$$
(3.88)

which, are equivalent to the problems

$$\lambda^2 \partial_t \varphi_k = \mathcal{L}_k[\varphi_k] + \dot{h}_k(\rho, t) \quad \text{in } \dot{D}_{4R},$$

$$\varphi_k(\rho, 0) = 0 \quad \text{in } (0, 4R_0)$$

with

$$\tilde{D}_{4R} = \{ (\rho, t) \ / \ t \in (0, T), \ \rho \in (0, 4R(t)) \}$$

and we recall

$$\mathcal{L}_k[\varphi_k] := \partial_\rho^2 \varphi_k + \frac{\partial_\rho \varphi_k}{\rho} - (k^2 + 2k\cos w + \cos(2w))\frac{\varphi_k}{\rho^2}$$

We have the validity of the following result.

Lemma 3.1. Let $\nu > 0$ and 0 < a < 3, $a \neq 1, 2$. Assume that

$$\|h_k(y,t)\|_{a,\nu} < +\infty.$$

Then problem (3.88) has a unique bounded solution $\phi_k(y,t)$ of the form

$$\phi_k(y,t) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\varphi_k(\rho,t)e^{ik\theta}\right)E_1 + \operatorname{Im}\left(\varphi_k(\rho,t)e^{ik\theta}\right)E_2$$

which in addition satisfies the boundary condition

$$\phi_k(y,t) = 0 \quad \text{for all } t \in (0,T), \quad y \in \partial B_{R(t)}(0). \tag{3.89}$$

These solutions satisfy the estimates

$$\begin{aligned} |\phi_k(y,t)| &\leq C \|h\|_{a,\nu} \,\lambda_*^{\nu} k^{-2} \begin{cases} R^{2-a} & \text{if } a < 2, \\ (1+\rho)^{2-a} & \text{if } a > 2, \end{cases} & \text{if } k \geq 2. \\ \\ |\phi_{-1}(y,t)| &\leq C \|h\|_{a,\nu} \,\lambda_*^{\nu} \begin{cases} R^{2-a} & \text{if } a < 2, \\ \log R & \text{if } a > 2, \end{cases} \\ \\ |\phi_0(y,t)| &\leq C \|h\|_{a,\nu} \lambda_*^{\nu} (1+\rho)^{-1} \begin{cases} R^2 & \text{if } a > 1, \\ R^{3-a} & \text{if } a < 1, \end{cases} \\ \\ |\phi_1(y,t)| &\leq C \|h\|_{a,\nu} \lambda_*^{\nu} (1+\rho)^{-2} R^4. \end{aligned}$$

with C independent of R and k.

Proof. Standard parabolic theory yields existence of a unique solution to equation (3.88) that satisfies the boundary condition (3.89), for each k. Equivalently, the problem

$$\lambda^{2} \partial_{t} \varphi_{k} = \mathcal{L}_{k}[\varphi_{k}] + \tilde{h}_{k}(\rho, t) \quad \text{in } \tilde{D}_{4R}, \tag{3.90}$$
$$\varphi_{k}(t, 4R) = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0, T)$$
$$\varphi_{k}(0, \rho) = 0 \quad \text{in } (0, 4R(0)),$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{k}[\varphi_{k}] = \partial_{\rho}^{2} \varphi_{k} + \frac{\partial_{\rho} \varphi_{k}}{\rho} - (k^{2} + 2k \cos w + \cos(2w)) \frac{\varphi_{k}}{\rho^{2}}$$

has a unique solution $\varphi_k(\rho, t)$ which is bounded in ρ for each t.

We use barriers to derive the desired estimates. A first observation we make is that for mode k = -1 the elliptic equation $\mathcal{L}_{-1}[\varphi] + g(\rho) = 0$ in (0, 4R) with $\varphi(4R) = 0$ has a unique bounded solution given by the variation of parameters formula

$$\varphi(\rho) := Z_{-1}(\rho) \int_{\rho}^{4R} \frac{dr}{\rho Z_{-1}(r)^2} \int_{0}^{r} g(s) Z_{-1}(s) s \, ds, \tag{3.91}$$
$$Z_{-1}(\rho) = -\rho^2 w_{\rho} = \frac{2\rho^2}{\rho^2 + 1}.$$

Here we have used that $\mathcal{L}_{-1}[Z_{-1}] = 0$. Let us call $\varphi_0(\rho)$ the function in (3.91) with $g(\rho) := 2(1+\rho)^{-a}$. We readily estimate

$$|\varphi_0(\rho)| \leq \begin{cases} R^{2-a} & \text{if } a < 2, \\ (1+\rho)^{2-a} & \text{if } a > 2. \end{cases}$$

Let us call $\bar{\varphi}(\rho, t) = \lambda_*(t)^{\nu} \varphi_0(\rho)$. Then we see that

$$-\lambda^{2}\bar{\varphi}_{t}(\rho,t) + \mathcal{L}_{-1}[\bar{\varphi}(\rho,t)] + \frac{\lambda_{*}^{\nu}}{(1+\rho)^{a}} \leq c\,\lambda_{*}^{\nu+1}|\dot{\lambda}_{*}|\varphi_{0}(\rho) - \frac{\lambda_{*}^{\nu}}{(1+\rho)^{a}} \\ \leq -\lambda_{*}^{\nu}(1+\rho)^{-a}\left[1 - C\lambda_{*}R^{2-a}(1+\rho)^{a}\right] \\ < 0$$

in \tilde{D}_{4R} . Indeed, since $R(t) \ll \lambda_*^{-\frac{1}{2}}$, the inequality holds provided that T was chosen sufficiently small. Thus for k = -1 the barrier $\|h\|_{a,\nu} \bar{\varphi}(\rho, t)$ dominates both, real and imaginary parts of $\varphi_{-1}(\rho, t)$. As a conclusion, we find

$$|\phi_{-1}(y,t)| \leq C ||h||_{a,\nu} \lambda_*^{\nu} \begin{cases} R^{2-a} & \text{if } a < 2, \\ (1+\rho)^{2-a} & \text{if } a > 2, \end{cases} \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_{4R}$$

The cases k = 0, 1, -2 can be dealt with in exactly the same manner, by replacing Z_{-1} in Formula (3.91) respectively by the functions

$$Z_0(\rho) = \frac{\rho}{\rho^2 + 1}, \quad Z_1(\rho) = \frac{1}{\rho^2 + 1}, \quad Z_{-2}(\rho) = \frac{\rho^3}{\rho^2 + 1}.$$
(3.92)

The estimates for ϕ_k predicted in the lemma then readily follow for k = -2, -1, 0, 1. Finally, let us now consider k with $|k| \ge 2$ and $k \ne -2$ and the function $\overline{\varphi}(\rho, t)$ as above. Now we find

$$\begin{aligned} -\lambda^{2} \bar{\varphi}_{t}(\rho, t) + \mathcal{L}_{k}[\bar{\varphi}(\rho, t)] &\leq (\mathcal{L}_{k} - \mathcal{L}_{-1})[\bar{\varphi}(\rho, t)] \\ &\leq -C\lambda_{*}^{\nu}(k^{2} - 1 + 2(k - 1))\frac{1}{\rho^{2}}(1 + \rho)^{2-a} \\ &< -C(k^{2} - 1 + 2(k - 1))\frac{\lambda_{*}^{\nu}}{(1 + \rho)^{a}} \quad \text{in } \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{4R} \end{aligned}$$

The latter quantity is negative provided that $|k| \ge 2$ and $k \ne -2$ and hence we get the estimate

$$|\phi_k(y,t)| \leq \frac{C}{k^2} ||h||_{a,\nu} \lambda_*^{-\nu} \begin{cases} R^{2-a} & \text{if } a < 2, \\ (1+\rho)^{2-a} & \text{if } a > 2, \end{cases} \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_{4R}.$$

The proof is concluded.

We can get gradient estimates for the solutions built in the above lemma by means of the following result. Lemma 3.2. Let ϕ be a solution of the equation

$$\lambda^2 \partial_t \phi = L_W[\phi] + h(y,t) \quad in \ \mathcal{D}_{4\gamma R}$$

$$\phi(\cdot,0) = 0 \quad in \ B_{4\gamma R(0)}.$$

$$(3.93)$$

Given numbers a, b, γ , there exists a C such that if for some M > 0 we have

$$|\phi(y,t)| + (1+|y|)^2 |h(y,t)| \le M \,\lambda_*(t)^b (1+|y|)^{-a} \quad in \ \mathcal{D}_{4\gamma R},\tag{3.94}$$

then

$$(1+|y|)|\nabla_{y}\phi(y,t)| \leq C M\lambda_{*}(t)^{b}(1+|y|)^{-a} \quad in \mathcal{D}_{3\gamma R}$$
(3.95)

and we recall

 $\mathcal{D}_{\gamma R} = \{ (y, t) / |y| < \gamma R(t), \quad t \in (0, T) \}.$

If in addition we know that ϕ satisfies the boundary condition $\phi(\cdot, t) = 0$ on $\partial B_{4\gamma R(t)}$ for all $t \in (0,T)$ then estimate (3.95) holds in the entire region $\mathcal{D}_{4\gamma R}$.

Proof. To prove the gradient estimates, we change the time variable, defining

$$\tau(t) = \int_0^t \frac{ds}{\lambda(s)^2},$$

so that (3.93) becomes in the variables (y, τ)

$$\partial_{\tau}\phi = L_W[\phi] + h(y,\tau) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{4\gamma R}$$

$$\phi(\cdot,0) = 0 \quad \text{in } B_{4R(0)}$$

GLUING METHOD

Let $\tau_1 > 0$ and $y_1 \in B_{3\gamma R(\tau_1)}(0)$. Let $\rho = \frac{|y_1|}{5} + 1$ so that $B_{\rho}(y_1) \subset B_{4\gamma R(\tau_1)}(0)$. Let us define

$$\tilde{\phi}(z,t) := \phi(y_1 + \rho z, \tau_1 + \rho^2 s), \quad z \in B_1(0), \quad s > -\frac{\tau_1}{\rho^2}.$$

We distinguish two cases. First, when $\tau_1 \ge \rho^2$, we use interior estimates for parabolic equations, while for the case $\tau_1 < \rho^2$, we use estimates for a parabolic equation with initial condition.

Assume $\tau_1 \ge \rho^2$. Then $\tilde{\phi}(z,s)$ satisfies an equation of the form

$$\tilde{\phi}_s = \Delta_z \tilde{\phi} + A \nabla_z \tilde{\phi} + B \tilde{\phi} + \tilde{h}(z,s) \text{ in } B_1(0) \times (-1,0]$$

with coefficients A(z,s) and B(z,s) uniformly bounded by $O((1+\rho)^{-2})$ in $B_1(0) \times (-1,0]$ and

$$\tilde{h}(z,s) = \rho^2 h(y_1 + \rho z, \tau_1 + \rho^2 s)$$

Since $\rho \leq CR(\tau_1)$ and $R(\tau_1)^2 \ll \tau_1$ for τ_1 large we get

$$\lambda_*(\tau_1)^b \lesssim \lambda_*(\tau_1 + \rho^2 s)^b \lesssim \lambda_*(\tau_1)^b, \quad s \in (-1, 0].$$

Standard parabolic estimates and assumption (3.94) yield

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla_z \phi\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\frac{1}{4}}(0)\times(1,2))} &\lesssim \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}B_{\frac{1}{2}}(0)\times(0,2)} + \|h\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\frac{1}{2}}(0)\times(0,2))} \\ &\lesssim M\lambda_*(\tau_1)^b \rho^{2-a}, \end{split}$$

so that in particular

$$\rho |\nabla_y \phi(y_1, \tau_1)| = |\nabla_z \phi(0, 1)| \lesssim M \lambda_*(\tau_1)^b \rho^{2-a}.$$

In the case $\tau_1 \ge \rho^2$ the argument is similar, but the equation for ϕ holds in $B_1(0) \times (-\frac{\tau_1}{\rho^2}, 0]$ and has initial condition 0 at $s = -\frac{\tau_1}{\rho^2}$. Finally, for the last assertion we argue in similar way but using boundary rather that interior gradient estimates.

In addition to estimate (3.95) we have a Hölder gradient estimate which is more natural to express using the variable τ as follows. We denote

$$\mathcal{B}_{\ell}(y,\tau) = \{ (y',\tau') \ / \ |y-y'|^2 + |\tau'-\tau| < \ell^2 \}.$$

For a function $g(y, \tau)$, a number $0 < \alpha < 1$, and a set A we let

$$[g]_{\alpha,A} := \sup \Big\{ \frac{|f(y,\tau) - f(y',\tau')|}{(|y-y'|^2 + |\tau' - \tau|)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}} \ / \ (y,\tau), \ (y',\tau') \in A \Big\}.$$

Corollary 3.3. Let ϕ be a solution of the equation (3.93) with $h(y,\tau) = \operatorname{div} H(y,\tau)$. Given $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and constants a, b, γ there is C such that if

$$|\phi(y,\tau)| + (1+|y|)|H(y,\tau)| + (1+|y|)^{1+\alpha}[H]_{\mathcal{B}_{\ell}(y)(y,\tau)\cap\mathcal{D}_{4\gamma R}} \le M\,\lambda_*(\tau)^b(1+|y|)^{-a}$$

in $\mathcal{D}_{4\gamma R}$, where $\ell(y) = 1 + \frac{|y|}{4}$, then

$$(1+|y|)|\nabla_y \phi(y,\tau)| + (1+|y|)^{1+\alpha} [\nabla_y \phi]_{\mathcal{B}_{\ell(y)}(y,\tau) \cap \mathcal{D}_{4\gamma R}} \le C M \lambda_*(t)^b (1+|y|)^{-a}$$
(3.96)

in $\mathcal{D}_{3\gamma R}$. If in addition we know that ϕ satisfies the boundary condition $\phi(\cdot, t) = 0$ on $\partial B_{4\gamma R(t)}$ for all $t \in (0,T)$ then estimate (3.96) holds in the entire region $\mathcal{D}_{4\gamma R}$.

Our next goal is to construct an inverse for modes k = -1, 0, 1 with a better control when subject to a certain solvability condition.

• Mode k = 0. Let us consider again equation (3.88) for k = 0 and the functions $Z_{0j}(y)$ defined in (3.10). We have the following result.

Lemma 3.3. Let assume that 2 < a < 3, k = 0 and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h_0(y,t) \cdot Z_{0j}(y) \, dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in [0,T)$$
(3.97)

for j = 1, 2. Then there exist a solution ϕ_0 to equation (3.88) for k = 0 that defines a linear operator of h_0 and satisfies the estimate in \mathcal{D}_{3R} ,

$$|\phi_0(y,t)| \lesssim ||h_0||_{a,\nu} R^{\frac{5-a}{2}} \lambda_*^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{-1} \min\{1, R^{\frac{5-a}{2}} |y|^{-2}\}.$$
(3.98)

A central feature of estimate (3.98) is that it matches the size of the solutions obtained in Lemma 3.1 for $k \neq 0, 1$ when $|y| \sim R$.

Proof. We observe that conditions (3.97) can be written as

$$\int_{0}^{2R} \tilde{h}_{0}(\rho, t) Z_{0}(\rho) \rho \, d\rho = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad \tau \in (0, T).$$
(3.99)

Let us consider the complex valued functions

$$\tilde{H}_0(\rho,t) := -Z_0(\rho) \int_{\rho}^{\infty} \frac{1}{sZ_0(s)^2} \int_s^{\infty} \tilde{h}_0(\zeta,t) Z_0(\zeta) \zeta \, d\zeta, \quad k = 0, 1.$$

They are well-defined thanks to (3.99). Then the function

$$H_0(y,t) := \operatorname{Re}\left(\tilde{H}_0(\rho,\tau)\right) E_1(y) + \operatorname{Re}\left(\tilde{H}_0(\rho,t)\right) E_2(y)$$

solves

$$L_W[H_0(y,\tau)] = h_0(y,\tau) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{4R}$$

and satisfies

$$|H_0(y,t)| \lesssim \lambda_*(t)^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{2-a} ||h_0||_{a,\nu} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{4R}$$

Moreover, elliptic gradient estimates yield

$$|\nabla_y H_0(y,\tau)| \lesssim \lambda_*(t)^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{1-a} ||h_0||_{a,\nu}$$
 in \mathcal{D}_{3R} .

Let us consider the problem

$$\lambda^{2} \Phi_{t} = L_{W}[\Phi] + H_{0}(y, t) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{4R},$$

$$\Phi(y, 0) = 0 \quad \text{in } B_{4R}(0)$$

$$\Phi(y, t) = 0 \quad \text{for all } t \in (0, T), \quad y \in \partial B_{4R(0)}(0)$$
(3.100)

According to Lemma 3.1, this problem has unique solution $\Phi = \Phi_0$ that satisfies the estimates

$$|\Phi_0(y,t)| \leq C ||H_0||_{a-2,\nu} \lambda_*(\tau)^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{-1} R^{5-a}$$
 in \mathcal{D}_{4R}

Applying Lemma 3.2 we deduce that, also,

$$|\nabla_y \Phi_0(y,t)| \lesssim ||H_0||_{a-2,\nu} \lambda_*(\tau)^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{-2} R^{5-a}$$
 in \mathcal{D}_{3R}

Let us write

$$\Phi_{0j} := \partial_{y_j} \Phi_0, \quad H_{0j} := \partial_{y_j} H_0$$

Then we have

$$\lambda^2 \partial_t \Phi_{0j} = L_W[\Phi_{0j}] + \partial_{y_j} |\nabla W|^2 \Phi_0 + 2\nabla \partial_{y_j} W \nabla \Phi_0 + H_{0j}(y,\tau) + 2(\nabla \Phi_0 \partial_{y_j} \nabla W) W + 2(\nabla \Phi_0 \nabla W) \partial_{y_j} W \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{3R},$$

$$\Phi_{0j}(y,0) = 0$$
 for all $y \in B_{3R(0)}(0)$

According to Lemma 3.2 and the above estimates we obtain that

$$(1+|y|)|\nabla \Phi_{0j}(y,t)| \lesssim ||h_0||_{a,\nu} \lambda_*(t)^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{-2} R^{5-a} + ||h_0||_{a,\nu} \lambda_*(t)^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{4-a} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{3R}.$$

Then we define

$$\phi_0 := L_W[\Phi_0]$$

so that $\phi = \phi_0$ solves

$$\lambda^2 \phi_t = L_W[\phi] + h_0(y, t) \quad \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{3R},$$

$$\phi(y, 0) = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad y \in B_{3R(0)}(0)$$

and defines a linear operator of the function h_0 . Moreover, observing that

$$|L_W[\Phi_0]| \lesssim |D_y^2 \Phi_0| + O(\rho^{-4}) |\Phi_0| + O(\rho^{-2}) |D_y \Phi_0|$$

we then get the estimate

$$|\phi_0(y,t)| \lesssim ||h_0||_{a,\nu} R^{5-a} \lambda_*(t)^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{-3}.$$

(3.101)

To complete the proof of estimate (3.98), we let φ_0 be the complex valued function defined as

$$\phi_0(y,t) = \operatorname{Re}(\varphi_0(\rho,t)) E_1 + \operatorname{Im}(\varphi_0(\rho,t)) E_2$$

so that letting $R' = R^{\frac{5-a}{4}} \ll R$, using the notation in (3.90), φ_0 satisfies the equation

$$\lambda^{2} \partial_{t} \varphi_{0} = \mathcal{L}_{0}[\varphi_{0}] + h_{0}(\rho, t) \quad \text{in } D_{R'},$$

$$\varphi_{0}(0, \rho) = 0 \quad \text{in } (0, R'),$$
(3.102)

and from (3.101), we can find an explicit supersolution for the real and imaginary parts of equation (3.102), which also dominates their boundary values at R', which yields

$$|\varphi_0(y,t)| \lesssim ||h_0||_{a,\nu} \lambda_*^{\nu} |R'|^2 (1+|y|)^{-1}, \quad |y| < R'.$$

Combining this estimate and (3.101) yields the validity of (3.98).

We mention next a variant of Lemma 3.3, in which we weaken the hypothesis on the right hand side, allowing it to be a divergence of Hölder continuous function. This will be needed when analyzing estimates of the derivative with respect to λ of operator $\mathcal{T}_{\lambda,2}$ (Proposition 3.3).

Lemma 3.4. Let assume that 2 < a < 3, $\nu > 0$, and k = 0. Let h_0 have the form

 $h_0(y,\tau) = \operatorname{div} H_0(y,\tau)$

such that

$$1 + |y|)|H_0(y,\tau)| + (1 + |y|)^{1+\alpha}[H_0]_{\mathcal{B}_\ell(y)(y,\tau)\cap\mathcal{D}_{4R}} \le \lambda_*(\tau)^{\nu}(1 + |y|)^{-a}$$

in \mathcal{D}_{4R} , where $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $\ell(y) = 1 + \frac{|y|}{4}$. Assume also that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h_0(y,t) \cdot Z_{0j}(y) \, dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in [0,T)$$

for j = 1, 2. Then there exist a solution ϕ_0 to equation (3.88) for k = 0 that defines a linear operator of h_0 and satisfies

$$|\phi_0(y,t)| \lesssim ||h_0||_{a,\nu} R^{\frac{5-a}{2}} \lambda_0^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{-1} \min\{1, R^{\frac{5-a}{2}} |y|^{-2}\},$$

in \mathcal{D}_{3R} .

• Mode k = -1. Let us consider equation (3.88) for k = -1 and the functions $Z_{-1j}(y)$ defined in (3.11). We have the following result.

Lemma 3.5. Let assume that 2 < a < 3, k = 0 and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h_{-1}(y,t) \cdot Z_{-1j}(y) \, dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in [0,T)$$

for j = 1, 2. Then there exist a solution ϕ_{-1} to equation (3.88) for k = -1 that defines a linear operator of h_0 and satisfies the estimate in \mathcal{D}_{3R} ,

 $|\phi_{-1}(y,t)| \lesssim ||h_{-1}||_{a,\nu} \lambda_*^{\nu} \min\{\log R, R^{4-a}|y|^{-2}\}.$

Proof. The proof is essentially the same as that of Lemma 3.3.

• Mode k = 1. Now we deal with (3.88) for k = 1. For convenience we give the result for a right hand side more general than strictly need for the proof of Proposition 3.11. Let us assume that h_1 is defined in entire $\mathbb{R}^2 \times (0, T)$ and that

$$h_1(y,t) = \operatorname{div}_y G(y,t) \tag{3.103}$$

where

$$|G(y,t)| \le \frac{\lambda_*(t)^{\nu}}{1+|y|^{a-1}}, \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^2, \ t \in (0,T),$$
(3.104)

for some $\nu > 0$, $a \in (2,3)$. Then the following result holds.

Lemma 3.6. Let assume that 2 < a < 3, k = 1, h_1 has the form (3.103) so that (3.104) holds and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h_1(y,t) \cdot Z_1^j(y) \, dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0,T)$$

for j = 1, 2. Then there exist a solution ϕ_1 to equation (3.88) for k = 1 that defines a linear operator of h_1 and satisfies the estimate in \mathcal{D}_{3R} ,

$$|\phi_1(y,t)| \lesssim \lambda_*(t)^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{2-a}.$$

From this we get directly the next result.

Corollary 3.4. Let assume that 2 < a < 3, k = 1 and

$$\int_{B_{2R}} h_1(y,t) \cdot Z_1^j(y) \, dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0,T)$$

for j = 1, 2. Then there exist a solution ϕ_1 to equation (3.88) for k = 1 that defines a linear operator of h_1 and satisfies the estimate in \mathcal{D}_{3R} ,

$$|\phi_1(y,t)| \lesssim ||h_1||_{a,\nu} \lambda_*(t)^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{2-a}$$
.

Let us do the same change of the time variable so that (3.88) for k = 1 in entire \mathbb{R}^2 becomes in the variables (y, τ)

$$\partial_{\tau}\phi = L_W[\phi] + h \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2 \times (0, \infty), \tag{3.105}$$

$$\phi(\cdot, 0) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2.$$

Thus, we consider a function $h(y,\tau)$ defined in entire $\mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,+\infty)$ of the form

$$h = \operatorname{Re}\left(\tilde{h}e^{i\theta}\right)E_1 + \operatorname{Im}\left(\tilde{h}e^{i\theta}\right)E_2, \qquad (3.106)$$

that satisfies the orthogonality conditions for j = 1, 2

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h(\cdot,\tau) \cdot Z_{1j} = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad \tau \in (0,\infty)$$
(3.107)

and such that $h(y, \tau) = 0$ for $|y| \ge 2R(\tau)$.

By standard parabolic theory, this problem has a unique solution, which is therefore of the form

$$\phi = \operatorname{Re}\left(\varphi e^{i\theta}\right) E_1 + \operatorname{Im}\left(\varphi e^{i\theta}\right) E_2, \qquad (3.108)$$

where the complex valued function $\varphi(\rho, \tau)$ solves the initial value problem

We have the validity of the following result.

Lemma 3.7. Let $0 < \sigma < 1$, $\nu > 0$. Assume that h is mode 1, that is, has the form (3.106), satisfies the orthogonality conditions (3.107), and can be written as in (3.103) with g_j satisfying (3.104) where $b = 1 + \sigma$. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that the solution ϕ of problem (3.105) satisfies the estimate

$$|\phi(y,t)| \le C \frac{\lambda_*(t)^{\nu}}{1+|y|^{\sigma}}.$$
(3.110)

The proof of this result is done by the blow-up argument together with a Liouville theorem, a non-degeneracy of the blow-up profile, and the convolution estimates in order to get a contradiction. See Appendix B.

Proof of Lemma 3.6. We take h to be the extension as zero of the function h_1 as in the statement of the lemma. Then we let ϕ be the unique solution of the initial value problem (3.105), which clearly defines a linear operator of h_1 . From Lemma 3.7, expressing the resulting estimate in the variables (y, t), we have that for any $t_1 \in (0, T)$

$$|\phi(y,t)| \le C\lambda_*(t)^{\nu}(1+|y|)^{-\sigma} ||h||_{2+\sigma,t_1} \quad \text{for all} \quad t \in (0,t_1), \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

Then letting $\phi_1 := \phi \big|_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}}$ and letting $t_1 \uparrow T$ the result follows.

Combining the estimates for all the modes readily yields the validity of Proposition 3.11.

• Modified theory for mode 0 (re-gluing).

We will perform another gluing procedure that we refer to as the re-gluing process, for mode 0 to further refine the estimates. The re-gluing is not limited to this specific mode and can be in fact applied to a wider class of operators. For a more general setting, see Appendix D.

Let us consider the problem

$$\begin{cases} \varphi_{\tau} = L_{W}\varphi + h(y,\tau) + \sum_{j=1,2} \tilde{c}_{0j} Z_{0j} w_{\rho}^{2} & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \varphi \cdot W = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \varphi = 0 & \text{on } \partial B_{2R} \times (\tau_{0},\infty) \\ \varphi(\cdot,\tau_{0}) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R(\tau_{0})}, \end{cases}$$

$$(3.111)$$

in mode 0. We work with the norm $\| \|_{\nu,b}$ defined in (3.62).

Proposition 3.12. Let $\sigma \in (0,1)$, $\delta \in (0,1)$, $\nu > 0$. Assume $||h||_{\nu,2+\sigma} < \infty$. Then there is a solution ϕ , \tilde{c}_{0j} of (3.111), which is linear in h, such that

$$|\varphi(y,\tau)| + (1+|y|)|\nabla_y \varphi(y,\tau)| \le C\tau^{-\nu} \|h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma} \begin{cases} \frac{R^{\delta(3-\sigma)}}{(1+|y|)^3} & |y| \le 2R^{\delta} \\ \frac{1}{(1+|y|)^{\sigma}} & 2R^{\delta} \le |y| \le R, \end{cases}$$

and such that

$$\tilde{c}_{0j}[h] = -\frac{\int_{B_{\mathbb{R}^2}} h \cdot Z_{0j}}{\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} w_{\rho}^2 |Z_{0j}|^2} - G[h]$$

where G is a linear operator of h satisfying the estimate

$$|G[h]| \le C\tau^{-\nu} R^{-\delta\sigma'} ||h||_{\nu,2+\sigma}.$$

with $0 < \sigma' < \sigma$.

We will construct φ solving (3.111) of the form

$$\varphi = \eta \phi + \psi$$

where

$$\eta(y,\tau) = \eta_1 \Big(\frac{|y|}{R_1}\Big)$$

and $\eta_1(r) = 1$ for $r \le 1$, $\eta_1(r) = 0$ for $r \ge 2$. Here $R_1 = R^{\delta}$.

We find a solution to (3.111) if we get ϕ , ψ solving the system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi = L_{W}\phi + B\psi + h(y,\tau) + \sum_{j=1,2} c_{0j}Z_{0j}w_{\rho}^{2} & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R_{1}} \\ \phi \cdot W = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R_{1}} \\ \phi(\cdot,\tau_{0}) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R_{1}(\tau_{0})}, \end{cases} \\ (3.112)$$

$$(3.112)$$

$$(3.112)$$

$$(3.112)$$

$$(3.113)$$

$$(4.113)$$

$$(4.113)$$

$$(4.113)$$

$$(4.113)$$

$$(4.113)$$

$$(4.113)$$

where

$$B\psi = |\nabla W|^2 \psi + 2(\nabla W \cdot \nabla \psi)W$$
$$A\phi = \phi \Delta \eta + 2\nabla \phi \nabla \eta - \phi \eta_t + \phi (\nabla W \nabla \eta)W.$$

 $\operatorname{Consider}$

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\psi = \Delta\psi + (1-\eta)B\psi + h(y,\tau) & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \psi \cdot W = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \psi = 0 & \text{on } \partial B_{2R} \times (\tau_0,\infty), \\ \psi(y,\tau_0) = 0 \quad \forall y \in B_{2R}, \end{cases}$$

$$(3.114)$$

Let

$$\|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)} = \sup_{\mathcal{D}_{2R}} \tau^{\nu} (1+|y|)^{\sigma} \left[|\psi(y,\tau)| + (1+|y|) |\nabla_y \psi(y,\tau)| \right]$$

Lemma 3.8. Let $\sigma \in (0,1)$, $\nu > 0$ and let ψ solve (3.114). If R_1 is sufficiently large, then

$$\|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)} \le C \|h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma}.$$
(3.115)

If in (3.114) h is replaced by $(1 - \eta)h$ we get the additional estimate

$$|\psi(y,t)| + R_1 |\nabla \psi(y,t)| \le \frac{1}{\tau^{\nu}} \frac{1}{R_1^{\sigma}} \quad |y| \le 2R_1.$$

Proof. To prove this lemma, we first claim that for the equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\psi = \Delta\psi + h(y,\tau) & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R} \\ \psi = 0 & \text{on } \partial B_{2R} \times (\tau_0,\infty) \\ \psi(y,\tau_0) = 0 & \forall y \in B_{2R}, \end{cases}$$

in mode 0, we have

$$\|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)} \le C \|h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma}.$$
(3.116)

To find the estimate for the solution of (3.114) we need to estimate $||(1-\eta)B\psi||_{\nu,2+\sigma}$. We have that

$$(1-\eta)|\nabla W|^{2}|\psi| \leq (1-\eta)\tau^{-\nu}(1+|y|)^{-4-\sigma} \|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)}$$
$$\leq R_{1}^{-2}\tau^{-\nu}(1+|y|)^{-2-\sigma} \|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)}.$$

Similarly

$$\begin{aligned} (1-\eta)|\nabla W \cdot \nabla \psi)W| &\leq (1-\eta)\tau^{-\nu}(1+|y|)^{-3-\sigma} \|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)} \\ &\leq R_1^{-1}\tau^{-\nu}(1+|y|)^{-2-\sigma} \|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore

$$\|(1-\eta)B\psi\|_{\nu,2+\sigma} \le CR_1^{-1}\|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)}$$

Then, if ψ satisfies (3.114), using (3.116) we get

$$\|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)} \le C\|(1-\eta)B\psi + h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma} \le CR_1^{-1}\|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)} + C\|h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma}$$

If R_1 is large enough, we obtain (3.115).

Proof of Proposition 3.12. We use Lemma 3.8 to find a solution $\psi[\phi]$ of (3.114) with h replaced by $A\phi$, and a solution $\psi[h]$ of (3.114) with h replaced by $(1 - \eta)h$, so that $\psi[\phi] + \psi[h]$ is the solution of (3.113).

Let $\sigma_1 \in (0,1)$. We also get the estimate

$$\|\psi[\phi]\|_{\nu,\sigma_1}^{(1)} \le C \|A\phi\|_{\nu,2+\sigma_1}.$$
(3.117)

We take $R_1 = R^{\delta}$ and construct a solution of the system (3.112), (3.113). For this it suffices to find ϕ such that

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi = L_{W}\phi + B\psi[\phi] + B\psi[h] + h(y,\tau) + \sum_{j=1,2} c_{0j}Z_{0j}\chi_{B_{1}} & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R_{1}} \\ \phi \cdot W = 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R_{1}} \\ \phi(\cdot,\tau_{0}) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R_{1}(\tau_{0})}. \end{cases}$$
(3.118)

Let \mathcal{T} denote the linear operator given by Lemma 3.3, Applied in \mathcal{D}_{2R_1} . Then to solve (3.118) we consider the fixed point problem

$$\phi = \mathcal{T}[B\psi[\phi] + B\psi[h] + h].$$

Let $\sigma \in (0, 1)$. By Lemma 3.3,

$$\|\mathcal{T}[g]\|_{*,\nu,2+\sigma} \le \|g\|_{\nu,2+\sigma},\tag{3.119}$$

where

$$\|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma} = \sup \frac{\tau^{\nu}(1+|y|)^3}{R_1^{3-\sigma}} \left[|\phi(y,\tau)| + (1+|y|) |\nabla_y \phi(y,\tau)| \right]$$

We claim that if

 $\sigma_1 < \sigma$

then

$$\|A\phi\|_{\nu,2+\sigma_1} \le CR_1(0)^{\sigma_1-\sigma} \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma}.$$
(3.120)

Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} |\phi\Delta\eta| &\leq \frac{1}{R_1^2} \tau^{-\nu} \frac{R_1^{3-\sigma}}{(1+|y|)^3} |\Delta\eta_1| \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma} \leq C \tau^{-\nu} \frac{R_1^{\sigma_1-\sigma}}{(1+|y|)^{2+\sigma_1}} \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma} \\ &\leq C R_1(0)^{\sigma_1-\sigma} \tau^{-\nu} \frac{1}{(1+|y|)^{2+\sigma_1}} \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma}. \end{split}$$

Similarly

$$|\nabla\phi\nabla\eta| \le \frac{1}{R_1} \tau^{-\nu} \frac{R_1^{3-\sigma}}{(1+|y|)^4} |\nabla\eta_1| \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma} \le C \tau^{-\nu} \frac{R_1^{\sigma_1-\sigma}}{(1+|y|)^{2+\sigma_1}} \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma}$$

Similar estimates for the remaining terms in A prove (3.120).

From (3.117) and (3.120) we find

$$\|\psi[\phi]\|_{\nu,\sigma_1}^{(1)} \le CR_1(0)^{\sigma_1 - \sigma} \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma}.$$
(3.121)

Now we claim that

$$\|B\psi\|_{\nu,2+\sigma} \le C \|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma_1}^{(1)}.$$
(3.122)

Indeed, since $|\nabla W|^2 \leq C(1+|y|)^{-4}$, we have

$$|\nabla W|^2 |\psi| \le C \frac{\tau^{-\nu}}{(1+|y|)^{4+\sigma_1}} \|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma_1}^{(1)} \le C \frac{\tau^{-\nu}}{(1+|y|)^{2+\sigma}} \|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma_1}^{(1)}$$

Also

$$|(\nabla W \cdot \nabla \psi)W| \le C \frac{\tau^{-\nu}}{(1+|y|)^{3+\sigma_1}} \|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma_1}^{(1)} \le C \frac{\tau^{-\nu}}{(1+|y|)^{2+\sigma}} \|\psi\|_{\nu,\sigma_1}^{(1)}$$

These two inequalities prove (3.122).

Combining (3.122) and (3.121) we get

$$\|B\psi[\phi\|_{\nu,2+\sigma} \le C \|\psi[\phi]\|_{\nu,\sigma_1}^{(1)} \le CR_1(0)^{\sigma_1-\sigma} \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma}.$$

; From the above inequality and (3.119) we then get

$$\|\mathcal{T}[B\psi[\phi]]\|_{*,\nu,\sigma} \le CR_1(0)^{\sigma_1-\sigma} \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma},$$

which shows that the operator $\phi \mapsto \mathcal{T}[B\psi[\phi] + B\psi[h] + h]$ is a contraction if $R_1(0)$ is sufficiently large, and we find a unique fixed point, which satisfies the estimate

$$\|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma} \le C \|\mathcal{T}[B\psi[h] + h]\|_{*,\nu,\sigma}.$$
(3.123)

Next we estimate $\|\mathcal{T}[B\psi[h] + h]\|_{*,\nu,\sigma}$. We have by (3.119)

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{T}[B\psi[h]+h]\|_{*,\nu,\sigma} &\leq C \|B\psi[h]+h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma} \\ &\leq C \|\psi[h]\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)} + \|h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma} \leq C \|h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma}, \end{aligned}$$

and hence

$$\|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma} \le C \|h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma}.$$
(3.124)

Similar to (3.121) we have

 $\|\psi[\phi]\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)} \le C \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma} \le C \|h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma}.$

and

$$\|\psi[h]\|_{\nu,\sigma}^{(1)} \le C \|h\|_{\nu,2+\sigma}.$$

Recalling that $\varphi = \eta \phi + \psi$ and $R_1 = R^{\delta}$, we get

$$|\varphi(y,\tau)| + (1+|y|)|\nabla_y \varphi(y,\tau)| \le C\tau^{-\nu} ||h||_{\nu,2+\sigma} \begin{cases} \frac{R^{\delta(3-\sigma)}}{(1+|y|)^3} & |y| \le 2R^{\delta} \\ \frac{1}{(1+|y|)^{\sigma}} & 2R^{\delta} \le |y| \le R. \end{cases}$$

Finally, thanks to Lemma 3.3, we have that

$$c_{0j}[h] = -\frac{1}{\int_{B_1} |Z_{0j}|^2} \left[\int_{B_{2R_1}} h \cdot Z_{0j} + \int_{B_{2R_1}} (B\psi[\phi] + B\psi[h]) \cdot Z_{0j} \right]$$

The last term is a linear operator of h, which we estimate next. A similar computation as in (3.120) shows that $\|A\phi\|_{\nu+\delta(\sigma-\sigma_1),2+\sigma_1} \leq C \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma}.$

This implies

$$\|\psi[\phi]\|_{\nu+\delta(\sigma-\sigma_1),\sigma_1} \le C \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\nu}$$

and therefore

$$\left| \int_{B_{2R_1}} B\psi[\phi] \cdot Z_{0j} \right| \le C\tau^{-\nu} R^{\sigma_1 - \sigma} \|\phi\|_{*,\nu,\sigma}$$

and using (3.124)

$$\left| \int_{B_{2R_1}} B\psi[\phi] \cdot Z_{0j} \right| C \tau^{-\nu} R^{\sigma_1 - \sigma} \|h\|_{\nu, 2+\sigma}$$

We have for $|y| \leq 2R^{\delta}$

$$|\psi[h](y,t)| + (1+|y|)|\nabla_y \psi[h](y,t)| \le CR_1^{-\sigma} ||h||_{\nu,2+\sigma}.$$

Then for $|y| \leq 2R^{\delta}$ we have

$$|\nabla W|^2 |\psi[h]| \le C\tau^{-\nu} (1+|y|)^{-4} R_1^{-\sigma} ||h||_{\nu,2+\sigma}$$

and

$$(\nabla W \cdot \nabla \psi)W| \le C\tau^{-\nu}(1+|y|)^{-4}R_1^{-\sigma} ||h||_{\nu,2+\sigma}$$

As a consequence we get

$$|B\psi[h]| \le C\tau^{-\nu}(1+|y|)^{-4}R_1^{-\sigma}||h||_{\nu,2+\sigma}.$$

and hence

$$\left| \int_{B_{2R_1}} B\psi[h] \cdot Z_{0j} \right| \le C \tau^{-\nu} R_1^{-\sigma} \|h\|_{\nu, 2+\sigma}.$$

_	_
	- 1
	- 1
 -	_

3.2. Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation. The basic ansatz in LLG for the construction is similar to the HMF's. We point out some difference and new aspects as follows.

• Ansatz of multiple bubbles

The construction begins with a careful choice of first approximation. Since the target is the 2-sphere, one has to choose some profile for multiple bubbles which is relatively reasonable to analyze. Here we choose

$$U_* = -(N-1)U_{\infty} + \sum_{j=1}^N Q_{\gamma_j} W\left(\frac{x-\xi^{[j]}}{\lambda_j}\right)$$

as the first approximation. Notice that $|U_*| \approx 1$ at any space-times as those bubbles are essentially separated. Based on U_* , we then look for solution to LLG in the form

$$u(x,t) = (1+A)U_* + \Phi - (\Phi \cdot U_*)U_*$$
(3.125)

for some perturbation term Φ and scalar A. Here the purpose of the scalar A, depending on Φ , is to preserve the unit-length of the map u(x,t) for any $(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times (0,T)$. So here part of the interactions between bubbles get encoded in the scalar A. Let us denote the error of u as

$$S[u] := -u_t + a(\Delta_x u + |\nabla_x u|^2 u) - bu \wedge \Delta_x u.$$

An important observation here is that instead of solving S[u] = 0, we only need to solve

$$S[u] = \Xi(x,t)U_*$$

for some scalar function Ξ . Indeed, since |u| = 1 is kept for all $t \in (0, T)$ and $u = U_* + \tilde{w}$ where the perturbation \tilde{w} is uniformly small, then

$$\Xi(U_* \cdot u) = S[u] \cdot u = -\frac{1}{2}\partial_t(|u|^2) + \frac{a}{2}\Delta|u|^2 = 0.$$

Thus $\Xi \equiv 0$ follows from $U_* \cdot u \ge \delta_0 > 0$. This provides us the flexibility to adjust the error terms in U_* direction, and we will call this U_* -operation throughout this note. This operation can simplify analysis especially for the dealing of multiple bubbles.

• Slow decaying errors and non-local corrections by approximate parabolic system

The error $S(U_*)$ contains slowing decaying terms

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathcal{E}_0^{[j]} \notin L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$$

which correspond to the re-scaling and rotation around z-axis. To improve the spatial decay of the error at remote region, we add well-designed global/non-local corrections around each bubble. Since the operator

$$-\partial_t + (a - bU^{[j]} \wedge) \Delta_x$$

depends on the blow-up profile U^j as well as the parameters λ_j , γ_j and $\xi^{[j]}$, one cannot expect explicit representation formula apriori without knowing the blow-up dynamics. We consider instead an approximate parabolic operator

$$-\partial_t + (a - bU_{\infty} \wedge)\Delta_a$$

and add correction $\Phi_0^{*[j]}$ around each bubble $U^{[j]}$ with

$$-\partial_t \Phi_0^{*[j]} + (a - bU_\infty \wedge) \Delta_x \Phi_0^{*[j]} + \mathcal{E}_0^{[j]} \approx 0.$$

Then the new error with corrections is given by those created by $\Phi_0^{*[j]}$ and the remainder $b(U_{\infty} - U^{[j]}) \wedge \Delta_x \Phi_0^{*[j]}$. This is rather important in the analysis of the non-local reduced problems.

• Formulation of the inner-outer gluing system

We next look for the perturbation Φ consisting of inner and outer parts with non-local corrections added

$$\Phi(x,t) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(\eta_R^{[j]}(x,t) Q_{\gamma_j} \Phi_{\rm in}^{[j]}(y^{[j]},t) + \eta_{d_q}^{[j]}(x,t) \Phi_0^{*[j]} \right) + \Phi_{\rm out}(x,t)$$

where $\Phi_{\text{in}}^{[j]}$ is on the tangent plane of $W^{[j]}$, $\eta_R^{[j]}$ and $\eta_{d_q}^{[j]}$ are suitable cut-off functions near $q^{[j]}$. Then u solving LLG implies a coupled inner-outer gluing system for $\Phi_{\text{in}}^{[j]}$ and Φ_{out} , $j = 1, \ldots, N$

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{j}^{2}\partial_{t}\Phi_{\mathrm{in}}^{[j]} = \left(a - bW^{[j]}\wedge\right) \left[\Delta_{y^{[j]}}\Phi_{\mathrm{in}}^{[j]} + |\nabla_{y^{[j]}}W^{[j]}|^{2}\Phi_{\mathrm{in}}^{[j]} + 2\left(\nabla_{y^{[j]}}W^{[j]}\cdot\nabla_{y^{[j]}}\Phi_{\mathrm{in}}^{[j]}\right)W^{[j]}\right] \\ + \mathcal{H}^{[j]}[\Phi_{\mathrm{in}}^{[j]}, \Phi_{\mathrm{out}}, \lambda_{j}, \gamma_{j}, \xi^{[j]}] \quad \mathrm{in} \quad \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \\ \partial_{t}\Phi_{\mathrm{out}} = \mathbf{B}_{\Phi, U_{*}}\Delta_{x}\Phi_{\mathrm{out}} + \mathcal{G}[\Phi_{\mathrm{in}}^{[j]}, \Phi_{\mathrm{out}}, \lambda_{j}, \gamma_{j}, \xi^{[j]}] \quad \mathrm{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^{2} \times (0, T), \end{cases}$$

where $W^{[j]}$ is the *j*-th bubble expressed in the rescaled variable $y^{[j]} = \frac{x-\xi^{[j]}}{\lambda_j}$, the right hand sides $\mathcal{H}^{[j]}$, \mathcal{G} consists of the error terms, couplings and nonlinear terms depending on the parameters λ_j , γ_j , $\xi^{[j]}$, and \mathbf{B}_{Φ,U_*} is a matrix, that involves the perturbation Φ and the blow-up profile U_* .

For the full system above, finding blow-up of LLG at multiple points now gets reduced to finding well-behaved inner and outer profiles such that gluing procedure can be implemented. In other words, we need to devise appropriate weighted topologies in which the gluing system becomes weakly coupled and thus can be solved by fixed point arguments. For the outer problem, we make use of the sub-Guassian estimate recently proved in [34]. For the inner problem, good solutions with sufficient decay in space and time can only be captured with careful choices of the parameters λ_j , γ_j , $\xi^{[j]}$. We shall develop linear theory for the inner problems with orthogonality conditions, and these orthogonalities in turn determine the blow-up dynamics.

• Solving the inner problem

The linear theory for the inner problem is established by analyzing each Fourier mode. Decomposing the complex form in Fourier modes, one obtains the linearized operator at mode k of the form

$$\lambda_j^2 \partial_t - (a - ib) \left(\partial_{\rho\rho} + \frac{\partial_{\rho}}{\rho} - \frac{(k+1)^2 \rho^4 + (2k^2 - 6)\rho^2 + (k-1)^2}{(\rho^2 + 1)^2} \frac{1}{\rho^2} \right), \tag{3.126}$$

where $\rho_j = |y^{[j]}|$. Then for all the modes $k \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1\}$, good inner solutions are found by the following Step 1: we first use energy methods to get a rough pointwise upper bounds for the inner solutions ϕ_k ; Step 2: next we use Duhamel's formula to refine the pointwise bounds and further gain decay estimates; Step 3: finally we perform re-gluing procedure to obtain better estimates in the innermost region. See also Appendix D. In Step 1, the following spectral gap for each mode $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ plays a central role:

Lemma 3.9. Let

$$\lambda_{R,k} = \inf_{f \in X_0(B_R) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{Q_{R,k}(f,f)}{\|f\|_{L^2(B_R)}^2} \quad for \ k \neq 1, \quad \lambda_{R,1} = \inf_{f \in H_0^1(B_R) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{Q_{R,1}(f,f)}{\|f\|_{L^2(B_R)}^2} \quad for \ k = 1.$$

Here

$$Q_{R,k}(f,f) = 2\pi \int_0^R \left[|\partial_\rho f|^2 + \frac{(k+1)^2 \rho^4 + (2k^2 - 6)\rho^2 + (k-1)^2}{(\rho^2 + 1)^2} \frac{|f|^2}{\rho^2} \right] \rho d\rho$$
(3.127)

denotes the quadratic form of the associated linearized operator. Then $\lambda_{R,k}$ is attained by a real-valued function in $X_0(B_R)$ for $k \neq 1$ and $H_0^1(B_R)$ for k = 1. When R is large,

$$\lambda_{R,0} \sim (R^2 \ln R)^{-1}, \quad \lambda_{R,1} \sim R^{-4}, \quad \lambda_{R,-1} \gtrsim (R^2 \ln R)^{-1}, \quad \lambda_{R,k} \gtrsim |k|^2 R^{-2} \quad for \quad |k| \ge 2.$$

As mentioned earlier, the treatment for mode k = -1 is different from the techniques that we employ for all the other modes. The reason is the following: as one can see from (3.126), mode -1 can be roughly viewed as a problem in 2D, which is worse than any other mode as one cannot gain spatial decay in Step 2 above. Motivated by a recent work of Krieger, Miao and Schlag [61] on the stability of blow-up for wave maps beyond the equivariant class as well as a series important works of Krieger-Miao-Schlag-Tataru [59, 60, 62], we try to apply the techniques of distorted Fourier transform (DFT) to this specific mode -1. The general framework and theories of the spectral analysis of half-line Schrödinger operators have been established earlier by Gesztesy-Zinchenko [42]. See also recent applications of DFT in the study of asymptotic stability of solitons and kinks [13, 41, 68, 69].

Fortunately, it turns out that the use of distorted Fourier transform can give us almost the optimal bound. The results and ideas are given in Appendix C.

• Non-local reduced problems

Ç

The development of the linear theory for the inner problem relies on orthogonalities which are achieved by adjusting modulation parameters λ_j , γ_j , $\xi^{[j]}$. The dynamics for $\xi^{[j]}$ turns out to be governed by an ODE, which is relatively straightforward to solve. However, the non-local feature in the corrections $\Phi_0^{*[j]}$ gets inherited by the mode 0 (λ_j and γ_j) of each bubble as the corrections are essentially for mode 0. Here one might expect the complex system involving both λ_j and γ_j is a rather sophisticated form due to the presence of dispersion. Fortunately, it turns out that the contribution of both $\Phi_0^{*[j]}$ and the remainder $b(U_{\infty} - U^{[j]}) \wedge \Delta_x \Phi_0^{*[j]}$ in the orthogonal equation at mode 0 results in the following well-ordered non-local problem

$$\int_0^{t-\lambda_j^2(t)} \frac{\dot{p}_j(s)}{t-s} ds \sim O(1),$$

where $p_j(t) = \lambda_j(t)e^{i\gamma_j(t)}$. This $\lambda_j - \gamma_j$ system was first found and handled in the context of HMF [22]. Surprisingly, this comes with a similar form in LLG with the presence of dispersion.

• Solving the outer problem

The linear theory for the outer problem is done by using the sub-Gaussian estimate for the fundamental matrix of the parabolic system in the non-divergence form. Dong-Kim-Lee [34] proved that, for a uniformly parabolic system in the non-divergence form, if the entries belong to DMO_x (Dini mean oscillation in space), then the fundamental matrix Γ satisfies the sub-Gaussian estimate:

$$|\Gamma(x,t,y,s)| \le C(t-s)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-c\left(\frac{|x-y|}{\sqrt{t-s}}\right)^{2-\delta}},$$

d is the dimension, c, C > 0, and $\delta \in (0, 1)$. Here the Gilbert damping a > 0 makes sure that the system is uniformly parabolic. Higher regularity estimates can be obtained by the blow-up argument.

In the matrix \mathbf{B}_{Φ,U_*} appearing in the outer system, the dependence on Φ in the matrix shall be dealt with via Schauder fixed point theorem, and the key thing here is the dependence on the blow-up profile U_* . In fact, to ensure DMO_x -regularity in U_* , the type II blow-up rate

$$\lambda_* \ll \sqrt{T - t}$$

plays a crucial rule.

Roughly speaking, the reason why we choose to work in $\mathsf{DMO}_{\mathsf{x}}$ is that we need weighted C^2 estimates, but C^0 cannot ensure C^2 . On the other hand, one cannot expect good C^{α} bound either since there is a loss of $\lambda_*^{-\alpha}$. So one has to work in some intermediate space between C^0 and C^{α} that we choose as certain Dini space.

4. Long-time dynamics for 1-equivariant harmonic map flow, critical heat equation in \mathbb{R}^4 , Keller-Segel system in \mathbb{R}^2

In this section, we consider the long-time dynamics for three intimately related problems: the 1-equivariant harmonic map flow, the critical heat equation in \mathbb{R}^4 , and the Keller-Segel system in \mathbb{R}^2 . These three models share a common feature that they are all at the borderline separating the regime of slow decay and fast decay.

The harmonic map flow (HMF) from \mathbb{R}^2 into S^2 has the form

$$\begin{cases} u_t = \Delta u + |\nabla u|^2 u & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2 \times (0, \infty) \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2. \end{cases}$$

A special class of solutions are given by the k-equivariant ansatz

$$u(re^{i\theta}, t) = \left(\cos(k\theta)\sin v(r, t), \sin(k\theta)\sin v(r, t), \cos v(r, t)\right),$$

and thus HMF gets reduced to a scalar equation for the polar angle

$$\begin{cases} v_t = v_{rr} + \frac{1}{r} v_r - \frac{k^2 \sin(2v)}{2r^2}, & (r,t) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \\ v(r,0) = v_0, & r \in \mathbb{R}_+. \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

We consider the 1-equivariant class

$$\begin{cases} v_t = v_{rr} + \frac{v_r}{r} - \frac{\sin(2v)}{2r^2}, & (r,t) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times (t_0, \infty) \\ v(r,t_0) = v_0(r), & r \in \mathbb{R}_+, \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

where $t_0 > 0$ is some large initial time. The aim of this section is to understand the possible long-term behavior of (4.2), and the main result stated below depends precisely on the power decay rate of the initial data v_0 .

Define the cut-off function η as $\eta(r) = 1$ for $0 \le r \le 1$, $\eta(r) = 0$ for $r \ge 2$, and $0 \le \eta \le 1$.

Theorem 5. Given any $\gamma > 1$, for t_0 sufficiently large, there exists an initial data $v_0(r)$ with $v_0(0) = \pi$ and for $r \ge 2\sqrt{t_0}$, $|v_0(r)| \le r^{1-\gamma}$ if $1 < \gamma \le 2$ and $|v_0(r)| \le r^{1-\gamma} + (t_0 \ln t_0)^{-1} r e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t_0}}$ if $\gamma > 2$, such that the global solution of (4.2) takes the form

$$v(r,t) = \eta\left(\frac{r}{\sqrt{t}}\right) \left[\pi - 2\arctan\left(\frac{r}{\mu(t)}\right)\right] + O\left(r\langle r \rangle^{-1}t^{-\frac{1}{4}\min\{\gamma-1,1\}}\right),$$
$$v_r(r,t) = -2\eta\left(\frac{r}{\sqrt{t}}\right)\frac{\mu(t)^{-1}}{1 + (\mu(t)^{-1}r)^2} + O\left(\mu(t)^{-1}t^{-\frac{1}{2}\min\{\gamma-1,1\}}\right),$$

where

$$\mu(t) = \begin{cases} C_{\mu}(\gamma)t^{1-\frac{\gamma}{2}}(\ln t)^{-1}\left(1+O\left((\ln t)^{-1}\ln\ln t\right)\right), & \text{if } 1 < \gamma < 2\\ C_{\mu}(\gamma)\left(1+O\left((\ln t)^{-1}\ln\ln t\right)\right), & \text{if } \gamma = 2\\ (\ln t)^{-1}\left(1+O\left((\ln t)^{-1}\ln\ln t\right)\right), & \text{if } \gamma > 2 \end{cases}$$

with a constant $C_{\mu}(\gamma) > 0$ depending on γ . In particular, $\|v_r(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\infty}([0,\infty))} = 2\mu(t)^{-1} \left(1 + O\left(t^{-\frac{1}{2}\min\{\gamma-1,1\}}\right)\right)$.

Remark 4.1. A similar approach in the proof of [100, Lemma A.3] gives the lower bound for $|v_0(r)|$. In fact, the initial data of the solutions that we constructed satisfies $v_0(r) \sim r^{1-\gamma}$ as $r \to \infty$.

Due to the natural connection between the k-equivariant harmonic map flow and the critical heat equation, we also built the long time behavior for the critical heat equation in dimension 4

$$\begin{cases} u_t = \Delta u + u^3 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^4 \times (t_0, \infty), \\ u(x, t_0) = u_0(x) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^4. \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{4.3}$$

Theorem 6 ([100]). For t_0 sufficiently large, there exists initial value $u_0 > 0$ with exponential decay such that the positive solution u(x,t) to (4.3) blows up at infinite time. More precisely, the solution takes the form of the sharply scaled bubble

$$u(x,t) = \eta\left(\frac{x-\xi}{\sqrt{t}}\right)\mu^{-1}(t)w\left(\frac{x-\xi(t)}{\mu(t)}\right) + O\left((\ln t)^{-1}\min\{t^{-1}, |x|^{-2}\}\right)$$

where $w(y) = 2^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{1}{1+|y|^2}$. The blow-up rate and location are given by

$$\mu(t) = \frac{1}{\ln t} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{\ln \ln t}{\ln t}\right) \right), \quad \xi(t) = O(t^{-1}).$$

The dynamics for establishing Theorem 6 is original from the one in [18]. Consider the classical Keller-Segel problem in \mathbb{R}^2 ,

$$\begin{cases} u_t = \Delta u - \nabla \cdot (u \nabla v) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2 \times (0, \infty), \\ v = (-\Delta_{\mathbb{R}^2})^{-1} u := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \log \frac{1}{|x - z|} u(z, t) \, dz, \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 \ge 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^2. \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

Theorem 7 ([18]). There exists a nonnegative, radially symmetric function $u_0^*(x)$ with critical mass $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} u_0^*(x) dx = 8\pi$ and finite second moment $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |x|^2 u_0^*(x) dx < +\infty$ such that for every $u_1(x)$ sufficiently close (in suitable sense) to u_0^* with $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} u_1 dx = 8\pi$, we have that the solution u(x,t) of system (4.4) with initial condition $u(x,0) = u_1(x)$ has the form

$$u(x,t) = \frac{1}{\lambda(t)^2} U\left(\frac{x-\xi(t)}{\lambda(t)}\right) (1+o(1)), \quad U(y) = \frac{8}{(1+|y|^2)^2}$$
(4.5)

uniformly on bounded sets of \mathbb{R}^2 , and

$$\lambda(t) = \frac{c}{\sqrt{\log t}} (1 + o(1)), \quad \xi(t) \to q \quad as \quad t \to +\infty,$$

for some number c > 0 and some $q \in \mathbb{R}^2$.

Our results are inspired by the formal analysis in [35]. Fila and King [35] conjectured that for

$$\begin{cases} u_t = \Delta u + |u|^{\frac{4}{N-2}} u, & x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad t > 0, \\ u(x,0) = u_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^N \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

with initial data $\lim_{r\to\infty} r^{\tilde{\gamma}}u_0(r) = A$ for some A > 0, the $||u(\cdot, t)||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)}$ -norm of threshold solution obeys

	$\frac{N-2}{2} < \tilde{\gamma} < 2$	$\tilde{\gamma} = 2$	$\tilde{\gamma} > 2$
N = 3	$t^{\frac{\tilde{\gamma}-1}{2}}$	$t^{\frac{1}{2}}(\ln t)^{-1}$	$t^{\frac{1}{2}}$
N = 4	$t^{-\frac{2-\tilde{\gamma}}{2}}\ln t$	1	$\ln t$
N = 5	$t^{-\frac{3(2-\tilde{\gamma})}{2}}$	$(\ln t)^{-3}$	1

In particular, the trichotomy constructed in Theorem 5 can be viewed as an analogue of the Fila-King diagram in \mathbb{R}^4 . Recently, global unbounded solutions for Fujita equation (4.6) in \mathbb{R}^3 and \mathbb{R}^4 have been rigorously constructed in [26, 100], confirming the existence of upper off-diagonal entries in the above diagram (including a sub-case $1 < \tilde{\gamma} < 2$ when N = 3).

The heart of the construction is non-local dynamics, governing the scaling parameter $\mu(t)$ in a unified way:

Here, $I_{\rm nl}$ is in fact from a non-local correction dealing with the slow spatial decay. Such non-local/global feature usually appears in lower dimensional problems and was first observed in [22, 26]. The second term $I_{\rm ss}$ comes from a self-similar correction improving the error in the intermediate region, and the last term $I_{\rm ic}$ is the contribution from the initial condition v_0 whose expression depends only on γ (cf. (4.12)). The trichotomy in Theorem 5 is captured by approximating the non-local problem by a leading ODE, but the solvability of the full non-local problem is rather involved.

In this part, we will give the proof of Theorem 5 as a prototype for the construction of global solutions.

We use the following notations.

• For $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $t_0 \leq t$ and admissiable functions g(x), h(x, t), denote

$$(T_d \circ g)(x,t) := (4\pi t)^{-\frac{d}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4t}} g(y) dy,$$

$$(T_d \bullet h)(x,t,t_0) := \int_{t_0}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} [4\pi (t-s)]^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4(t-s)}} h(y,s) dy ds.$$

• For any $c \in \mathbb{R}$, we use the notation c- (resp. c+) to denote a constant less (resp. greater) than c and can be chosen arbitrarily close to c.

4.1. Approximation and corrections. The first approximation is built on the one parameter family of steady states to the equation (4.2)

$$Q_{\mu} = \pi - 2 \arctan\left(\frac{r}{\mu}\right), \quad \mu > 0$$

Then we have

$$\pi - 2\arctan(\rho) \sim \langle \rho \rangle^{-1}, \quad \sin(2Q_{\mu}) = \frac{4\rho(\rho^2 - 1)}{(\rho^2 + 1)^2}, \quad \cos(2Q_{\mu}) - 1 = -\frac{8\rho^2}{(\rho^2 + 1)^2} \quad \text{for} \quad \rho := \frac{r}{\mu}.$$
(4.8)

We take the first approximate solution of the equation (4.2) to be

$$v_* = \eta \left(\frac{r}{\sqrt{t}}\right) Q_\mu, \quad \mu = \mu(t),$$

and define the error operator as

$$E[v] := -v_t + v_{rr} + \frac{1}{r}v_r - \frac{\sin(2v)}{2r^2}.$$
$$z := \frac{r}{\sqrt{t}}.$$

Let us write

Then we have

$$E[v_*] = \mu^{-1} \dot{\mu} \rho \partial_{\rho} Q_{\mu} \eta(z) + \frac{1}{t} \eta''(z) Q_{\mu} + \frac{2}{\mu \sqrt{t}} \eta'(z) \partial_{\rho} Q_{\mu} + \left(\frac{r}{2t\sqrt{t}} + \frac{1}{r\sqrt{t}}\right) \eta'(z) Q_{\mu} + \eta(z) \frac{\sin(2Q_{\mu})}{2r^2} - \frac{\sin(2\eta(z)Q_{\mu})}{2r^2} = \mathcal{E}_1 \left[\mu\right] + \mathcal{E}_2 \left[\mu\right] + \eta(z) \frac{\sin(2Q_{\mu})}{2r^2} - \frac{\sin(2\eta(z)Q_{\mu})}{2r^2}$$
(4.9)

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu] := \mu^{-1}\dot{\mu}\rho\partial_{\rho}Q_{\mu}\eta(z) = r\frac{-2\dot{\mu}}{r^{2}+\mu^{2}}\eta(z), \quad \mathcal{E}_{1}[\mu] := \mathcal{E}_{11}[\mu] + \mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu], \\
\mathcal{E}_{11}[\mu] := \frac{2}{t\rho}\eta''(z) - \frac{4}{\mu\sqrt{t}\rho^{2}}\eta'(z) + \frac{2}{\rho}\left(\frac{r}{2t\sqrt{t}} + \frac{1}{r\sqrt{t}}\right)\eta'(z) \\
= 2r\mu t^{-2}\left(z^{-2}\eta''(z) + 2^{-1}z^{-1}\eta'(z) - z^{-3}\eta'(z)\right), \\
\mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu] := \left[\frac{1}{t}\eta''(z) + \left(\frac{r}{2t\sqrt{t}} + \frac{1}{r\sqrt{t}}\right)\eta'(z)\right]\left(Q_{\mu} - \frac{2}{\rho}\right) + \frac{2}{\mu\sqrt{t}}\left(\partial_{\rho}Q_{\mu} + \frac{2}{\rho^{2}}\right)\eta'(z).$$
(4.10)

Throughout this section, we make the ansatz $\mu(t) < \sqrt{t}/9$. Then

$$\mathcal{E}_{12}\left[\mu\right] = O\left(rt^{-3}\mu^3 \mathbf{1}_{\{\sqrt{t} \le r \le 2\sqrt{t}\}}\right).$$

$$(4.11)$$

The initial data plays an important role in determining the leading term of μ . Set

$$\partial_t \Psi_* = \partial_{rr} \Psi_* + \frac{1}{r} \partial_r \Psi_* - \frac{1}{r^2} \Psi_*, \quad \Psi_*(r,0) = r \langle r \rangle^{-\gamma},$$

where Ψ_* is given by

$$\Psi_*(r,t) = r\psi_*(r,t), \quad \psi_*(r,t) = (4\pi t)^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} e^{-\frac{|r\mathbf{e}_1-y|^2}{4t}} \langle y \rangle^{-\gamma} dy$$

with $\mathbf{e}_1 := [1, 0, 0, 0]$. For $t \ge 1$, the leading term of ψ_* is given by

$$\psi_*(0,t) = v_\gamma(t)(C_\gamma + g_\gamma(t)),$$

where

$$v_{\gamma}(t) = \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}, & \gamma < 4\\ t^{-2}\ln(1+t), & \gamma = 4\\ t^{-2}, & \gamma > 4, \end{cases} \begin{pmatrix} (4\pi)^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{4}} e^{-\frac{|z|^{2}}{4}} |z|^{-\gamma} dz, & \gamma < 4\\ (4\pi)^{-2} \frac{1}{2} |S^{3}|, & \gamma = 4\\ (4\pi)^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{4}} \langle y \rangle^{-\gamma} dy, & \gamma > 4, \end{cases}$$

$$g_{\gamma}(t) = O\left(\begin{cases} t^{-1}, & \gamma < 2\\ t^{-1} \langle \ln t \rangle, & \gamma = 2\\ t^{\frac{\gamma-4}{2}}, & 2 < \gamma < 4\\ (\ln(1+t))^{-1}, & \gamma = 4\\ t^{\frac{4-\gamma}{2}}, & \gamma < 6\\ t^{-1} \langle \ln t \rangle, & \gamma = 6\\ t^{-1} & \gamma > 6 \end{cases}\right).$$
(4.12)

The remainder term is bounded by

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi_*(r,t) - \psi_*(0,t)| &= \left| (4\pi t)^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \int_0^1 e^{-\frac{|\theta r \mathbf{e}_1 - y|^2}{4t}} \frac{-(\theta r \mathbf{e}_1 - y) \cdot r \mathbf{e}_1}{2t} \langle y \rangle^{-\gamma} d\theta dy \\ &\lesssim r t^{-\frac{5}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \int_0^1 e^{-\frac{|\theta r \mathbf{e}_1 - y|^2}{8t}} \langle y \rangle^{-\gamma} d\theta dy \lesssim r t^{-\frac{1}{2}} v_\gamma(t). \end{aligned}$$

Combining [100, Lemma A.3], we have

$$\psi_{*} = \left[v_{\gamma}(t) \left(C_{\gamma} + g_{\gamma}(t) \right) + O\left(rt^{-\frac{1}{2}} v_{\gamma}(t) \right) \right] \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + O\left(\begin{cases} r^{-\gamma}, & \gamma < 4\\ r^{-4} + t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{16t}} \ln(r+2), & \gamma = 4\\ r^{-\gamma} + t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{16t}}, & \gamma > 4 \end{cases} \right) \mathbf{1}_{\{r > 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}}.$$

$$(4.13)$$

4.1.1. Non-local corrections. We add two corrections Φ_i , i = 1, 2 to transfer the error \mathcal{E}_i of slow spatial decay, where

$$\partial_t \Phi_i = \partial_{rr} \Phi_i + \frac{1}{r} \partial_r \Phi_i - \frac{1}{r^2} \Phi_i + \mathcal{E}_i \left[\mu \right].$$
(4.14)

Set $\Phi_i = r\varphi_i$, i = 1, 2. It suffices to consider

$$\partial_t \varphi_i = \partial_{rr} \varphi_i + \frac{3}{r} \partial_r \varphi_i + r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_i \left[\mu \right].$$
(4.15)

By a similar reason to derive [100, Lemma 2.1], the leading term of φ_1 is obtained from the self-similar solution, while the remaining smaller errors are resolved using Duhamel's formula. More specifically,

$$\varphi_1 = \varphi_1[\mu] := \mu \hat{\varphi}_1 + T_4 \bullet \left(r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu] - \dot{\mu} \hat{\varphi}_1 \right) (r, t, \frac{t_0}{2}), \quad \hat{\varphi}_1 := 2r^{-2} \left(e^{-\frac{r^2}{4t}} - \eta(\frac{r}{\sqrt{t}}) \right)$$
(4.16)

and $\hat{\varphi}_1$ satisfies

$$\hat{\varphi}_{1} = \left(-2^{-1}t^{-1} + O(t^{-2}r^{2})\right) \mathbf{1}_{\{|r \le t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + O\left(r^{-2}e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{4t}}\right) \mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}},$$

$$|\partial_{r}\hat{\varphi}_{1}| \lesssim rt^{-2}\mathbf{1}_{\{r \le t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + r^{-1}t^{-1}e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{4t}}\mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}}.$$

$$(4.17)$$

By the same argument for deriving [100, Lemma 2.2], φ_2 is given by Duhamel's formula

$$\varphi_2 = \varphi_2[\mu] := T_4 \bullet \left(r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_2[\mu] \right) (r, t, \frac{t_0}{2}).$$
(4.18)

Denote $\varphi = \varphi[\mu] := \varphi_1 + \varphi_2$.

Proposition 4.1. Suppose that $C_1^{-1}\mu(t) \leq \mu(s) \leq C_1\mu(t)$ for all $s \in [t, 2t]$ with a constant $C_1 > 1$, $\mu(t) \sim \mu_*(t) \leq \sqrt{t/2}$; μ_1 satisfies $|\mu_1| \leq \mu/2$. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi[\mu]| \lesssim (\mu t^{-1} + g[\mu]) \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + (\mu r^{-2} + g[\mu]) e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{32t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \\ &+ \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2,t]} |\dot{\mu}(t_{1})| \left(\langle \ln(\mu^{-1}t^{\frac{1}{2}}) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le \mu(t)\}} + \langle \ln(r^{-1}t^{\frac{1}{2}}) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\{\mu(t) < r \le 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + tr^{-2}e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{32t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \right) \end{aligned}$$

$$where g[\mu] := t^{-2} \int_{t_{0}/2}^{t} \left(s^{-1}\mu^{3}(s) + s|\dot{\mu}(s)| \right) ds. \text{ For } r \le 2t^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

$$F[\mu](r,t) := \varphi[\mu] + 2^{-1} \left(\mu t^{-1} + \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu^{2}} \frac{\dot{\mu}(s)}{t-s} ds \right)$$

$$= \mu \left(\hat{\varphi}_{1} + 2^{-1}t^{-1} \right) + T_{4} \bullet \left(r^{-1}\mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu] - \dot{\mu}\hat{\varphi}_{1} \right) \left(r, t, \frac{t_{0}}{2} \right) + T_{4} \bullet \left(r^{-1}\mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu] \right) (r, t, \frac{t_{0}}{2}) + 2^{-1} \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu^{2}} \frac{\dot{\mu}(s)}{t-s} ds \quad (4.20)$$

$$= O \left(\mu t^{-2}r^{2} + \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2,t]} |\dot{\mu}(t_{1})| + \min \left\{ \mu^{-1}r, \ln t \right\} \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2,t-\mu^{2}_{*}(t)]} |\dot{\mu}(t_{1})| + g[\mu] \right).$$

where

$$\tilde{g}[\mu,\mu_1] := t^{-2}\mu^2 \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2,t]} |\mu_1(t_1)| + t^{-2} \int_{t_0/2}^{t/2} \left[s\left(|\dot{\mu}_1| + \mu^{-1} |\dot{\mu}\mu_1| \right)(s) + s^{-1} |\mu_1(s)| \mu^2(s) \right] ds.$$
(4.22)

For $r \le 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}$,

$$\tilde{F}[\mu,\mu_{1}](r,t) := \varphi[\mu+\mu_{1}] - \varphi[\mu] + 2^{-1} \Big(\mu_{1}t^{-1} + \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu_{*}^{2}} \frac{\dot{\mu}_{1}(s)}{t-s} ds \Big)
= \mu_{1} \left(\hat{\varphi}_{1} + 2^{-1}t^{-1} \right) + T_{4} \bullet \left(r^{-1} \left(\mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu+\mu_{1}] - \mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu] \right) - \dot{\mu}_{1}\hat{\varphi}_{1} \right) \left(r, t, \frac{t_{0}}{2} \right)
+ T_{4} \bullet \left(r^{-1} \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu+\mu_{1}] - \mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu] \right) \right) \left(r, t, \frac{t_{0}}{2} \right) + 2^{-1} \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu_{*}^{2}} \frac{\dot{\mu}_{1}(s)}{t-s} ds
= O\Big(|\mu_{1}|t^{-2}r^{2} + \left(1 + \min\left\{ \mu^{-1}r, \ln t \right\} \right) \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2, t]} \left(|\dot{\mu}_{1}| + \mu^{-1}|\dot{\mu}\mu_{1}| \right) \left(t_{1} \right) + \tilde{g}[\mu, \mu_{1}] \Big).$$
(4.23)

Remark 4.2. The precise form (4.20), (4.23) are prepared for solving the leading term and minor terms of the scaling parameter μ respectively.

Proof. The proof is similar to [100, Lemma 2.1, Lemma 2.2]. See also [18, Lemma 7.1, Lemma 7.3]. First, we estimate φ_1 given in (4.16). The first term $\hat{\varphi}_1$ is deduced in [100, Lemma 2.1], which satisfies

$$\partial_t \hat{\varphi}_1 = \partial_{rr} \hat{\varphi}_1 + \frac{3}{r} \partial_r \hat{\varphi}_1 + 2t^{-2} \left(z^{-2} \eta''(z) + 2^{-1} z^{-1} \eta'(z) - z^{-3} \eta'(z) \right).$$

By (4.11) and [100, Lemma A.1], we have

$$\left|T_{4} \bullet \left(r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu]\right)\right| \lesssim t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{16t}} \int_{t_{0}/2}^{t/2} \mu^{3}(s) s^{-1} ds + \mu^{3} t^{-2} \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + \mu^{3} t^{-1} r^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{16t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}}.$$
(4.24)

$$r^{-1}\left(\mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu+\mu_{1}]-\mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu]\right) = \left[\frac{1}{t}\eta''(z) + \left(\frac{r}{2t\sqrt{t}}+\frac{1}{r\sqrt{t}}\right)\eta'(z)\right]\int_{0}^{1}\frac{-2\mu_{1}(\mu+\theta\mu_{1})^{2}}{r^{2}\left[(\mu+\theta\mu_{1})^{2}+r^{2}\right]}d\theta$$

$$+\frac{\eta'(z)}{\sqrt{t}}\frac{4\mu_{1}}{r^{3}}\int_{0}^{1}\frac{3r^{2}(\mu+\theta\mu_{1})^{2}+(\mu+\theta\mu_{1})^{4}}{\left[r^{2}+(\mu+\theta\mu_{1})^{2}\right]^{2}}d\theta,$$
(4.25)

which implies

$$r^{-1} \left| \mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu + \mu_1] - \mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu] \right| \lesssim |\mu_1| \mu^2 t^{-3} \mathbf{1}_{\{\sqrt{t} \le r \le 2\sqrt{t}\}}.$$
(4.26)

So we get

$$\left| T_4 \bullet \left(r^{-1} \left(\mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu + \mu_1] - \mathcal{E}_{12}[\mu] \right) \right) \right|$$

$$\lesssim t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^2}{16t}} \int_{t_0/2}^{t/2} |\mu_1(s)| \mu^2(s) s^{-1} ds + \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2,t]} |\mu_1(t_1)| \left(\mu^2 t^{-2} \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + \mu^2 t^{-1} r^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^2}{16t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \right).$$

$$(4.27)$$

Note that $|\dot{\mu}\hat{\varphi}_1| \lesssim |\dot{\mu}|t^{-1}\mathbf{1}_{\{r \leq t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + |\dot{\mu}|r^{-2}e^{-\frac{r^2}{4t}}\mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}}$. By Lemma A.2, one has

$$|T_4 \bullet (\dot{\mu}\hat{\varphi}_1)| \lesssim t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t}} \int_{t_0/2}^{t/2} s|\dot{\mu}(s)| ds + \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2,t]} |\dot{\mu}(t_1)| \left(\mathbf{1}_{\{r \le t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + tr^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \right).$$
(4.28)

Similarly,

$$|T_4 \bullet (\dot{\mu}_1 \hat{\varphi}_1)| \lesssim t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t}} \int_{t_0/2}^{t/2} s |\dot{\mu}_1(s)| ds + \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2,t]} |\dot{\mu}_1(t_1)| \left(\mathbf{1}_{\{r \le t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + tr^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \right).$$
(4.29)

Next, we consider φ_2 . By Lemma A.1,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| T_{4} \bullet \left(r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_{2} \right) \right| &\lesssim t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{16t}} \int_{t_{0}/2}^{t/2} s |\dot{\mu}(s)| ds \\ &+ \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2,t]} |\dot{\mu}(t_{1})| \left(\langle \ln(\mu^{-1} t^{\frac{1}{2}}) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\{r \leq \mu(t)\}} + \langle \ln(r^{-1} t^{\frac{1}{2}}) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\{\mu(t) < r \leq t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + tr^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{16t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$\tag{4.30}$$

Combining (4.17), (4.24), (4.28), (4.30), we get (4.19). Note that

$$r^{-1}\left(\mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu+\mu_{1}]-\mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu]\right) = -2\left[\frac{\dot{\mu}_{1}}{r^{2}+(\mu+\mu_{1})^{2}} + \frac{-\dot{\mu}\mu_{1}\left(2\mu+\mu_{1}\right)}{\left[r^{2}+(\mu+\mu_{1})^{2}\right]\left(r^{2}+\mu^{2}\right)}\right]\eta(z).$$
(4.31)

For μ_1 satisfying $|\mu_1| \leq \mu/2$, we have

$$\left|r^{-1}\left(\mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu+\mu_{1}]-\mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu]\right)\right| \lesssim \left(\left|\dot{\mu}_{1}\right|+\mu^{-1}\left|\dot{\mu}\mu_{1}\right|\right)(r+\mu)^{-2}\eta(z).$$
(4.32)

By Lemma A.1,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| T_{4} \bullet \left(r^{-1} \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu + \mu_{1}] - \mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu] \right) \right) \right| &\lesssim t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{16t}} \int_{t_{0}/2}^{t/2} s \left(|\dot{\mu}_{1}| + \mu^{-1} |\dot{\mu}\mu_{1}| \right) (s) ds \\ &+ \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2,t]} \left| \left(|\dot{\mu}_{1}| + \mu^{-1} |\dot{\mu}\mu_{1}| \right) (t_{1}) \right| \left(\left\langle \ln(\mu^{-1}t^{\frac{1}{2}}) \right\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\{r \leq \mu(t)\}} + \left\langle \ln(r^{-1}t^{\frac{1}{2}}) \right\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\{\mu(t) < r \leq t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + tr^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{16t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.33)$$

Combining (4.17), (4.27), (4.29), (4.33), we get (4.21).

In order to extract the dominating part of φ_2 for later purpose of solving the orthogonal equation, we split φ_2 into several parts to estimate.

$$\varphi_2 = \left(\int_{t_0/2}^{t/2} + \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu_*^2(t)} + \int_{t-\mu_*^2(t)}^t\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} (4\pi(t-s))^{-2} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{4(t-s)}} |y|^{-1} \mathcal{E}_2[\mu](y,s) dy ds := I_1[\mu] + I_2[\mu] + I_3[\mu].$$

For I_1 , by Lemma A.1 (for the cases $v(s) = |\dot{\mu}(s)| \mathbf{1}_{\{t_0/2 \le s \le t/2\}}$ and $v(s) = (|\dot{\mu}_1| + \mu^{-1} |\dot{\mu}\mu_1|) (s) \mathbf{1}_{\{t_0/2 \le s \le t/2\}})$, we have

$$|I_1[\mu]| \lesssim t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^2}{16t}} \int_{t_0/2}^{t/2} s|\dot{\mu}(s)| ds, \quad \left|I_1[\mu + \mu_1] - I_1[\mu]\right| \lesssim t^{-2} e^{-\frac{r^2}{16t}} \int_{t_0/2}^{t/2} s\left(|\dot{\mu}_1| + \mu^{-1}|\dot{\mu}\mu_1|\right)(s) ds.$$
(4.34)

For I_3 , given $s \in [t - \mu_*^2(t), t]$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu](r,s) \right| &\lesssim \sup_{t_{1} \in [t-\mu_{*}^{2}(t),t]} \left| \dot{\mu}(t_{1}) \right| (r+\mu(t))^{-2} \mathbf{1}_{\{r \leq 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}}, \\ \left| r^{-1} \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu+\mu_{1}] - \mathcal{E}_{2}[\mu] \right)(r,s) \right| &\lesssim \sup_{t_{1} \in [t-\mu_{*}^{2}(t),t]} \left(\left| \dot{\mu}_{1} \right| + \mu^{-1} \left| \dot{\mu}\mu_{1} \right| \right) (t_{1}) \left(r+\mu(t) \right)^{-2} \mathbf{1}_{\{r \leq 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}}. \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$|I_{3}[\mu]| \lesssim \sup_{t_{1} \in [t-\mu_{*}^{2}(t),t]} |\dot{\mu}(t_{1})| \int_{t-\mu_{*}^{2}(t)}^{t} (t-s)^{-2} \int_{0}^{2\sqrt{t}} e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{4(t-s)}} (r+\mu(t))^{-2} r^{3} dr ds \lesssim \sup_{t_{1} \in [t-\mu_{*}^{2}(t),t]} |\dot{\mu}(t_{1})|,$$

$$|I_{3}[\mu+\mu_{1}] - I_{3}[\mu]| \lesssim \sup_{t_{1} \in [t-\mu_{*}^{2}(t),t]} (|\dot{\mu}_{1}| + \mu^{-1} |\dot{\mu}\mu_{1}|) (t_{1}).$$

$$(4.35)$$

For I_2 , more delicate calculations are needed to single out the leading term. Set

$$I_2[\mu](0,t) := I_*[\mu] + I_{021}[\mu] + I_{022}[\mu]$$

where

$$I_*[\mu] := -2 \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu^2_*(t)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} (4\pi(t-s))^{-2} e^{-\frac{|y|^2}{4(t-s)}} \dot{\mu}(s)|y|^{-2} dy ds = -2^{-1} \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu^2_*(t)} \frac{\dot{\mu}(s)}{t-s} ds,$$

$$I_{021}[\mu] := 2 \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu^2_*(t)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} (4\pi(t-s))^{-2} e^{-\frac{|y|^2}{4(t-s)}} \dot{\mu}(s)|y|^{-2} \left(1 - \eta(\frac{|y|}{\sqrt{s}})\right) dy ds,$$

$$I_{022}[\mu] := \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu^2_*(t)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} (4\pi(t-s))^{-2} e^{-\frac{|y|^2}{4(t-s)}} \left(\frac{-2\dot{\mu}(s)}{|y|^2 + \mu^2(s)} + 2\dot{\mu}(s)|y|^{-2}\right) \eta(\frac{|y|}{\sqrt{s}}) dy ds.$$

For I_{021} , by the same calculation in [100, p. 10], we get

$$I_{021}[\mu] \lesssim \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2, t-\mu_*^2(t)]} |\dot{\mu}(t_1)|, \quad \left| I_{021}[\mu + \mu_1] - I_{021}[\mu] \right| \lesssim \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2, t-\mu_*^2(t)]} |\dot{\mu}_1(t_1)|.$$
(4.36)

For I_{022} , since

$$\frac{-2\dot{\mu}(s)}{|y|^{2} + \mu^{2}(s)} + 2\dot{\mu}(s)|y|^{-2} = \frac{2\dot{\mu}(s)\mu^{2}(s)}{|y|^{2} (|y|^{2} + \mu^{2}(s))},$$

$$\frac{2(\dot{\mu} + \dot{\mu}_{1})(s)(\mu + \mu_{1})^{2}(s)}{|y|^{2} [|y|^{2} + (\mu + \mu_{1})^{2}(s)]} - \frac{2\dot{\mu}(s)\mu^{2}(s)}{|y|^{2} (|y|^{2} + \mu^{2}(s))}$$

$$= \frac{2}{|y|^{2}} \left\{ \frac{\dot{\mu}_{1}(s)(\mu + \mu_{1})^{2}(s)}{|y|^{2} + (\mu + \mu_{1})^{2}(s)} + \frac{\dot{\mu}(s)\mu_{1}(s)(2\mu + \mu_{1})(s)|y|^{2}}{[|y|^{2} + (\mu + \mu_{1})^{2}(s)](|y|^{2} + \mu^{2}(s))} \right\}$$

$$= O\left(\mu^{2} (|\dot{\mu}_{1}| + \mu^{-1}|\dot{\mu}\mu_{1}|)|y|^{-2} (|y| + \mu)^{-2}\right),$$
(4.37)

by the same calculation in [100, pp. 10-11], we have

$$I_{022}[\mu] \lesssim \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2, t-\mu_*^2(t)]} |\dot{\mu}(t_1)|, \quad |I_{022}[\mu + \mu_1] - I_{022}[\mu]| \lesssim \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2, t-\mu_*^2(t)]} \left| \left(|\dot{\mu}_1| + \mu^{-1} |\dot{\mu}\mu_1| \right)(t_1) \right|.$$
(4.38)

By the same calculation in [100, pp. 11-12], then

$$|I_{2}[\mu](r,t) - I_{2}[\mu](0,t)| \lesssim \min\left\{\mu^{-1}r, \ln t\right\} \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2, t-\mu_{*}^{2}(t)]} |\dot{\mu}(t_{1})|,$$

$$|(I_{2}[\mu + \mu_{1}](r,t) - I_{2}[\mu + \mu_{1}](0,t)) - (I_{2}[\mu](r,t) - I_{2}[\mu](0,t))|$$

$$\lesssim \min\left\{\mu^{-1}r, \ln t\right\} \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2, t-\mu_{*}^{2}(t)]} \left(|\dot{\mu}_{1}| + \mu^{-1}|\dot{\mu}\mu_{1}|\right)(t_{1}).$$
(4.39)

Combining (4.17), (4.24), (4.28), (4.34), (4.35), (4.36), (4.38), and (4.39), we get (4.20). Combining (4.17), (4.27), (4.29), (4.34), (4.35), (4.36), (4.38), and (4.39), we get (4.23). The proposition is concluded.

4.2. Elliptic improvement and the leading dynamics of $\mu(t)$. In order to improve the time decay of the error, we will introduce Φ_e by solving the linearized elliptic equation. Let us first denote

 $v_1(r,t) := \eta(z)Q_{\mu} + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e$

where $\eta(4z)$ is used to restrict the influence of Φ_e within the self-similar region. Then we compute

$$E[v_{1}] = -\partial_{t} (\eta(4z)\Phi_{e}) + \partial_{rr} (\eta(4z)\Phi_{e}) + \frac{1}{r}\partial_{r} (\eta(4z)\Phi_{e}) + \frac{1}{r^{2}}(\Phi_{1} + \Phi_{2} + \Psi_{*}) - \frac{\sin[2(\eta(z)Q_{\mu} + \Phi_{1} + \Phi_{2} + \Psi_{*} + \eta(4z)\Phi_{e})]}{2r^{2}} + \eta(z)\frac{\sin(2Q_{\mu})}{2r^{2}} = -\partial_{t} (\eta(4z)\Phi_{e}) + \partial_{rr} (\eta(4z)\Phi_{e}) + \frac{1}{r}\partial_{r} (\eta(4z)\Phi_{e}) - \eta(4z)\frac{\cos(2Q_{\mu})}{r^{2}}\Phi_{e} - \eta(z)\frac{\cos(2Q_{\mu}) - 1}{r^{2}} (\Phi_{1} + \Phi_{2} + \Psi_{*}) + E_{e}$$

$$(4.40)$$

where

$$E_e := -\eta(z) \frac{1}{2r^2} \Big[\sin[2(Q_\mu + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e)] - \sin(2Q_\mu) - 2\cos(2Q_\mu) (\Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e) \Big] \\ + \frac{1}{2r^2} \Big[-\sin[2(\eta(z)Q_\mu + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e)] + \eta(z)\sin[2(Q_\mu + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e)] \\ + 2(1 - \eta(z)) (\Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_*) \Big].$$

$$(4.41)$$

Roughly speaking, we will choose $\Phi_e(\rho, t)$ which solves

$$\partial_{rr}\Phi_e + \frac{1}{r}\partial_r\Phi_e - \frac{\cos(2Q_\mu)}{r^2}\Phi_e \approx \eta(z)\frac{\cos(2Q_\mu) - 1}{r^2}(\Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_*).$$

By (4.8), it is equivalent to

$$\partial_{\rho\rho} \Phi_e + \frac{1}{\rho} \partial_{\rho} \Phi_e - \frac{\rho^4 - 6\rho^2 + 1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \Phi_e \approx \eta(\frac{\mu\rho}{\sqrt{t}}) \mu \frac{-8\rho}{(\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu\rho](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu\rho](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu\rho](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu\rho](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu\rho](\mu\rho, t) + \psi_*(\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu\rho](\mu\rho, t)\right) + \frac{1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\mu\rho](\mu\rho,$$

The linearly independent kernels $\mathcal{Z}, \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ of the homogeneous part satisfying the Wronskian $W[\mathcal{Z}, \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}] = \rho^{-1}$ are given as follows:

$$\mathcal{Z}(\rho) = \frac{\rho}{\rho^2 + 1}, \quad \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}(\rho) = \frac{\rho^4 + 4\rho^2 \ln \rho - 1}{2\rho(\rho^2 + 1)}.$$

Let us write the orthogonality

$$\mathcal{M}[\mu] := \int_{0}^{\infty} \eta(\frac{\mu\rho}{\sqrt{t}}) \frac{8\rho}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho,t) + \psi_{*}(\mu\rho,t)\right) \mathcal{Z}(\rho)\rho d\rho$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} \eta(\frac{\mu\rho}{\sqrt{t}}) \frac{8\rho^{3}}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{3}} \left(\varphi[\mu](\mu\rho,t) + \psi_{*}(\mu\rho,t)\right) d\rho.$$
(4.42)

Written as the leading term of μ , μ_0 will be determined soon. By (4.13) and using (4.20) for the case $\mu_* = \mu_0$, we have

$$\mathcal{M}[\mu] = \int_{0}^{\infty} \eta(\frac{\mu\rho}{\sqrt{t}}) \frac{8\rho^{3}}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{3}} \left[-2^{-1} \left(\mu t^{-1} + \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu_{0}^{-}} \frac{\dot{\mu}(s)}{t-s} ds \right) + O\left(\mu^{3} t^{-2} \rho^{2} + \langle \rho \rangle \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2,t]} |\dot{\mu}(t_{1})| + g[\mu] \right) \\ + v_{\gamma}(t)(C_{\gamma} + g_{\gamma}(t)) + O(\mu\rho t^{-\frac{1}{2}} v_{\gamma}(t)) \right] d\rho \\ = \left[-\left(\mu t^{-1} + \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu_{0}^{2}} \frac{\dot{\mu}(s)}{t-s} ds \right) + 2v_{\gamma}(t)(C_{\gamma} + g_{\gamma}(t)) \right] \left[1 + \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\eta(\frac{\mu\rho}{\sqrt{t}}) - 1 \right) \frac{4\rho^{3}}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{3}} d\rho \right] \\ + O\left(\mu^{3} t^{-2} \ln(t^{\frac{1}{2}} \mu^{-1}) + \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2,t]} |\dot{\mu}(t_{1})| + g[\mu] \right) + O(\mu t^{-\frac{1}{2}} v_{\gamma}(t)),$$

$$(4.43)$$

where we used $\int_0^\infty \frac{4\rho^3}{(\rho^2+1)^3} d\rho = 1$. In order to make $\mathcal{M}[\mu]$ close to 0, we single out the leading terms

$$\mu t^{-1} + \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu_0^2} \frac{\dot{\mu}(s)}{t-s} ds \approx 2v_{\gamma}(t) \left(C_{\gamma} + g_{\gamma}(t)\right).$$
(4.44)

The leading term μ_0 of the scaling parameter μ will be derived by balancing (4.44). Suppose μ_0 has the form $\mu_0(t) = c_1 t^{1-p_0} (\ln t)^{-1}$ with $1/2 \le p_0 < 1$, then $\dot{\mu}_0(t) = c_1 (1-p_0) t^{-p_0} (\ln t)^{-1} [1-(1-p_0)^{-1} (\ln t)^{-1}]$. For $2 \le t_1 \le t/2$, one has

$$\int_{t_1}^{t-\mu_0^2(t)} \frac{\dot{\mu}_0(s)}{t-s} ds = \int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} \frac{\dot{\mu}_0(tz)}{1-z} dz$$
$$= c_1(1-p_0)t^{-p_0} \int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1}z^{-p_0}(\ln(tz))^{-1} \left[1-(1-p_0)^{-1}(\ln(tz))^{-1}\right] dz$$
$$= c_1(1-p_0)(2p_0-1)t^{-p_0} + O(t^{-p_0}(\ln t)^{-1}\ln\ln t),$$

where we have used the following estimates in the last step

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1} z^{-p_0} (\ln(tz))^{-1} dz \\ &= (\ln t)^{-1} \int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1} z^{-p_0} dz + \int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1} z^{-p_0} \left((\ln(tz))^{-1} - (\ln t)^{-1} \right) dz \\ &= (\ln t)^{-1} \int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1} dz + (\ln t)^{-1} \int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1} \left(z^{-p_0} - 1 \right) dz \\ &+ \int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1} z^{-p_0} \frac{-\ln z}{(\ln t + \ln z) \ln t} dz \\ &= (\ln t)^{-1} \left(-\ln(t^{-1} \mu_0^2(t)) + \ln(1 - t^{-1} t_1) \right) + O((\ln t)^{-1}) \\ &= (\ln t)^{-1} \left(-\ln(c_1^2) - (1 - 2p_0) \ln t + 2\ln \ln t + \ln(1 - t_1 t^{-1}) \right) + O((\ln t)^{-1}) \\ &= 2p_0 - 1 + O((\ln t)^{-1} \ln \ln t); \end{split}$$

and

$$\int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1} z^{-p_0} (\ln(tz))^{-2} dz = O((\ln t)^{-1})$$

since

$$\int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1} z^{-p_0} (\ln(tz))^{-2} dz = O((\ln t)^{-2}) \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\frac{\mu_0^2(t)}{t}} (1-z)^{-1} dz = O((\ln t)^{-1}),$$

$$\int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{\frac{1}{2}} (1-z)^{-1} z^{-p_0} (\ln(tz))^{-2} dz \sim \int_{\frac{t_1}{t}}^{\frac{1}{2}} z^{-p_0} (\ln(tz))^{-2} dz = t^{p_0-1} \int_{t_1}^{\frac{t}{2}} a^{-p_0} (\ln a)^{-2} da = O((\ln t)^{-2}).$$

• For $1 < \gamma < 2$, in order to balance out (4.44),

$$c_1 t^{-p_0} (\ln t)^{-1} + c_1 (1 - p_0) (2p_0 - 1) t^{-p_0} + O\left(t^{-p_0} (\ln t)^{-1} \ln \ln t\right) \approx 2v_\gamma(t) \left(C_\gamma + g_\gamma(t)\right),$$

we take $p_0 = \frac{\gamma}{2}, c_1 = (1 - \frac{\gamma}{2})^{-1} (\gamma - 1)^{-1} 2C_{\gamma}$, which implies $\mu_0(t) = (1 - \frac{\gamma}{2})^{-1} (\gamma - 1)^{-1} 2C_{\gamma} t^{1 - \frac{\gamma}{2}} (\ln t)^{-1}$.

• For $\gamma > 2$, by the same argument in [100, pp. 13-14], a good approximation is $\mu_0 = (\ln t)^{-1}$.

• For $\gamma = 2$, we choose $\mu_0 = 2C_{\gamma} + (\ln t)^{-1}$ by a similar argument as in the case $\gamma > 2$.

In conclusion, the non-local problem (4.44) has a good approximation of the form

$$\mu_0(t) := \begin{cases} (1 - \frac{\gamma}{2})^{-1} (\gamma - 1)^{-1} 2C_{\gamma} t^{1 - \frac{1}{2}} (\ln t)^{-1}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ 2C_{\gamma} + (\ln t)^{-1}, & \gamma = 2\\ (\ln t)^{-1}, & \gamma > 2, \end{cases}$$
(4.45)

where the constant C_{γ} is defined in (4.12). Obviously, $\mu_0 \ll t^{\frac{1}{2}}$ since $\gamma > 1$. Moreover, for $\gamma \ge 2$, by the similar calculation for the case $1 < \gamma < 2$ shown above (see also [100, p. 14], which is related to the case $\gamma > 2$), we obtain

$$-\left(\mu_{0}t^{-1} + \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu_{0}^{2}}\frac{\dot{\mu}_{0}(s)}{t-s}ds\right) + 2v_{\gamma}(t)(C_{\gamma} + g_{\gamma}(t)) = O\left(\begin{cases} t^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\ln t)^{-1}\ln\ln t, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t^{-1}(\ln t)^{-2}, & \gamma = 2\\ t^{-1}(\ln t)^{-2}\ln\ln t, & \gamma > 2 \end{cases}\right) = O\left(\ln\ln t|\dot{\mu}_{0}|\right).$$

$$(4.46)$$

This cancellation is crucial when solving the orthogonal equations.

After several times correction, we achieve that for t_0 sufficiently large, there exists $\bar{\mu}_0 = \bar{\mu}_0(t)$ such that

$$\bar{\mu}_{0} = \mu_{0} \left(1 + O\left((\ln t)^{-1} \ln \ln t \right) \right), \quad \dot{\bar{\mu}}_{0} = \dot{\mu}_{0} \left(1 + O\left((\ln t)^{-1} \ln \ln t \right) \right), \\
8\bar{\mu}_{0}/9 \le \mu_{0} \le 9\bar{\mu}_{0}/8, \quad 8|\dot{\bar{\mu}}_{0}|/9 \le |\dot{\mu}_{0}| \le 9|\dot{\bar{\mu}}_{0}|/8, \qquad \mathcal{M}[\bar{\mu}_{0}] = O(t^{-2}).$$
(4.47)

The following corollary is a direct consequence of Proposition 4.1 by our choice of μ_0 in (4.45).

Corollary 4.1. For $f \sim \mu_0$, $|\dot{f}| \lesssim |\dot{\mu}_0|$ and μ_1 satisfying $|\mu_1| \leq f/2$, we have

$$g[f] \lesssim |\dot{\mu}_0| \sim \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} (\ln t)^{-1}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-2}, & \gamma \ge 2. \end{cases}$$
(4.48)

$$|\varphi[f]| \lesssim \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le \mu_0\}} + t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} (\ln t)^{-1} \left(\langle \ln(r^{-1}t^{\frac{1}{2}}) \rangle \mathbf{1}_{\{\mu_0 < r \le t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \right), & \text{if } 1 < \gamma < 2 \\ t^{-1}e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t}}, & \text{if } \gamma = 2 \\ (t \ln t)^{-1}e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t}}, & \text{if } \gamma > 2. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.49)$$

Combining (4.13) and (4.49), we have

$$|\varphi[f]| + |\psi_*| \lesssim \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + r^{-\gamma} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}}, & 1 < \gamma \le 2\\ (t\ln t)^{-1} \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + \left(r^{-\gamma} + (t\ln t)^{-1} e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t}}\right) \mathbf{1}_{\{r > 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}}, & \gamma > 2. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.50)$$

$$|\partial_r \varphi[f]| + |\partial_r \psi_*| \lesssim \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le 9\sqrt{t}\}} \mu_0^{-1} \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} (\ln t)^{-\frac{1}{2}}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-1}, & \gamma = 2\\ t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-\frac{3}{2}}, & \gamma > 2 \end{cases}$$
(4.51)

$$+ \mathbf{1}_{\{r > 9\sqrt{t}\}} t^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{cases} r^{-\gamma}, & 1 < \gamma \le 2\\ r^{-\gamma} + (t\ln t)^{-1} e^{-\frac{r^2}{64t}}, & \gamma > 2. \end{cases}$$
$$|\tilde{g}[f, \mu_1]| \lesssim t^{-2} \mu_0^2 \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2, t]} |\mu_1(t_1)| + t^{-2} \int_{t_0/2}^{t/2} s\left(|\dot{\mu}_1| + \mu_0^{-1} |\dot{\mu}_0| |\mu_1|\right)(s) ds. \tag{4.52}$$

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi[f+\mu_{1}]-\varphi[f]| &\lesssim \left(|\mu_{1}|t^{-1}+\tilde{g}[f,\mu_{1}]\right) \mathbf{1}_{\{r\leq 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + \left(\sup_{t_{1}\in[t/2,t]}|\mu_{1}(t_{1})|r^{-2}+\tilde{g}[f,\mu_{1}]\right) e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{32t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r>2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \\ + \sup_{t_{1}\in[t/2,t]} \left(|\dot{\mu}_{1}|+\mu_{0}(t)^{-1}|\dot{\mu}_{0}(t)|\,|\mu_{1}|\right) (t_{1}) \left(\ln t \mathbf{1}_{\{r\leq f(t)\}} + \langle\ln(r^{-1}t^{\frac{1}{2}})\rangle \mathbf{1}_{\{f(t)< r\leq 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + tr^{-2}e^{-\frac{r^{2}}{32t}} \mathbf{1}_{\{r>2t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.53)$$

Proof. We only prove (4.51) and the other terms can be deduced by Proposition 4.1 directly. Recall (4.15), (4.10). Then

$$\partial_t \varphi[f] = \partial_{rr} \varphi[f] + \frac{3}{r} \partial_r \varphi[f] + r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_1[f] + r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_2[f]$$

where

$$\left| r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_{1}[f] + r^{-1} \mathcal{E}_{2}[f] \right| \lesssim \mathbf{1}_{\{r \leq 2\sqrt{t}\}} \mu_{0}^{-2} \left| \dot{\mu}_{0} \right| \sim \mathbf{1}_{\{r \leq 2\sqrt{t}\}} \mu_{0}^{-2} \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{t}{2}} (\ln t)^{-1}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-2}, & \gamma \geq 2. \end{cases}$$

Combining (4.50) and using the scaling argument twice, we have (4.51).

Set $\mu = \bar{\mu}_0 + \mu_1$, where μ_1 is the next order term with the ansatz

$$|\mu_1| \le \bar{\mu}_0/9, \quad |\dot{\mu}_1| \le |\dot{\bar{\mu}}_0|/9.$$
 (4.54)

Then

$$\mu_0(t)/2 \le \mu(t) \le 2\mu_0(t), \quad |\dot{\mu}_0(t)|/2 \le |\dot{\mu}(t)| \le 2|\dot{\mu}_0(t)|. \tag{4.55}$$

1

Combining (4.13) (4.20) and (4.46), for $r \leq 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}$, we have

$$\varphi[\mu] + \psi_* = -2^{-1} \left(\mu_1 t^{-1} + \int_{t/2}^{t-\mu_0^-} \frac{\dot{\mu}_1(s)}{t-s} ds \right) + O\left(\mu t^{-2} r^2 + \left(1 + \min\left\{ \mu^{-1} r, \ln t \right\} \right) \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2,t]} |\dot{\mu}(t_1)| + g[\mu] + \ln\ln t |\dot{\mu}_0| + rt^{-\frac{1}{2}} v_{\gamma}(t) \right)$$
(4.56)

where we used the cancellation in $r \leq 2t^{\frac{1}{2}}$ due to the choice of $\bar{\mu}_0$. Given $\bar{\mu}_0$ above, we are now able to describe Φ_e rigorously. Set $\bar{\rho} = \frac{r}{\bar{\mu}_0}$ and consider $\Phi_e = \Phi_e(\bar{\rho}, t)$ solving

$$\partial_{\bar{\rho}\bar{\rho}}\Phi_e + \frac{1}{\bar{\rho}}\partial_{\bar{\rho}}\Phi_e - \frac{\bar{\rho}^4 - 6\bar{\rho}^2 + 1}{\bar{\rho}^2(\bar{\rho}^2 + 1)^2}\Phi_e = \tilde{H}(\bar{\rho}, t)$$

where

$$\tilde{H}(\bar{\rho},t) := \bar{\mu}_0 \eta(\frac{\bar{\mu}_0 \bar{\rho}}{\sqrt{t}}) \frac{-8\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^2 + 1)^2} \left(\varphi[\bar{\mu}_0](\bar{\mu}_0 \bar{\rho}, t) + \psi_*(\bar{\mu}_0 \bar{\rho}, t)\right) + \bar{\mu}_0 \mathcal{M}[\bar{\mu}_0] \frac{\eta(\bar{\rho}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\rho})}{\int_0^3 \eta(x) \mathcal{Z}^2(x) x dx}$$

 Φ_e is taken as

$$\Phi_e(\bar{\rho},t) = \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\rho}) \int_0^{\bar{\rho}} \tilde{H}(x,t) \mathcal{Z}(x) x dx - \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\rho}) \int_0^{\bar{\rho}} \tilde{H}(x,t) \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}(x) x dx.$$

By the definition of $\mathcal{M}[\bar{\mu}_0]$, one clearly has

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \tilde{H}(x,t)\mathcal{Z}(x)xdx = 0.$$
(4.57)

Using (4.56) for the case $\mu_1 \equiv 0$ and (4.48), we have

$$\tilde{H} = \bar{\mu}_0 \eta (\frac{\bar{\mu}_0 \bar{\rho}}{\sqrt{t}}) \frac{-8\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^2 + 1)^2} O\left(\mu_0^3 t^{-2} \bar{\rho}^2 + |\dot{\mu}_0| \min\{\langle \bar{\rho} \rangle, \ln t\} + \ln \ln t |\dot{\mu}_0| + \mu_0 \bar{\rho} t^{-\frac{1}{2}} v_{\gamma}(t)\right) + \frac{\bar{\mu}_0 O(t^{-2}) \eta(\bar{\rho}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\rho})}{\int_0^3 \eta(x) \mathcal{Z}^2(x) x dx}.$$

Thus

$$|\tilde{H}| \lesssim \mu_0 \eta(\frac{\bar{\mu}_0 \bar{\rho}}{\sqrt{t}}) \bar{\rho} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-3} \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} (\ln t)^{-1} \ln \ln t, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-2} \ln \ln t, & \gamma \ge 2. \end{cases}$$

By (4.50), another upper bound of \tilde{H} with faster spatial decay but slower time decay is given by

$$|\tilde{H}| \lesssim \mu_0 \eta (\frac{\bar{\mu}_0 \bar{\rho}}{\sqrt{t}}) \bar{\rho} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-4} \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}, & 1 < \gamma \leq 2\\ (t \ln t)^{-1}, & \gamma > 2. \end{cases}$$

Combining the above two upper bounds, \tilde{H} is then bounded by

$$|\tilde{H}| \lesssim \mu_0 \eta(\frac{\bar{\mu}_0 \bar{\rho}}{\sqrt{t}}) \begin{cases} \min\left\{\bar{\rho} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-4} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}, \bar{\rho} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-3} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} (\ln t)^{-1} \ln \ln t\right\}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ \min\left\{\bar{\rho} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-4} t^{-1}, \bar{\rho} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-3} t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-2} \ln \ln t\right\}, & \gamma = 2\\ \min\left\{\bar{\rho} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-4} (t \ln t)^{-1}, \bar{\rho} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-3} t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-2} \ln \ln t\right\}, & \gamma > 2. \end{cases}$$

Using (4.57), we have

$$\langle \bar{\rho} \rangle |\partial_{\bar{\rho}} \Phi_e| + |\Phi_e| \lesssim \mu_0 \bar{\rho}^3 \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-3} \begin{cases} \min\left\{ t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-1} \ln(\bar{\rho}+2), t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} (\ln t)^{-1} \ln\ln t \right\}, & 1 < \gamma < 2 \\ \min\left\{ t^{-1} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-1} \ln(\bar{\rho}+2), t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-2} \ln\ln t \right\}, & \gamma = 2 \\ \min\left\{ (t\ln t)^{-1} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-1} \ln(\bar{\rho}+2), t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-2} \ln\ln t \right\}, & \gamma > 2. \end{cases}$$
(4.58)

By the same argument in [100, (2.28)], we also have

$$|\partial_t \Phi_e| \lesssim \mu_0 \bar{\rho}^3 \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-3} \begin{cases} t^{-1-\frac{\gamma}{2}} \ln t \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-1} \ln(\bar{\rho}+2), & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t^{-2} \ln t \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-1} \ln(\bar{\rho}+2), & \gamma = 2\\ t^{-2} \langle \bar{\rho} \rangle^{-1} \ln(\bar{\rho}+2), & \gamma > 2. \end{cases}$$
(4.59)

We now use the expression of Φ_e to compute the new error.

$$E[v_{1}] = \Phi_{e}\eta'(4z)\frac{2r}{t^{\frac{3}{2}}} - \eta(4z)\partial_{t}\Phi_{e} + \frac{16}{t}\eta''(4z)\Phi_{e} + \frac{8}{\sqrt{t}}\eta'(4z)\partial_{r}\Phi_{e} + \frac{1}{r}\frac{4}{\sqrt{t}}\eta'(4z)\Phi_{e} + (\eta(4z) - \eta(z))\frac{-8\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1}\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^{2} + 1)^{2}}(\varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}](r, t) + \psi_{*}(r, t)) + \eta(z)\left[\left(\frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2} + 1)^{2}} - \frac{8\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1}\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^{2} + 1)^{2}}\right)(\varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}](r, t) + \psi_{*}(r, t)) + \frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2} + 1)^{2}}(\varphi[\mu](r, t) - \varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}](r, t))\right] + \bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1}\mathcal{M}[\bar{\mu}_{0}]\frac{\eta(\bar{\rho})\mathcal{Z}(\bar{\rho})}{\int_{0}^{3}\eta(x)\mathcal{Z}^{2}(x)xdx} + \eta(4z)\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-2}(\cos(2Q_{\bar{\mu}_{0}}) - \cos(2Q_{\mu}))\bar{\rho}^{-2}\Phi_{e} + E_{e}.$$

$$(4.60)$$

4.3. **Gluing system.** Having improved the spatial decay by non-local corrections and time decay by solving the linearized elliptic equation, we are now ready to formulate the gluing system to deal with the remaining errors. We introduce the correction term

$$\Psi(r,t) + \eta_R(\rho)\Phi(\rho,t), \quad \rho = \mu^{-1}r$$

where $\eta_R(\rho) = \eta(R^{-1}\rho)$ with $R = R(t) = t^{\omega}$ with $\omega > 0$ to be determined later. In order to restrict the inner problem within the self-similar region, we make the ansatz

$$\mu R \ll \sqrt{t},\tag{4.61}$$

and by (4.45) and (4.55), it is true provided

$$0 < \omega < \begin{cases} \frac{\gamma - 1}{2}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ \frac{1}{2}, & \gamma \ge 2. \end{cases}$$
(4.62)

By direct calculation, one has

$$E [v_1 + \Psi + \eta_R \Phi] = -\partial_t \Psi + \partial_{rr} \Psi + \frac{1}{r} \partial_r \Psi - \frac{1}{r^2} \Psi + \Lambda[\Phi] - \eta_R \partial_t \Phi + \eta_R \mu^{-2} \partial_{\rho\rho} \Phi + \eta_R \mu^{-2} \frac{\partial_\rho \Phi}{\rho} - \mu^{-2} \frac{\rho^4 - 6\rho^2 + 1}{\rho^2 (\rho^2 + 1)^2} \eta_R \Phi + \eta_R \rho \partial_\rho \Phi \mu^{-1} \dot{\mu} + \eta_R \frac{8\mu^{-2}}{(\rho^2 + 1)^2} \Psi + (1 - \eta_R) \frac{8\mu^{-2}}{(\rho^2 + 1)^2} \Psi - \frac{\eta(z) - 1}{r^2} \cos(2Q_\mu) \Psi + \mathcal{N} + E [v_1],$$

where $E[v_1]$ is given in (4.60),

$$\Lambda[\Phi] := \eta''(\frac{\rho}{R})(\mu R)^{-2}\Phi + \eta'(\frac{\rho}{R})\mu^{-2}(\rho R)^{-1}\Phi + 2(\mu R)^{-1}\mu^{-1}\eta'(\frac{\rho}{R})\partial_{\rho}\Phi + \eta'(\frac{\rho}{R})\frac{\rho}{R}\frac{(\mu R)'}{\mu R}\Phi$$
(4.63)

and we used (4.61) and

$$\frac{1}{2r^2} \left(\sin \left(2v_1 \right) - \sin \left(2\left(v_1 + \Psi + \eta_R \Phi \right) \right) \right) = -\frac{\eta(z)}{r^2} \cos(2Q_\mu) \left(\Psi + \eta_R \Phi \right) + \mathcal{N},$$

$$\mathcal{N} = \mathcal{N}[\Psi, \Phi, \mu_1] := \frac{1}{2r^2} \left[\sin \left(2\left(\eta(z)Q_\mu + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e \right) \right) \right) - \eta(z) \sin \left(2\left(Q_\mu + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e \right) + \eta(z) \sin \left(2\left(Q_\mu + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e + \Psi + \eta_R \Phi \right) \right) \right) \right] - \sin \left(2\left(\eta(z)Q_\mu + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e + \Psi + \eta_R \Phi \right) \right) \right]$$

$$+ \frac{\eta(z)}{2r^2} \left\{ \sin \left(2\left(Q_\mu + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e \right) - \sin(2Q_\mu) - 2\cos(2Q_\mu) \left(\Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e \right) - \left[\sin \left(2\left(Q_\mu + \Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e + \Psi + \eta_R \Phi \right) \right) - \sin(2Q_\mu) - 2\cos(2Q_\mu) \left(\Phi_1 + \Phi_2 + \Psi_* + \eta(4z)\Phi_e + \Psi + \eta_R \Phi \right) \right] \right\}.$$

$$(4.64)$$

In order to make $E[v_1 + \Psi + \eta_R \Phi] = 0$, it suffices to solve the following gluing system. • The outer problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \Psi = \partial_{rr} \Psi + \frac{1}{r} \partial_r \Psi - \frac{1}{r^2} \Psi + \mathcal{G} & \text{for } (r,t) \in (0,\infty) \times (t_0,\infty) \\ \Psi(\cdot,t_0) = 0 & \text{in } (0,\infty) \end{cases}$$
(4.65)

where

$$\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}[\Psi, \Phi, \mu_{1}] := \Lambda[\Phi] + \Phi_{e}\eta'(4z)\frac{2r}{t^{\frac{3}{2}}} - \eta(4z)(1 - \eta_{R})\partial_{t}\Phi_{e} + \frac{16}{t}\eta''(4z)\Phi_{e} + \frac{8}{\sqrt{t}}\eta'(4z)\partial_{r}\Phi_{e} + \frac{1}{r}\frac{4}{\sqrt{t}}\eta'(4z)\Phi_{e} \\
+ (\eta(4z) - \eta(z))\frac{-8\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1}\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^{2} + 1)^{2}}(\varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}](r, t) + \psi_{*}(r, t)) \\
+ (1 - \eta_{R})\eta(z)\left[\left(\frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2} + 1)^{2}} - \frac{8\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1}\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^{2} + 1)^{2}}\right)(\varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}](r, t) + \psi_{*}(r, t)) + \frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2} + 1)^{2}}(\varphi[\mu](r, t) - \varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}](r, t))\right] \\
+ (1 - \eta_{R})\eta(4z)\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-2}\left(\cos(2Q_{\bar{\mu}_{0}}) - \cos(2Q_{\mu})\right)\bar{\rho}^{-2}\Phi_{e} + (1 - \eta_{R})\left[\frac{8\mu^{-2}}{(\rho^{2} + 1)^{2}}\Psi + \tilde{\mathcal{N}}\right],$$
(4.66)

$$\tilde{\mathcal{N}} = \tilde{\mathcal{N}}[\Psi, \Phi, \mu_1] := \mathcal{N} + E_e - \frac{\eta(z) - 1}{r^2} \cos(2Q_\mu)\Psi.$$
(4.67)

• The inner problem:

$$\begin{cases} \mu^{2}\partial_{t}\Phi = \partial_{\rho\rho}\Phi + \frac{\partial_{\rho}\Phi}{\rho} - \frac{\rho^{4} - 6\rho^{2} + 1}{\rho^{2}(\rho^{2} + 1)^{2}}\Phi + \dot{\mu}\mu\rho\partial_{\rho}\Phi + \mathcal{H}_{1} + \mathcal{H}_{2} & \text{for } t \in (t_{0}, \infty), \rho \in (0, 2R(t)) \\ \Phi(\cdot, t_{0}) = 0 & \text{in } (0, 2R(t_{0})) \end{cases}$$
(4.68)

where

$$\mathcal{H}_{1} = \mathcal{H}_{1}[\Psi, \mu_{1}] := \frac{8\Psi}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}} + \mu^{2} \left[\left(\frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}} - \frac{8\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1}\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^{2}+1)^{2}} \right) (\varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}](r,t) + \psi_{*}(r,t)) + \frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}} (\varphi[\mu](r,t) - \varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}](r,t)) + \bar{\mu}_{0}^{-2} (\cos(2Q_{\bar{\mu}_{0}}) - \cos(2Q_{\mu})) \bar{\rho}^{-2} \Phi_{e} \right],$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{2} = \mathcal{H}_{2}[\Psi, \Phi, \mu_{1}] := \mu^{2} \left(\tilde{\mathcal{N}} - \partial_{t} \Phi_{e} + \bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1} \mathcal{M}[\bar{\mu}_{0}] \frac{\eta(\bar{\rho}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\rho})}{c^{3}} \right).$$

$$(4.69)$$

$$(4.69)$$

$$\Psi, \Phi, \mu_1] := \mu^2 \left(\tilde{\mathcal{N}} - \partial_t \Phi_e + \bar{\mu}_0^{-1} \mathcal{M}[\bar{\mu}_0] \frac{\eta(\bar{\rho}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\rho})}{\int_0^3 \eta(x) \mathcal{Z}^2(x) x dx} \right).$$

$$(4.70)$$

 Set

$$\Psi := r\psi(r, t), \quad \Phi := \rho\phi(\rho, t). \tag{4.71}$$

In order to solve (4.65) and (4.68), it suffices to solve the following system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \psi = \partial_{rr} \psi + \frac{3}{r} \partial_r \psi + r^{-1} \mathcal{G}[r\psi, \rho\phi, \mu_1] & \text{for } (r,t) \in (0,\infty) \times (t_0,\infty) \\ \psi(\cdot, t_0) = 0 & \text{in } (0,\infty), \end{cases}$$
(4.72)

$$\begin{cases} \mu^2 \partial_t \phi = L_{\rm in}[\phi] + \rho^{-1} \left(\mathcal{H}_1[\mu \rho \psi, \mu_1] + \mathcal{H}_2[\mu \rho \psi, \rho \phi, \mu_1] \right) & \text{for } t \in (t_0, \infty), \rho \in (0, 2R(t)) \\ \phi(\cdot, t_0) = 0 & \text{in } (0, 2R(t_0)) \end{cases}$$
(4.73)

where

$$L_{\rm in}[\phi] := \partial_{\rho\rho}\phi + \frac{3}{\rho}\partial_{\rho}\phi + \frac{8\phi}{(\rho^2 + 1)^2} + \dot{\mu}\mu\left(\phi + \rho\partial_{\rho}\phi\right). \tag{4.74}$$

For the dealing of the inner problem, it will be more convenient to use the time variable with

$$\tau = \tau(t) := \int_{t_0}^t \mu^{-2}(s)ds + C_\tau t_0 \mu^{-2}(t_0), \quad \tau_0 := \tau(t_0) = C_\tau t_0 \mu^{-2}(t_0)$$
(4.75)

where C_{τ} is a large constant. By (4.55) and (4.45), we have

$$\tau(t) \sim t\mu_0^{-2} \sim \begin{cases} t^{\gamma-1}(\ln t)^2, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t, & \gamma = 2\\ t(\ln t)^2, & \gamma > 2, \end{cases} \qquad t(\tau) \sim \begin{cases} [\tau(\ln \tau)^{-2}]^{\frac{1}{\gamma-1}}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ \tau, & \gamma = 2\\ \tau(\ln \tau)^{-2}, & \gamma > 2, \end{cases}$$
(4.76)

and thus

$$|\mu(t)\dot{\mu}(t)| \lesssim \tau^{-1}(t).$$
 (4.77)

Under the parameter restriction (4.62), we have

$$R(t(\tau)) \ll \sqrt{\tau}.$$
(4.78)

We introduce the norm

$$\|f\|_{i,\kappa,a} := \sup_{\tau \in (\tau_0,\infty), \rho \in (0,2R(t(\tau)))} \tau^{\kappa} \langle \rho \rangle^a \left(\langle \rho \rangle |\partial_{\rho} f(\rho,\tau)| + |f(\rho,\tau)| \right)$$
(4.79)

for some positive constants $a, \kappa > 0$ to be determined later and will solve the inner problem in the space

$$B_{\rm in} := \Big\{ f(\rho, \tau) \text{ is } C^1 \text{ in } \rho \text{ for } \tau \in (\tau_0, \infty), \ \rho \in (0, 2R(t(\tau))) : \|f\|_{i,\kappa,a} \le 1 \Big\}.$$
(4.80)

The outer problem (4.72) is handled in the following proposition.

Proposition 4.2. Consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \psi = \partial_{rr} \psi + \frac{3}{r} \partial_r \psi + r^{-1} \mathcal{G}[r\psi, \rho\phi, \mu_1] \quad for \quad (r,t) \in (0,\infty) \times (t_0,\infty) \\ \partial_r \psi(0,t) = 0 \quad for \quad t \in (t_0,\infty), \quad \psi(r,t_0) = 0 \quad for \quad r \in (0,\infty) \end{cases}$$
(4.81)

where \mathcal{G} is given in (4.66). Suppose that $\phi \in B_{\text{in}}$, μ_1 satisfies $t|\dot{\mu}_1(t)|, |\mu_1(t)| \leq C_1 t(\ln t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \vartheta(t)$ for a constant $C_1 > 0$ where

$$\vartheta(t) := \begin{cases} t^{-a\omega + \frac{\gamma}{2} - 1 - \kappa(\gamma - 1)} (\ln t)^{1 - 2\kappa}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t^{-a\omega - \kappa}, & \gamma = 2\\ t^{-a\omega - \kappa} (\ln t)^{1 - 2\kappa}, & \gamma > 2 \end{cases} \sim \tau^{-\kappa}(t) \mu_0^{-1} R^{-a}$$
(4.82)

and the parameters satisfy

$$\begin{cases} \gamma - 1 < \kappa(\gamma - 1) + a\omega < 2(\gamma - 1), & a\omega < \kappa(\gamma - 1), \quad (2 + a)\omega < 2\kappa(\gamma - 1), & \text{if } 1 < \gamma < 2\\ 1 < \kappa + a\omega < 2, & a\omega < \kappa, \quad (2 + a)\omega < 2\kappa, & \text{if } \gamma \ge 2, \end{cases}$$
(4.83)

then there exists a solution $\psi = \psi[\phi, \mu_1]$ satisfying $\psi = T_4 \bullet [r^{-1} \mathcal{G}[r\psi, \rho\phi, \mu_1]](r, t, t_0)$ with the following estimates:

$$|\psi(r,t)| \lesssim \vartheta(t) \left(\mathbf{1}_{\{r \le t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} + tr^{-2} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > t^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \right), \quad |\partial_r \psi(r,t)| \lesssim \vartheta(t) \left((\mu_0 R)^{-1} \mathbf{1}_{\{r \le 9\sqrt{t}\}} + t^{-\frac{1}{2}} tr^{-2} \mathbf{1}_{\{r > 9\sqrt{t}\}} \right), \quad (4.84)$$

$$\sup_{r \in [0,\infty)} \sup_{t_1, t_2 \in [t - \frac{\lambda_o^2}{4}, t]} \frac{|\psi(r, t_1) - \psi(r, t_2)|}{|t_1 - t_2|^{\alpha}} \lesssim \lambda_o^{-2\alpha} \vartheta(t) + \lambda_o^{2-2\alpha} \vartheta(t)(\mu_0 R)^{-2}$$
(4.85)

for any $\alpha \in (0,1), \ 0 < \lambda_o \leq t^{\frac{1}{2}}$.
In order to solve the inner problem (4.73), it suffices to solve the following two equations. The inner problem with orthogonality condition:

$$\begin{cases} \mu^2 \partial_t \phi_1 = L_{\rm in}[\phi_1] + \rho^{-1} \left(\mathcal{H}_1[\mu \rho \psi, \mu_1] + \mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1] \right) & \text{for } t \in (t_0, \infty), \rho \in (0, 2R(t)) \\ \phi_1(\cdot, t_0) = 0 & \text{in } (0, 2R(t_0)); \end{cases}$$
(4.86)

and the inner problem without orthogonality condition:

$$\begin{cases} \mu^2 \partial_t \phi_2 = L_{\rm in}[\phi_2] + \rho^{-1} \left(\mathcal{H}_2[\mu \rho \psi, \rho \phi, \mu_1] - \mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1] \right) & \text{for } t \in (t_0, \infty), \rho \in (0, 2R(t)) \\ \phi_2(\cdot, t_0) = 0 & \text{in } (0, 2R(t_0)) \end{cases}$$
(4.87)

where $\phi = \phi_1 + \phi_2$ and $\mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]$ will be given in (4.97) later.

4.4. Solving the orthogonal equation and Hölder estimate about $\dot{\mu}_1$.

4.4.1. Solving the orthogonal equation. Hereafter, for $\vartheta(t)$ given in (4.82), we make the ansatz

$$t|\dot{\mu}_1(t)|, |\mu_1(t)| \le t(\ln t)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\vartheta(t).$$
(4.88)

Under the assumption (4.83), (4.88) implies the desired ansatz (4.54) with t_0 sufficiently large.

In order to find a well-behaved solution for the orthogonal inner problem (4.86), we will use Proposition D.2 with the conditions $f(\tau) = C_f \tau^{-1}$ with a large constant C_f , $P_V = 4$, d = 4, $Z(\rho) = \frac{1}{\rho^2 + 1}$, $\beta = -2$,

$$R = (t(\tau))^{\omega}, \quad R_0 = (t(\tau))^{\delta_0} \text{ with } 0 < \delta_0 < \omega.$$
 (4.89)

By (4.78), we have $R_0 \leq R/3 \ll \sqrt{\tau}$. Given the definition (D.9) of $c_{\rm in}$ in Proposition D.2, roughly speaking, we will solve the orthogonal equation

$$c_{\rm in} \left[\rho^{-1} (\mathcal{H}_1[\mu \rho \psi[\phi, \mu_1]] + \mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]) \right] (\tau(t)) = 0$$
(4.90)

with a well-chosen function $\mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]$ to make the orthogonal equation manageable. Note that c_{in} includes a minor term $c_{in,1}$ defined in Proposition D.2.

The effect from the outer solution is given by

$$\int_{0}^{R_{0}} \frac{8\mu\psi[\phi,\mu_{1}](\mu\rho,t)}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}} \frac{\rho^{3}}{\rho^{2}+1} d\rho = \mu \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \frac{8\rho^{3}\psi[\phi,\mu_{1}](\mu\rho,t)}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{3}} d\rho$$

Recall $\bar{\rho} = \frac{r}{\bar{\mu}_0}$. Notice that for any $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\mu^{c} \frac{\rho^{a}}{\left(\rho^{2}+1\right)^{b}} - \bar{\mu}_{0}^{c} \frac{\bar{\rho}^{a}}{\left(\bar{\rho}^{2}+1\right)^{b}} = \mu^{c-1} \mu_{1} \frac{(2b-a+c)\rho^{a+2}+(c-a)\rho^{a}}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{b+1}} + O\left(\mu^{-1}\left|\mu_{1}\right|\mu^{c-1}\left|\mu_{1}\right|\rho^{a}\langle\rho\rangle^{-2b}\right)$$
(4.91)

since for

$$f(\theta) := \mu_{\theta}^{c} \frac{\rho_{\theta}^{a}}{(\rho_{\theta}^{2} + 1)^{b}}, \quad \rho_{\theta} := \frac{r}{\mu_{\theta}}, \quad \mu_{\theta} := \theta \mu + (1 - \theta)\bar{\mu}_{0} = \mu + (\theta - 1)\mu_{1}$$

we have

$$f'(\theta) = \mu_{\theta}^{c-1} \mu_1 \frac{(2b-a+c)\rho_{\theta}^{a+2} + (c-a)\rho_{\theta}^a}{(\rho_{\theta}^2 + 1)^{b+1}}$$

In particular,

$$\frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^2+1)^2} - \frac{8\bar{\mu}_0^{-1}\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^2+1)^2} = 8\mu^{-2}\mu_1 \frac{2\rho^3 - 2\rho}{(\rho^2+1)^3} + O\left(\mu^{-1}|\mu_1|\mu^{-2}|\mu_1|\rho\langle\rho\rangle^{-4}\right).$$
(4.92)

By (4.92), (4.56) for the case $\mu_1 \equiv 0$, (4.48), and $\gamma > 1$, we have

$$\mu^{2} \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \left(\frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}} - \frac{8\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1}\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^{2}+1)^{2}} \right) (\varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}] + \psi_{*}) (\mu\rho, t) \frac{\rho^{2}}{\rho^{2}+1} d\rho = \mu O\left(|\mu_{1}| \ln \ln t \mu_{0}^{-1} |\dot{\mu}_{0}| \right)$$
(4.93)
$$\bar{\rho} = -\rho \psi(\bar{\mu}_{0})^{-1}$$

where $\bar{\rho} = \rho \mu(\bar{\mu}_0)^{-1}$.

By (4.23), we have

$$\mu^{2} \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}} \left(\varphi[\mu] - \varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}]\right) \left(\mu\rho, t\right) \frac{\rho^{2}}{\rho^{2}+1} d\rho$$

$$= -\mu \left(1 + C_{0}(R_{0})\right) \left(\mu_{1}t^{-1} + \int_{t/2}^{t-t^{1-\nu}} \frac{\dot{\mu}_{1}(s)}{t-s} ds + \dot{\mu}_{1} \left[(1-\nu)\ln t - 2\ln \mu_{0}\right] + \mathcal{E}_{\nu}[\mu_{1}]\right)$$

$$+ \mu \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \tilde{F}[\bar{\mu}_{0}, \mu_{1}](\mu\rho, t) \frac{8\rho^{3}}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{3}} d\rho$$

where

 $0 < \nu < \min\{\gamma - 1, 1\}$ (4.94)

so that $\mu_0^2 \ll t^{1-\nu}$;

$$C_0(R_0) := \int_{R_0}^{\infty} \frac{-4\rho^3}{(\rho^2 + 1)^3} d\rho = O(R_0^{-2}), \text{ and } \mathcal{E}_{\nu}[\mu_1] = \mathcal{E}_{\nu}[\mu_1](t) := \int_{t-t^{1-\nu}}^{t-\mu_0^2(t)} \frac{\dot{\mu}_1(s) - \dot{\mu}_1(t)}{t-s} ds$$
(4.95) and by (4.23) and (4.52),

$$\mu \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \tilde{F}[\bar{\mu}_{0}, \mu_{1}](\mu\rho, t) \frac{8\rho^{3}}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{3}} d\rho
= \mu O\Big(|\mu_{1}|t^{-2}\mu^{2}\ln R_{0} + \sup_{t_{1}\in[t/2,t]} \left(|\dot{\mu}_{1}| + t^{-1}|\mu_{1}|\right)(t_{1}) + t^{-2} \int_{t_{0}/2}^{t/2} \left(s \left|\dot{\mu}_{1}(s)\right| + |\mu_{1}(s)|\right)\Big).$$
(4.96)

We choose

$$\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mu_{1}] := \left(\int_{0}^{2} \frac{\eta(x)x^{3}}{x^{2}+1} dx\right)^{-1} \mu\left(1 + C_{0}(R_{0})\right) \mathcal{E}_{\nu}[\mu_{1}]\rho\eta(\rho).$$
(4.97)

And we have

$$\mu^{2} \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \bar{\mu}_{0}^{-2} \left(\cos(2Q_{\bar{\mu}_{0}}) - \cos(2Q_{\mu}) \right) \bar{\rho}^{-2} \Phi_{e}(\bar{\rho}, t) \frac{\rho^{2}}{\rho^{2} + 1} d\rho = \mu^{2} O \left(|\mu_{1}| \mu_{0}^{-2} \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}} (\ln t)^{-1} \ln \ln t, & 1 < \gamma < 2 \\ t^{-1} (\ln t)^{-2} \ln \ln t, & \gamma \geq 2 \end{cases} \right).$$

$$(4.98)$$

Formally, in order to solve (4.90) in (t_0, ∞) , it suffices to solve the following nonlocal equation

$$\dot{\mu}_{1} = \chi(t) \left[(1-\nu) \ln t - 2 \ln \mu_{0} \right]^{-1} \left\{ -\mu_{1} t^{-1} - \int_{t/2}^{t-t^{1-\nu}} \frac{\dot{\mu}_{1}(s)}{t-s} ds + \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \frac{8\rho^{3} \psi[\phi,\mu_{1}](\mu\rho,t)}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{3}} d\rho + (1+C_{0}(R_{0}))^{-1} \left[\mu \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \left(\frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}} - \frac{8\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1}\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^{2}+1)^{2}} \right) (\varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}] + \psi_{*}) (\mu\rho,t) \frac{\rho^{2}}{\rho^{2}+1} d\rho + \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \bar{\mu}_{0}^{-2} (\cos(2Q_{\bar{\mu}_{0}}) - \cos(2Q_{\mu})) \bar{\rho}^{-2} \Phi_{e}(\bar{\rho},t) \frac{\rho^{2}}{\rho^{2}+1} d\rho + \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \tilde{F}[\bar{\mu}_{0},\mu_{1}](\mu\rho,t) \frac{8\rho^{3}}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{3}} d\rho + \mu^{-1}c_{\mathrm{in},1} \left[\rho^{-1} (\mathcal{H}_{1}[\mu\rho\psi[\phi,\mu_{1}]] + \mathcal{H}_{*}[\mu_{1}]) \right] (\tau(t)) \right] \right\} \qquad \text{in } [t_{0}/4,\infty)$$

$$(4.99)$$

where $\bar{\rho} = \rho \mu (\bar{\mu}_0)^{-1}$ and we set $\psi, c_{\text{in},1} = 0$ for $t < t_0$ and $\chi(t)$ is a smooth cut-off function such that $\chi(t) = 0$ for $t \leq \frac{3}{4}t_0$ and $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq t_0$. Recalling \mathcal{H}_1 given in (4.69), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \rho^{-1} \mathcal{H}_{1} \right| &\lesssim \mu \langle \rho \rangle^{-4} \bigg[\left| \psi[\phi, \mu_{1}](\mu\rho, t) \right| + \left| \mu_{1} \right| \mu^{-1} \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}, & 1 < \gamma \leq 2\\ (t \ln t)^{-1}, & \gamma > 2 \end{cases} \\ &+ \ln t \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2, t]} \left(\left| \dot{\mu}_{1} \right| + t^{-1} \left| \mu_{1} \right| \right) (t_{1}) + t^{-2} \int_{t_{0}/2}^{t/2} \left(s \left| \dot{\mu}_{1}(s) \right| + \left| \mu_{1}(s) \right| \right) ds \bigg]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.100)$$

Also, one has

$$\left|\rho^{-1}\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mu_{1}]\right| \lesssim \mu \ln t \sup_{t_{1} \in [t/2,t]} |\dot{\mu}_{1}(t_{1})| \eta(\rho).$$
(4.101)

We will solve the nonlocal problem (4.99) in the following proposition.

Proposition 4.3. Given $\phi \in B_{in}$, under the assumptions (4.83) for parameters $a\omega + \kappa(\gamma - 1) \neq \frac{\gamma}{2}$ if $1 < \gamma < 2$; $\nu \in (0, \frac{\min\{\gamma - 1, 1\}}{2})$;

$$\ell \in (2,4), \quad 0 < \delta_0 < \omega, \quad \begin{cases} \omega < \frac{\gamma - 1}{2}, \quad \delta_0 < \frac{\gamma - 1}{4}, \quad \kappa - 2 < \frac{\omega(2 - \ell - a)}{\gamma - 1}, \quad 1 < \gamma < 2\\ \omega < \frac{1}{2}, \quad \delta_0 < \frac{1}{4}, \quad \kappa - 2 < \omega(2 - \ell - a), \quad \gamma \ge 2, \end{cases}$$
(4.102)

then for t_0 sufficiently large, there exists a solution $\mu_1 = \mu_1[\phi]$ to (4.99) satisfying

$$t|\dot{\mu}_1(t)| + |\mu_1(t)| \lesssim \vartheta(t)t(\ln t)^{-1}$$
(4.103)

where $\vartheta(t)$ is given in (4.82). Moreover, there exists a solution $\phi_1 = \phi_1[\phi]$ for (4.86) with the estimate

$$\langle \rho \rangle |\partial_{\rho} \phi_1| + |\phi_1| \lesssim \tau^{-\kappa} R^{-a} R_0^{6-\ell} \langle \rho \rangle^{2-\mu}$$

And

$$\begin{aligned} \left| c_{\text{in},1} \left[\rho^{-1} (\mathcal{H}_1[\mu \rho \psi[\phi, \mu_1]] + \mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]) \right] (\tau(t)) \right| &\lesssim \vartheta(t) \mu_0 R_0^{2-\ell}, \\ \left| c_{\text{in},1} \left[\rho^{-1} (\mathcal{H}_1[\mu \rho \psi[\phi, \mu_1]] + \mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]) \right] (\tau(t_1)) - c_{\text{in},1} \left[\rho^{-1} (\mathcal{H}_1[\mu \rho \psi[\phi, \mu_1]] + \mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]) \right] (\tau(t_2)) \right| \\ &\lesssim \vartheta(t) \mu_0 R_0^{-\ell} t^{-\alpha} \tau(t) |t_1 - t_2|^{\alpha} \end{aligned}$$
(4.104)

for $\alpha \in (0,1)$, $t_1, t_2 \in [\iota t, t]$ with a constant $\iota \in (0,1)$ close to 1 sufficiently.

 $Under \ the \ additional \ assumption$

$$(6-\ell)\delta_0 - \min\{a, \ell-2\}\,\omega < 0,\tag{4.105}$$

there exists a constant $\epsilon > 0$ small such that

$$\langle \rho \rangle |\partial_{\rho} \phi_1| + |\phi_1| \lesssim \tau_0^{-\epsilon} \tau^{-\kappa}(t) \langle \rho \rangle^{-a}$$

Proof. Recall μ_0 in (4.45). For $\nu \neq \gamma - 1$,

 $[(1-\nu)\ln t - 2\ln\mu_0]^{-1} = C_{\gamma,\nu}(\ln t)^{-1} \left(1 + O((\ln t)^{-1}\ln\ln t)\right), \quad C_{\gamma,\nu} := (\min\{\gamma - 1, 1\} - \nu)^{-1}.$ (4.106) Under the ansatz (4.88), $\psi[\phi, \mu_1]$ is given by Proposition 4.2 and there exists $C_1 \ge 2$ sufficiently large such that

$$\left| \left[(1-\nu)\ln t - 2\ln \mu_0 \right]^{-1} (1+C_0(R_0))^{-1} \int_0^{R_0} \frac{8\rho^3 \psi[\phi,\mu_1](\mu\rho,t)}{(\rho^2+1)^3} d\rho \right| \le C_1 |C_{\gamma,\nu}| t^p (\ln t)^{p_1-1}$$

where $t^p(\ln t)^{p_1} \sim \vartheta(t)$ and

$$p := \begin{cases} -a\omega + \frac{\gamma}{2} - 1 - \kappa(\gamma - 1), & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ -a\omega - \kappa, & \gamma \ge 2, \end{cases} \qquad p_1 := \begin{cases} 1 - 2\kappa, & \gamma \in (1, \infty) \setminus \{2\}\\ 0, & \gamma = 2. \end{cases}$$
(4.107)

For this reason, we introduce the norm

$$||f||_* := \sup_{t \ge t_0/4} \left[|C_{\gamma,\nu}| t^p (\ln t)^{p_1 - 1} \right]^{-1} |f(t)|, \qquad (4.108)$$

and $\dot{\mu}_1$ will be solved in the space

$$B_{\dot{\mu}_1} := \{ f : \|f\|_* \le C_{\mu_1} C_1 \}$$
(4.109)

where $C_{\mu_1} \geq 2$ will be determined later and

$$\mu_1(t) = \mu_1[\dot{\mu}_1](t) := \begin{cases} \int_{t_0}^t \dot{\mu}_1(s)ds, & p \ge -1\\ -\int_t^\infty \dot{\mu}_1(s)ds, & p < -1. \end{cases}$$

For any $\dot{\mu}_1 \in B_{\mu_1}$, since $p \neq -1$, we have

$$|\mu_1(t)| \le |C_{\gamma,\nu}| C(p,p_1) t^{p+1} (\ln t)^{p_1-1} \|\dot{\mu}_1\|_*$$

with a constant $C(p, p_1) \ge 1$ depending on p, p_1 . For any $\dot{\mu}_1 \in B_{\mu_1}$, under the assumptions

$$\begin{cases} (\kappa - 1)(\gamma - 1) + a\omega > 0, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ \kappa + a\omega - 1 > 0, & \gamma \ge 2, \end{cases}$$
(4.110)

 $\dot{\mu}_1$, μ_1 satisfies the ansatz (4.88) when t_0 is sufficiently large.

For brevity, we denote $\chi(t)A[\psi,\mu,\dot{\mu}_1]$ as the right hand side of (4.99). In order to solve (4.99), it suffices to consider the following fixed point problem for $\dot{\mu}_1$

$$\mathcal{S}[\dot{\mu}_1](t) := \chi(t) A[\psi[\phi, \mu_1[\dot{\mu}_1]], \mu_1[\dot{\mu}_1], \dot{\mu}_1] \quad \text{in} \quad [t_0/4, \infty).$$
(4.111)

We will estimate $A[\psi[\phi, \mu_1[\dot{\mu}_1]], \mu_1[\dot{\mu}_1], \dot{\mu}_1]$ term by term. For simplicity, we write $\mu_1 = \mu_1[\dot{\mu}_1]$.

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{t/2}^{t-t^{1-\nu}} \frac{\dot{\mu}_{1}(s)}{t-s} ds \right| &\leq |C_{\gamma,\nu}| \|\dot{\mu}_{1}\|_{*} \int_{t/2}^{t-t^{1-\nu}} \frac{s^{p}(\ln s)^{p_{1}-1}}{t-s} ds \\ &= |C_{\gamma,\nu}| \|\dot{\mu}_{1}\|_{*} t^{p}(\ln t)^{p_{1}-1} \left[\int_{1/2}^{1-t^{-\nu}} \frac{(x^{p}-1) \left[1+(\ln t)^{-1}\ln x\right]^{p_{1}-1}}{1-x} dx + \int_{1/2}^{1-t^{-\nu}} \frac{\left[1+(\ln t)^{-1}\ln x\right]^{p_{1}-1}-1}{1-x} dx \\ &+ \int_{1/2}^{1-t^{-\nu}} \frac{1}{1-x} dx \right] = |C_{\gamma,\nu}| t^{p}(\ln t)^{p_{1}} \nu \left(1+O((\ln t)^{-1})\right) \|\dot{\mu}_{1}\|_{*}. \end{aligned}$$

By (4.93),

$$\left| \mu \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \left(\frac{8\mu^{-1}\rho}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}} - \frac{8\bar{\mu}_{0}^{-1}\bar{\rho}}{(\bar{\rho}^{2}+1)^{2}} \right) (\varphi[\bar{\mu}_{0}] + \psi_{*}) (\mu\rho, t) \frac{\rho^{2}}{\rho^{2}+1} d\rho \right| \lesssim t^{p} (\ln t)^{p_{1}-1} \ln \ln t \|\dot{\mu}_{1}\|_{*}.$$

By (4.98),

$$\left| \mu \int_0^{R_0} \bar{\mu}_0^{-2} \left(\cos(2Q_{\bar{\mu}_0}) - \cos(2Q_{\mu}) \right) \bar{\rho}^{-2} \Phi_e(\bar{\rho}, t) \frac{\rho^2}{\rho^2 + 1} d\rho \right| \lesssim t^p (\ln t)^{p_1 - 1} \ln \ln t \|\dot{\mu}_1\|_*$$

By (4.96), $\gamma > 1$ and the assumptions (4.83) on parameters, we get

$$\left| \int_{0}^{R_{0}} \tilde{F}[\bar{\mu}_{0}, \mu_{1}](\mu\rho, t) \frac{8\rho^{3}}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{3}} d\rho \right| \lesssim t^{p} (\ln t)^{p_{1}-1} \|\dot{\mu}_{1}\|_{*}$$

By (4.100) and (4.101), under the assumptions (4.83), we have

$$\left|\rho^{-1}\mathcal{H}_{1}[\mu\rho\psi[\phi,\mu_{1}]]\right| \lesssim \mu_{0}t^{p}(\ln t)^{p_{1}}\langle\rho\rangle^{-4}\left(1+\|\dot{\mu}_{1}\|_{*}\right), \quad \left|\rho^{-1}\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mu_{1}]\right| \lesssim \mu_{0}t^{p}(\ln t)^{p_{1}}\eta(\rho)\|\dot{\mu}_{1}\|_{*}.$$

Under the assumption (4.102), by Proposition D.2 (for the case $v(\tau) = \tau^{-\kappa}(t(\tau))^{-a\omega} \sim \mu_0 t^p (\ln t)^{p_1}$), we see that

$$c_{\mathrm{in},1}\left[\rho^{-1}(\mathcal{H}_1[\mu\rho\psi[\phi,\mu_1]] + \mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1])\right]$$

is well-defined and satisfies

$$\left|\mu^{-1}c_{\mathrm{in},1}\left[\rho^{-1}(\mathcal{H}_{1}[\mu\rho\psi[\phi,\mu_{1}]]+\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mu_{1}])\right](\tau(t))\right| \lesssim R_{0}^{2-\ell}t^{p}(\ln t)^{p_{1}}\left(1+\|\dot{\mu}_{1}\|_{*}\right)$$

and for $\alpha \in (0, 1), \tau_1, \tau_2 \in [\frac{7}{8}\tau, \tau],$

$$\left| c_{\text{in},1} \left[\rho^{-1} (\mathcal{H}_1[\mu \rho \psi[\phi, \mu_1]] + \mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]) \right] (\tau_1) - c_{\text{in},1} \left[\rho^{-1} (\mathcal{H}_1[\mu \rho \psi[\phi, \mu_1]] + \mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]) \right] (\tau_2) \right|$$

$$\lesssim \tau^{-\kappa} R^{-a} \left[\tau^{-1} R_0^{-\ell} |\tau_1 - \tau_2| + |\tau_1 - \tau_2|^{\alpha} \left(\tau^{-\alpha} R_0^{2-\ell} + \tau^{1-\alpha} R_0^{-\ell} \right) \right] (1 + \|\dot{\mu}_1\|_*)$$

$$\lesssim \tau^{-\kappa} R^{-a} \tau^{1-\alpha} R_0^{-\ell} |\tau_1 - \tau_2|^{\alpha} (1 + \|\dot{\mu}_1\|_*)$$

$$(4.112)$$

where we have used $R_0 \lesssim \sqrt{\tau}$.

Incorporating the above estimate and using $\|\dot{\mu}_1\|_* \leq C_{\mu_1}C_1$, we obtain that there exists a large constant $C_2 > 1$ which is independent of C_{μ_1} such that for $t \geq \frac{t_0}{4}$,

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{S}[\dot{\mu}_{1}]| &\leq \chi(t) \Biggl\{ C_{1} | C_{\gamma,\nu} | t^{p} (\ln t)^{p_{1}-1} + \nu | C_{\gamma,\nu} | \left(1 + O((\ln t)^{-1} \ln \ln t) \right) | C_{\gamma,\nu} | t^{p} (\ln t)^{p_{1}-1} C_{\mu_{1}} C_{1} \\ &+ C_{2} C_{\mu_{1}} C_{1} (\ln t)^{-1} \left[t^{p} (\ln t)^{p_{1}-1} \ln \ln t + R_{0}^{2-\ell} t^{p} (\ln t)^{p_{1}} \right] \Biggr\}. \end{aligned}$$

The parameters will be determined in the following order. First, we take $\nu |C_{\gamma,\nu}| < 1$, which is equivalent to $\nu < \min\left\{\frac{\gamma-1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right\}$, and then we choose C_{μ_1} sufficiently large such that $\nu |C_{\gamma,\nu}|C_{\mu_1} + 1 < C_{\mu_1}$. Finally, we take t_0 sufficiently large. We thus conclude that $S[\dot{\mu}_1] \in B_{\mu_1}$.

By (4.23), (4.99), and the parabolic regularity theory, $A[\psi[\phi, \mu_1], \mu_1, \dot{\mu}_1]$ enjoys the Hölder continuity in time, which provides compactness for the mapping. Thus, we find a solution $\dot{\mu}_1 \in B_{\dot{\mu}_1}$ by the Schauder fixed-point theorem.

Once we have solved (4.99), i.e., (4.90) holds, then by Proposition D.2, we deduce the existence and the estimates for $\phi_1 = \phi_1[\phi]$.

For $t_1, t_2 \in [\iota t, t]$ and $\iota \in (0, 1)$, by (4.75), (4.76), we have $\tau(t_1) \sim \tau(t_2) \sim \tau(t)$ and

$$|\tau(t_1) - \tau(t_2)| \le C|t_1 - t_2|\mu_0^{-2}(t) \le C(1-\iota)\min\{\tau(t_1), \tau(t_2)\} \le \frac{1}{9}\min\{\tau(t_1), \tau(t_2)\}$$

for ι arbitrarily close to 1. Then combining (4.112) and (4.76), we get (4.104).

4.4.2. Estimate about the Hölder semi-norm of $\dot{\mu}_1$. The pointwise estimate (4.101) for $\rho^{-1}\mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]$ is not sufficient to find a solution ϕ_2 to (4.87) in $B_{\rm in}$. For the purpose of deriving better estimate for $\rho^{-1}\mathcal{H}_*[\mu_1]$, we will give the time decay estimate about the Hölder semi-norm of $\dot{\mu}_1$.

Claim: Let $\dot{\mu}_1$ be the solution to (4.99) given by Proposition 4.3. Under the assumptions in Proposition 4.3, $\dot{\mu}_1$ has the Hölder estimate

$$[\dot{\mu}_1]_{C^{\alpha}[\iota t,t]} \lesssim \varrho(t) \tag{4.113}$$

with $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, and

$$\varrho(t) := \vartheta(t)(\ln t)^{-1}t^{-\alpha} \left(t^{-2\omega} + t^{-\delta_0 \ell}\right) \begin{cases} t^{\gamma-1}(\ln t)^2, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t, & \gamma = 2\\ t(\ln t)^2, & \gamma > 2. \end{cases}$$
(4.114)

Thus, recalling (4.97), (4.95), and by (4.113), we have

$$\left|\rho^{-1}\mathcal{H}_{*}[\mu_{1}]\right| \lesssim \mu_{0} \left|\mathcal{E}_{\nu}[\mu_{1}]\right| \eta(\rho) \lesssim \eta(\rho)\mu_{0} t^{\alpha(1-\nu)} \varrho(t).$$

$$(4.115)$$

4.5. Solving the inner problem and the proof of Theorem 5. In this section, we solve the inner problem and complete the construction of desired blow-up solution.

Recall \mathcal{H}_2 given in (4.70). We have

$$|\rho^{-1}\mathcal{H}_2| \lesssim \left(\begin{cases} t^{2-2\gamma}(\ln t)^{-1}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t^{-2}(\ln t)^2, & \gamma \ge 2 \end{cases} + \tau^{-2\kappa}(t) + \tau^{-3\kappa}(t)R^2 \right) \langle \rho \rangle^{-2}.$$
(4.116)

We will use Proposition D.1 to find a solution ϕ_2 for the inner problem (4.87) without orthogonality condition. Recall the upper bound of the right hand side of (4.87) in (4.115), (4.114) and (4.116). The assumption (4.62) gives $\tau^{-1}R^2 \ln R + |\partial_{\tau}R|R \ln R \ll 1$ for t_0 sufficiently large. Then by Proposition D.1, there exists a solution ϕ_2 for (4.87) with the estimate

$$\begin{split} \langle \rho \rangle |\partial_{\rho} \phi_{2}| + |\phi_{2}| &\lesssim \langle \rho \rangle^{-2} R^{2} \ln R \tau^{-\kappa}(t) R^{-a} (\ln t)^{-1} t^{-\alpha \nu - \min\{2\omega, \delta_{0}\ell\}} \begin{cases} t^{\gamma - 1} (\ln t)^{2}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t, & \gamma = 2\\ t(\ln t)^{2}, & \gamma > 2 \end{cases} \\ + \langle \rho \rangle^{-2} R^{2} \ln R \Big(\begin{cases} t^{2 - 2\gamma} (\ln t)^{-1}, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ t^{-2} (\ln t)^{2}, & \gamma \ge 2 \end{cases} + \tau^{-2\kappa}(t) + \tau^{-3\kappa}(t) R^{2} \Big). \end{split}$$
(4.117)

Under the constraints

$$0 < a < 2, \quad (2-a)\omega - \alpha\nu - \min\{2\omega, \delta_0\ell\} + \begin{cases} \gamma - 1, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ 1, & \gamma \ge 2 \end{cases} < 0, \\ \begin{cases} 2\omega + 2 - 2\gamma + \kappa(\gamma - 1) < 0, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ 2\omega - 2 + \kappa < 0, & \gamma \ge 2, \end{cases} \begin{cases} 2\omega - \kappa(\gamma - 1) < 0, & 1 < \gamma < 2\\ 2\omega - \kappa < 0, & \gamma \ge 2, \end{cases}$$
(4.118)

there exists a constant $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small such that

$$\langle \rho \rangle |\partial_{\rho} \phi_2| + |\phi_2| \lesssim t^{-\epsilon} \tau^{-\kappa}(t) \langle \rho \rangle^{-a}$$

Recall ϕ_1 in Proposition 4.3. Combining all the restrictions on constants in Proposition 4.3, we conclude that

$$\phi_1 + \phi_2 = \phi_1 [\phi] + \phi_2 [\phi] \in B_{\text{in}} \tag{4.119}$$

due to the small quantity provided by $t_0^{-\epsilon}$ with t_0 sufficiently large, where B_{in} is defined in (4.80). The compactness of this mapping is provided by the parabolic regulative theory. Thus, by the Schauder fixed-point theorem, we find a solution ϕ of (4.73) in B_{in} .

We now collect all the assumptions on parameters measuring the desired topologies (4.62), (4.83), those in Proposition 4.3, (4.118) and write

$$f_{\gamma} = \frac{f}{\min\{\gamma - 1, 1\}}$$
 for $f = \omega, \nu, \delta_0$.

Then the system of parameters can be reformulated as

$$1 < \kappa + a\omega_{\gamma} < 2, \quad (2+a)\omega_{\gamma} < 2\kappa, \quad \alpha \in (0,1), \quad \nu_{\gamma} \in (0,\frac{1}{2})$$

$$a\omega + \kappa(\gamma - 1) \neq \frac{\gamma}{2} \quad \text{if} \quad 1 < \gamma < 2,$$

$$\ell \in (2,4), \quad 0 < \delta_{0\gamma} < \omega_{\gamma} < \frac{1}{2}, \quad \delta_{0\gamma} < \frac{1}{4}, \quad \kappa - 2 < \omega_{\gamma}(2-\ell-a),$$

$$(6-\ell)\delta_{0\gamma} - \min\{a,\ell-2\}\omega_{\gamma} < 0, \quad 0 < a < 2,$$

$$(2-a)\omega_{\gamma} - \alpha\nu_{\gamma} - \min\{2\omega_{\gamma},\delta_{0\gamma}\ell\} + 1 < 0, \quad 2\omega_{\gamma} - 2 + \kappa < 0, \quad 2\omega_{\gamma} - \kappa < 0.$$

$$(4.120)$$

By the software Mathematica, the solutions are given by

$$\frac{1}{4} < \omega_{\gamma} < \frac{1}{3}, \quad \frac{1}{2} < a\omega_{\gamma} < 2\omega_{\gamma}, \quad \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{1}{2} - a\omega_{\gamma} + 2\omega_{\gamma} \right) < \delta_{0\gamma} < \frac{1}{4}, \quad 2\omega_{\gamma} < \kappa < 2 - a\omega_{\gamma} - 2\omega_{\gamma}, \\
\kappa \neq \frac{\gamma}{2(\gamma - 1)} - a\omega_{\gamma} \quad \text{if} \quad 1 < \gamma < 2, \quad 1 - a\omega_{\gamma} < \alpha\nu_{\gamma}, \quad 1 - a\omega_{\gamma} < \nu_{\gamma} < \frac{1}{2}, \quad \frac{1 - a\omega_{\gamma}}{\nu_{\gamma}} < \alpha < 1, \quad (4.121) \\
\max\left\{ 2 + a, \frac{2\omega_{\gamma} - a\omega_{\gamma} - \alpha\nu_{\gamma} + 1}{\delta_{0\gamma}}, 6 - \frac{a\omega_{\gamma}}{\delta_{0\gamma}} \right\} < \ell < 4.$$

One may choose a special solution as $\omega_{\gamma} = \frac{7}{24}$, $a\omega_{\gamma} = \frac{13}{24}$, $a = \frac{13}{7}$, $\delta_{0\gamma} = \frac{1}{6}$, $\frac{14}{24} < \kappa < \frac{21}{24}$, $\kappa \neq \frac{\gamma}{2(\gamma-1)} - \frac{13}{24}$ if $1 < \gamma < 2$, $\alpha\nu_{\gamma} = \frac{23}{48}$, $\nu_{\gamma} = \frac{47}{96}$, $\alpha = \frac{46}{47}$, $\ell = \frac{55}{14}$.

Now we have constructed the solution v of (4.2) with the form

$$v = \eta\left(\frac{r}{\sqrt{t}}\right) \left(\pi - 2\arctan\left(\frac{r}{\mu}\right)\right) + r\left(\varphi + \psi_*\right)(r,t) + \eta\left(\frac{4r}{\sqrt{t}}\right) \Phi_e\left(\frac{r}{\bar{\mu}_0},t\right) + r\psi(r,t) + \eta\left(\frac{r}{\mu R}\right)\rho\phi(\rho,t)$$

whose initial data is given by

$$v_0(r) = v(r, t_0) = \eta(\frac{r}{\sqrt{t_0}}) \left(\pi - 2\arctan(\frac{r}{\mu(t_0)})\right) + r\left(\varphi + \psi_*\right)(r, t_0) + \eta(\frac{4r}{\sqrt{t_0}})\Phi_e(\frac{r}{\bar{\mu}_0(t_0)}, t_0).$$

Recalling (4.50), (4.58), we have $v_0(0) = \pi$ and for $r \ge 2\sqrt{t_0}$, $|v_0(r)| \lesssim r^{1-\gamma}$ if $1 < \gamma \le 2$ and $|v_0(r)| \lesssim r^{1-\gamma} + (t_0 \ln t_0)^{-1} r e^{-\frac{r^2}{32t_0}}$ if $\gamma > 2$.

The estimate of v and v_r are given by direct calculation.

APPENDIX A. CONVOLUTION ESTIMATES

Lemma A.1. Let n > 2 be an integer, $t > t_0 \ge 0$, $b \in \mathbb{R}$. Suppose that $v(s) \ge 0$ for $s \in [t_0, t]$; $0 \le l_1(s) \le l_2(s) \le C_* s^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for $s \in [t_0, t]$, $C_l^{-1} l_i(t_1) \le l_i(t_2) \le C_l l_i(t_1)$, i = 1, 2, for all $t_2 \in [t_1, 2t_1] \cap [t_0, t]$, $t_1 \in [t_0, t]$, where

 $C_* > 0, C_l \ge 1$ are constants, then

$$\begin{split} T_n \bullet \left(v(t) \left(|x| + l_1(t) \right)^{-b} \mathbf{1}_{\{|x| \le l_2(t)\}} \right) (x, t, t_0) \lesssim t^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-\frac{|x|^2}{16t}} \int_{t_0}^{\frac{t}{2}} v(s) \begin{cases} l_2^{n-b}(s) & \text{if } b < n \\ \langle \ln(\frac{l_2(s)}{l_1(s)}) \rangle & \text{if } b = n \text{ ds} \\ l_1^{n-b}(s) & \text{if } b > n \end{cases} \\ & + \sup_{t_1 \in [t/2,t]} v(t_1) \begin{cases} l_2^{2-b}(t) & \text{if } b < 2 \\ \langle \ln(\frac{l_2(t)}{l_1(t)}) \rangle & \text{if } b = 2 \\ l_2^{2-b}(t) & \text{if } b > 2 \end{cases} & \text{for } |x| \le l_1(t) \\ \begin{cases} l_2^{2-b}(t) & \text{if } b < 2 \\ \langle \ln(\frac{l_2(t)}{|x|}) \rangle & \text{if } b = 2 \\ |x|^{2-b} & \text{if } 2 < b < n \\ |x|^{2-n} \langle \ln(\frac{|x|}{l_1(t)}) \rangle & \text{if } b = n \\ |x|^{2-n} l_1^{n-b}(t) & \text{if } b > n \end{cases} \\ & \\ \begin{cases} l_2^{n-b}(t) & \text{if } b > n \\ |x|^{2-n} l_1^{n-b}(t) & \text{if } b > n \\ |x|^{2-n} l_1^{n-b}(t) & \text{if } b > n \end{cases} & \text{for } |x| > l_2(t) \end{cases} \end{split}$$

where we set v(s) = 0 if $s \notin [t_0, t]$.

Lemma A.2. Let n be a positive integer, $t > t_0 \ge 0$, $b \in \mathbb{R}$, $\ell > 0$, $c_0 > 0$, and suppose that $v(s) \ge 0$ for $s \in [t_0, t]$. Denote

$$u(x,t) = \int_{t_0}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (t-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-c_0 \frac{|x-y|^2}{t-s}} v(s) |y|^{-b} e^{-\ell \frac{|y|^2}{s}} \mathbf{1}_{\{|y| \ge s^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} dy ds.$$

$$\left(t^{-\frac{n}{2}} \int_{t_0}^{t/2} v(s) s^{\frac{n-b}{2}} ds + \sup_{t \ge 0} v(t_1) t^{1-\frac{b}{2}}, \quad |x| \le t^{1-\frac{b}{2}}\right) dy ds.$$

Then

$$u(x,t) \lesssim \begin{cases} t^{-\frac{n}{2}} \int_{t_0}^{t/2} v(s) s^{\frac{n-b}{2}} ds + \sup_{t_1 \in [\frac{t}{2},t]} v(t_1) t^{1-\frac{b}{2}}, & |x| \le t^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \left(t^{-\frac{n}{2}} \int_{t_0}^{t/2} v(s) s^{\frac{n-b}{2}} ds + \sup_{t_1 \in [\frac{t}{2},t]} v(t_1) t|x|^{-b} \right) e^{-\frac{\min\{c_0,\ell\}}{8} \frac{|x|^2}{t}}, & |x| > t^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{cases}$$

where we set v(s) = 0 if $s \notin [t_0, t]$.

Proof. The strategy is basically a verbatim repetition of the proof of [100, Lemma A.2].

APPENDIX B. LINEAR THEORY VIA BLOW-UP ARGUMENT

Define

$$||h||_{a,\nu} := \sup_{(y,\tau)\in\mathbb{R}^n\times(\tau_0,\infty)} \tau^{\nu} \langle y \rangle^a |h(y,\tau)|.$$

The main results are the following.

Proposition B.1. Consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi = \Delta\phi + pU^{p-1}(y)\phi + h(y,\tau) & in \ \mathbb{R}^n \times (\tau_0,\infty) \\ \phi(y,\tau_0) = e_0 Z_0(y) & in \ \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$
(B.1)

Suppose 2 < a < n-2, $\nu < 1$, $\|h\|_{2+a,\nu} < \infty$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(y,\tau) Z_j(y) dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad \tau \in (\tau_0,\infty), \ j = 1, 2, \cdots, n+1.$$
(B.2)

Then for $\tau_0 \geq 1$, there exists a linear mapping $(\phi, e_0) = (\phi[h], e_0[h])$ satisfying (B.1) and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(y,\tau) Z_j(y) dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad \tau \in (\tau_0,\infty), \ j = 1, 2, \cdots, n+1,$$
(B.3)

$$\langle y \rangle |\nabla \phi| + |\phi| \lesssim \tau^{-\nu} \langle y \rangle^{-a} ||h||_{2+a,\nu}, \quad |e_0[h]| \lesssim \tau_0^{-\nu} ||h||_{2+a,\nu}.$$
(B.4)

Proposition B.1 is in fact a consequence of the following

Proposition B.2. Suppose 2 < a < n-2, $\nu < 1$, $||h||_{2+a,\nu} < \infty$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(y,\tau) Z_j(y) dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad \tau \in (\tau_0,\infty), \ j = 0, 1, \cdots, n+1.$$
(B.5)

Then for $\tau_0 \geq 1$, there exists a unique solution ϕ of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi = \Delta\phi + pU^{p-1}(y)\phi + h(y,\tau) & in \ \mathbb{R}^n \times (\tau_0,\infty) \\ \phi(y,\tau_0) = 0 & in \ \mathbb{R}^n \end{cases}$$
(B.6)

in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times (\tau_0, \tilde{\tau}))$ for all $\tilde{\tau} > \tau_0$ and ϕ satisfies

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(y,\tau) Z_j(y) dy = 0 \quad for \ all \ \tau > \tau_0, \ j = 0, 1, \cdots, n+1$$
(B.7)

and the estimate

$$\langle y \rangle |\nabla \phi| + |\phi| \lesssim \tau^{-\nu} \langle y \rangle^{-a} ||h||_{2+a,\nu}.$$
 (B.8)

We first use Proposition B.2 to deduce Proposition B.1.

Proof of Proposition B.1. First, set $\phi(y,\tau) = \phi_1(y,\tau) + c(\tau)Z_0(y)$. Then it suffices to consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi_1 = \Delta\phi_1 + pU^{p-1}(y)\phi_1 + h_1 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (\tau_0, \infty) \\ \phi_1(y, \tau_0) = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$
(B.9)

with $h_1 := h + c(\tau)\lambda_0 Z_0 - c'(\tau)Z_0$ where we used $\Delta Z_0 + pU^{p-1}(y)Z_0 = \lambda_0 Z_0$ with $\lambda_0 > 0$. We take

$$c'(\tau) - \lambda_0 c(\tau) = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} Z_0^2(y) dy\right)^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(y,\tau) Z_0(y) dy$$

with

$$c(\tau) = -\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} Z_0^2(y) dy\right)^{-1} e^{\lambda_0 \tau} \int_{\tau}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda_0 s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(y, s) Z_0(y) dy ds$$

so that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h_1(y,\tau) Z_0(y) dy = 0$. Combining this with (B.2) implies (B.5). It is direct to see that

$$|c(\tau)| + |c'(\tau)| \lesssim ||h||_{2+a,\nu} \tau^{-\nu}, \quad ||h_1||_{2+a,\nu} \lesssim ||h||_{2+a,\nu}$$

By Proposition B.2, (B.9) has a unique solution ϕ_1 satisfying

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi_1(y,\tau) Z_j(y) dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad \tau > \tau_0, \ j = 0, 1, \cdots, n+1, \quad \langle y \rangle |\nabla \phi_1| + |\phi_1| \lesssim \tau^{-\nu} \langle y \rangle^{-a} ||h||_{2+a,\nu}.$$

$$\phi = \phi_1 + c(\tau) Z_0 \text{ satisfies (B.3) and (B.4). Finally, letting } e_0 = c_0(\tau_0) \text{ completes the proof.} \qquad \Box$$

Then $\phi = \phi_1 + c(\tau)Z_0$ satisfies (B.3) and (B.4). Finally, letting $e_0 = c_0(\tau_0)$ completes the proof.

Next, we use blow-up argument to prove Proposition B.2. Our method does not rely on the use of maximum principle, so we expect that this method is applicable to more general equations/systems in the absence of maximum principle (assuming non-degeneracy of the profile in certain sense). Typical examples are parabolic equations with complex coefficients such as

$$A_0 \partial_\tau u = \Delta u + V(u, Du) + h,$$

where the complex constant A_0 satisfies $\operatorname{Re}(A_0) > 0$ (with dissipation). This kind of operator naturally arises, for instance, in the study of Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equations.

Proof of Proposition B.2. The existence and uniqueness of (B.6) are given by the classical parabolic theory. Denote

$$||f||_{a,\nu,\tau_1} := \sup_{(y,\tau)\in\mathbb{R}^n\times(\tau_0,\tau_1)} \tau^{\nu} \langle y \rangle^a |f(y,\tau)|.$$

For all $\tau > \tau_0$, by the estimate of parabolic fundamental solution (See [38]) and convolution estimate in [100, Lemma A.1, Lemma A.2], for 0 < a < n - 2, we have

$$\|\phi\|_{a,\nu,\tau} < \infty. \tag{B.10}$$

By scaling argument, we have $\|\nabla \phi\|_{1+a,\nu,\tau} < \infty$.

For a > 2, multiplying (B.6) by Z_i , j = 0, 1, ..., n + 1 and integrating by parts, we obtain (B.7) by (B.5) and the initial data of (B.6).

GLUING METHOD

In order to prove (B.8), it suffices to prove the following claim.

Claim: For all $\tau_1 > \tau_0$ large enough, there exists C independent of τ_1 such that

$$\|\phi\|_{a,\nu,\tau_1} \le C \|h\|_{2+a,\nu,\tau_1}. \tag{B.11}$$

Indeed, by taking $\tau_1 \to \infty$, (B.11) implies (B.8). To prove (B.11), we argue by contradiction. Suppose that there exist sequences $\tau_1^k \to \infty$ and ϕ_k , h_k satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi_k = \Delta\phi_k + pU^{p-1}(y)\phi_k + h_k & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (\tau_0, \infty) \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi_k(y, \tau) Z_j(y) dy = 0 & \text{for all } \tau \in (\tau_0, \tau_1^k), \quad j = 0, 1, \cdots, n+1 \\ \phi_k(y, \tau_0) = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \end{cases}$$
(B.12)

and

$$\|\phi_k\|_{a,\nu,\tau_1^k} = 1, \quad \|h_k\|_{2s+a,\nu,\tau_1^k} = o(1) \quad \text{where} \quad o(1) \to 0 \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty.$$
(B.13)
for any compact subset Ω in \mathbb{R}^n

First, we claim that for any compact subset Ω in \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$\sup_{\tau_0 < \tau < \tau_1^k} \tau^{\nu} |\phi_k(y, \tau)| \to 0 \quad \text{uniformly in } \Omega.$$
(B.14)

Assume this is not true. Then there exist a constant M > 0 such that $|y_k| \le M$ and $\tau_0 < \tau_2^k < \tau_1^k$,

$$(\tau_2^k)^{\nu} |\phi_k(y_k, \tau_2^k)| \ge \delta_0 > 0,$$
 (B.15)

for a constant $\delta_0 > 0$. Since $||h_k||_{2+a,\nu,\tau_1^k} = o(1)$, we have $\tau_2^k \to \infty$ by the same reason for getting (B.10). Without loss of generality, we assume $\tau_2^k \ge 9\tau_0$. Set

$$\tilde{\phi}_k(y,t) = (\tau_2^k)^{\nu} \phi_k(y,\tau_2^k + t), \quad \tilde{h}_k(y,t) = (\tau_2^k)^{\nu} h_k(y,\tau_2^k + t).$$

Then by (B.12), one has

$$\partial_t \tilde{\phi}_k = \Delta \tilde{\phi}_k + p U^{p-1}(y) \tilde{\phi}_k + \tilde{h}_k \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^n \times (\tau_0 - \frac{\tau_2^k}{2}, 0]$$
(B.16)

with

$$|\tilde{\phi}_k(y,\tau)| \le C(\nu)\langle y \rangle^{-a}, \quad |\tilde{h}_k(y,\tau)| \le o(1)C(\nu)\langle y \rangle^{-2-a} \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^n \times (\tau_0 - \frac{\tau_2^\kappa}{2}, 0], \tag{B.17}$$

where $C(\nu)$ is a constant only depending on ν .

By the parabolic regularity theorem, up to a subsequence, we have $\tilde{\phi}_k \to \tilde{\phi}$ in C^1_{loc} , that is, $\tilde{\phi}_k \to \tilde{\phi}$ in C^1 topology on any compact subsets of $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$. Combining this with (B.15) yields

$$|\hat{\phi}(y,\tau)| \le C(\nu) \langle y \rangle^{-a}, \quad \hat{\phi} \ne 0.$$
 (B.18)

By (B.16), we have

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\phi}_k(y,t) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[4\pi (t-\tau_0 + \frac{\tau_2^k}{2}) \right]^{-\frac{n}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{|y-z|^2}{4(t-\tau_0 + \frac{\tau_2^k}{2})} \right) \tilde{\phi}_k(z,\tau_0 - \frac{\tau_2^k}{2}) dz \\ &+ \int_{\tau_0 - \frac{\tau_2^k}{2}}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[4\pi (t-s) \right]^{-\frac{n}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{|y-z|^2}{4(t-s)} \right) \left(p U^{p-1}(z) \tilde{\phi}_k(z,s) + \tilde{h}_k(z,s) \right) dz ds. \end{split}$$

Then for any fixed $(y,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty,0]$, by a > 0, (B.17), (B.18), [91, Corollary B.4, Lemma B.5] (used for time integral $\int_{t_2}^{t_1} \cdots$ for some $t_1 \leq -1$), [100, Lemma A.3] (used for Cauchy integral) and $\tilde{\phi}_k \to \tilde{\phi}$ in C^1_{loc} , we have

$$\tilde{\phi}(y,t) = \int_{-\infty}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} [4\pi(t-s)]^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-\frac{|y-z|^{2}}{4(t-s)}} p U^{p-1}(z) \tilde{\phi}(z,s) dz ds.$$
(B.19)

Then the limiting equation reads

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\tilde{\phi} = \Delta\tilde{\phi} + pU^{p-1}(y)\tilde{\phi} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{n} \times (-\infty, 0] \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \tilde{\phi}(y, \tau) Z_{j}(y) dy = 0 & \text{for all } \tau \in (-\infty, 0], \ j = 0, 1, \dots n+1 \\ |\tilde{\phi}(y, \tau)| \le C(\nu) \langle y \rangle^{-a} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{n} \times (-\infty, 0] \end{cases}$$
(B.20)

where we have used a > 2 in the orthogonality by dominated convergence theorem.

Using (B.19), [91, Corollary B.4, Lemma B.5] finitely many times for $\tau \in (-\infty, -M_0)$ with M_0 large and then applying [100, Lemmas A.1, A.2, A.3] in $[M_0, 0]$, we have

$$|\tilde{\phi}| \lesssim \langle y \rangle^{2-n}$$

and $\tilde{\phi}$ is smooth by the parabolic regularity theory. By scaling argument, one has

$$\langle y \rangle^{-1} |D\tilde{\phi}| + |\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}| + |D^2\tilde{\phi}| \lesssim \langle y \rangle^{-n}.$$

Differentiating (B.20), we get

$$\partial_{\tau}\tilde{\phi}_{\tau} = \Delta\tilde{\phi}_{\tau} + pU^{p-1}(y)\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}, \tag{B.21}$$

and then scaling argument gives

$$|y\rangle^{-1}|D\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}| + |\tilde{\phi}_{\tau\tau}| + |D^2\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}| \lesssim \langle y\rangle^{-n-2}$$

Moreover, multiplying (B.21) by $\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}$ and integrating by parts, we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\tau}\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}|\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}|^2dy+B(\tilde{\phi}_{\tau},\tilde{\phi}_{\tau})=0,$$

where

$$B(f,f) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(|\nabla f|^2 - pU^{p-1}(y)|f|^2 \right) dy.$$

By orthogonality in (B.20), we have $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \partial_{\tau} \tilde{\phi}(y,\tau) Z_j(y) dy = 0$ for all $\tau \in (-\infty, 0], j = 0, 1, \dots, n+1$. Then $B(\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}, \tilde{\phi}_{\tau}) \geq 0$ by $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \partial_{\tau} \tilde{\phi}(y,\tau) Z_0(y) dy = 0$ since Z_0 is the only eigenfunction corresponding to the positive eigenvalue. Thus, $\partial_{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}|^2 dy \leq 0$.

Multiplying (B.20) by $\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}$ and integrating by parts, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{\phi}_\tau|^2 dy = -\frac{1}{2} \partial_\tau B(\tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\phi})$$

From these relations, one has

$$\partial_{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}|^2 dy \leq 0, \quad \int_{-\infty}^0 d\tau \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{\phi}_{\tau}|^2 dy < \infty.$$

Hence $\tilde{\phi}_{\tau} = 0$. So $\tilde{\phi}$ is independent of τ and $\Delta \tilde{\phi} + pU^{p-1}(y)\tilde{\phi} = 0$. By the nondegeneracy of $\Delta + pU^{p-1}(y)$ (see [2, Lemma 5.2]), $\tilde{\phi}$ is a linear combination of Z_j , $j = 1, \dots, n+1$. Due to the orthogonal conditions in (B.20), we must have $\tilde{\phi} \equiv 0$, which contradicts (B.18). Thus (B.14) holds.

By (B.13) and (B.14), there exists a sequence y_k with $|y_k| \to \infty$ such that

$$(\tau_2^k)^{\nu} \langle y_k \rangle^a |\phi_k(y_k, \tau_2^k)| \ge \frac{1}{2}$$

 Set

$$\tilde{\phi}_k(z,t) := (\tau_2^k)^\nu \langle y_k \rangle^a \phi_k(y_k + |y_k|z, |y_k|^2 t + \tau_2^k).$$

Then

$$|\tilde{\phi}_k(0,0)| \ge \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (B.22)

We reformulate (B.12) as

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \tilde{\phi}_k = \Delta_z \tilde{\phi}_k + p |y_k|^2 U^{p-1}(y_k + |y_k|z) \tilde{\phi}_k + \tilde{h}_k(z,t) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \times \left(\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}, \infty\right) \\ \tilde{\phi}_k(\cdot, \frac{\tau_0 - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}) = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \end{cases}$$
(B.23)

where

$$\tilde{h}_k(z,t) = (\tau_2^k)^{\nu} \langle y_k \rangle^a |y_k|^2 h_k(y_k + |y_k|z, |y_k|^2 t + \tau_2^k).$$

By (B.13), one has

$$\begin{aligned} &|\tilde{h}_k(z,t)| \lesssim o(1)(\tau_2^k)^{\nu} \langle y_k \rangle^a |y_k|^2 \langle y_k + |y_k|z \rangle^{-2-a} \left(|y_k|^2 t + \tau_2^k \right)^{-\nu} \\ &\sim o(1) \left(|y_k|^{-1} + |\hat{y}_k + z| \right)^{-2-a} \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 t + 1 \right)^{-\nu}, \quad \text{for} \quad (z,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \left(\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}, \frac{\tau_1^k - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2} \right), \end{aligned}$$

GLUING METHOD

$$\left| |y_k|^2 U^{p-1}(y_k + |y_k|z) \tilde{\phi}_k \right| \lesssim |y_k|^2 \langle y_k + |y_k|z \rangle^{-4} (\tau_2^k)^\nu \langle y_k \rangle^a \langle y_k + |y_k|z \rangle^{-a} \left(|y_k|^2 t + \tau_2^k \right)^{-\nu}$$

 $\sim |y_k|^{-2} \left(|y_k|^{-1} + |\hat{y}_k + z| \right)^{-4-a} \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 t + 1 \right)^{-\nu}, \text{ for } (z,t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \left(\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}, \frac{\tau_1^k - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2} \right)$

where $\hat{y}_{k} = y_{k}|y_{k}|^{-1}$. By (B.23), we have

$$\tilde{\phi}_k(z,t) = \int_{\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[4\pi(t-s) \right]^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{-\frac{|z-w|^2}{4(t-s)}} \left(p|y_k|^2 U^{p-1}(y_k + |y_k|w) \tilde{\phi}_k(w,s) + \tilde{h}_k(w,s) \right) dw ds.$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \left| \tilde{\phi}_{k}(0,0) \right| &\lesssim \int_{\frac{\tau_{0}-\tau_{2}^{k}}{|y_{k}|^{2}}}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{\frac{|w|^{2}}{4s}} \Big[|y_{k}|^{-2} \left(|y_{k}|^{-1} + |\hat{y}_{k} + w| \right)^{-4-a} \left((\tau_{2}^{k})^{-1} |y_{k}|^{2} s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} \\ &+ o(1) \left(|y_{k}|^{-1} + |\hat{y}_{k} + w| \right)^{-2-a} \left((\tau_{2}^{k})^{-1} |y_{k}|^{2} s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} \Big] dw ds. \end{split}$$

Claim: Suppose that $\tau_2^k \ge 2\tau_0, |y_k| \ge 2, m > 2, n > 2, \nu < 1$, then

$$\int_{\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}}^0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{\frac{|w|^2}{4s}} \left(|y_k|^{-1} + |\hat{y}_k + w| \right)^{-m} \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} dw ds \lesssim \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } m < n \\ \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \\ |y_k|^{m-n}, & \text{if } m > n. \end{cases}$$
(B.24)

Assuming (B.24), for 0 < a < n-2, one then has

$$\left| \tilde{\phi}_k(0,0) \right| \lesssim o(1) + \begin{cases} |y_k|^{-2}, & \text{if } 4+a < n \\ |y_k|^{-2} \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } 4+a = n \to 0 \text{ as } k \to \infty \\ |y_k|^{2+a-n}, & \text{if } 4+a > n \end{cases}$$

which contradicts (B.22).

Finally, we prove (B.24). **Proof of** (B.24):

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\frac{\tau_0-\tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}}^0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{\frac{|w|^2}{4s}} \left(|y_k|^{-1} + |\hat{y}_k + w| \right)^{-m} \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} dw ds \\ &= \int_{\frac{\tau_0-\tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}}^0 \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} (-s)^{-\frac{m}{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-\frac{|x|^2}{4}} \left((-s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} |y_k|^{-1} + |(-s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{y}_k + x| \right)^{-m} dx ds. \end{split}$$

Notice for $0 < 2c_0 \le |\vec{v}|$, we estimate the spatial integral as

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} e^{-\frac{|x|^{2}}{4}} \left(c_{0} + |\vec{v} + x|\right)^{-m} dx = \left(\int_{|x| \leq \frac{|\vec{v}|}{2}} + \int_{\frac{|\vec{v}|}{2} < |x| \leq 2|\vec{v}|} + \int_{|x| > 2|\vec{v}|}\right) e^{-\frac{|x|^{2}}{4}} \left(c_{0} + |\vec{v} + x|\right)^{-m} dx \\ &\sim \int_{|x| \leq \frac{|\vec{v}|}{2}} e^{-\frac{|x|^{2}}{4}} \left(c_{0} + |\vec{v}|\right)^{-m} dx + \int_{\frac{|\vec{v}|}{2} < |x| \leq 2|\vec{v}|} e^{-\frac{|x|^{2}}{4}} \left(c_{0} + |\vec{v} + x|\right)^{-m} dx + \int_{|x| > 2|\vec{v}|} e^{-\frac{|x|^{2}}{4}} \left(c_{0} + |x|\right)^{-m} dx \\ &\lesssim |\vec{v}|^{-m} \int_{|x| \leq \frac{|\vec{v}|}{2}} e^{-\frac{|x|^{2}}{4}} dx + e^{-\frac{|\vec{v}|^{2}}{16}} \int_{|x + \vec{v}| \leq 3|\vec{v}|} \left(c_{0} + |\vec{v} + x|\right)^{-m} dx + \int_{|x| > 2|\vec{v}|} e^{-\frac{|x|^{2}}{4}} \left(c_{0} + |x|\right)^{-m} dx \\ &\lesssim |\vec{v}|^{-m} \int_{|x| \leq \frac{|\vec{v}|}{2}} e^{-\frac{|\vec{x}|^{2}}{4}} dx + e^{-\frac{|\vec{v}|^{2}}{16}} \int_{|x + \vec{v}| \leq 3|\vec{v}|} \left(c_{0} + |\vec{v} + x|\right)^{-m} dx + \int_{|x| > 2|\vec{v}|} e^{-\frac{|\vec{x}|^{2}}{4}} \left|x|^{-m} dx \right|^{-m} dx \\ &\lesssim \mathbf{1}_{\{|\vec{v}| \leq 1\}} \left|\vec{v}|^{n-m} + \mathbf{1}_{\{|\vec{v}| > 1\}} \left|\vec{v}|^{-m} + e^{-\frac{|\vec{v}|^{2}}{16}} \left(\int_{0}^{c_{0}} + \int_{c_{0}}^{3|\vec{v}|}\right) \left(c_{0} + r\right)^{-m} r^{n-1} dr \right|^{-m} dx \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{|\vec{v}| \leq 1\}} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} 1, & \text{if } m < n \\ \langle \ln |\vec{v}| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \\ \langle \ln |\vec{v}| \rangle \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \\ c_{0}^{n-m}, & \text{if } m > n \end{array}\right. + \mathbf{1}_{\{|\vec{v}| > 1\}} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} 1, & \text{if } m < n \\ \langle \ln |\vec{v}| \rangle \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \\ |\vec{v}|^{n-m}, & \text{if } m > n \end{array}\right. \\ &\sim \mathbf{1}_{\{|\vec{v}| \leq 1\}} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} 1, & \text{if } m < n \\ \langle \ln |\vec{v}| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \\ c_{0}^{n-m}, & \text{if } m > n \end{array}\right. + \mathbf{1}_{\{|\vec{v}| > 1\}} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} |\vec{v}|^{-m} + e^{-\frac{|\vec{v}|^{2}}{16}} \langle \ln (\frac{|\vec{v}|}{c_{0}}) \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \\ |\vec{v}|^{-m} + e^{-\frac{|\vec{v}|^{2}}{16}} c_{0}^{n-m}, & \text{if } m > n \end{array}\right. \right\}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\frac{\tau_0-\tau_k^2}{|y_k|^2}}^0 \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1}|y_k|^2s+1\right)^{-\nu}(-s)^{-\frac{m}{2}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-\frac{|x|^2}{4}}\left((-s)^{-\frac{1}{2}}|y_k|^{-1}+|(-s)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\hat{y}_k+x|\right)^{-m}dxds\\ &\lesssim \int_{\frac{\tau_0-\tau_k^2}{|y_k|^2}}^0 \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1}|y_k|^2s+1\right)^{-\nu}(-s)^{-\frac{m}{2}} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\{s\leq -1\}} \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } m < n\\ \langle \ln(-s) \rangle + \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n\\ \left((-s)^{-\frac{1}{2}}|y_k|^{-1}\right)^{n-m}, & \text{if } m > n \end{cases} \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{s> -1\}} \begin{cases} \left(-s\right)^{\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{if } m < n\\ \left(-s\right)^{\frac{m}{2}} + e^{\frac{1}{16s}} \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n\\ \left(-s\right)^{\frac{m}{2}} + e^{\frac{1}{16s}} \langle (-s)^{-\frac{1}{2}}|y_k|^{-1}\right)^{n-m}, & \text{if } m > n \end{cases} \\ &= \int_{\frac{\tau_0-\tau_k^2}{|y_k|^2}}^0 \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1}|y_k|^2s+1\right)^{-\nu} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\{s\leq -1\}} \begin{cases} \left(-s\right)^{-\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{if } m < n\\ \left(-s\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} (\langle \ln(-s) \rangle + \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle), & \text{if } m = n\\ \left(-s\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}}|y_k|^{m-n}, & \text{if } m > n \end{cases} \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{s> -1\}} \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } m < n\\ 1+ \left(-s\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{\frac{1}{16s}} \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n\\ 1+ \left(-s\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{\frac{1}{16s}} \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \end{cases} \\ ds := \mathbf{A}. \end{split}$$

$$+ \mathbf{1}_{\{s>-1\}} \begin{cases} 1 + (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{\frac{1}{16s}} \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \\ 1 + (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{\frac{1}{16s}} |y_k|^{m-n}, & \text{if } m > n \end{cases} d .$$

If $\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2} \ge -2$, for $|y_k| \ge 2$, we estimate

$$\mathbf{A} \lesssim \int_{\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}}^{0} \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } m < n \\ \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \ ds \lesssim \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } m < n \\ \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \\ |y_k|^{m-n}, & \text{if } m > n \end{cases} \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } m < n \\ \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{if } m = n \\ |y_k|^{m-n}, & \text{if } m > n \end{cases}$$

where we have used

$$\int_{\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_2^k}{|y_k|^2}}^0 \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} ds = \tau_2^k |y_k|^{-2} (1 - \nu)^{-1} \left[1 - (\tau_0(\tau_2^k)^{-1})^{1-\nu} \right] \lesssim 1$$

$$\begin{split} & \text{ffr } \nu < 1, \\ & \text{ If } \frac{1}{||y_k||^2} < -2, \text{ we have} \\ & \mathbf{A} = \int_{-1}^{0} \left((\tau_k^k)^{-1} ||y_k||^2 s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} \begin{cases} 1, & \text{ if } m < n \\ 1 + (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{\frac{1}{16s}} \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{ if } m = n \, ds \\ 1 + (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} e^{\frac{1}{16s}} \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{ if } m = n \, ds \end{cases} \\ & + \left(\int_{\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_k^k}{2||y_k|^2}}^{-1} + \int_{\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_k^k}{2||y_k|^2}}^{\tau_0 - \tau_k^k} \right) \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} \begin{cases} (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \\ (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \left(\langle \ln (-s) \rangle + \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle) \right), & \text{ if } m = n \, ds \end{cases} \\ & (-s)^{-\frac{n}{2}} |y_k|^{m-n}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \leq (1 - \nu)^{-1} \tau_2^k |y_k|^{-2} \left[1 - \left(1 - (\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 \right)^{1-\nu} \right] \begin{cases} 1, & \text{ if } m < n \\ \langle \ln |y_k| \rangle, & \text{ if } m = n \, ds \end{cases} \\ & \frac{1}{|y_k|^{m-n}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & + \int_{\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_k^k}{2|y_k|^2}}^{-1} \left\{ \left(-s \right)^{-\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & + \int_{\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_k^k}{2|y_k|^2}}^{\tau_0 - \tau_k^k} \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} \begin{cases} \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{-\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k}{|y_k|^{m-n}}, & \text{ if } m > n \end{cases} \\ & + \int_{\frac{\tau_0 - \tau_k^k}{2|y_k|^2}}^{\tau_0 - \tau_k^k} \left((\tau_2^k)^{-1} |y_k|^2 s + 1 \right)^{-\nu} \begin{cases} \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{-\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right), & \text{ if } m = n \, ds \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m > n \end{cases} \end{cases} \\ & \lesssim \begin{cases} 1, & \text{ if } m < n \\ \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{-\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{-\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{-\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{-\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac{\tau_k^k - \tau_0}{|y_k|^2} \right)^{\frac{m}{2}}, & \text{ if } m < n \end{cases} \\ & \left(\frac$$

where we have used $\tau_2^k \ge 2\tau_0$, $|y_k| \ge 2$, m > 2, n > 2, $\nu < 1$. Therefore, we conclude the validity of (B.24).

Appendix C. Linear theory via distorted Fourier transform

Consider the LLG equation in critical dimension

$$\begin{cases} u_t = a(\Delta u + |\nabla u|^2 u) - bu \wedge \Delta u & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^2 \times (0, T), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 \in S^2 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^2, \end{cases}$$

where $a^2 + b^2 = 1$, a > 0, $b \in \mathbb{R}$. The inner linearization around degree 1 harmonic map, in self-similar variables, looks like

$$(a+ib)\partial_{\tau} - \left(\partial_{\rho\rho} + \frac{1}{\rho}\partial_{\rho} - \frac{(n+1)^2\rho^4 + (2n^2 - 6)\rho^2 + (n-1)^2}{(\rho^2 + 1)^2}\frac{1}{\rho^2}\right).$$

We utilize distorted Fourier transform at mode n = -1 in [99, Section 9.6]. The use of aforementioned techniques does imply a solution. However, such solution is not sufficient for the gluing to work as it loses too many R's and makes the nonlinear terms non-controllable. So we use distorted Fourier transform (DFT) instead to get desired estimates. The reason behind this is that formally the worst mode is -1 as it corresponds to 2-dimensional heat operator, and usually estimates in 2D come with a logarithmic loss.

The derivation of desired estimates for mode -1 is done by first deducing the Duhamel's representation via DFT and then estimating pointwisely. For $\ell \in \mathbb{R}$ and $v(\tau) > 0$ and vectorial complex-valued function f, the weighted topology are defined by

$$||f||_{v,\ell} := \sup_{(y,\tau)\in\mathbb{R}^2\times(\tau_0,\infty)} v^{-1}(\tau) \langle y \rangle^{\ell} |f(y,\tau)|.$$

Consider

$$\begin{cases} (a+ib)\partial_{\tau}\phi_n(\rho,\tau) = \mathcal{L}_n\phi_n(\rho,\tau),\\ \phi_n(\rho,\tau_0) = g(\rho), \end{cases}$$

where $\tau_0 \geq 1$,

$$\mathcal{L}_{n} = \partial_{\rho\rho} + \frac{1}{\rho}\partial_{\rho} - \frac{(n-1)^{2}}{\rho^{2}} - \frac{4n}{\rho^{2}+1} + \frac{8}{(\rho^{2}+1)^{2}}$$

Assume g is a Schwartz function. Set $\phi_n(\rho, \tau) = \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} A_n(\rho, \tau)$, then

$$\begin{cases} (a+ib)\partial_{\tau}A_{n}(\rho,\tau) = \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{n}A_{n}(\rho,\tau), \\ A_{n}(\rho,\tau_{0}) = \rho^{\frac{1}{2}}g(\rho). \end{cases}$$

where $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_n = \partial_{\rho\rho} + \frac{1}{4}\rho^{-2} - \frac{(n-1)^2}{\rho^2} - \frac{4n}{\rho^2+1} + \frac{8}{(\rho^2+1)^2}$. Recall the generalized eigenfunctions $\Phi^n(\rho,\xi)$ with respect to $-\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_n$ is given by

$$-\mathcal{L}_n \Phi^n(\rho,\xi) = \xi \Phi^n(\rho,\xi)$$

We multiply it by $\Phi^n(\rho,\xi)$ and integrate by parts and get

$$\begin{cases} (a+ib)\partial_{\tau}\hat{A}_{n}(\xi,\tau) = -\xi\hat{A}_{n}(\xi,\tau), \\ \hat{A}_{n}(\xi,\tau_{0}) = \int_{0}^{\infty}\rho^{\frac{1}{2}}g(\rho)\Phi^{n}(\rho,\xi)d\rho, \end{cases}$$

where $\hat{A}_n(\xi,\tau) = \int_0^\infty A_{-1}(\rho,\tau) \Phi^n(\rho,\xi) d\rho$. Thus

$$\hat{A}_n(\xi,\tau) = e^{-(a-ib)\xi\tau} \hat{A}_n(\xi,\tau_0).$$

Taking inverse DFT, one has

$$\begin{aligned} A_n(\rho,\tau) &= \int_0^\infty \hat{A}_n(\xi,\tau) \Phi^n(\rho,\xi) \rho_n(d\xi) = \int_0^\infty e^{-(a-ib)\xi\tau} \hat{A}_n(\xi,0) \Phi^n(\rho,\xi) \rho_n(d\xi) \\ &= \int_0^\infty e^{-(a-ib)\xi\tau} \Phi^n(\rho,\xi) \int_0^\infty x^{\frac{1}{2}} g(x) \Phi^n(x,\xi) dx \rho_n(d\xi) \\ &= \int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty e^{-(a-ib)\xi\tau} \Phi^n(\rho,\xi) \Phi^n(x,\xi) \rho_n(d\xi) x^{\frac{1}{2}} g(x) dx. \end{aligned}$$

By Duhamel's principle, it holds that

$$\phi_n(\rho,\tau) = \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} \int_0^{\infty} \int_0^{\infty} e^{-(a-ib)\xi(\tau-s)} \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} \Phi^n(\rho,\xi) \Phi^n(x,\xi) x^{\frac{1}{2}} h_n(x,s) \rho_n(d\xi) dxds$$
(C.1)

gives a solution to the non-homogeneous equation with RHS h_n and zero initial data.

To estimate solution in above formulation, one needs precise estimates of generalized eigenfunctions and density of spectral measure. For n = -1, we summarize the results in [60, Section 4.3.2] as follows.

Proposition C.1 ([60]). For all $\rho \ge 0$, $\xi \ge 0$, we have

$$\left|\Phi^{-1}(\rho,\xi)\right| \lesssim \begin{cases} \rho^{\frac{5}{2}} \langle \rho \rangle^{-2} & \text{ if } \rho^{2}\xi \leq 1\\ \xi^{-\frac{1}{4}} \langle \xi \rangle^{-1} & \text{ if } \rho^{2}\xi > 1 \end{cases}.$$

 $\Phi^{-1}(\rho,\xi)$ has the following expansion:

$$\Phi^{-1}(\rho,\xi) = \Phi_0^{-1}(\rho) + \rho^{\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-\rho^2 \xi)^j \Phi_j(\rho^2),$$

which converges absolutely, where $\Phi_0^{-1}(\rho) = \frac{\rho^{\frac{5}{2}}}{1+\rho^2}$. It converges uniformly if $\rho\xi^{\frac{1}{2}}$ remains bounded. Here $\Phi_j(u) \ge 0$ are smooth functions of $u \ge 0$ satisfying

$$\Phi_j(u) \le \frac{1}{j!} \frac{u}{1+u}, \quad for \ all \ u \ge 0, j \ge 1,$$

and $\Phi_1(u) \ge c_1 \frac{u}{1+u}$ for all $u \ge 0$ with some absolute constant $c_1 > 0$.

The spectrum measure $\rho_{-1}(d\xi)$ of $-\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{-1}$ is absolutely continuous on $\xi \geq 0$ with density

$$\frac{d\rho_{-1}(\xi)}{d\xi} \sim \langle \xi \rangle^2$$

Our linear theory for LLG mode -1 without orthogonality condition is stated as follows.

Proposition C.2. ([99, Proposition 9.8]) Consider

$$\begin{cases} (a+ib)\partial_{\tau}\phi_{-1}(\rho,\tau) = \mathcal{L}_{-1}\phi_{-1}(\rho,\tau) + h(\rho,\tau) & in \ (0,\infty) \times (\tau_0,\infty), \\ \phi_{-1}(\rho,\tau_0) = 0 & in \ (0,\infty). \end{cases}$$

where $\tau_0 \geq 2$, $\|h\|_{v,\ell} < \infty$, where $v(\tau) \geq 0$, $\ell > \frac{3}{2}$. Then the solution $\phi_{-1} = \mathcal{T}_{-1}[h]$, where $\mathcal{T}_{-1}[h]$ is given by the linear mapping (C.1) with k = -1, satisfies the following estimate

$$\begin{split} |\phi_{-1}(\rho,\tau)| \lesssim \|h\|_{v,\ell} \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho \leq \tau^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \begin{cases} \tau^{1-\frac{\ell}{2}} \sup_{s \in [\tau/2,\tau]} v(s) + \tau^{-\frac{\ell}{2}} \int_{\frac{\tau}{2}}^{\frac{\tau}{2}} v(s) ds & \text{if } \ell < 2\\ (\ln \tau)^2 \sup_{s \in [\tau/2,\tau]} v(s) + \tau^{-1} \ln \tau \int_{\frac{\tau}{2}}^{\frac{\tau}{2}} v(s) ds & \text{if } \ell = 2\\ \ln \tau \sup_{s \in [\tau/2,\tau]} v(s) + \tau^{-1} \int_{\frac{\tau}{2}}^{\frac{\tau}{2}} v(s) ds & \text{if } \ell > 2 \end{cases} \\ + \|h\|_{v,\ell} \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho > \tau^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{cases} \tau^{\frac{5}{4} - \frac{\ell}{2}} \sup_{s \in [\tau/2,\tau]} v(s) + \tau^{-\frac{1}{4} - \frac{\ell}{2}} \int_{\frac{\tau}{2}}^{\frac{\tau}{2}} v(s) ds & \text{if } \ell < 2\\ \tau^{\frac{1}{4}} \langle \ln \tau \rangle \sup_{s \in [\tau/2,\tau]} v(s) + \tau^{-\frac{3}{4}} \langle \ln \tau \rangle \int_{\frac{\tau}{2}}^{\frac{\tau}{2}} v(s) ds & \text{if } \ell = 2\\ \tau^{\frac{1}{4}} \sup_{s \in [\tau/2,\tau]} v(s) + \tau^{-\frac{3}{4}} \int_{\frac{\tau}{2}}^{\frac{\tau}{2}} v(s) ds & \text{if } \ell > 2. \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

Inside the self-similar region, better estimates with orthogonality condition imposed can be obtained, see [99, Section 9.6]. Indeed, we have:

Proposition C.3. ([99, Proposition 9.8]) Under the assumptions in Proposition C.2, assuming $2 < \ell < \frac{5}{2}$ and the orthogonality condition

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} h(y,\tau) \mathcal{Z}_{-1,1}(y) dy = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad \tau > \tau_0,$$
(C.2)

we have the following estimate

$$\begin{split} |\phi_{-1}(\rho,\tau)| \lesssim \|h\|_{v,\ell}^{\infty} \begin{cases} \langle \rho \rangle^{2-\ell} \sup_{s \in [\tau/2,\tau]} v(s) + \tau^{-\frac{\ell}{2}} \int_{\frac{\tau_0}{2}}^{\frac{\tau}{2}} v(s) ds & \text{if } \rho \leq \tau^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} \Big(\tau^{\frac{5}{4} - \frac{\ell}{2}} \sup_{s \in [\tau/2,\tau]} v(s) + \tau^{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{\ell}{2}} \int_{\frac{\tau_0}{2}}^{\frac{\tau}{2}} v(s) ds \Big) & \text{if } \rho > \tau^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

The proof of Proposition C.2 and Proposition C.3 is done by directly estimating the Duhamel's formula.

APPENDIX D. LINEAR THEORY VIA RE-GLUING

General linear theory, which can be applied to the inner problem, will be developed in this section. Technical ingredients include energy estimates, orthogonality conditions, maximum principle, spectral gap, and a re-gluing process.

This section is pretty independent of the other parts in this note. Some symbols which appear in other sections are abused, but there is no relationship between them. Consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi = L\phi + A(y,\tau) \cdot \nabla\phi + B(y,\tau)\phi + h, & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_R, \\ \phi(\cdot,\tau_0) = 0, & \text{in } B_{R(\tau_0)} \end{cases}$$
(D.1)

where $A = (A_1, A_2, \dots, A_d)$ is a vector-valued function and B is a scalar function,

$$L := \Delta + V(y), \quad B_{R(\tau)} := \left\{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid |y| < R(\tau) \right\}, \quad \mathcal{D}_R = \{(y, \tau) \mid y \in B_{R(\tau)}, \ \tau \in (\tau_0, \infty) \}.$$

We always assume V(y) = V(|y|) is radial in space satisfying $|V(y)| \leq \langle y \rangle^{-2}$; L has a radial positive kernel $Z(\rho)$ with the asymptotic behavior

$$Z(\rho) \sim \langle \rho \rangle^{\beta}, \qquad |\partial_{\rho} Z(\rho)| \lesssim \langle \rho \rangle^{\beta-1}.$$

We shall write $v = v(\tau)$, $R = R(\tau)$ for simplicity.

Our aim is to find well-behaved ϕ for right hand side h in the weighted space with the norm

$$\|h\|_{v,\ell} := \sup_{(y,\tau)\in\mathcal{D}_R} \left(v(\tau)\right)^{-1} \langle y \rangle^{\ell} |h(y,\tau)|$$

for $\ell \in \mathbb{R}$, $v(\tau) \ge 0$. The non-orthogonal linear theory is given as follows.

Proposition D.1. Consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi = L\phi + A(y,\tau) \cdot \nabla\phi + B(y,\tau)\phi + h \quad in \quad \mathcal{D}_{R}, \\ \phi = 0 \quad on \quad \partial\mathcal{D}_{R}, \quad \phi(\cdot,\tau_{0}) = 0 \quad in \quad B_{R(\tau_{0})}. \end{cases}$$

Suppose $||h||_{v,\ell} < \infty$, $R \ge 2$, $v, R \in C^1(\tau_0, \infty)$, $\langle y \rangle^{-1} |A(y,\tau)| + |B(y,\tau)| \le f(\tau)$, $(f(\tau) + |v'|v^{-1}) \theta_{R,\ell,1} + \theta_{R,\ell,2} \ll 1$, where

$$\theta_{R,\ell,1} := \begin{cases} R^{2+\max\{0,-\beta-\ell\}}, & \ell < \beta+d \\ R^{2+\max\{0,-d-2\beta\}}\ln R, & \ell = \beta+d & \text{if } \beta < 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ R^{2+\max\{0,-d-2\beta\}}, & \ell > \beta+d \\ R^{2+\max\{0,-\beta-\ell\}}, & \ell < \beta+d \\ R^{2}(\ln R)^2, & \ell = \beta+d & \text{if } \beta = 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ R^2(\ln R)^2, & \ell > \beta+d \\ R^{2+\max\{0,-\beta-\ell\}}, & \ell < 2-\beta \\ R^2\ln R, & \ell = 2-\beta \\ R^2\ln R, & \ell = 2-\beta \\ R^2\ln R, & \ell = \beta+d \\ R^{2+}, & \ell > \beta+d \end{cases}$$
$$\theta_{R,\ell,2} := \begin{cases} |R'|R^{1+\max\{0,-\beta-\ell\}}, & \ell < \beta+d \\ |R'|R^{1+\max\{0,-d-2\beta\}}\ln R, & \ell = \beta+d \\ |R'|R^{1+\max\{0,-d-2\beta\}}\ln R, & \ell > \beta+d, \end{cases}$$

then there exists a unique solution with the pointwise upper bound

$$\langle y \rangle |\nabla \phi(y,\tau)| + |\phi(y,\tau)| \lesssim v(\tau) \langle y \rangle^{\beta} \Theta_{R,\ell}(|y|) ||h||_{v,\ell}$$

where

$$\Theta_{R,\ell}(\rho) := \begin{cases} R^{2-\beta-\ell}, & \ell < \beta+d \\ R^{2-d-2\beta} \ln R, & \ell = \beta+d & \text{if } \beta < 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ R^{2-d-2\beta}, & \ell > \beta+d \\ R^{2-\beta-\ell}, & \ell < \beta+d & \text{if } \beta = 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ \ln R, & \ell > \beta+d & \text{if } \beta = 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ \ln R, & \ell > \beta+d & \text{if } \beta = 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ \ln R, & \ell > \beta+d & \text{if } \beta > 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ R^{2-\beta-\ell}, & 2-\beta < \ell < \beta+d & \text{if } \beta > 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ \langle \rho \rangle^{2-\beta-\ell}, & 2-\beta < \ell < \beta+d & \text{if } \beta > 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ \langle \rho \rangle^{2-d-2\beta} \ln(\rho+2), & \ell = \beta+d \\ \langle \rho \rangle^{2-d-2\beta}, & \ell > \beta+d \end{cases}$$
(D.2)

GLUING METHOD

Proof. The existence and uniqueness are given by the classical parabolic theory and we will give pointwise estimate by the comparison theorem. Set $\rho = |y|$ and a barrier function with the form $\bar{\phi}(\rho, \tau) = Cvg(\rho, R)$, where

$$Lg(\rho,R) = -\langle \rho \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}}, \quad g(\rho,R) = Z(\rho) \int_{\rho}^{R} \frac{dx}{Z^2(x)x^{d-1}} \int_{0}^{x} Z(s)s^{d-1} \langle s \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} ds$$

and $C, \bar{\ell}$ will be determined later. It is easy to get

$$\partial_{\rho}g(\rho,R) = Z'(\rho) \int_{\rho}^{R} \frac{dx}{Z^{2}(x)x^{d-1}} \int_{0}^{x} Z(s)s^{d-1} \langle s \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} ds - \frac{1}{Z(\rho)\rho^{d-1}} \int_{0}^{\rho} Z(s)s^{d-1} \langle s \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} ds.$$

Direct calculation yields

$$\int_0^x Z(s)s^{d-1} \langle s \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} ds \sim \begin{cases} x^d, & x \le 1 \\ x^{\beta+d-\bar{\ell}}, & x > 1, \bar{\ell} < \beta+d \\ 1+\ln x, & x > 1, \bar{\ell} = \beta+d \\ 1, & x > 1, \bar{\ell} > \beta+d, \end{cases} \qquad \frac{1}{Z^2(x)x^{d-1}} \sim \begin{cases} x^{1-d}, & x \le 1 \\ x^{1-d-2\beta}, & x > 1, \end{cases}$$

$$\frac{1}{Z^2(x)x^{d-1}} \int_0^x Z(s)s^{d-1} \langle s \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} ds \sim \begin{cases} x, & x \leq 1 \\ x^{1-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & x > 1, \bar{\ell} < \beta + d \\ x^{1-d-2\beta} (1+\ln x), & x > 1, \bar{\ell} = \beta + d \\ x^{1-d-2\beta}, & x > 1, \bar{\ell} > \beta + d. \end{cases}$$

Considering three cases $1 - d - 2\beta > (=, <) - 1$, namely, $\beta < (=, >)1 - \frac{d}{2}$, we have

$$\int_{\rho}^{R} \frac{dx}{Z^{2}(x)x^{d-1}} \int_{0}^{x} Z(s)s^{d-1} \langle s \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} ds \lesssim \Theta_{R,\bar{\ell}}(\rho).$$

Then

$$g \lesssim \langle \rho \rangle^{\beta} \Theta_{R,\bar{\ell}}(\rho).$$

For $\partial_{\rho}g$, since

$$\frac{1}{Z(\rho)\rho^{d-1}} \int_0^{\rho} Z(s) s^{d-1} \langle s \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} ds \sim \begin{cases} \rho, & \rho \leq 1\\ \rho^{1-\bar{\ell}}, & \rho > 1, \bar{\ell} < \beta + d\\ \rho^{1-d-\beta} \left(1 + \ln \rho\right), & \rho > 1, \bar{\ell} = \beta + d\\ \rho^{1-d-\beta}, & \rho > 1, \bar{\ell} > \beta + d \end{cases}$$

then

$$|\partial_{\rho}g| \lesssim \langle \rho \rangle^{\beta-1} \Theta_{R,\bar{\ell}}(\rho).$$

A closer look at $\Theta_{R,\bar{\ell}}(\rho)$, when $\bar{\ell} > \beta + d$, tells that the increase in $\bar{\ell}$ will not improve the estiamte of g. Thus, we take

$$\bar{\ell} := \begin{cases} \ell, & \ell \leq \beta + d\\ (\beta + d) + < \ell, & \ell > \beta + d. \end{cases}$$

Then $\Theta_{R,\bar{\ell}}(\rho) = \Theta_{R,\ell}(\rho)$, which implies

$$g + \langle \rho \rangle |\partial_{\rho}g| \lesssim \langle \rho \rangle^{\beta} \Theta_{R,\ell}(\rho).$$

From the choice of g, we have

$$\begin{split} P[\bar{\phi}] &:= L(Cvg) + h + Cv\left(A \cdot \nabla g + Bg\right) - \partial_{\tau}(Cvg) \\ &= -Cv\langle y \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} + h + Cv\left(A \cdot \nabla g + Bg\right) - Cv'g - \frac{CvR'Z(|y|)}{Z^2(R)R^{d-1}} \int_0^R Z(s)s^{d-1}\langle s \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} ds \\ &\leq Cv\langle y \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} \Big[-1 + \langle y \rangle^{\bar{\ell}} \left(A \cdot \nabla g + Bg\right) - v'v^{-1}\langle y \rangle^{\bar{\ell}} g - \frac{R'\langle y \rangle^{\bar{\ell}}Z(|y|)}{Z^2(R)R^{d-1}} \int_0^R Z(s)s^{d-1}\langle s \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} ds \Big] + v\langle y \rangle^{-\ell} \|h\|_{v,\ell} \\ &\leq -\frac{3}{4}Cv\langle y \rangle^{-\bar{\ell}} + v\langle y \rangle^{-\ell} \|h\|_{v,\ell} \end{split}$$

where we have used

$$\left| \langle y \rangle^{\bar{\ell}} \left(A \cdot \nabla g + Bg \right) \right| + \left| v'v^{-1} \langle y \rangle^{\bar{\ell}} g \right| \lesssim \left(f(\tau) + |v'|v^{-1} \right) \langle y \rangle^{\bar{\ell} + \beta} \Theta_{R,\ell}(|y|) \lesssim \left(f(\tau) + |v'|v^{-1} \right) \theta_{R,\ell,1} \ll 1$$

$$\left|\frac{R'\langle y\rangle^{\bar{\ell}}Z(|y|)}{Z^2(R)R^{d-1}}\int_0^R Z(s)s^{d-1}\langle s\rangle^{-\bar{\ell}}ds\right| \lesssim \langle y\rangle^{\bar{\ell}+\beta} \begin{cases} |R'|R^{1-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell}<\beta+d\\ |R'|R^{1-d-2\beta}\ln R, & \bar{\ell}=\beta+d\\ |R'|R^{1-d-2\beta}, & \bar{\ell}>\beta+d \end{cases} \lesssim \theta_{R,\ell,2} \ll 1$$

Set $C = 2||h||_{v,\ell}$, then $P[\bar{\phi}] \leq 0$, which implies $|\phi(y,\tau)| \leq v(\tau) \langle y \rangle^{\beta} \Theta_{R,\ell}(|y|)$. Since $\theta_{R,\ell,1} \geq R^2$, then $f(\tau) \ll (\theta_{R,\ell,1})^{-1} \leq R^{-2}$. Additionally, from the presumption, $|V(y)| \leq \langle y \rangle^{-2}$. Then using scaling argument, we get the gradient estimate.

Lemma D.1. Consider

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\tau}\phi &= L\phi + A(y,\tau) \cdot \nabla\phi + B(y,\tau)\phi + h \quad in \quad \mathcal{D}_R, \\ \phi(\cdot,\tau_0) &= 0 \quad in \quad B_{R(\tau_0)}. \end{aligned}$$

Suppose $\|h\|_{v,\ell} < \infty$, h is radial in space and if $\ell > \beta + d$, h satisfies the orthogonal condition

$$\int_{0}^{R} h(u,\tau)Z(u)u^{d-1}du = 0 \quad for \ all \quad \tau > \tau_{0};$$
(D.3)

and $\langle y \rangle^{-1} |A(y,\tau)| + |B(y,\tau)| \le f(\tau),$

$$R \ge 2, v, R \in C^{1}(\tau_{0}, \infty), \left(f(\tau) + |v'|v^{-1}\right) \theta_{R,\bar{\ell}-2,1} + \theta_{R,\bar{\ell}-2,2} \ll 1,$$

$$f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R,\ell,3} \in C^{1}(\tau_{0}, \infty), \left[f(\tau) + |(f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R,\ell,3})'|(f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R,\ell,3})^{-1}\right] \theta_{R,p_{\ell},1} + \theta_{R,p_{\ell},2} \ll 1,$$
(D.4)

where $\theta_{R,c,1}$, $\theta_{R,c,2}$ for $c \in \mathbb{R}$ are defined in Proposition D.1,

$$\bar{\ell} := \begin{cases} \ell, & \ell \neq \beta + d, 2 - \beta \\ \ell -, & \ell = \beta + d \text{ or } \ell = 2 - \beta, \end{cases} p_{\ell} := \begin{cases} 2 - \beta, & \bar{\ell} \leq 4 - \beta \\ \bar{\ell} - 2, & 4 - \beta < \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ (d + \beta) -, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ d + \beta, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \end{cases} \text{ if } \beta > 1 - \frac{d}{2}, \tag{D.5}$$

$$\theta_{R,\ell,3} := \begin{cases} \binom{R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}}{R}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{2-d-2\beta} \ln R, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{2-d-2\beta}, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ (\ln R)^2, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ (\ln R)^2, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < 4 - \beta \\ \ln R, & \bar{\ell} = 4 - \beta \\ 1, & \bar{\ell} > 4 - \beta \end{cases}$$

Then there exists a solution $\phi = \phi[h]$ as a linear mapping about h with the estimate $\langle y \rangle |\nabla \phi| + |\phi| \lesssim v(\tau) \theta_{R,\ell,3} \left(\langle y \rangle^{-p_{\ell}} + f(\tau) \langle y \rangle^{\beta} \Theta_{R,p_{\ell}}(|y|) \right) ||h||_{v,\ell}$

where

$$\theta_{R,\ell,3} \langle y \rangle^{-p_{\ell}} = \begin{cases} \langle y \rangle^{\beta-2} \begin{cases} R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta+d+2 \\ R^{2-d-2\beta} \ln R, & \bar{\ell} = \beta+d+2 \\ R^{2-d-2\beta}, & \bar{\ell} > \beta+d+2 \end{cases} & \text{if } \beta < 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta+d+2 \\ (\ln R)^2, & \bar{\ell} = \beta+d+2 \\ \ln R, & \bar{\ell} > \beta+d+2 \\ \ln R, & \bar{\ell} > \beta+d+2 \\ \langle y \rangle^{\beta-2} R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < 4-\beta \\ \langle y \rangle^{\beta-2} \ln R, & \bar{\ell} = 4-\beta \\ \langle y \rangle^{2-\bar{\ell}}, & 4-\beta < \bar{\ell} < \beta+d+2 \\ \langle y \rangle^{-[(d+\beta)-]}, & \bar{\ell} = \beta+d+2 \\ \langle y \rangle^{-d-\beta}, & \bar{\ell} > \beta+d+2 \end{cases}$$
(D.6)

Remark D.1. By direct calculation, for $\ell \leq \beta + d$, we have $\langle y \rangle^{\beta} \Theta_{R,\ell}(|y|) \lesssim \langle y \rangle^{-p_{\ell}} \theta_{R,\ell,3}$. Thus for $\ell \leq \beta + d$, the estimate in Proposition D.1 is better than Lemma D.1.

Proof. Let us first consider an elliptic problem $LH = \tilde{h}$ where \tilde{h} is the extension of h as zero outside \mathcal{D}_R . H is given by

$$H(\rho,\tau) = \begin{cases} Z(\rho) \int_0^{\rho} \frac{1}{Z^2(s)s^{d-1}} \int_0^s Z(u)u^{d-1}\tilde{h}(u,\tau) duds, & \text{if } \ell = \beta + d, \beta \le 1 - \frac{d}{2} \text{ or } \ell \ne \beta + d, \ell \le 2 - \beta \\ -Z(\rho) \int_{\rho}^{\infty} \frac{1}{Z^2(s)s^{d-1}} \int_0^s Z(u)u^{d-1}\tilde{h}(u,\tau) duds, & \text{if } \ell = \beta + d, \beta > 1 - \frac{d}{2} \text{ or } \ell \ne \beta + d, \ell > 2 - \beta. \end{cases}$$

The intuition behind the choice of H is to make H behave like integration twice in space about h and keep the information of ℓ . By direct calculation, H has the following estimate

$$\|H\|_{v,\bar{\ell}-2} \lesssim \|h\|_{v,\ell} \tag{D.7}$$

for $\overline{\ell}$ given in (D.5). Indeed,

$$\left| \int_{0}^{s} Z(u) u^{d-1} \tilde{h}(u,\tau) du \right| \lesssim \|h\|_{v,\ell} v \begin{cases} s^{d}, & s \le 1\\ s^{\beta+d-\ell}, & s > 1, \ell < \beta+d\\ 1+\ln s, & s > 1, \ell = \beta+d\\ s^{\beta+d-\ell}, & s > 1, \ell > \beta+d \end{cases}$$

where we require the orthogonal condition (D.3) when s > 1, $\ell > \beta + d$.

$$\frac{1}{Z^2(s)s^{d-1}} \sim \begin{cases} s^{1-d}, & s \le 1\\ s^{1-d-2\beta}, & s > 1. \end{cases}$$

Then

$$\left|\frac{1}{Z^2(s)s^{d-1}} \int_0^s Z(u)u^{d-1}\tilde{h}(u,\tau)du\right| \lesssim \|h\|_{v,\ell} v \begin{cases} s, & s \le 1\\ s^{1-d-2\beta} \left(1+\ln s\right), & s > 1, \ell = \beta + d\\ s^{1-\beta-\ell}, & s > 1, \ell \neq \beta + d. \end{cases}$$

When $\ell = \beta + d, \beta \leq 1 - \frac{d}{2}$ or $\ell \neq \beta + d, \ell \leq 2 - \beta$,

$$\left| \int_{0}^{\rho} \frac{1}{Z^{2}(s)s^{d-1}} \int_{0}^{s} Z(u)u^{d-1}\tilde{h}(u,\tau) duds \right| \lesssim \|h\|_{v,\ell} v \begin{cases} \rho^{2}, & \rho \leq 1\\ \rho^{2-d-2\beta} \left(1+\ln\rho\right), & \rho > 1, \ell = \beta + d, \beta < 1 - \frac{d}{2} \\ 1 + (\ln\rho)^{2}, & \rho > 1, \ell = \beta + d, \beta = 1 - \frac{d}{2} \\ \rho^{2-\beta-\ell}, & \rho > 1, \ell \neq \beta + d, \ell < 2 - \beta \\ 1 + \ln\rho, & \rho > 1, \ell \neq \beta + d, \ell = 2 - \beta \\ \end{cases}$$

For the cases $\ell = \beta + d, \beta > 1 - \frac{d}{2}$ or $\ell \neq \beta + d, \ell > 2 - \beta$, this formula cannot recover the information of ℓ . Then

$$|H| \lesssim \|h\|_{v,\ell} v \begin{cases} \rho^2, & \rho \le 1\\ \rho^{2-\ell} \langle \ln \rho \rangle, & \rho > 1, \ell = \beta + d, \beta < 1 - \frac{d}{2}\\ \rho^{2-\ell} \langle \ln \rho \rangle^2, & \rho > 1, \ell = \beta + d, \beta = 1 - \frac{d}{2}\\ \rho^{2-\ell}, & \rho > 1, \ell \neq \beta + d, \ell < 2 - \beta\\ \rho^{2-\ell} \langle \ln \rho \rangle, & \rho > 1, \ell \neq \beta + d, \ell = 2 - \beta. \end{cases}$$

When $\ell = \beta + d, \beta > 1 - \frac{d}{2}$ or $\ell \neq \beta + d, \ell > 2 - \beta$,

$$\left| \int_{\rho}^{\infty} \frac{1}{Z^2(s)s^{d-1}} \int_{0}^{s} Z(u)u^{d-1}\tilde{h}(u,\tau)duds \right| \lesssim \|h\|_{v,\ell} v \begin{cases} \langle \rho \rangle^{2-d-2\beta} \ln(\rho+2), & \ell = \beta + d, \beta > 1 - \frac{d}{2} \\ \langle \rho \rangle^{2-\beta-\ell}, & \ell \neq \beta + d, \ell > 2 - \beta \end{cases}$$

which implies

$$|H| \lesssim \|h\|_{v,\ell} v \begin{cases} \langle \rho \rangle^{2-\ell} \ln(\rho+2), & \ell = \beta + d, \beta > 1 - \frac{d}{2} \\ \langle \rho \rangle^{2-\ell}, & \ell \neq \beta + d, \ell > 2 - \beta \end{cases}$$

Thus we complete the proof of (D.7). Next, consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau} \Phi = L \Phi + H & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R}, \\ \Phi = 0 & \text{on } \partial \mathcal{D}_{2R} & \Phi(\cdot, \tau_0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R(\tau_0)}. \end{cases}$$

Under the assumption $R \ge 2$, $v, R \in C^1(\tau_0, \infty)$, $(f(\tau) + |v'|v^{-1}) \theta_{R,\bar{\ell}-2,1} + \theta_{R,\bar{\ell}-2,2} \ll 1$, by Proposition D.1, we have a unique solution Φ with the estimate

$$\Phi| \lesssim v(\tau) \langle y \rangle^{\beta} \Theta_{R,\bar{\ell}-2}(|y|) \|h\|_{v,\ell}.$$

Set $\phi_1 = L\Phi$. By $|V(|y|)| \lesssim \langle y \rangle^{-2}$, scaling argument and the definition of $\Theta_{R,\bar{\ell}-2}$ in Proposition D.1, we have

$$\begin{split} \langle y \rangle |\nabla \phi_1| + |\phi_1| \lesssim v(\tau) \langle y \rangle^{\beta-2} \Theta_{R,\bar{\ell}-2}(|y|) \|h\|_{v,\ell} \\ & \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \langle y \rangle^{\beta-2} \begin{cases} R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{2-d-2\beta} \ln R, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R^{2-d-2\beta}, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \end{cases} & \text{if } \beta < 1 - \frac{d}{2} \end{cases} \\ & \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \langle y \rangle^{\beta-2} \begin{cases} R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ (\ln R)^2, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ \ln R, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \\ \ln R, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \end{cases} & \text{if } \beta = 1 - \frac{d}{2} \end{cases} \\ & \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \langle y \rangle^{\beta-2} R^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < 4 - \beta \\ \langle y \rangle^{\beta-2} \ln R, & \bar{\ell} = 4 - \beta \\ \langle y \rangle^{2-\bar{\ell}}, & 4 - \beta < \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ \langle y \rangle^{-d-\beta} \ln(|y|+2), & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ \langle y \rangle^{-d-\beta}, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \end{cases} \right. \end{cases} \\ \end{split}$$

$$\lesssim v(\tau)\theta_{R,\ell,3}\langle y\rangle^{-p_\ell}\|h\|_{v,\ell}.$$

In order to retrieve the term $A \cdot \nabla \phi + B \phi$, we consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi_2 = L\phi_2 + A \cdot \nabla\phi_2 + B\phi_2 + A \cdot \nabla\phi_1 + B\phi_1 & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_R, \\ \phi_2 = 0 & \text{on } \partial\mathcal{D}_R, \quad \phi_2(\rho, \tau_0) = 0 & \text{in } B_{R(\tau_0)} \end{cases}$$

where

$$|A \cdot \nabla \phi_1 + B\phi_1| \lesssim f(\tau) \left(\langle y \rangle |\nabla \phi_1| + |\phi_1| \right) \lesssim f(\tau) v(\tau) \theta_{R,\ell,3} \langle y \rangle^{-p_\ell} \|h\|_{v,\ell}.$$

Under the assumption $R \geq 2$, $f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R,\ell,3}$, $R \in C^1(\tau_0,\infty)$, $\left[f(\tau) + |(f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R,\ell,3})'|(f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R,\ell,3})^{-1}\right]\theta_{R,p_\ell,1} + \theta_{R,p_\ell,2} \ll 1$, by Proposition D.1, we get ϕ_2 with the estimate

$$\langle y \rangle |\nabla \phi_2| + |\phi_2| \lesssim f(\tau) v(\tau) \theta_{R,\ell,3} \langle y \rangle^\beta \Theta_{R,p_\ell}(|y|) ||h||_{v,\ell}.$$

Set $\phi[h] = \phi_1 + \phi_2$. We complete the proof.

Next we perform the re-gluing procedure to further improve the linear theory. In the process of re-gluing, since the outer solution will enter the right hand side of the inner problem, in order to make the term involving the outer solution radial in space, we take $A(y,\tau) = \tilde{A}(\rho,\tau)y$, $B(y,\tau) = B(\rho,\tau)$ where $\rho = |y|$ and $\tilde{A}(\rho,\tau)$ is a scalar function.

Proposition D.2. Consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi = L\phi + \tilde{A}(\rho,\tau)\rho\partial_{\rho}\phi + B(\rho,\tau)\phi + h + c_{\rm in}(\tau)\eta(\rho)Z(\rho) & in \ \mathcal{D}_{R}, \\ \phi(\cdot,\tau_0) = 0 & in \ B_{R(\tau_0)} \end{cases}$$

where $|\tilde{A}(\rho,\tau)| + |B(\rho,\tau)| \leq f(\tau)$, $||h||_{v,\ell} < \infty$. Suppose that $R_0 \leq R/3 \lesssim \sqrt{\tau}$, $|V(|y|)| \lesssim \langle y \rangle^{-P_V}$, $P_V > 2$, d > 2, $-d < \beta < 0$, $\ell \in (\beta + d, \beta + d + 2) \cap (2, d)$, $f(\tau)R_0^{\max\{4-d-2\beta, 2+\}} \lesssim 1$; there exists a constant $C_* > 1$ such that $C_*^{-1}F(\tau) \leq F(s) \leq C_*F(\tau)$ with $F = v, R, R_0$ for all $\tau \leq s \leq 2\tau$, $\tau^{-\frac{d}{2}} \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} v(s)R^{d-\bar{\ell}_*}(s)ds \lesssim vR^{2-\bar{\ell}_*}$, where

$$\bar{\ell}_* := \begin{cases} \bar{\ell}-, & \beta > 1 - \frac{d}{2} & and & \bar{\ell} = 4 - \beta \\ \bar{\ell}, & otherwise \end{cases}$$

for $\overline{\ell}$ given in (D.5);

$$v, R_0 \in C^1(\tau_0, \infty), \left(f(\tau) + |v'|v^{-1}\right) \theta_{R_0, \bar{\ell}-2, 1} + |R'_0| R_0^{1+\max\{0, 2-\beta-\ell\}} \ll 1, f(\tau) v(\tau) \theta_{R_0, \ell, 3} \in C^1(\tau_0, \infty), \left[f(\tau) + |(f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R_0, \ell, 3})'|(f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R_0, \ell, 3})^{-1}\right] \theta_{R_0, p_\ell, 1} + \theta_{R_0, p_\ell, 2} \ll 1,$$

where

$$\begin{split} \theta_{R_{0},\bar{\ell}-2,1} = \begin{cases} R_{0}^{2+\max\left\{0,2-\beta-\bar{\ell}\right\}} & \text{if } \beta \leq 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ \begin{cases} R_{0}^{2+\max\left\{0,2-\beta-\bar{\ell}\right\}}, & \bar{\ell} < 4-\beta \\ R_{0}^{2}\ln R_{0}, & \bar{\ell} = 4-\beta \\ R_{0}^{2}, & 4-\beta < \bar{\ell} < \beta+d+2 \end{cases} \\ \theta_{R_{0},\ell,3} = \begin{cases} R_{0}^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < 4-\beta \\ \ln R_{0}, & \bar{\ell} = 4-\beta \\ \ln R_{0}, & \bar{\ell} > 4-\beta \end{cases} & \text{if } \beta > 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ \begin{cases} R_{0}^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < 4-\beta \\ \ln R_{0}, & \bar{\ell} > 4-\beta \end{cases} \\ \theta_{R_{0},p_{\ell},1} = \begin{cases} R_{0}^{2+\max\left\{0+,-d-2\beta\right\}}, & \text{if } \beta < 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ R_{0}^{2}\ln R_{0}, & \bar{\ell} \leq 4-\beta \\ R_{0}^{2}, & 4-\beta < \ell < \beta+d+2 \end{cases} & \text{if } \beta > 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ \begin{cases} R_{0}^{2}\ln R_{0}, & \bar{\ell} \leq 4-\beta \\ R_{0}^{2}, & 4-\beta < \bar{\ell} < \beta+d+2 \end{cases} \\ \theta_{R_{0},p_{\ell},2} = \begin{cases} |R_{0}'|R_{0}^{1+\max\left\{0+,-d-2\beta\right\}}, & \text{if } \beta < 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ |R_{0}'|R_{0}\ln R_{0}, & \text{if } \beta = 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ |R_{0}'|R_{0}\ln R_{0}, & \text{if } \beta = 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ |R_{0}'|R_{0}\ln R_{0}, & \text{if } \beta = 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ |R_{0}'|R_{0}\ln R_{0}, & \text{if } \beta = 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ |R_{0}'|R_{0}\ln R_{0}, & \text{if } \beta > 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ |R_{0}'|R_{0}\ln R_{0}, & \text{if } \beta > 1-\frac{d}{2} \end{cases} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

for $\inf_{\tau \ge \tau_0} R_0(\tau)$ sufficiently large and $\sup_{\tau \ge \tau_0} f(\tau) R^2(\tau)$ sufficiently small. Then there exists a solution $(\phi, c_{\rm in}) = (\phi[h], c_{\rm in}[h])$ which is a linear mapping about h with the properties

$$\langle \rho \rangle |\partial_{\rho} \phi| + |\phi| \lesssim v ||h||_{v,\ell} \begin{cases} \langle \rho \rangle^{2-\bar{\ell}} R_0^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}} & \text{if } \beta \leq 1-\frac{d}{2} \\ \begin{cases} \langle \rho \rangle^{2-\bar{\ell}} R_0^{4-\beta-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < 4-\beta \\ \\ \langle \rho \rangle^{(2-\bar{\ell})+} \ln R_0, & \bar{\ell} = 4-\beta \\ \\ \langle \rho \rangle^{2-\bar{\ell}}, & 4-\beta < \bar{\ell} < \beta+d+2 \end{cases}$$
(D.8)

$$c_{\rm in}(\tau) = c_{\rm in}[h](\tau) = -\left(\int_0^2 \eta(x)Z^2(x)x^{d-1}dx\right)^{-1} \left(\int_0^{2R_0} h(x,\tau)Z(x)x^{d-1}dx + c_{\rm in,1}[h](\tau)\right),\tag{D.9}$$

,

and $c_{in,1}[h]$ depends linearly on h with the following estimate.

$$|c_{\text{in},1}[h](\tau)| \lesssim v ||h||_{v,\ell} R_0^{2-\bar{\ell}_*} \begin{cases} 1, & \beta+d-P_V < 0\\ \ln R_0, & \beta+d-P_V = 0\\ R_0^{\beta+d-P_V}, & \beta+d-P_V > 0; \end{cases}$$
(D.10)

for $\alpha \in (0,1), \ \tau_1, \tau_2 \in [\tau - \lambda_1^2, \tau]$ with $0 < \lambda_1 \le \sqrt{\tau/8},$

$$\begin{aligned} c_{\mathrm{in},1}[h](\tau_{1}) - c_{\mathrm{in},1}[h](\tau_{2})| &\lesssim v \|h\|_{v,\ell} \left[R_{0}^{1-\bar{\ell}_{*}+\beta+d-P_{V}} |R_{0}(\tau_{1}) - R_{0}(\tau_{2})| \\ &+ |\tau_{1} - \tau_{2}|^{\alpha} \left(\lambda_{1}^{-2\alpha} R_{0}^{2-\bar{\ell}_{*}} + \lambda_{1}^{2-2\alpha} R_{0}^{-\bar{\ell}_{*}} \right) \begin{cases} 1, & \beta+d-P_{V} < 0 \\ \ln R_{0}, & \beta+d-P_{V} = 0 \\ R_{0}^{\beta+d-P_{V}}, & \beta+d-P_{V} > 0 \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$
(D.11)

Proof of Proposition D.2. Set $\phi(\rho,\tau) = \eta_{R_0}(\rho)\phi_i(\rho,\tau) + \phi_o(\rho,\tau)$, where $\eta_{R_0}(\rho) = \eta(\frac{\rho}{R_0})$. In order to find a solution ϕ , it suffices to solve the following inner-outer gluing system for (ϕ_i, ϕ_o) . The outer problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi_o = \Delta\phi_o + J[\phi_o, \phi_i]\eta_{2R}(\rho) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d \times (\tau_0, \infty), \\ \phi_o(\cdot, \tau_0) = 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^d, \end{cases}$$
(D.12)

the inner problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}\phi_{i} = L\phi_{i} + \tilde{A}\rho\partial_{\rho}\phi_{i} + B\phi_{i} + V\phi_{o} + h + c_{\mathrm{in}}(\tau)\eta(\rho)Z(\rho) & \text{in } \mathcal{D}_{2R_{0}},\\ \phi_{i}(\cdot,\tau_{0}) = 0 & \text{in } B_{2R(\tau_{0})}, \end{cases}$$
(D.13)

where $\eta_{2R}(\rho) = \eta(\frac{\rho}{2R}),$

$$J[\phi_o, \phi_i] := V\phi_o(1 - \eta_{R_0}) + \tilde{A}\rho\partial_\rho\phi_o + B\phi_o + \Lambda[\phi_i] + h(1 - \eta_{R_0})$$
$$\Lambda[\phi_i] := \phi_i\Delta\eta_{R_0} + 2\partial_\rho\eta_{R_0}\partial_\rho\phi_i + \tilde{A}\phi_i\rho\partial_\rho\eta_{R_0} - \phi_i\partial_\tau\eta_{R_0}.$$

Here $c_{\rm in}(\tau)$ is given by

$$c_{\rm in}(\tau) = c_{\rm in}[\phi_o](\tau) = C_1 \int_0^{2R_0} \left(V(x,\tau)\phi_o(x,\tau) + h(x,\tau) \right) Z(x) x^{d-1} dx, \quad C_1 = -\left(\int_0^2 \eta(x) Z^2(x) x^{d-1} dx\right)^{-1} dx$$

to achieve the orthogonal condition

$$\int_{0}^{2R_{0}} \left(V(x)\phi_{o}(x,\tau) + h(x,\tau) + c_{\mathrm{in}}(\tau)\eta(x)Z(x) \right) Z(x)x^{d-1}dx = 0$$

We reformulate (D.12) and (D.13) into the following form

$$\phi_o(y,\tau) = \mathcal{T}_d \bullet [J[\phi_o,\phi_i]\eta_{2R}](y,\tau,\tau_0), \quad \phi_i(y,\tau) = \mathcal{T}_i [V\phi_o + h + c_{\rm in}\eta(\rho)Z(\rho)] \tag{D.14}$$

where \mathcal{T}_i is the linear mappings given by Lemma D.1. We will solve the system (D.14) by the contraction mapping theorem.

Denote the leading term of the right hand side of (D.13) as $H_1 := h + C_1 \eta(\rho) Z(\rho) \int_0^{2R_0} h(x,\tau) Z(x) x^{d-1} dx$. It is easy to check $||H_1||_{v,\ell} \leq ||h||_{v,\ell}$ under the assumption $\beta + d < \ell$. If H_1 satisfies the orthogonal condition in \mathcal{D}_{2R_0} , under the assumption

$$R_0 \ge 2, v, R_0 \in C^1(\tau_0, \infty), \left(f(\tau) + |v'|v^{-1}\right) \theta_{R_0, \bar{\ell}-2, 1} + \theta_{R_0, \bar{\ell}-2, 2} \ll 1,$$

$$f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R_0,\ell,3} \in C^1(\tau_0,\infty), \left[f(\tau) + |(f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R_0,\ell,3})'|(f(\tau)v(\tau)\theta_{R_0,\ell,3})^{-1}\right]\theta_{R_0,p_\ell,1} + \theta_{R_0,p_\ell,2} \ll 1,$$

Lemma D.1 gives the following a priori estimate

$$\langle \rho \rangle |\partial_{\rho} \mathcal{T}_i[H_1]| + |\mathcal{T}_i[H_1]| \le D_i w_i(\rho, \tau)$$

where $D_i \ge 1$ is a constant and

$$w_i(\rho,\tau) := v(\tau)\theta_{R_0,\ell,3} \langle \rho \rangle^{-p_\ell} \|h\|_{v,\ell}$$

GLUING METHOD

where we have used $f(\tau)\langle\rho\rangle^{\beta}\Theta_{R_0,p_{\ell}}(\rho) \lesssim \langle\rho\rangle^{-p_{\ell}}$ under the assumption $f(\tau)R_0^{\max\{4-d-2\beta,2+\}} \lesssim 1$. Indeed, by the definition of p_{ℓ} in (D.5) and $\Theta_{R_0,p_{\ell}}$ in (D.2),

$$f(\tau)\langle\rho\rangle^{\beta+p_{\ell}}\Theta_{R_{0},p_{\ell}}(\rho) \lesssim 1 \iff f(\tau) \begin{cases} \langle\rho\rangle^{2}R_{0}^{2-d-2\beta}, & \text{if } \beta < 1 - \frac{d}{2} \\ \langle\rho\rangle^{2}(\ln R_{0})^{2} & \text{if } \beta = 1 - \frac{d}{2} \\ \left\{\langle\rho\rangle^{2}\ln R_{0}, & p_{\ell} = 2 - \beta \\ \langle\rho\rangle^{2}, & 2 - \beta < p_{\ell} < \beta + d & \text{if } \beta > 1 - \frac{d}{2} \\ \langle\rho\rangle^{2}\ln(\rho+2), & p_{\ell} = \beta + d \end{cases} \lesssim 1.$$

For this reason, we will solve the inner problem (D.13) in the space

$$\mathcal{B}_i = \left\{ g(\rho, \tau) : \langle \rho \rangle | \partial_\rho g(\rho, \tau) | + |g(\rho, \tau)| \le 2D_i w_i(\rho, \tau) \right\}.$$

For any fixed $\tilde{\phi}_i \in \mathcal{B}_i$, we will find a solution $\phi_o = \phi_o[\tilde{\phi}_i]$ of the outer problem (D.12) by the contraction mapping theorem. Let us first estimate $J[0, \tilde{\phi}_i]$ term by term. Under the assumption $|R'_0|R_0^{-1} + f(\tau) \leq R_0^{-2}$, using (D.6), we have

$$\begin{split} |\Lambda[\phi_i]| \lesssim \left(R_0^{-2} + |R'_0|R_0^{-1} + f(\tau)\right) \mathbf{1}_{\{R_0 \le \rho \le 2R_0\}} D_i w_i(R_0, \tau) \sim R_0^{-2} \mathbf{1}_{\{R_0 \le \rho \le 2R_0\}} D_i w_i(R_0, \tau) \\ = D_i R_0^{-2} \mathbf{1}_{\{R_0 \le \rho \le 2R_0\}} v \|h\|_{v,\ell} \theta_{R_0,\ell,3} \langle R_0 \rangle^{-p_\ell} \\ \begin{cases} R_0^{-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}} \ln R_0, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}}, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}}(\ln R_0)^2, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}}(\ln R_0)^2, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}}(\ln R_0)^2, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}} \ln R_0, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}} \ln R_0, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}} \ln R_0, & \bar{\ell} = 4 - \beta \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}} \ln R_0, & \bar{\ell} = 4 - \beta \\ R_0^{-\bar{\ell}}, & 4 - \beta < \bar{\ell} < \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-2-(d-\beta)} \ln R_0, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-2-(d-\beta)}, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-2-(d-\beta)}, & \bar{\ell} = \beta + d + 2 \\ R_0^{-2-(d-\beta)}, & \bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2 \\ \end{cases}$$

Since the information of ℓ is lost in $|\Lambda[\tilde{\phi}_i]|$ when $\bar{\ell} > \beta + d + 2$, we restrict it to the case $\ell < \beta + d + 2$. Additionally,

$$|h(1-\eta_{R_0})| \lesssim \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho \ge R_0\}} v \langle \rho \rangle^{-\ell} ||h||_{v,\ell}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} |J[0,\tilde{\phi}_{i}]|\eta_{2R} &\lesssim D_{i}\mathbf{1}_{\{R_{0}\leq\rho\leq4R\}}v\|h\|_{v,\ell} \begin{cases} \langle\rho\rangle^{-\bar{\ell}}\ln(\rho+2), &\beta>1-\frac{d}{2} \text{ and } \bar{\ell}=4-\beta\\ \langle\rho\rangle^{-\bar{\ell}}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \\ &\lesssim D_{i}v\|h\|_{v,\ell}\big(\mathbf{1}_{\{\rho1-\frac{d}{2} \text{ and } \bar{\ell}=4-\beta\\ \bar{\ell}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} \end{split}$$
(D.15)

where

Consider (D.12) with the right hand side $J[0, \tilde{\phi}_i]\eta_{2R}$. In order to retrieve the information of ℓ and avoid losing time decay, we restrict it to the case d > 2, $2 < \ell < d$.

By [100, Lemma A.1] and the scaling argument, under the assumption that $C_*^{-1}F(\tau) \leq F(s) \leq C_*F(\tau)$ with $F = v, R, R_0$ and a costant $C_* > 1$ for all $\tau \leq s \leq 2\tau, \ \tau^{-\frac{d}{2}} \int_{\tau_0}^{\tau} v(s) R^{d-\bar{\ell}_*}(s) ds \lesssim v R^{2-\bar{\ell}_*}, R \lesssim \sqrt{\tau}$, we have

$$\begin{split} &\langle \rho \rangle \left| \partial_{\rho} \mathcal{T}_{d} \bullet \left[J[0, \tilde{\phi}_{i}] \eta_{2R} \right] \right| + \left| \mathcal{T}_{d} \bullet \left[J[0, \tilde{\phi}_{i}] \eta_{2R} \right] \right| \leq CD_{i} \|h\|_{v,\ell} \left| \mathcal{T}_{d} \bullet \left[v \left(\mathbf{1}_{\{\rho < R_{0}\}} R_{0}^{-\bar{\ell}_{*}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{R_{0} \leq \rho \leq 4R\}} \rho^{-\bar{\ell}_{*}} \right) \right] \right| \\ \leq CD_{i} \|h\|_{v,\ell} \left(\tau^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-\frac{\rho^{2}}{16\tau}} \int_{\tau_{0}}^{\tau} v(s) R^{d-\bar{\ell}_{*}}(s) ds + v(\tau) \begin{cases} R_{0}^{2-\bar{\ell}_{*}}, & \rho \leq R_{0} \\ \rho^{2-\bar{\ell}_{*}}, & R_{0} < \rho \leq R \end{cases} \right) \\ \rho^{2-d} e^{-\frac{\rho^{2}}{16\tau}} R^{d-\bar{\ell}_{*}}, & \rho > R \end{cases} \\ \leq w_{o}(\rho,\tau) := D_{o} D_{i} \|h\|_{v,\ell} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\{\rho > 8R\}} \tau^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{-\frac{\rho^{2}}{16\tau}} \int_{\tau_{0}}^{\tau} v(s) R^{d-\bar{\ell}_{*}}(s) ds + v(\tau) \begin{cases} R_{0}^{2-\bar{\ell}_{*}}, & \rho > R \\ \rho^{2-\bar{\ell}_{*}}, & \rho > R_{0} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

with a large constant $D_o \ge 1$. This suggests that we solve ϕ_o in the following space:

$$\mathcal{B}_o = \left\{ g(\rho, \tau) : \langle \rho \rangle |\partial_\rho g(\rho, \tau)| + |g(\rho, \tau)| \le 2w_o(\rho, \tau) \right\}.$$
(D.16)

For any $\tilde{\phi}_o \in \mathcal{B}_o$, since $|V(\rho)| \lesssim \langle \rho \rangle^{-P_V}$ with $P_V > 2$, we have

$$|V\tilde{\phi}_{o}(1-\eta_{R_{0}})|\eta_{2R} \lesssim \left(\inf_{\tau \geq \tau_{0}} R_{0}(\tau)\right)^{2-P_{V}} \mathbf{1}_{\{R_{0} \leq \rho \leq 4R\}} D_{o} D_{i} ||h||_{v,\ell} v \rho^{-\bar{\ell}_{*}}, \left|\tilde{A}\rho \partial_{\rho} \phi_{o} + B\phi_{o}\right| \eta_{2R} \lesssim f(\tau) D_{o} D_{i} ||h||_{v,\ell} v \left(R_{0}^{2-\bar{\ell}_{*}} \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho \leq R_{0}\}} + \rho^{2-\bar{\ell}_{*}} \mathbf{1}_{\{R_{0} < \rho \leq 4R\}}\right)$$
(D.17)
$$\lesssim \left(\sup_{\tau \geq \tau_{0}} f(\tau) R^{2}(\tau)\right) D_{o} D_{i} ||h||_{v,\ell} v \left(R_{0}^{-\bar{\ell}_{*}} \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho \leq R_{0}\}} + \rho^{-\bar{\ell}_{*}} \mathbf{1}_{\{R_{0} < \rho \leq 4R\}}\right).$$

Taking $\inf_{\tau \ge \tau_0} R_0(\tau)$ sufficiently large and $\sup_{\tau \ge \tau_0} f(\tau) R^2(\tau)$ sufficiently small, we have

$$\mathcal{T}_o[J[\tilde{\phi}_o, \tilde{\phi}_i]\eta_{2R}] \in \mathcal{B}_o$$

The contraction mapping property can be deduced in the same way. Indeed, denote

$$||g||_o := \sup_{\mathbb{R}^d \times (\tau_0, \infty)} \left[(w_o(\rho, \tau))^{-1} |g(\rho, \tau)| \right].$$

Then for any $\tilde{\phi}_o^{(1)}, \tilde{\phi}_o^{(2)} \in \mathcal{B}_o$,

$$\left| V(\tilde{\phi}_{o}^{(1)} - \tilde{\phi}_{o}^{(2)})(1 - \eta_{R_{0}}) \right| \eta_{2R} + \left| \tilde{A}\rho\partial_{\rho}(\tilde{\phi}_{o}^{(1)} - \tilde{\phi}_{o}^{(2)}) + B(\tilde{\phi}_{o}^{(1)} - \tilde{\phi}_{o}^{(2)}) \right| \eta_{2R}$$

$$\lesssim \left(\left(\inf_{\tau \geq \tau_{0}} R_{0}(\tau) \right)^{2 - P_{V}} + \sup_{\tau \geq \tau_{0}} f(\tau)R^{2}(\tau) \right) D_{o}D_{i} \|h\|_{v,\ell} v \left(R_{0}^{-\bar{\ell}_{*}} \mathbf{1}_{\{\rho \leq R_{0}\}} + \rho^{-\bar{\ell}_{*}} \mathbf{1}_{\{R_{0} < \rho \leq 4R\}} \right) \|\tilde{\phi}_{o}^{(1)} - \tilde{\phi}_{o}^{(2)} \|_{o}$$

where $\left(\inf_{\tau \ge \tau_0} R_0(\tau)\right)^{2-P_V} + \sup_{\tau \ge \tau_0} f(\tau) R^2(\tau)$ provides small quantity for the contraction mapping.

Now we have found a solution $\phi_o = \phi_o[\tilde{\phi}_i] \in \mathcal{B}_o$. It follows that in the domain $\rho \leq 2R_0$,

$$\left| V\phi_o + \eta(\rho)Z(\rho)C_1 \int_0^{2R_0} V(x,\tau)\phi_o(x,\tau)Z(x)x^{d-1}dx \right|$$

$$\lesssim D_o D_i \|h\|_{v,\ell} v R_0^{2-\bar{\ell}_*} \left(\langle \rho \rangle^{-P_V} + \eta(\rho) \begin{cases} 1, & \beta + d - P_V < 0\\ \ln R_0, & \beta + d - P_V = 0\\ R_0^{\beta+d-P_V}, & \beta + d - P_V > 0 \end{cases} \right) \lesssim \left(\inf_{\tau \ge \tau_0} R_0(\tau) \right)^{-\epsilon} D_o D_i \|h\|_{v,\ell} v \langle \rho \rangle^{-\ell}$$

for a small constant $\epsilon > 0$ provided $P_V > \max\{2, 2 - \bar{\ell}_* + \beta + d\}.$

Due to the choice of $c_{in}(\tau)$, $H_2 := V \phi_o[\tilde{\phi}_i] + h + c_{in}[\phi_o[\tilde{\phi}_i]](\tau) \eta(\rho) Z(\rho)$ satisfies the orthogonal condition in \mathcal{D}_{2R_0} . By Lemma D.1, since $(\inf_{\tau \geq \tau_0} R_0(\tau))^{-\epsilon}$ provides smallness, we have

$$\mathcal{T}_i[H_2] \in \mathcal{B}_i.$$

The contraction property can be deduced in the same way. Thus we find a solution

$$\phi_i = \phi_i[h] \in \mathcal{B}_i. \tag{D.18}$$

Finally we obtain a solution (ϕ_o, ϕ_i) for (D.12) and (D.13).

By the same argument in the proof of [100, Proposition 7.1], $\phi = \phi[h]$ is a linear mapping about h.

We will regard D_o , D_i as general constants hereafter. Set

$$c_{\text{in},1}[h](\tau) := \int_0^{2R_0} V(x)\phi_o[h](x,\tau)Z(x)x^{d-1}dx.$$

Since $\phi_o[h] \in \mathcal{B}_o$, then the estimate (D.10) follows.

Combining (D.18), (D.16), (D.6) and then using the scaling argument, we get (D.8).

Combining (D.15) and (D.17), we have $|J[\phi_o, \phi_i]\eta_{2R}| \leq v \|h\|_{v,\ell} R_0^{-\bar{\ell}_*}$. By (D.16), then $|\phi_o| \leq v \|h\|_{v,\ell} R_0^{2-\bar{\ell}_*}$. Applying again the scaling argument to (D.12), we have

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^d} \sup_{\tau_1, \tau_2 \in [\tau - \lambda_1^2, \tau]} \frac{|\phi_o(y, \tau_1) - \phi_o(y, \tau_2)|}{|\tau_1 - \tau_2|^{\alpha}} \lesssim v \|h\|_{v,\ell} \left(\lambda_1^{-2\alpha} R_0^{2-\bar{\ell}_*} + \lambda_1^{2-2\alpha} R_0^{-\bar{\ell}_*}\right)$$

for $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, $0 < \lambda_1 \le \sqrt{\tau/8}$, which yields (D.11).

Remark D.2. The reason why we consider (D.12) in \mathbb{R}^d is to make the scaling argument applicable for a wider range of λ_1 .

Acknowledgements

J. Wei is partially supported by NSERC of Canada.

References

- François Alouges and Alain Soyeur. On global weak solutions for Landau-Lifshitz equations: existence and nonuniqueness. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 18(11):1071–1084, 1992.
- [2] Antonio Ambrosetti and Andrea Malchiodi. Perturbation methods and semilinear elliptic problems on \mathbf{R}^n , volume 240 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006.
- [3] A. Bahri and J.-M. Coron. On a nonlinear elliptic equation involving the critical Sobolev exponent: the effect of the topology of the domain. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 41(3):253–294, 1988.
- [4] Abbas Bahri, Yanyan Li, and Olivier Rey. On a variational problem with lack of compactness: the topological effect of the critical points at infinity. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 3(1):67–93, 1995.
- [5] I. Bejenaru, A. D. Ionescu, and C. E. Kenig. Global existence and uniqueness of Schrödinger maps in dimensions d ≥ 4. Adv. Math., 215(1):263–291, 2007.
- [6] I. Bejenaru, A. D. Ionescu, C. E. Kenig, and D. Tataru. Global Schrödinger maps in dimensions $d \ge 2$: small data in the critical Sobolev spaces. Ann. of Math. (2), 173(3):1443–1506, 2011.
- [7] Ioan Bejenaru. Global results for Schrödinger maps in dimensions $n \ge 3$. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 33(1-3):451-477, 2008.
- [8] Ioan Bejenaru and Daniel Tataru. Near soliton evolution for equivariant Schrödinger maps in two spatial dimensions. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 228(1069):vi+108, 2014.
- [9] Kung-Ching Chang, Wei Yue Ding, and Rugang Ye. Finite-time blow-up of the heat flow of harmonic maps from surfaces. J. Differential Geom., 36(2):507-515, 1992.
- [10] Yun Mei Chen and Wei Yue Ding. Blow-up and global existence for heat flows of harmonic maps. Invent. Math., 99(3):567–578, 1990.
- [11] Yun Mei Chen and Michael Struwe. Existence and partial regularity results for the heat flow for harmonic maps. Math. Z., 201(1):83–103, 1989.
- [12] Charles Collot. Nonradial type II blow up for the energy-supercritical semilinear heat equation. Anal. PDE, 10(1):127–252, 2017.
- [13] Charles Collot and Pierre Germain. Asymptotic stability of solitary waves for one dimensional nonlinear schr\" odinger equations. arXiv preprint arXiv:2306.03668, 2023.
- [14] Charles Collot, Frank Merle, and Pierre Raphaël. Dynamics near the ground state for the energy critical nonlinear heat equation in large dimensions. Comm. Math. Phys., 352(1):215–285, 2017.
- [15] Charles Collot, Frank Merle, and Pierre Raphaël. Strongly anisotropic type II blow up at an isolated point. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 33(2):527–607, 2020.

- [16] Jean-Michel Coron and Jean-Michel Ghidaglia. Explosion en temps fini pour le flot des applications harmoniques. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 308(12):339–344, 1989.
- [17] Carmen Cortázar, Manuel del Pino, and Monica Musso. Green's function and infinite-time bubbling in the critical nonlinear heat equation. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 22(1):283–344, 2020.
- [18] Juan Davila, Manuel del Pino, Jean Dolbeault, Monica Musso, and Juncheng Wei. Existence and stability of infinite time blow-up in the keller-segel system. arXiv preprint arXiv:1911.12417, 2019.
- [19] Juan Davila, Manuel Del Pino, Monica Musso, and Juncheng Wei. Gluing Methods for Vortex Dynamics in Euler Flows. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 235(3):1467–1530, 2020.
- [20] Juan Davila, Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, and Juncheng Wei. Leapfrogging vortex rings for the 3-dimensional incompressible Euler equations. arXiv preprint arXiv:2207.03263, 2022.
- [21] Juan Dávila, Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, and Juncheng Wei. Travelling helices and the vortex filament conjecture in the incompressible Euler equations. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 61(4):Paper No. 119, 30, 2022.
- [22] Juan Dávila, Manuel del Pino, and Juncheng Wei. Singularity formation for the two-dimensional harmonic map flow into S². Invent. Math., 219(2):345–466, 2020.
- [23] Manuel del Pino, Michal Kowalczyk, and Jun-Cheng Wei. Concentration on curves for nonlinear Schrödinger equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 60(1):113–146, 2007.
- [24] Manuel del Pino, Michal Kowalczyk, and Juncheng Wei. On De Giorgi's conjecture in dimension $N \ge 9$. Ann. of Math. (2), 174(3):1485–1569, 2011.
- [25] Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, and Jun Cheng Wei. Type II Blow-up in the 5-dimensional Energy Critical Heat Equation. Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.), 35(6):1027–1042, 2019.
- [26] Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, and Juncheng Wei. Infinite-time blow-up for the 3-dimensional energycritical heat equation. Anal. PDE, 13(1):215–274, 2020.
- [27] Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, and Juncheng Wei. Existence and stability of infinite time bubble towers in the energy critical heat equation. *Anal. PDE*, 14(5):1557–1598, 2021.
- [28] Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, and Juncheng Wei. Geometry driven type II higher dimensional blow-up for the critical heat equation. J. Funct. Anal., 280(1):108788, 49, 2021.
- [29] Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, Juncheng Wei, Qidi Zhang, and Yifu Zhou. Type II finite time blow-up for the three dimensional energy critical heat equation. arXiv preprint arXiv:2002.05765, 2020.
- [30] Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, Juncheng Wei, and Youquan Zheng. Sign-changing blowing-up solutions for the critical nonlinear heat equation. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 21:569–641, 2020.
- [31] Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, Juncheng Wei, and Yifu Zhou. Type II finite time blow-up for the energy critical heat equation in ℝ⁴. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 40(6):3327–3355, 2020.
- [32] Shijin Ding and Changyou Wang. Finite time singularity of the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (4):Art. ID rnm012, 25, 2007.
- [33] Weiyue Ding and Gang Tian. Energy identity for a class of approximate harmonic maps from surfaces. Comm. Anal. Geom., 3(3-4):543-554, 1995.
- [34] Hongjie Dong, Seick Kim, and Sungjin Lee. Estimates for fundamental solutions of parabolic equations in non-divergence form. J. Differential Equations, 340:557–591, 2022.
- [35] Marek Fila and John R. King. Grow up and slow decay in the critical Sobolev case. Netw. Heterog. Media, 7(4):661–671, 2012.
- [36] Stathis Filippas, Miguel A. Herrero, and Juan J. L. Velázquez. Fast blow-up mechanisms for sign-changing solutions of a semilinear parabolic equation with critical nonlinearity. R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci., 456(2004):2957–2982, 2000.
- [37] Alexandre Freire. Uniqueness for the harmonic map flow from surfaces to general targets. Comment. Math. Helv., 70(2):310–338, 1995.
- [38] Avner Friedman. Partial differential equations of parabolic type. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1964.
- [39] Hiroshi Fujita. On the blowing up of solutions of the Cauchy problem for $u_t = \Delta u + u^{1+\alpha}$. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. I, 13:109–124 (1966), 1966.
- [40] Victor A. Galaktionov and John R. King. Composite structure of global unbounded solutions of nonlinear heat equations with critical Sobolev exponents. J. Differential Equations, 189(1):199–233, 2003.
- [41] Pierre Germain and Fabio Pusateri. Quadratic klein-gordon equations with a potential in one dimension. In *Forum of Mathematics, Pi*, volume 10, page e17. Cambridge University Press, 2022.

- [42] Fritz Gesztesy and Maxim Zinchenko. On spectral theory for Schrödinger operators with strongly singular potentials. Math. Nachr., 279(9-10):1041–1082, 2006.
- [43] Yoshikazu Giga, Shin'ya Matsui, and Satoshi Sasayama. Blow up rate for semilinear heat equations with subcritical nonlinearity. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 53(2):483–514, 2004.
- [44] Yoshikazu Giga, Shin'ya Matsui, and Satoshi Sasayama. On blow-up rate for sign-changing solutions in a convex domain. Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 27(15):1771–1782, 2004.
- [45] Thomas L Gilbert. A phenomenological theory of damping in ferromagnetic materials. IEEE transactions on magnetics, 40(6):3443–3449, 2004.
- [46] Bo Ling Guo and Min Chun Hong. The Landau-Lifshitz equation of the ferromagnetic spin chain and harmonic maps. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 1(3):311–334, 1993.
- [47] S. Gustafson, K. Kang, and T.-P. Tsai. Schrödinger flow near harmonic maps. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 60(4):463–499, 2007.
- [48] Stephen Gustafson, Kyungkeun Kang, and Tai-Peng Tsai. Asymptotic stability of harmonic maps under the Schrödinger flow. Duke Math. J., 145(3):537–583, 2008.
- [49] Stephen Gustafson, Kenji Nakanishi, and Tai-Peng Tsai. Asymptotic stability, concentration, and oscillation in harmonic map heat-flow, Landau-Lifshitz, and Schrödinger maps on ℝ². Comm. Math. Phys., 300(1):205-242, 2010.
- [50] Susana Gutiérrez and André de Laire. The Cauchy problem for the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation in BMO and self-similar solutions. *Nonlinearity*, 32(7):2522–2563, 2019.
- [51] Junichi Harada. A higher speed type II blowup for the five dimensional energy critical heat equation. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 37(2):309–341, 2020.
- [52] Junichi Harada. A type II blowup for the six dimensional energy critical heat equation. Ann. PDE, 6(2):Paper No. 13, 63, 2020.
- [53] Paul Harpes. Uniqueness and bubbling of the 2-dimensional Landau-Lifshitz flow. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 20(2):213–229, 2004.
- [54] Miguel A. Herrero and Juan J. L. Velázquez. Explosion de solutions d'équations paraboliques semilinéaires supercritiques. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 319(2):141–145, 1994.
- [55] Miguel A Herrero and Juan JL Velázquez. A blow up result for semilinear heat equations in the supercritical case. preprint, 1992.
- [56] Alexandru D. Ionescu and Carlos E. Kenig. Low-regularity Schrödinger maps. II. Global well-posedness in dimensions $d \ge 3$. Comm. Math. Phys., 271(2):523–559, 2007.
- [57] D. D. Joseph and T. S. Lundgren. Quasilinear Dirichlet problems driven by positive sources. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 49:241–269, 1972/73.
- [58] Joy Ko. The construction of a partially regular solution to the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation in ℝ². Nonlinearity, 18(6):2681–2714, 2005.
- [59] J. Krieger, W. Schlag, and D. Tataru. Renormalization and blow up for charge one equivariant critical wave maps. *Invent. Math.*, 171(3):543–615, 2008.
- [60] Joachim Krieger and Shuang Miao. On the stability of blowup solutions for the critical corotational wave-map problem. *Duke Math. J.*, 169(3):435–532, 2020.
- [61] Joachim Krieger, Shuang Miao, and Wilhelm Schlag. A stability theory beyond the co-rotational setting for critical wave maps blow up. arXiv preprint arXiv:2009.08843, 2020.
- [62] Joachim Krieger, Wilhelm Schlag, and Daniel Tataru. Slow blow-up solutions for the $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ critical focusing semilinear wave equation. Duke Math. J., 147(1):1–53, 2009.
- [63] Chen-Chih Lai, Fanghua Lin, Changyou Wang, Juncheng Wei, and Yifu Zhou. Finite time blowup for the nematic liquid crystal flow in dimension two. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 75(1):128–196, 2022.
- [64] L. Landau and E. Lifshitz. On the theory of the dispersion of magnetic permeability in ferromagnetic bodies. *Physik. Z. Sowjetunion*, 8:153–169, 1935.
- [65] Tongtong Li, Liming Sun, and Shumao Wang. A slow blow up solution for the four dimensional energy critical semi linear heat equation. arXiv preprint arXiv:2204.11201, 2022.
- [66] Fanghua Lin and Changyou Wang. Energy identity of harmonic map flows from surfaces at finite singular time. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 6(4):369–380, 1998.
- [67] Junyu Lin, Baishun Lai, and Changyou Wang. Global well-posedness of the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation for initial data in Morrey spaces. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 54(1):665–692, 2015.
- [68] Jonas Luhrmann and Wilhelm Schlag. Asymptotic stability of the sine-gordon kink under odd perturbations. To appear in Duke Math. J., arXiv preprint arXiv:2106.09605, 2021.

- [69] Jonas Luhrmann and Wilhelm Schlag. On codimension one stability of the soliton for the 1d focusing cubic klein-gordon equation. arXiv preprint arXiv:2302.05273, 2023.
- [70] Hiroshi Matano and Frank Merle. On nonexistence of type II blowup for a supercritical nonlinear heat equation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 57(11):1494–1541, 2004.
- [71] Christof Melcher. Existence of partially regular solutions for Landau-Lifshitz equations in \mathbb{R}^3 . Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 30(4-6):567–587, 2005.
- [72] Christof Melcher. Global solvability of the Cauchy problem for the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation in higher dimensions. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 61(3):1175–1200, 2012.
- [73] Frank Merle, Pierre Raphaël, and Igor Rodnianski. Blowup dynamics for smooth data equivariant solutions to the critical Schrödinger map problem. *Invent. Math.*, 193(2):249–365, 2013.
- [74] Frank Merle and Hatem Zaag. Stability of the blow-up profile for equations of the type $u_t = \Delta u + |u|^{p-1}u$. Duke Math. J., 86(1):143–195, 1997.
- [75] Noriko Mizoguchi. Boundedness of global solutions for a supercritical semilinear heat equation and its application. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 54(4):1047–1059, 2005.
- [76] Roger Moser. Partial regularity for the landau-lifshitz equation in small dimensions. 2002.
- [77] Galina Perelman. Blow up dynamics for equivariant critical Schrödinger maps. Comm. Math. Phys., 330(1):69–105, 2014.
- [78] Grisha Perelman. The entropy formula for the ricci flow and its geometric applications. arXiv preprint math/0211159, 2002.
- [79] Grisha Perelman. Ricci flow with surgery on three-manifolds. arXiv preprint math/0303109, 2003.
- [80] Jie Qing. On singularities of the heat flow for harmonic maps from surfaces into spheres. Comm. Anal. Geom., 3(1-2):297–315, 1995.
- [81] Jie Qing and Gang Tian. Bubbling of the heat flows for harmonic maps from surfaces. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 50(4):295–310, 1997.
- [82] Pavol Quittner and Philippe Souplet. Superlinear parabolic problems. Birkhäuser Advanced Texts: Basler Lehrbücher. [Birkhäuser Advanced Texts: Basel Textbooks]. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2019. Blow-up, global existence and steady states, Second edition of [MR2346798].
- [83] Pierre Raphaël and Remi Schweyer. Stable blowup dynamics for the 1-corotational energy critical harmonic heat flow. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 66(3):414–480, 2013.
- [84] Pierre Raphaël and Remi Schweyer. Quantized slow blow-up dynamics for the corotational energy-critical harmonic heat flow. Anal. PDE, 7(8):1713–1805, 2014.
- [85] Tristan Rivière. Everywhere discontinuous harmonic maps into spheres. Acta Math., 175(2):197–226, 1995.
- [86] Rémi Schweyer. Type II blow-up for the four dimensional energy critical semi linear heat equation. J. Funct. Anal., 263(12):3922–3983, 2012.
- [87] Yukihiro Seki. Type II blow-up mechanisms in a semilinear heat equation with critical Joseph-Lundgren exponent. J. Funct. Anal., 275(12):3380–3456, 2018.
- [88] Yannick Sire, Juncheng Wei, and Youquan Zheng. Infinite time blow-up for half-harmonic map flow from \mathbb{R} into \mathbb{S}^1 . Amer. J. Math., 143(4):1261–1335, 2021.
- [89] Michael Struwe. On the evolution of harmonic mappings of Riemannian surfaces. Comment. Math. Helv., 60(4):558–581, 1985.
- [90] Michael Struwe. On the evolution of harmonic maps in higher dimensions. J. Differential Geom., 28(3):485–502, 1988.
- [91] Liming Sun, Jun-cheng Wei, and Qidi Zhang. Bubble towers in the ancient solution of energy-critical heat equation. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 61(6):Paper No. 200, 47, 2022.
- [92] Takashi Suzuki. Semilinear parabolic equation on bounded domain with critical Sobolev exponent. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 57(7):3365–3396, 2008.
- [93] Peter Topping. Repulsion and quantization in almost-harmonic maps, and asymptotics of the harmonic map flow. Ann. of Math. (2), 159(2):465–534, 2004.
- [94] Jan Bouwe van den Berg, Josephus Hulshof, and John R. King. Formal asymptotics of bubbling in the harmonic map heat flow. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 63(5):1682–1717, 2003.
- [95] Jan Bouwe van den Berg and J. F. Williams. (In-)stability of singular equivariant solutions to the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation. European J. Appl. Math., 24(6):921–948, 2013.
- [96] Changyou Wang. Bubble phenomena of certain Palais-Smale sequences from surfaces to general targets. Houston J. Math., 22(3):559–590, 1996.

- [97] Changyou Wang. On Landau-Lifshitz equation in dimensions at most four. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 55(5):1615–1644, 2006.
- [98] Kelei Wang and Juncheng Wei. Refined blowup analysis and nonexistence of type II blowups for an energy critical nonlinear heat equation. arXiv preprint arXiv:2101.07186, 2021.
- [99] Juncheng Wei, Qidi Zhang, and Yifu Zhou. Finite-time singularity formations for the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation in dimension two. arXiv preprint arXiv:2210.05800, 2022.
- [100] Juncheng Wei, Qidi Zhang, and Yifu Zhou. On Fila-King Conjecture in dimension four. arXiv preprint arXiv:2210.04352, 2022.
- [101] Jitao Xu and Lifeng Zhao. Blowup dynamics for smooth equivariant solutions to energy critical landaulifschitz flow. arXiv preprint arXiv:2012.13879, 2020.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA, VANCOUVER, B.C., V6T 1Z2, CANADA *E-mail address*: jcwei@math.ubc.ca

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA, VANCOUVER, B.C., V6T 1Z2, CANADA *E-mail address*: qidi@math.ubc.ca

SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS, WUHAN UNIVERSITY, WUHAN 430072, CHINA *E-mail address*: yifuzhou@whu.edu.cn